# 2021 Animal Influenza Research Review

**Compiled and written by** 

Drs Lucy Robinson, Daniel Ackerman & Robert Phillips of



**Commissioned by** 



In collaboration with





This report is part of a project that has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under grant agreement No 727494 which supports the Secretariat to STAR-IDAZ IRC.

# Contents

Commissioning Body1
The STAR-IDAZ International Research Consortium1
Agricultural Research Service, United States Department of Agriculture1
Purpose of the Report3
About the Authors4
Executive Summary5
Literature Review and Research Updates by Subject Area19
Report approach20
Introduction22
Understanding Animal Influenza23
Epidemiology23
Virology/Molecular Biology51
Pathogenesis63
Immunology72
Controlling the Disease
Surveillance
Diagnostics
Vaccines
Drugs/Therapeutic Approaches151
Disinfectants
Depopulation and Disposal162
Personal Protective Equipment165
Conclusions
Acknowledgements168
References
Appendices
Abbreviations

Contributors	248
Financial Support	249
Conflict of Interest Statement	249
Additional Resources	250

# **Commissioning Body**

This report was commissioned by the STAR-IDAZ International Research Consortium in collaboration with the Agricultural Research Service, United States Department of Agriculture.

#### The STAR-IDAZ International Research Consortium

The STAR-IDAZ International Research Consortium (IRC) is a global initiative aiming to coordinate research programmes at that international level and to contribute to the development of new and improved animal health strategies for priority diseases/infections/issues. The partners, research funders and programme owners together form the Executive Committee which is supported by a Scientific Committee of 16 experts and an EU-funded Secretariat (SIRCAH – Horizon Europe Grant Agreement Number 727494).

The target deliverables of the STAR-IDAZ IRC include candidate vaccines, diagnostics, therapeutics, other animal health products and procedures, and key scientific information/tools to support risk analysis and disease control. To achieve these goals the IRC partners agree to coordinate/align their research programmes to address identified research needs relating to the priority topics and to share results. Research gaps identified by expert Working Groups are organised into research roadmaps for the development of (i) candidate vaccines, (ii) diagnostics, (iii) therapeutics and (iv) disease control strategies, providing a structure to plot the identified research gaps and focus future investment (Entrican et al. 2021).

#### Agricultural Research Service, United States Department of Agriculture

The Agricultural Research Service (ARS) is the principal in-house research agency of the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA). ARS is one of four agencies in the Research, Education, and Economics (REE) mission and is charged with extending the nation's scientific knowledge with research projects in agriculture, human nutrition, food safety, natural resources, and the environment. ARS supports more than 2,000 scientists and post-docs organized into approximately 660 permanent research projects at over 90 locations across the country and five overseas laboratories.

ARS conducts innovative research to find solutions to problems of high national priority that impact the American people daily. ARS often undertakes high-risk research endeavors to make significant breakthroughs in important problem areas, including biodefense initiatives to detect, prevent, and mitigate the impact of especially dangerous infectious diseases that pose a threat to animals and public health. As such, ARS organized the Animal Influenza Viruses Gap Analysis Workshop in Athens, Georgia, March 25-27, 2013, to assess the scientific information and countermeasures available to effectively control and mitigate the global impact of emerging animal influenza viruses.

# **Purpose of the Report**

Effective control of animal influenza virus is a global goal that will require co-ordinated research efforts from scientists around the world. The success of these efforts relies upon funding of the right research at the right time, and this in turn requires regular analyses of what is known and unknown in the field.

The workshop reports conducted by the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) and OFFLU (the OIE/FAO network of expertise on animal influenza) in 2014, and by the European Food Safety Authority in 2015 (United States Department of Agriculture 2014; OFFLU 2014; European Food Safety Authority 2015), identified a panel of priority knowledge gaps across animal influenza research. The purpose of this report is to revisit that panel, report on progress in these areas, and to provide a general overview of the research that has been conducted across the major fields of animal influenza in the past six years. Further, by incorporating research updates and input from leading scientists in the field, this report represents a current picture of animal influenza research around the world, enriched by the first-hand knowledge of those working at its cutting edge.

The findings of the report will be used to support future detailed gap analyses that will also incorporate expert opinion and review of current research and control measures, alongside knowledge of on-theground countermeasures (both in use and under development) and their efficacy. Importantly, this literature review does not attempt to rank the knowledge gaps identified, and this will therefore form a key part of future analyses.

# **About the Authors**



Lucy Robinson

Dr. Lucy Robinson gained her D.Phil. in veterinary immunology from the University of Oxford, UK, and continued her post-doctoral research into exotic infections at the Singapore Immunology Network. Following her editorial training and freelance experience, Lucy founded Insight in 2009 and has since successfully assisted with the publication of hundreds of articles and the construction of successful grant applications across diverse scientific fields. She has spoken at international conferences and delivered effective writing training to scientists from around the globe.

Dr. Daniel Ackerman completed his Ph.D. in biological sciences and his subsequent post-doctoral studies at Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh, USA. Since then, he has developed advanced communication and editing skills, and joined Insight Editing London in 2020. Daniel has assisted with the publication of diverse research articles over the past year alone, building his reputation for writing and editing excellence across fields.



# Daniel Ackerman



**Robert Phillips** 

After being awarded his honours degree from Cambridge University, UK, Robert proceeded to complete his Ph.D. in biochemistry at the University of Newcastle, UK. Following a productive research career, Dr. Robert Phillips began working as an editor for the Springer-Nature publishing group in 2013, editing consecutively across review and research journals and helping authors to publish impactful manuscripts across multiple research subject areas. Robert joined Insight Editing in 2020.

# **Executive Summary**

In this report we combine comprehensive literature review with input from leading researchers in the field (for details of contributors see <u>here</u>) to assess progress in animal influenza research globally since 2014/15. By reference to previously identified knowledge gaps and expert consultation, we provide a literature-based update that identifies some of the areas in which future research and research funding should be targeted for maximum impact. The gap analysis presented here is intended to be used as a tool to supplement future in-depth gap analyses that include additional factors.

This report comes at a timely juncture for zoonotic virus research, as the 2019/20 Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Corona Virus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) pandemic continues its deadly course around the globe. The incredible progress made in our understanding of this novel virus and the disease caused by it in the past eighteen months is testament to the advances that can be made when governments and the scientific community pull together. As well as the specific points detailed below, the broader question now is what animal influenza research can learn from the successes of SARS-CoV-2 research, most notably the development of highly-effective outbreak monitoring and control procedures alongside the design, testing, licensing and large-scale production of several potent vaccines that are proving instrumental in protecting from clinical disease and reducing viral spread.

#### **Research priorities by area:**

#### **Understanding Animal Influenza**

#### Epidemiology

Increasing capacities for active surveillance, coupled with new sequencing technologies that allow rapid and complete whole-genome analysis, may facilitate a significant expansion of our ability to track and control novel influenza A virus (IAV) subtypes. In-depth studies continue to uncover the genetic and molecular determinants of pathogenicity, virulence, airborne transmission, and host tropism.

Some of the major difficulties facing the field of animal influenza epidemiology lie in the effective deployment of novel technologies, the integration of epidemiological data with new and existing national surveillance and control systems, and the ever-increasing global complexity of the influenza landscape. Our growing surveillance capabilities and understanding of biosecurity measures continue to come up against the limitations of knowledge and compliance levels among local poultry farmers,

who are often economically disincentivized to participate in biosecurity programs at a national level. From an economic standpoint, more research is needed to analyse biosecurity measures at the localregional level and determine incentives that may raise compliance with surveillance/reporting programs and outbreak control measures.

To be ready for the next pandemic, ongoing surveillance is required to keep tabs on new patterns of viral evolution and epidemiology. Going forward, combinations of large- and small-scale studies will allow us to track the dynamics of major avian influenza virus (AIV) threats while keeping tabs on less well-understood viruses with pandemic potential.

#### Avian

The past five years have seen several significant avian influenza outbreaks and the continuing evolution and diversification of the viral landscape. Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza (HPAI) H5Nx clade 2.3.4.4 has spread to countries across the world and caused major outbreaks in Asia and the United States. H7N9 has been the cause of outbreaks in China, with the last wave including a marked uptick in human infections and the evolution of a high pathogenicity phenotype. Research and surveillance are constantly required to track new and developing influenza strains in wild and domestic bird populations. In combination with molecular and virological studies, such research may allow the identification of viral subtypes of particular concern (i.e. expressing molecular patterns associated with increased virulence, viral replication, and/or cross-species transmission) and help to focus limited resources where they are likely to be of greatest benefit.

An emerging field of research covers the impact of anthropogenic and climatic factors on avian influenza evolution and spread. Meat production levels continue to increase worldwide with a commensurate increase in domestic poultry density and number of densely-populated sites (e.g. live bird markets, commercial poultry farms, etc.). Meanwhile, the warming climate introduces new variables into the transmission patterns of avian influenza and the interactions of domestic birds with their wild migratory counterparts. Knowledge remains limited on the impact of anthropogenic factors (e.g. live poultry market development, inter-farm movement, and global trade) on avian influenza transmission patterns and the ways in which a changing climate might alter viral behaviour and epidemiology. More research is also needed on wild reservoirs of avian influenza and the pathways by which they may interact with domestic birds.

Cross-species transmission (particularly zoonotic transmission) is an area of great concern, and predicting the zoonotic risk of avian influenza strains remains difficult. New developments – e.g. the recently-reported human cases of H10N3 in China and HPAI H5N8 in Russia (discussed in more detail below) – illustrate the importance of linking epidemiological studies with molecular virology databases to increase our ability to predict and control potentially zoonotic influenza subtypes.

#### Swine

Similar research concerns (e.g. increasing farm density and uncertain anthropogenic and climatic impact) are of paramount importance for swine influenza. Unique considerations here include increased risk of mammalian-adaptive mutations and the potential of pigs to act as mixing vessels amenable to infection by swine, human, and avian influenza strains.

Reverse zoonosis (transfer of influenza viruses from humans to swine) is a significant source of swine influenza genetic diversity, and our knowledge here remains limited. More research is needed on the rate of zoonosis/reverse zoonosis events and the pathways by which such events may generate variants with increased mammalian adaptation.

The 2009 H1N1 pandemic swine influenza strain remains endemic in many swine populations, and reassortment events are known to occur between these viruses and other subtypes of concern. Greater integration is needed between research and the meat production industry along with increased coordination between epidemiological, surveillance, and molecular biology databases to ensure our ability to keep up with particularly dangerous swine influenza strains and their spread/transmission characteristics.

#### Other species

Equine influenza is often overlooked but may present an understudied epidemic threat. Markers of reassortment between avian and equine influenza viruses have been observed and the close contact between humans and horses raises the risk of potential zoonotic transmission events. A similar situation exists for influenza virus in companion animals, predominantly dogs and cats. As international movement of companion animals is relatively limited and no major zoonotic outbreaks have originated from canine- or feline- transmitted influenza viruses, their epidemiology remains an understudied field. As advances in virology expand our understanding of the molecular determinants of human adaptation, it will be necessary to continually monitor influenza viruses in companion animals for markers of zoonotic potential or mammalian airborne transmissibility.

More research is also needed into influenza D virus (IDV), often associated with the bovine respiratory disease complex. IDV has not yet exhibited pathogenicity in humans, but experimental airborne transmission has been observed, and the basic properties of the virus remain understudied. Our IDV knowledgebase must be enhanced to ensure readiness for potential gain-of-function mutations within permissive farm animal populations.

#### Virology

As novel IAV strains emerge, molecular studies will be required to uncover the genetic determinants of virulence, host adaptation, environmental survival, etc. Sequencing technologies are the foundation of these efforts and continue to develop. Technologies (e.g. "third-generation" sequencing) that allow rapid, accurate sequencing in the field, preferably without the need for extensive training or expert assistance, could dramatically expand our ability to characterise circulating influenza viruses and monitor their evolution.

Computational resources also continue to grow in scale and accessibility, with consequences for genetic modelling, protein interaction studies, and other virological research. The effects of individual amino acid substitutions on viral protein function and stability, for instance, are being studied *in silico* – it is critical that such computational studies be integrated with ongoing surveillance programs and *in vitro/in vivo* research to ensure real-world applicability and robustness.

#### Avian

Many recent studies have focused on HPAI H5Nx clade 2.3.4.4 viruses and the molecular characteristics underlying their virulence and transmission patterns. These include mutations to internal genes that alter shedding/replication patterns and in the haemagglutinin (HA) / neuraminidase (NA) proteins that alter their functional balance or change receptor binding preferences. H7N9 has also come under intense study, as various strains of this subtype have evolved high pathogenicity and human infectivity. Molecular research has uncovered candidate mutations potentially responsible for these changes, including enhanced replication and binding to mammalian cell surface proteins.

*In vitro* and *in vivo* studies have analysed mammalian adaptation and the mutations responsible for enhancing human-type receptor binding, airborne transmissibility, and other hallmarks of zoonotic strains. Other genetic studies have focused on migratory bird populations and the mutations necessary for efficient transmission of novel IAV strains from wild birds to domestic poultry. As sequencing and molecular analysis technologies continue to develop, they will need to be integrated with expanding surveillance programs to ensure that our understanding of avian influenza evolution is as complete as possible.

#### Swine

Reassortment events in swine are a concerning source of genetic diversity that can lead to enhanced virulence and transmission in a permissive mammalian host. Recent studies have also focused on antigenic drift and the evolution of novel subtypes in pigs. Cross-species infectivity remains an active area of research – molecular and sequencing studies have uncovered mutations that increase the ability of avian viruses to adapt to swine hosts, and of swine viruses to adapt to humans/human model hosts (e.g. ferrets).

#### Other species

The virology of equine and companion animal influenza remains an understudied field. Recent research has found a set of mutations potentially contributing to the decline of H3N8 and replacement with H7N7 as the primary equine strain, while in companion animals, mutations responsible for alterations of receptor binding preference have been described.

#### Pathogenesis

Sequencing and mutational analysis studies have begun to uncover the molecular determinants of influenza virulence and immune evasion, transmission and shedding, host/tissue tropism, and other factors relevant to viral infection, but further research is needed. As molecular biology and computational technology continue to grow, we can begin to systematically address the complexity of influenza genetics and the combinatorial effects that mutations can have on pathogenic factors.

#### Avian

Identifying factors beyond the multi-basic cleavage site that differentiate low- from highpathogenicity avian influenza strains is an important priority. A related avian-specific aspect of pathogenicity is the often-observed clinical resistance of wild ducks to HPAI strains that cause significant mortality in infected chickens. Certain poultry species such as turkeys, meanwhile, exhibit enhanced susceptibility, potentially contributing to the circulation of new poultry-adapted IAV variants. Here, research extends beyond mutational analysis and into *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies of the interaction of influenza virus with host immunity and cell biology, and immunological studies have identified host factors that impact the progression of Low Pathogenicity Avian Influenza (LPAI) vs. HPAI infections in poultry. It is important to integrate virological research with other fields of study (e.g. immunology) to get a more complete understanding of the host and viral factors affecting pathogenesis.

Many recent studies have focused on the pathogenesis of transmission – mutations that enhance transmissibility between domestic poultry, for instance, or that increase respiratory/cloacal shedding levels. Such mutations can also behave in a combinatorial fashion, making large-scale datasets and computational analyses increasingly important.

Co-infection is another critical aspect of pathogenesis research, as influenza is regularly accompanied by other viral or bacterial infections that may lead to increased clinical burden and mortality. Recent studies have highlighted the degree to which co-infections are not merely additive – proteins encoded by one pathogen can increase the pathogenicity of the other, for instance.

#### Swine

In swine, our understanding of the mechanics behind reassortment and gain-of-function mutations has increased considerably, but much more remains to be learned. Particularly dangerous swine influenza strains like H1N1pdm09 continue to circulate widely, with reassortments capable of producing strains with cross-species or zoonotic potential. Mammalian adaptation is a major field of swine influenza pathogenesis research, with genetic and *in silico* studies finding new mutations that may contribute to enhanced replication or airborne transmissibility. Co-infection is widely studied in swine as well, and new *in vitro* systems have recently been developed that may aid in the study of swine influenza pathogenesis and mutational analysis.

#### Immunology

Interactions between influenza virus and the immune system of its host affect pathogenesis, viral evolution, transmission (and therefore epidemiology), and also define the parameters for effective vaccination against influenza. This interaction is complicated and multifaceted, both at the individual animal and the population level, but is absolutely critical for us to understand. Significant advances have been seen in recent years, notably in avian immunogenetics underpinning differential resistance, as well as in our understanding of important factors involved in innate immunity to AIV: in swine,

knowledge of the effects of maternally-derived antibodies (MDA) has increased, with implications for the use of existing vaccines and the development of novel ones. However, attempts to link immunological findings with the bigger picture of pathogenesis, transmission and the development of broad long-lasting immune memory are scarce, and the complexity involved invites the use of computer modelling approaches. Such tools are being applied successfully in epitope design within animal influenza vaccinology, and in other areas of influenza virus research, such as epidemiology and outbreak control, but to our knowledge have yet to be used to comprehensively represent the innate and adaptive immune response to the virus and how this relates to aspects of protection or transmission. The application of computational immunology to the animal influenza field should be considered a priority area.

#### Avian

Knowledge of host immunogenomics has increased substantially, but studies in inbred poultry lines may over-simplify to the extent that they poorly-resemble real-world conditions. Host genetics appears to play an important role in both innate and adaptive immune responses to influenza virus infection. Next steps will include translation of this basic research into strategies that might be applied into the commercial field setting by rationally "breeding-in" increased resistance to avian influenza, or -where acceptable – the use of genetic modification to generate more resistant breeds. Studies assessing the possible impact of host immunogenetics on vaccine responses are so far lacking.

Several studies have expanded the discussion around the differential susceptibility of ducks and chickens to HPAI, which was previously attributed almost entirely to RIG-I expression by ducks. Innate immune molecules most notably including members of the TRIM and IFITM families are pointing to additional pathways that contribute to determining susceptibility.

An emerging field of research concerns the effects of the respiratory and intestinal microbiota on host immunity in general, and on resistance/response to AI infection in particular. Alongside, numerous studies report immune-modulating effects of various dietary supplements: to our knowledge, there are not any studies linking these observations or dissecting the effects of immune-modifying diets on the microbiota. Given the potential for significant improvements to immunity rendered by modifications to the diet/microbiota of commercial poultry, greater focus should be placed on this area in the future. Knowledge is still lacking on the chicken cellular immune response to HPAI and its significance during infection. This is in part due to a relative scarcity of high-resolution tools for analysis, but this limitation is beginning to be lifted, for example by the development of multi-parameter flow cytometry protocols and *ex vivo* organ culture systems. Exploring this aspect of the response will be a required foundation for future studies which must aim to link findings on innate, antibody and cellular immunity to AI in order to generate a comprehensive picture of the global response patterns that are linked with protection versus susceptibility.

#### Swine

Our depth of knowledge of the swine interferon response to IAV infection *in vivo* and *in vitro* at the molecular level has considerably deepened in recent years. However, studies looking to translate this knowledge into strategies to increase vaccine-induced protection are scarce.

Epitope prediction and identification approaches are supporting the findings of immunological observation studies that together indicate the presence of potentially cross-reactive T cells in pigs experimentally infected with SIV. Alongside, development of the inbred Babraham pig has increased the toolkit for immunological studies of cellular responses to infection. The translation of these findings into rational vaccine designs for testing in the field will be of great interest.

The effects of MDA are becoming clearer and it now seems that, while MDA reduce the transmissibility of SIV, the remaining level of transmission may remain sufficiently high to propagate the infection within the herd. However, as MDA have the potential to protect piglets and reduce transmission, it will be important to understand the upstream factors accounting for the differences in protection elicited in piglets from sows with comparable antibody levels. Strategies aiming to maximise and standardize protection by MDAs should be assessed as part of defining an effective vaccination program for both breeding sows and piglets that avoids the risk of maternal antibody interference with vaccine immunity.

#### Other species

The study of equine and companion animal immunity to influenza virus infection is in its infancy.

Immune correlates of protection remain elusive across all species: although it is clear that antibody/HI titre paint an incomplete picture, the other components of the protective response remain to be fully defined. The results of immunogenetic studies indicate that resistance to infection is a complex trait

that varies between breeds/species, and therefore a simple set of immune correlates may not be possible to define given the many variables surrounding natural infection and the individual response to it.

# Controlling the disease

#### Surveillance

Surveillance programs monitor circulating animal influenza strains to allow rapid outbreak response, targeted vaccine development, and more effective deployment of limited diagnostic and disease control resources. Recent studies have focused on the development of data collection technologies, new computational/modelling-based approaches, and strategies for integration between surveillance programs worldwide. Advances have been reported in bioaerosol testing and environmental sampling, allowing easier and less invasive monitoring of circulating influenza strains at domestic farming facilities. Modelling strategies also continue to develop, with researchers applying computational power to transmission network models, outbreak risk predictive maps and other means of targeting limited resources to areas of highest risk.

Computational resources have also been applied to enhancing integration between surveillance and other fields of research (e.g. virology and epidemiology) and across national borders. Online databases are an increasingly popular means of storing surveillance data, allowing input and analysis from scientists across the world. Combining such networks with relatively simple, non-invasive methods of surveillance may increase disease reporting compliance and allow surveillance programs to cover previously understudied regions and/or species.

#### Diagnostics

Early detection in livestock or in wildlife populations of IAV subtypes with zoonotic and/or pandemic potential is a clear priority. To achieve this aim, reliable diagnostic tools for virus and antibody subtyping should be developed as alternatives to haemagglutination inhibition (HI). Both lab-based, high-throughput tests and cost-effective point-of-use tests with minimal technological requirements are necessary. Similarly, although multiplexed methods that simultaneously test for many or all of the known (and even unknown) IAV subtypes can fulfil an important role in viral surveillance, there are

also situations that would benefit from subtype-specific tests. To enable comparison of diagnostictest results between laboratories, appropriate internal controls should be developed.

Viral antigenic variation presents a challenge for the continued effectiveness of established diagnostic tests. Because host range, pathogenicity and zoonotic potential are dependent upon the subtypes of the viral HA and NA proteins, assays that can accurately determine the HA/NA status of identified IAVs are required. Once developed, such assays should be monitored to ensure their continued effectiveness in the context of IAV genetic mutation and antigenic drift. Viral genomic sequencing should be conducted to ensure that the available tests provide full coverage of the circulating viral pool, and it can be facilitated by improvement of methods for virus recovery and storage. In addition, tests that are not affected by mutations in the *NA* and *HA* genes, such as those that target conserved IAV genes and proteins, should be used where appropriate.

Ongoing and past IAV infections can be identified by appropriate profiling of serum antibodies, either by the standard method of HI or by alternative techniques such as ELISA. The available assays should be revised and updated to ensure that they are suitable for identification of infection with the currently circulating IAV strains (and that they can determine the subtype specificity of the serum antibodies), and novel approaches should be developed to improve assay precision, multiplexing and suitability for point-of-use testing. In addition to the direct identification and characterization of circulating IAVs, serological testing can characterise humoral responses to vaccination, and has the potential to differentiate between antibody profiles resulting from vaccination and from infection. Appropriate DIVA strategies should therefore be developed.

#### Vaccines

Successful control of animal influenzas globally will most likely require the use of vaccines. Current vaccines can be efficacious under optimal conditions of close antigenic match with the circulating strain, precise administration and adherence to the recommended vaccination schedule, lack of co-infection with other pathogens, absence of immunosuppression, favourable (as yet undefined) immunogenetics of the host, and no interference from maternally derived antibodies. In short, there are significant barriers to efficacy of many currently available vaccines.

#### Avian

A major stumbling block remains the widespread use of vaccine production methods that rely upon inoculation of viral strains into vast numbers of embryonated eggs from chickens. This is highly problematic on multiple levels: the time between new strain identification and vaccine availability is typically four to six months, partly due to the need to adapt strains for growth in eggs, which in itself can increase the antigenic distance between the field and vaccine strain and so reduce vaccine efficacy; moreover, the supply of eggs could clearly be adversely impacted in an AI epizootic and/or pandemic situation. At best, production of AI vaccines in eggs could be considered out-dated, while at worst it is a ticking timebomb leaving us vulnerable to a potentially catastrophic inability to manufacture AI vaccines in response to an emerging threat.

Moving away from egg-based methods of AI vaccine production is clearly desirable and probably essential, but there is currently little incentive for vaccine companies to go through costly and time-consuming regulatory processes and invest in new infrastructure for different methods. Similarly, many novel vaccines are being described in the literature that continue to require propagation in embryonated eggs. Other methods of vaccine production are widely described, and research should be encouraged that brings together the best in vaccine design with forward-thinking approaches to subsequent vaccine production such as the use of suspension cell cultures or plant-based methods.

Also urgently needed are new technologies for mass vaccination, particularly critical for the broiler industry, to facilitate influenza control in densely-populated poultry environments where avian viruses can spread rapidly if left unchecked.

#### Swine

There are promising novel vaccines emerging from SIV researchers globally, including those based on DNA and live-attenuated viruses. Intriguing data are being reported on the potential for heterologous prime-boost immunization protocols to increase protection, also hinting at the presence of little-understood immune mechanisms underlying breadth and strength of protection that warrant further investigation. Computer modelling is being used to drive rational vaccine design, with encouraging results, calling for more widespread use of these approaches across animal influenza vaccine research.

#### Other species

Research into current and novel vaccines against equine influenza is ongoing, including important insights into the effect of maternally-derived antibodies.

A canine influenza vaccine for use in cats is warranted.

#### All species

Previous reports have called for the design of novel vaccines across all species and the research community has responded positively, with many candidate vaccines showing significant promise. However, previous reports also identified the lack of field-testing of vaccines as a significant problem, and this issue remains widespread. Similarly, studies variably report on innate immune responses, serum or mucosal antibody and/or cytokine levels, cellular immunity, duration of immunity, comparisons with inactivated vaccines, clinical protection from homologous/heterologous challenge and viral shedding at various time points, to name but a few parameters. This variability makes meaningful comparison between studies, and therefore between vaccines, a real challenge, and definition of an agreed-upon set of standard measurements for all AI vaccine studies (as seen in human vaccine trials) could be tremendously beneficial.

There is also a need for systematic testing of adjuvants across different species and, in particular, under field conditions. Adjuvants have the capacity to influence the antigenic dose necessary, time-to-protection, the titre and diversity of antibodies produced, the shape and magnitude of the T cell response, and the establishment of effective immunologic memory. However, they in turn are influenced by the amount used, the route of delivery and species-specific factors. Rarely are studies on adjuvants conducted in a systematic way that defines the optimal method/setting or their use, and the broad immune outcomes that result: rarer still are novel vaccines tested with a range of adjuvants or using different delivery routes.

Overall, across animal influenza vaccine research there is an urgent need for more "joining of the dots", where novel vaccine candidates that show both practical and immunological promise are tested in a progressive manner and in depth, allowing for minor alterations to be made to increase efficacy, whilst moving towards the ultimate aim of demonstrating strong, durable, cross-protective immunity under field conditions. More support from funders and publishers for this type of approach will be

needed if the promising vaccine candidates of today are to be the answers the animal influenza outbreaks of tomorrow.

#### **Drugs/Therapeutic approaches**

Although neuraminidase inhibitors (NAIs) such as oseltamivir (Tamiflu) are available for prevention and treatment of viral influenza in humans, widespread use of these agents in animals is contraindicated on the basis of the cost of the drugs, the possibility of contamination of the environment and the food chain with the drugs and their metabolites, and, most importantly from the perspective of human health, the inevitability of the development and dissemination of viral resistance to therapy. Notably, however, such treatments have potential roles in specific aspects of animal health care, such as the protection of endangered species and valuable genetic stocks. Research is required to determine the appropriate use in these situations of existing anti-influenza drugs, whether approved or rejected for human therapy, and also to identify alternative treatments that are not subject to the limitations of known NAIs, and that are suitable for widespread use and not associated with adverse effects on human health.

Priorities for basic research in this field have also been identified as the improvement of resistance to IAV infection, either by selective breeding or by genetic modification, as well as the development of interventions to block viral replication. A promising direction for research in this field involves the development of agents that mimic host cell-surface receptors, which can potentially prevent the initiation of viral infections.

#### Disinfectants

The development of new disinfectants, particularly those with a minor environmental footprint, remains a priority. Equally important is the ability to apply such chemicals effectively under varying circumstances (farm layout, temperature, humidity, etc.) and to thoroughly clean them from the environment. Many recent studies have focused on disinfectants that are effective across a range of climatic conditions, while others have examined UV irradiation, air filtration/treated filters, and other broad-scale methods that may be relatively simple to deploy in diverse situations. Public outreach and education strategies should also be expanded to ensure understanding of and compliance with outbreak control strategies. Effective and efficient disinfection in the wake of influenza infections can

substantially reduce the time and cost required to recover from an outbreak, reducing economic burden in the long run.

#### **Depopulation and Disposal**

Culling and disposal of affected animals is the first step in influenza outbreak control. Many methods exist for this step; recent studies have primarily focused on making depopulation and disposal more effective and efficient, more humane, and less environmentally impactful. Euthanasia of layer/caged birds remains more challenging than for floor-reared birds due to the layout of such poultry farms, for instance, with methods such as fast-deploying foam currently under study. From an environmental perspective, composting is a disposal method with a lower footprint than burning or burying, but increased integration between farming and industrial sectors may be needed to make large-scale composting feasible in resource-limited regions.

Depopulation and disposal are expensive, and cost avoidance can reduce disease reporting/control program compliance in areas with little to no biosecurity. Economically-minded research has focused on reducing the necessary radii of depopulation and reducing the number of animals that must be culled to ensure effective outbreak control. Computational studies and *in silico* modelling may provide guidance for reducing the maximum necessary extent of depopulation during an outbreak, lowering the economic burden of culling and disposal and hastening post-outbreak recovery.

#### **Personal Protective Equipment**

Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) is a critical component of worker-protection in outbreak situations; however, risks of user-error, non-compliance with use and the effects of equipment wear and tear can limit efficacy. Recent studies provide encouraging data that show PPE can be effective, it is important to understand how PPE performs during longer durations of potential exposure and in viral strains with known high transmissibility to humans. Thus, future studies should report as much detail as possible on duration and intensity of transmission and include data on reported breaches of correct PPE use.

# Literature Review and Research Updates by Subject Area

# **Report approach**

The primary literature review was conducted using the applied life sciences CAB Abstracts database (<u>www.cabdirect.org</u>) and the search term "influenza\*". When limited to studies published since the most recent previous gap analysis (July 2015), the database returned a list of 6818 papers. Papers were subsequently excluded from further consideration if they were not published in English or not relevant to animal influenza. The remaining papers were then manually screened for relevance to the scope of this report, limiting species of interest to all avian, swine, equine and companion animals, finally leaving 3562 papers for assessment for inclusion. These papers were allocated to the following topic areas as shown in

Table 1.

Research Category	Papers
	(n)
Epidemiology	1035
Virology	470
Pathogenesis	339
Immunology	233
Surveillance	175
Diagnostics	235
Vaccines	810
Drugs/therapeutic approaches	208
Disinfectants	34
Depopulation and disposal/Epidemic	19
control	10
PPE	4
Total	3562

Table 1: Animal influenza peer-reviewed publications July 2015-March 2021, sub-divided by topic area.

These studies formed the main structure of the report and were supplemented by 70 recently published studies retrieved from the PubMed.gov database, which has a shorter delay between publication and upload of article information than CAB Abstracts does. Additional literature searches were performed during writing to provide appropriate citation for all material and, where needed,

useful background. Studies were selected for inclusion based on the authors' impressions of their potential impact within the field, their quality and novelty, and the relevance of their findings with respect to the knowledge gaps identified previously in 2014/15. More recent studies were given priority within the report. In total 682 studies are referenced herein.

To generate an overview of ongoing research, 143 animal influenza researchers and experts were contacted by email and invited to complete a survey that asked for brief summaries of their current and future projects in animal influenza research. These individuals were selected from attendance lists for the previous gap analysis workshops, personal connection with the commissioning team at STAR-IDAZ IRC, or through being among the list of most prolific authors within the "influenza\*" search of the CAB Abstracts database (defined as having contributed to >35 publications published between 2015 and 2021 inclusive). Information provided by these researchers and experts is included within the appropriate report section, but it should be noted that the representation of work is thus inherently biased towards those individuals and institutes that elected to respond to the request for information. Therefore, these sections should not be considered comprehensive in the same way as the rest of the report aims to be.

Two strategies were combined to identify current knowledge gaps: the knowledge gaps identified in 2014/15 were assessed to establish whether they have yet been filled or remain in need of further research; secondly, the animal influenza researchers contacted for ongoing research updates were also asked to submit their thoughts on current research knowledge gaps. Current knowledge gaps based on the literature review and expert opinion are summarised at the end of each literature review section.

### Introduction

Animal influenza viruses have been recognized as a threat to the health of wildlife and livestock since the 1800's. During the 1918 human flu pandemic, it was noted that swine also became ill and showed similar clinical signs, raising the possibility of transmission between species. Since this time, outbreaks of avian and swine influenza that have crossed into humans have claimed many lives, and predictions of the likely death toll of a pandemic in which an animal influenza virus gained the ability to transmit between humans vary from 5-150 million. The ongoing severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 pandemic, which likely originated from a zoonotic infection in China, brings these figures into sharp focus and argues for strong and systematic research into viruses that pose a similar threat to human health.

Alongside their zoonotic risk, swine, avian, equine and companion animal influenza viruses have serious economic and social impacts as animal pathogens. For example, highly pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI) causes direct mortality in susceptible species, but outbreaks are often limited by culling of huge numbers of infected, suspected infected or uninfected at-risk birds in the area, which adversely affects commercial and backyard poultry farmers both financially and, in some cases, mentally, from the trauma of the culling itself (H. Park, Chun, and Joo 2020). Moreover, HPAI outbreaks can drive down consumer demand for poultry products for prolonged periods (Wen et al. 2019; Belewu 2019) and areas that rely on tourism can also suffer long-lasting adverse effects from outbreaks (Govindaraj et al. 2018). Swine influenza is rarely fatal but causes morbidity within affected herds, especially when it occurs as part of the porcine respiratory disease complex, leading to fewer piglets and longer time to slaughter in endemic herds (Donovan 2005) while the recent equine influenza outbreak in the UK in 2019 was estimated by the media to have cost the horse racing industry alone over £200 million.

The combined risk to human and animal health from influenza virus infection calls for a research framework that strategically aims to answer key questions around the biology of the virus, its host species, their interactions, and how these factors combine in outbreak situations. Building on this knowledge we can then establish optimal tools for control and use retrospective analysis and outbreak modelling to understand how best to apply them. This report provides updates on these key aspects of animal influenza virus research and control and aims to establish those avenues of future investigation that will most effectively propel us towards improved prevention and management of influenza outbreaks in animal species, with the parallel aim of preventing crossover into the human population.

# **Understanding Animal Influenza**

#### **Epidemiology**

The incidence and distribution of veterinary influenza has grown ever more diverse over the past 5 years. Previously recognized influenza viruses continue to disperse across the globe, increasing in complexity as they encounter new host species and reassort to form novel virus strains. At the animal-human interface, the rapidly increasing human population has necessitated an explosion in food animal production, with poultry meat production alone increasing by 21.3 million tonnes from 2010-2017 (Hautefeuille, Dauphin, and Peyre 2020). This has resulted in a higher density of farm animals and animal species, facilitating the transmission and reassortment of new influenza strains that regularly cause costly outbreaks in developed and developing nations (Ruiz-Fons 2015).

Over the past five years, the highly pathogenic influenza subtype H5Nx has remained a significant cause of outbreaks in domestic poultry and continues to spread across the globe via spillback from poultry to wild migratory birds (Verhagen, Fouchier, and Lewis 2021). H7N9, previously established as a significant threat in China, was observed in Guangdong during 2016-2017 to evolve from a low pathogenic to a highly pathogenic phenotype, with a coincident increase in cases of zoonotic infection (Shuo Liu et al. 2020). Meanwhile, other potentially zoonotic viral subtypes like H9N2 continue to circulate, particularly in Southeast Asia, a long-recognized hotspot for poultry influenza reassortment within its loosely regulated live bird markets (Peacock et al. 2019).

In swine, a "mixing vessel" species susceptible to infection by both avian and human influenza viruses, new patterns of viral reassortment and epidemiology have been observed worldwide. In Europe, swine populations have been found to harbour multiple major influenza lineages of the H1 and H3 subtypes; intensive reassortment continues to generate distinct genotypes, some with pre-pandemic properties (Henritzi et al. 2020). In developing countries, meanwhile, concerning subtypes including avian H9N2 and H5N1 and the human-origin H1N1 2009 pandemic strain have been found co-circulating in domestic pigs in developing countries (Gomaa et al. 2018; Meseko et al. 2018). Zoonoses and reverse zoonoses also increase the probability of highly transmissible reassortants in developed nations (Nelson et al. 2020; Henritzi et al. 2020; H. Sun et al. 2020). A plethora of other species serve as reservoirs for the circulation and evolution of influenza viruses, with horses (Diallo et al. 2021) and companion animals (Kalhoro et al. 2019) being of particular interest due to their close proximity to humans.

# Previously identified knowledge gaps

Previous reports (United States Department of Agriculture 2014; OFFLU 2014; European Food Safety Authority 2015) identified the following priority research knowledge gaps in animal influenza epidemiology in 2014/15:

- understanding patterns of host susceptibility based on molecular markers
- identification of critical reservoir species, particularly within wild bird populations
- genetic determinants of resistance to HPAI strains in known reservoir species (e.g. ducks)
- factors impacting speed of antigenic drift and shift, especially in swine
- interaction pathways between wild birds and poultry, and computational models of such pathways
- modes of environmental transmission
- increasing understanding of live poultry markets and related viral transmission dynamics
- determinants of pathogenicity including and beyond the multibasic cleavage site
- determinants of host and tissue tropism
- mechanisms of mammalian adaptation in avian viruses
- role of environmental and ecological variables in virus transmission patterns
- increasing understanding of potential reservoir species at the human/animal interface
- understanding of frontline worker biosecurity measures and means for increasing compliance
- mathematical/computational modelling of outbreak dynamics to inform public policy

# Literature review

# Epidemiology of Avian Influenza

After classification based on their hemagglutinin (HA) and neuraminidase (NA) surface proteins, avian influenza viruses (AIV) are divided into low pathogenicity AI (LPAI) or HPAI categories based on their phenotypic presentation in chickens. LPAI viruses may circulate with minimal or even no clinical signs, allowing long-term, unobserved transmission and maintenance in domestic flocks and wild bird populations. However, some LPAI viruses may switch categories by spontaneously acquiring the defining hallmark of an HPAI strain: a multibasic cleavage site (MBCS) within the HA protein that facilitates wider tissue tropism within the host (Beerens et al. 2020; Joseph et al. 2017; Stech et al. 2015). HPAI strains cause significant disease in domestic poultry and can cause up to 100% mortality

in infected flocks. Such outbreaks are therefore highly visible and usually quickly contained (W. S. Liang et al. 2020; S. H. Kim 2018). In regions where HPAI viruses are endemic and/or widespread, however, HPAI outbreaks can spread rapidly, usually from October through February in the northern hemisphere before tapering off as temperatures rise (Awada et al. 2018).

Both environmental and anthropogenic factors play significant roles in the spread of AIV. LPAI and HPAI viruses can spread between domestic poultry and wild migrating birds. These birds, particularly wild ducks, are often asymptomatic even during infection with HPAI and can maintain and transmit these viruses across their migratory routes. As discussed below, research continues to expand our understanding of avian influenza epidemiology within wildlife populations, revealing new host species and viral reservoirs and updating assumptions on the nature of AIV transmission within and between continents. Meanwhile, high-density domestic poultry sites (e.g. live bird markets and commercial poultry operations) and poorly regulated contacts between farms (e.g. movement of infected birds or contaminated equipment) also contribute to the transmission and inter-species reassortment of AIV.

#### **Current Global Situation**

Globally, the volume of reported avian influenza outbreaks in the 21<sup>st</sup> century has likely already exceeded the sum total from the 20<sup>th</sup> century (Canavan 2019). Recently, two particular subtypes of avian influenza have attracted significant attention due to their high pathogenicity, widespread distribution, zoonotic potential, or combination of the three. HPAI H5Nx viruses have long been recognized as a major source of poultry epidemics and occasional zoonoses in regions of Asia and Africa. In the latter, H5Nx have appeared to reach the continent via Europe via migratory waterfowl, and circulation/persistent infections in Africa may serve as a source of re-transmission to Europe, also via migratory birds (Fusaro et al. 2019). These H5 viruses have continued to spread rapidly over the past five years, with the particularly concerning clade 2.3.4.4 detected in poultry populations across the Middle East and Asia and in at least 19 European countries (Verhagen, Fouchier, and Lewis 2021). This clade has caused epidemics worldwide, with a 2014-2015 outbreak in the midwestern USA leading to the culling of >50 million poultry and a cost exceeding 3 billion USD – the largest outbreak of an HPAI in the continent's history. Meanwhile, H7N9 caused repeated seasonal epidemics of poultry influenza in China, with its fifth wave (2016-2017) including a 340% increase in human infections and an evolution to a highly pathogenic phenotype (Shuo Liu et al. 2020).

#### H5Nx Avian Influenza Viruses

The ancestor strain of the present HPAI H5N1 subtype emerged in Guangdong, China in 1996 and was initially restricted to Southern China (Dhingra et al. 2016). Within a decade, it had spread throughout the country and circulated widely in Chinese live poultry markets (LPMs) for at least 15 years. Prior to 2012, the most common subtype by far was H5N1. Thereafter, the H5N2, N3, N4, N5, N6, and N8 subtypes emerged and spread rapidly through the poultry population (Shuo Liu et al. 2020). The dominant subtypes have shifted rapidly over the past five years, and in the winter of 2020-2021, multiple outbreaks of H5N8 were reported across Europe and Asia (Jiahao Zhang et al. 2021).

Viral evolution in these regions led to the emergence of a diverse field of clades sharing the H5 gene (collectively terms "H5Nx" viruses). The dominant clade of the H5Nx viruses has changed over time, with clade 2.3.4.4 emerging in early 2014 and now accounting for 99.2% of Chinese isolates (Shuo Liu et al. 2020). HPAI H5Nx clade 2.3.4.4 has since spread worldwide at an unprecedented pace, reassorting with AIV in disparate regions to gain different NA while retaining the clade 2.3.4.4 HA (Dhingra et al. 2016). H5N8 spread from China to South Korea, Japan, Russia, and Europe within a year, with long-distance migratory birds playing a significant role in this spread (The Global Consortium for H5N8 and Related Influenza Viruses 2016). In South Korea, domestic ducks maintained the virus and passed it to poultry farms over a two-year period of continuous outbreaks (J. H. Kwon et al. 2020). Meanwhile, the novel reassortant H5N6 clade 2.3.4.4 circulated through Southeast Asia. H5 clade 2.3.4.4 reached North America by late 2014, most likely carried via migratory birds passing through the Beringian Crucible (D.-H. Lee et al. 2015). October 2016-August 2017 saw the largest recorded HPAI epidemic in Europe, including >1200 outbreaks in poultry holdings across 24 EU countries, with numerous reassortments occurring between HPAI H5 viruses and cocirculating LPAI viruses (Lycett et al. 2020).

An H5N2 outbreak subsequently developed in western Canada and the American Pacific Northwest, causing sporadic infections in domestic and wild birds until a sudden explosion in cases in the midwestern USA in March 2015. This stage of the outbreak lasted for three months and became the largest and most expensive HPAI outbreak in the USA to date, involving the culling of approximately 50.4 million poultry and an estimated loss of 3.3 billion USD across the economy at large (Hicks et al. 2020). H5Nx viruses expanded their spread across Europe, Asia, and Africa during 2016-2018 and now circulate worldwide (Salvador et al. 2020; Kouam, Tchouankui, and Ngapagna 2019; Adlhoch et al. 2020), threatening domestic poultry flocks and raising the likelihood of reassortment events between other endemic avian and swine influenza viruses (Jeong et al. 2020).

Although less hazardous to poultry than their HPAI counterparts, low pathogenicity H5 viruses continue to circulate and reassort as well. Li *et al.* examined the evolutionary dynamics of LPAI H5 viruses in North American domestic poultry and found evidence for 18 discrete introductions into various holdings from wild birds, facilitating cocirculation of multiple subtypes and raising the probability of reassortment (L. Li et al. 2018). In Mexico, vaccination programs and other control measures led to the extinction of HPAI H5N2 in the mid-1990s, but LPAI H5N2 has remained enzootic for decades despite significant containment efforts, with antigenic drift events facilitating vaccine escape (Bertran et al. 2020). Mexican-lineage LPAI H5N2 was introduced to Taiwan in 2003, where it reassorted with local H6N1 and mutated to form an HPAI variant responsible for poultry outbreaks in 2012 (Chung et al. 2020a). Infections and subsequent genetic divergence has also been detected in the Dominican Republic (Chung et al. 2020b). Reassortment between LPAI and HPAI H5 subtypes can be particularly dangerous, as low-severity disease can allow intercontinental transport of HPAI internal genes to go unnoticed (Lycett, Duchatel, and Digard 2019).

#### H7N9 Avian Influenza Virus

The H7N9 lineage that was widespread in China in recent years was first identified in March 2013, when human infections were recorded in the southeast of the country (Z. Zheng et al. 2019). This virus originated from AIV reassortment events between domestic poultry and wild birds (Artois et al. 2018), and unlike H5Nx, H7N9 emerged as an LPAI virus that caused minimal clinical signs in chickens; however, it seems to be a significantly higher zoonotic risk. Although the first wave of LPAI H7N9 was seemingly averted, a second wave began in late 2013 and led to 318 human cases and over 100 deaths (Lam et al. 2015). Once endemic in LPMs, the close proximity of multiple poultry species allowed rapid reassortment of H7N9 with spread throughout the country via the meat trade (D. Wang et al. 2016). As the virus spread, it diverged into numerous distinct clades, causing two subsequent epidemic waves with reduced zoonotic incidence. However, the fifth epidemic wave of LPAI H7N9 in 2016-2017 reached a record level of spill over into humans (Artois et al. 2018), combined with a westward spread that carried the virus out of its usual endemic zones in southeast China (Lau et al. 2019). Altogether, since 2013, H7N9 has caused more than 1500 human infections including 30-40% fatalities (Shuo Liu et al. 2020).

The virulence of the fifth H7N9 epidemic wave focused considerable international attention on this unpredictable threat. Genetic and virological studies revealed that H7N9 is better adapted to the

human nasal passages and respiratory system than any other known AIV subtype and is capable of limited airborne transmission between mammalian models (Peiris et al. 2016). Particularly unfortunate was the emergence of an HPAI H7N9 variant during the fifth wave, increasing the disease burden on the poultry industry until widespread vaccination assisted in halting the epidemic in April 2017 (Shuo Liu et al. 2020; S. Su et al. 2017).

No further substantial outbreaks of H7N9 have been reported since 2017, but the virus continues to circulate asymptomatically in poultry, with the ecologically rich Yangtze and Pearl River Deltas serving as H7N9 maintenance sites. It is highly seroprevalent in Chinese poultry workers, with an estimate of anywhere from 13 to 225 mild infections for each case requiring hospitalization (Peiris et al. 2016). Vaccination control programs are ongoing, but recent surveillance data suggests that vaccine pressure is accelerating the evolution of Chinese-lineage H7N9 – stricter control measures may therefore be necessary (Y. Wu et al. 2021a). Separate lineages of H7N9 have also caused outbreaks in the Netherlands and the United States (Sanhong Liu, Ruan, and Zhang 2017). In 2017, an HPAI variant of H7N9 was detected in two poultry farms in Tennessee (D.-H. Lee et al. 2017), most likely as an offshoot of undetected LPAI circulating within the population (Beerens et al. 2020).

#### Other Avian Influenza Viruses

H9N2 has circulated in the Chinese poultry industry for decades despite widespread vaccine use. It seems to be almost entirely sustained in domestic populations, with a high prevalence in chickens and pigeons and little in wild birds, and despite its limited transboundary potential, it remains substantially seroprevalent in poultry workers (Shuo Liu et al. 2020). H9N2 has spread across the globe in the years since its identification; different lineages of this virus are endemic in Iranian LPMs (Fallah Mehrabadi et al. 2019) and circulate in many regions including Bangladesh (Turner et al. 2017), Pakistan (Chaudhry et al. 2020), the United Kingdom (Reid et al. 2016), and many other areas of Europe, Asia, and the Middle East. H9N2 alone typically causes relatively mild respiratory disease in infected poultry, but co-infection with bacterial or viral pathogens can raise mortality rates to levels associated with HPAI viruses, leading to substantial economic burden in affected regions. Vaccination programs have been implemented across Asia, the Middle East, and Africa, but H9N2 continues to circulate and cause outbreaks in vaccinated populations (Peacock et al. 2019). Active surveillance/epidemiology studies, more regular vaccine strain assessment, and improved vaccination technologies are needed to reduce the risk of these viruses.

H6N1 and H10N8 AIV also circulate widely in poultry in China (S. Su et al. 2017). These strains emerged in 2015, most likely via reassortment of the dominant H5, H7, and H9 strains with viruses introduced by wild birds (Lam et al. 2015). Lloren *et al.* note that these and other H6 and H10 strains display phylogenetic attributes associated with mammalian adaptation, and both have been associated with limited zoonotic outbreaks in Southeast Asia over the past decade (Lloren et al. 2017). On June 1, 2021, China's National Health Commission reported the first known human case of H10N3 avian flu in the Jiangsu province, though there is no indication that this virus can spread easily between humans (H. Gu and Patton 2021).

In Mexico, LPAI H5N2 and HPAI H7N3 viruses are endemic in poultry. The latter has been responsible for recurrent outbreaks in Mexico since 2012 along with separate outbreaks in Chile and Canada. Vaccination control programs are ongoing, but a high rate of genetic divergence has allowed the virus to remain in circulation (Sungsu Youk et al. 2019). Adaptive mutations that have facilitated its pathogenicity in chickens, however, appear to have reduced its fitness in mallards, potentially limiting viral spread via wild waterfowl (S.-S. Youk et al. 2019).

Seroprevalence studies have highlighted the frequency with which multiple strains of AIV may cocirculate, increasing the risk of gain-of-function reassortment events as viruses are shared among species-diverse domestic and wild populations (discussed in more detail below). H1N2 and N3, H3N6, H4N2, H9N2, and H10N7, for instance, have all been detected within LPMs in Bangladesh (Biswas et al. 2017), and similar conditions exist in many regions throughout Southeast Asia and the Middle East where high-density live bird markets are common (Verhagen, Fouchier, and Lewis 2021; Khan et al. 2018). Meanwhile, small-scale and case studies allow monitoring of the spread of rarer virus subtypes not yet associated with significant outbreaks or zoonotic potential. In Colombia, H11N2 was observed circulating in an LPM in 2016 (Jiménez-Bluhm et al. 2016), and in 2020, Liu *et al.* reported the first isolation of H12N2 virus, originally detected in Canada, from wild birds in China (J. Liu et al. 2020).

#### Modes and Routes of Transmission

The primary modes of AIV transmission between infected birds are the oropharyngeal (respiratory) and cloacal (faecal/oral) routes, with the relative importance of these routes to transmission depending on the influenza strain and host bird species (Verhagen, Fouchier, and Lewis 2021; Pantin-Jackwood et al. 2017). In 2016, Ruiz-Hernandez *et al.* examined the importance of both modes using an H7N7 AIV to probe viral transmission characteristics in two chicken lines: one with an MHC/B

haplotype suggested to increase influenza resistance, and another with decreased resistance. They found that resistant chickens shed virus only via the oropharyngeal route unless specifically infected via the cloaca, suggesting an intrahost transmission barrier between the respiratory and gastrointestinal systems. Resistant chickens also caused significantly less viral transmission to naïve birds, while more vulnerable chickens spread the virus far more quickly via cloacal shedding (Ruiz-Hernandez et al. 2016).

Anthropogenic factors can multiply the risk of respiratory and cloacal transmission by providing opportunities for viral evolution and spread. LPMs are a particular mainstay of agricultural industries in China, Southeast Asia, and areas of Africa and the Middle East (Offeddu, Cowling, and Peiris 2016; Biswas et al. 2017; Chaudhry et al. 2018), where they play a significant role in the maintenance, amplification, and spread of AIV due to a combination of high poultry density, mixing of poultry species and sources, and generally low biosecurity. Straddling the human-avian interface, they are also a common source of zoonotic infections (Turner et al. 2017; Artois et al. 2017; Junru Ma et al. 2019). Grappling with the role of LPMs, and possible countermeasures for their role in AIV transmission, has occupied substantial attention over the past 5 years.

Poultry housed in LPMs display higher levels of AIV positivity than their counterparts on farms (Junru Ma et al. 2019). The close proximity of multiple poultry species (e.g. chickens, ducks, and geese) allows numerous viral subtypes to spread freely and often asymptomatically, swapping internal genes and rapidly generating novel variants (S. Su et al. 2017; Sung-su Youk et al. 2020). Analyses of poultry workers regularly find notably high seroprevalence of various AIV subtypes (Peiris et al. 2016; Chaudhry et al. 2020; R. Zhang et al. 2021) and zoonotic cases throughout the population are commonly traced back to exposure at LPMs (Lin et al. 2017; Junru Ma et al. 2019; Peiris et al. 2016). Many solutions have been proposed to reduce the risk of AIV maintenance and transmission at LPMs, with varying degrees of corresponding economic impact. Ma et al. examined the effects of LPM closure on H7N9 spread in Jiangsu Province during the 2013-2017 outbreaks and concluded that 3-4 weeks of closure were necessary to control the spread of infection (Junru Ma et al. 2019). Wang and colleagues, studying the same string of outbreaks, suggested encouraging the movement of poultry production away from LPMs and regular sero-surveillance of high-risk market workers (D. Wang et al. 2016). Unsurprisingly, measures often meet substantial resistance from LPM workers who rely on the markets for income – closures in China during the 2013 H7N9 outbreak alone, for instance, cost the poultry industry an estimated 8 billion USD (Peiris et al. 2016). There has been a recent push to validate LPM outbreak control methods that remain effective while incurring lower costs on the local economy.

These include the introduction of rest/cleaning days, banning of overnight poultry holding, and separation of chicken and duck populations (Peiris et al. 2016). However, even these less costly alternatives remain unpopular (X. Lei et al. 2019), suggesting that additional education and economic incentives would be required to raise compliance with any new safety guidelines (Lin et al. 2017).

LPMs and other sites of high poultry density facilitate AIV maintenance and reassortment, but virus introduction and interregional spread require vectors capable of inter-regional travel. Human activity is a common source of AIV spread (Delabouglise et al. 2017; Artois et al. 2018). Lu et al. conducted phylogeographic analyses to determine regional routes of transmission, finding that human transport (e.g. freight movement of poultry) is primarily responsible for the westward spread of new AIV strains across China (Lu Lu, Leigh Brown, and Lycett 2017). Examining the North American HPAI H5N2 outbreak of 2014-2015, Hubbard et al. found unrestricted transport and other lapses in biosecurity measures to be the most likely factors responsible for the rapid spread of the virus (Hubbard et al. 2017). Similarly, Hicks et al. conducted viral phylodynamic and ecological modelling of the same outbreak and concluded that multiple intercontinental introductions of the virus were not required for the observed trends. Instead, the outbreak was likely self-sustaining, with existing biosecurity measures sufficient to prevent continuous outside introductions but ineffective against local transmission via unrestricted movement between densely populated commercial poultry farms (Hicks et al. 2020). Human travel has also been confirmed as a major contributor to spread of AIV between commercial farms with generally higher biosecurity and surveillance than smaller-scale farms and LPMs (Young et al. 2017). Kouam et al. examined two HPAI H5 outbreaks in Cameroon (2006 and 2016-2017), finding the primary factors in transmission to be unrestricted movement between poultry and egg farms, poor biosecurity measures on these farms, and the presence of LPMs (Kouam, Tchouankui, and Ngapagna 2019). Intercontinental human transport of AIV also occurs; illegal poultry imports are increasing, and HPAI H5Nx viruses have been isolated from raw chicken products brought to Japan by plane passengers (Shibata et al. 2018).

While human activity contributes to regional AIV spread, the primary vector of transboundary AIV spread is wild migratory birds (The Global Consortium for H5N9 and Related Influenza Viruses 2016; Lycett et al. 2020). Influenza prevalence in migratory birds, and the subsequent transmission patterns caused by their movements, is a massive and growing field of research spurred by recent developments in surveillance capabilities and computational modelling (discussed in more detail below). Migrating bird populations can exhibit high AIV seroprevalence (Endo and Nishiura 2018) and often have high natural resistance to AIV, allowing them to carry influenza undetected (W. S. Liang et

al. 2020; Verhagen, Fouchier, and Lewis 2021; Pantin-Jackwood et al. 2016). Humphreys *et al.*, who used satellite-marked blue winged teal (*Spatula discors*) to model North American migrating duck populations, found that their migratory pathways correlated with increased risk of local AIV outbreaks (Humphreys et al. 2020). Resting and wintering sites along migration routes contain multiple different species in close contact, facilitating viral spread and evolution (Mine et al. 2018; Dalby and Iqbal 2015). Where major migratory flyways intersect with densely-populated land regions, such as the Nile River valley, transmission to domestic birds can be common, rapid, and extremely difficult to detect or prevent (Young et al. 2017). The flyways of different species often overlap in breeding grounds, allowing mixing and transmission of viruses across continents. Mine *et al.*, for instance, conducted a phylogeographic analysis of a 2017-2018 HPAI H5N6 outbreak in Asia and Europe and found evidence for a common ancestor in a mixed breeding ground in Siberia, where three major migratory flyways are known to converge (Mine et al. 2018).

Beringia is another area of significant species overlap, hosting large numbers of migratory birds and facilitating AIV spread between Asia and North America via the East Asia-Australia, Pacific Americas, and Mississippi Americas Flyways (Chaudhry et al. 2020; Mine et al. 2018). Beringia facilitates the highest levels of Asia-to-North-America wildlife movements of any migratory hotspot (Morin et al. 2018), and it was from this area that the North American HPAI H5N2 outbreak likely originated (D.-H. Lee et al. 2015). Wide-ranging species, such as emperor geese (*Anser canagicus*), collect in the Beringia and have shown high seroprevalence of diverse AIV subtypes (Ramey et al. 2019). Such hotspots host a complex pattern of influenza propagation, with some species primarily responsible for amplifying AIV infections (particularly LPAI viruses) in local wintering grounds (S. Yin et al. 2017), while others with longer infectious periods serve to transmit novel viruses to distant locations (Xueying Li, Xu, and Shaman 2019). Some IAVs shed by migratory birds have been found to persist in surface water for >7 months, potentially serving as a long-term reservoir during overwintering periods (Ramey et al. 2020).

Interactions between domestic poultry and migratory birds can be common and difficult to avoid in developing countries, and migration flyways often cover areas of high poultry density (Lu Lu, Leigh Brown, and Lycett 2017). Kwon *et al.* observed that the 2014-2016 Korean H5N8 clade 2.3.4.4 outbreak began with multiple introductions of the virus from wild waterfowl, with most Korean domestic duck farms being located near the wintering sites of migratory birds (J. H. Kwon et al. 2020), and outbreaks in Southeast China are commonly linked to the movement of birds along the East Asian-Australasian Flyway (Lu Lu, Leigh Brown, and Lycett 2017). Anthropogenic factors also commonly increase the risk of these interactions. Before the 2005 H5N1 outbreak at Qinghai Lake, for instance,

the local population had established goose farms to provide food for workers constructing a railway nearby. These farms mixed domestic birds with captured wild geese, which then spread the virus throughout the country; H5N1 genetically traced to this emergence was later reported in at least 61 countries (Canavan 2019). Growing urban spread and habitat destruction will likely increase contact between wild and domestic bird populations (Gilbert et al. 2017; Morin et al. 2018), and thus the surveillance of AIV strains present in migratory hotspots has become an especially critical field of research since 2015. Current sampling strategies tend to be opportunistic rather than active, "uneven in host, time, and geography" (Morin et al. 2018), and biased toward easily accessible migratory populations, severely limiting our ability to monitor the emergence and spread of potentially dangerous novel AIV strains (Verhagen, Fouchier, and Lewis 2021).

Cross-transmission – the spread of AIV back to wild birds from domestic poultry – also plays an important role in the maintenance of AIV and generation of viral diversity (Bahl et al. 2016). Zhang *et al.* point out that wild birds harbour greater diversity in HA/NA subtypes, but not in internal gene segments, compared to domestic poultry, suggesting that cross-transmission may be more common than previously thought (T. Zhang et al. 2019). Though far smaller than most LPMs, unregulated backyard farms are common across the world and can also form environments conducive to AIV swapping with wildlife. In Scotland, for instance, such farms are not reportable if they contain <50 birds, yet multiple poultry species are regularly intermixed in environments that are readily accessible to migratory birds (Correia-Gomes and Sparks 2020). Backyard poultry farms almost universally lack sufficient biosecurity measures (AI-Ebshahy and Abotaleb 2019; Derksen et al. 2018; Chaudhry et al. 2018), suggesting a widespread need for greater education and access to personal protective equipment (PPE) and disinfection tools (Young et al. 2017).

Non-migratory wild birds can also contribute to community spread of AIV, either directly or by linking migratory birds to domestic poultry populations (W. S. Liang et al. 2020). Wild crows in Bangladesh, for instance, display extremely high seroprevalence for H5N1 and often live on offal from live bird markets (Hassan et al. 2017). Employing a modern approach based on satellite imagery combined with phylogeographics, Liang *et al.* studied the ecological factors behind clade 2.3.4.4 HPAI viruses in Taiwanese poultry farms. They observed links to high poultry farm density and heterogeneity (presence of multiple poultry species facilitating viral evolution) and an interesting connection to high percentages of cropping land coverage – this may allow greater mixing of non-migratory birds with their migratory counterparts, increasing the likelihood of transmission to domestic poultry (W. S. Liang et al. 2020).
#### Wildlife and Natural Reservoirs

Wild waterbirds of the orders Anseriformes (e.g. ducks, geese, and swans) and Charadriiformes (e.g. gulls, terns, and shorebirds) are considered the natural reservoir of LPAI AIV, and their migratory patterns and interactions with domestic poultry form the backbone of most established AIV transmission networks worldwide (Verhagen, Fouchier, and Lewis 2021; Marché, van den Berg, and Lambrecht 2018). In addition to elucidating these transmission networks as discussed above, surveillance and monitoring studies are also critical for identifying unknown or understudied AIV hosts and potential reservoirs that may influence viral spread through migratory pathways. In eastern Mexico, for instance, where the three main North American migration flyways converge, Cerda-Armijo *et al.* detected via RT-PCR >60% AIV prevalence in land birds (e.g. cardinals, cowbirds, and blackbirds) and ~27% prevalence in aquatic birds, a finding that emphasizes the importance of monitoring not just waterfowl but also the intermediate species with which these reservoirs may interact (Cerda-Armijo et al. 2020).

Small-scale studies, focusing on specific species or locations, can reveal unnoticed patterns in AIV prevalence and diversity with potential relevance to larger populations. Lee *et al.*, for instance, found in a study of Svalbard waterfowl that Charadriiformes harbour dominant influenza subtypes different from those in Anseriformes, suggesting that these groups may serve as reservoirs for separate pools of AIV diversity and thereby facilitate reassortment events at site where they intermingle (M. M. Lee et al. 2020). A coincident analysis of African penguins (Spheniscus demersus) on Halifax Island, Namibia, determined the cause of a recent die-off to be HPAI H5N8 clade 2.3.4.4b, a subtype that had previously caused outbreaks in South Africa in 2017 (Molini et al. 2020). The overlap of migratory flyways with sea mammal habitats can also result in dangerous AIV reassortment and adaptation. Outbreaks of various avian-origin influenza subtypes have been reported in marine mammals, with effects ranging from subclinical to mass die-offs (Fereidouni et al. 2016). Amino acid changes in the HA protein have been found to occur rapidly when avian influenza jumps from birds to seals, for instance (Bodewes et al. 2016). Venkatesh et al. reported the first full-genome sequencing of an AIV (H3N8, in this case) isolated from a grey seal. Protein alignment revealed unusual residue changes including the rare D701N PB2 mutation, known to promote mammalian adaptation in avian viruses (Venkatesh et al. 2020). In another recent small-scale study, Guan et al. found that gull-origin H10N7 virus is capable of aerosol transmission between ferrets without prior adaptation (M. Guan et al. 2019).

Anthropogenic factors can also contribute to changes in the behaviour of wild avian species, increasing the risk of interactions between waterfowl reservoirs and domestic poultry. The American white ibis (*Eudocimus albus*) has become increasingly urbanized due to habitat destruction and typically nest in dense, species-diverse colonies. Vulnerable to AIV and exhibiting high seroprevalence, they are another potential wild influenza reservoir (Bahnson et al. 2020). In China, rice paddy coverage has expanded rapidly to meet the needs of food security, increasing contact between domestic and wild migratory ducks (Morin et al. 2018). Paddies are often planted next to natural wetlands for convenience and may themselves serve as artificial habitats for many waterfowl, altering migratory pathways and influencing the long-distance spread of dangerous viruses like HPAI H5Nx clade 2.3.4.4 (Gilbert et al. 2017). Further research will be required to measure the impact of human development on influenza transmission patterns, particularly as an increasing population and climate change continue to complicate the issue. Land clearance is never without consequence on local wildlife populations, and sudden changes to ecological pathways can have unexpected and dramatic consequences on the pattern of interactions between domestic and wild animals.

# Epidemiology of Swine Influenza

One of the main threats posed by swine within influenza epidemiology is a result of their unique respiratory cell biology. Avian influenza viruses primarily bind to  $\alpha$ -2,3-sialic acid (SA) residues present on avian respiratory and intestinal cells, while human viruses prefer the  $\alpha$ -2,6-SA residues that are more common in the human host. Swine present both types of SA throughout their respiratory tracts, making them an effective intermediate host or "mixing vessel" capable of hosting widely varying influenza subtypes and facilitating reassortment events (Hicks et al. 2020; M. S. Park et al. 2020). This flexibility was exemplified in the 1998 emergence of triple reassortant gene (TRIG) swine viruses comprising a novel mix of human-origin HA/NA and avian- and swine-origin internal genes (Vincent et al. 2017) that subsequently spread widely. In 2009, reassortment between a North American TRIG strain and a Eurasian avian-like H1N1 strain produced the H1N1 pandemic strain (H1N1pdm09). This strain, undetected in pigs before emerging in humans, spread zoonotically and transmitted rapidly from human-to-human, causing substantial morbidity and mortality worldwide (Mena et al. 2016).

The 2009 H1N1 pandemic was a dramatic example of the dangers associated with unmonitored influenza maintenance within swine populations, and research efforts have escalated over the past 10 years to increase our surveillance and monitoring capabilities to track ongoing viral spread and give

forewarning for dangerous reassortment events (Vincent et al. 2017). Current efforts include phylogenetic and seroprevalence studies of viruses circulating in domestic swine holdings, examination of zoonosis and reverse zoonosis along the human-swine interface, and research into swine influenza transmission and the broader role of swine within the avian-swine-human viral network.

### **Current Global Situation**

H1N1pdm09 remains one of the most important human seasonal influenza strains (J. G. Yoon et al. 2021) Representative studies have shown that H1N1 strains, including H1N1pdm09, are also one of the most important viruses currently circulating in swine populations worldwide, along with H1N2 and H3N2 (Cador, Rose, et al. 2016; P. Zhao et al. 2019; Henritzi et al. 2020). Wong *et al.* examined the phylogenetics of swine influenza virus (SIV) isolated from two swine populations in Australia between 2012 and 2016, finding gene segments from human-origin viruses circulating widely. These pandemic-adjacent strains – including H1N1/1977-like, H1N1/1995-like, H3N2/1968-like, and H1N1pdm09 – are likely to have been circulating for decades as a result of reverse zoonosis and transmission to naïve animals introduced into the swine farming system (Wong et al. 2018). Similar strains have been identified in pig farms in Africa (Ayim-Akonor et al. 2020) and Latin America (Mena et al. 2016). In the latter case, Mena *et al.* noted that the European-lineage H1N1 virus that contributed to the emergence of H1N1pdm09 in Mexico was likely to have been introduced via imported swine on at least two separate occasions. These introductions may have occurred as far back as the 1990s, highlighting the long-term risk posed by even relatively low levels of international livestock movement without adequate surveillance (Mena et al. 2016).

Recently, Henritzi *et al.* conducted a large-scale study of SIV presence in European swine holdings, combining phylogenetics with passive surveillance of nearly 2500 separate holdings to estimate SIV diversity and prevalence since the last major European surveillance programme (ESNIP3) ended in 2013 (Henritzi et al. 2020). Their results showed a substantial increase in the overall prevalence of SIV-infected farms since then (from ~31% to ~57%), with avian-origin H1N1 as the dominant strain and H1N2, H3N2, and H1N1pdm09 strains also in circulation. Reverse zoonosis and subsequent reassortment (discussed in detail below) was a significant factor increasing genetic diversity. Of particular concern was the finding that several of the observed SIV reassortants seemed to have acquired resistance to the human antiviral MxA protein, a trait associated with the pandemic influenza viruses of 1918 and 2009 (Henritzi et al. 2020). In Egypt, along with avian-origin H5N1 and H9N2,

H1N1pdm09 also remains endemic in swine despite mass culling of pigs in the aftermath of the 2009 pandemic (Gomaa et al. 2018). Sun *et al.* recently identified a reassortant, circulating in China since 2016, which contains H1N1pdm09 and triple-reassortant-derived internal genes and exhibits several concerning properties – namely, binding preference to human-type receptors, efficient replication in human airway epithelial cells, and low cross-reactivity with current vaccine strains (H. Sun et al. 2020). Human-to-human transmission has not been reported (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2020), but experimental airborne transmission is possible between ferrets (H. H. Sun et al. 2020).

Meanwhile, zoonotic transmission of SIV remains a significant concern due to the biology of swine that contributes to the mammalian adaptation of avian-origin viruses. Close contact between humans and swine is common throughout the world in various industrial and recreational contexts including swine farming, live animal markets, and livestock shows. Small-scale pig farms are very often unregulated and allow unnoticed, unrestricted spread of SIV between local holdings (Mateus-Anzola et al. 2019). Nelson *et al.*, studying factors behind a recent shift from H3N2 to H1N2 in reported swine-to-human zoonoses, describe a single 2018 early-season national jackpot swine show that played an important role in "seeding" a particular human-origin H1 subtype (H1 $\delta$ -2) that subsequently spread nationwide (Nelson et al. 2020). Such livestock shows are common throughout the USA and rarely enforce adequate biosecurity, providing optimal conditions for SIV to transmit between pigs and humans.

### Modes and Routes of Transmission

SIV strains spread rapidly within densely-populated swine farms and can be transferred between holdings via livestock movement, reverse zoonosis, and introduction by wild birds (M. S. Park et al. 2020). Cador *et al.* noted that in farrow-to-finish farms, where all steps from swine breeding through growth to market weight are conducted in the same confinement operation, particularly great care must be taken to avoid the spread of H1N1, H1N2, H3N2, and other common SIV. Maternally-derived antibodies (MDA) temporarily reduce susceptibility to SIV in piglets but do not fully prevent transmission, masking infections and potentially leading to silent spread in the first weeks of life (Cador, Hervé, et al. 2016a). Fitzgerald *et al.* examined correlations between production flow and SIV seroprevalence in similar farrow-to-finish farms, concluding that some common policies – e.g. mixing of pig groups and reintroduction of previously hospitalized piglets – contribute to SIV circulation (Fitzgerald *et al.* 2020). The practice of using nurse sows, wherein a single sow may feed multiple litters of piglets, has also been associated with increased risk of SIV transmission. Piglets are at particular risk

of influenza infection, and infected animals have been found to shed high titres of SIV onto the udder skin of nurse sows. This in turn can transmit the virus to other batches of uninfected piglets, where clinical signs of infection may be masked by the presence of MDA (Garrido-Mantilla, Culhane, and Torremorell 2020). Infected piglets, which are often transferred to new holdings after weaning, can easily spread SIV between farms, although adequate sow vaccination and negative gilt SIV status at entry were associated with reductions in these risks (Fabian Orlando Chamba Pardo et al. 2018).

Surveillance of SIV during long-distance swine movement has expanded since 2009 but remains imbalanced and highly limited compared to AIV surveillance, particularly in developing countries (Mena et al. 2016). Phylogenetic analyses demonstrate that the global live swine trade is highly correlated with epidemiological patterns of SIV, with North America and Europe primarily serving as exporters to Asian countries (Nelson, Viboud, et al. 2015). As noted above, however, trade with developing countries is often subject to less extensive biosecurity and can result in the transmission of avian-, swine-, and human-origin viruses with unpredictable consequences (Mena et al. 2016).

Meanwhile, although zoonotic transmission from swine to humans occupies a higher research share, reverse zoonotic transmission from humans to swine has a significant role in the generation of viral diversity in pig populations. By monitoring SIV introductions in the USA between 2009 and 2014, Nelson *et al.* noted that H1N1 segments associated with the H1N1pdm09 strain had largely disappeared from the US swine population by 2013 before re-emerging via multiple human-to-swine transmission incidents in one of the largest-scale reverse zoonotic events ever recorded (Nelson, Stratton, et al. 2015). Reverse zoonosis to swine can rapidly result in reassortants with properties well-suited to mammalian transmission - for example, Rajão *et al.* identified a novel human-like H3N1 virus in swine in the USA composed of human seasonal H3N2 HA, classical swine H1N1 NA, and internal genes derived from H1N1pdm09 (Rajão et al. 2015). This virus seems to be well-adapted for airborne transmission and was noted to have spread from its index case in Missouri to another state without known epidemiological links, suggesting concerning gaps in the SIV surveillance network (Rajão et al. 2015).

Finally, wild birds can facilitate long-distance transmission of SIV by interacting either directly with swine or indirectly through domestic poultry populations (Joseph et al. 2017; M. S. Park et al. 2020). Studies of live poultry market workers in Guangdong Province, China, have found roughly equal susceptibility to both avian and swine influenza viruses, the latter of which may be carried by some bird species or by swine present in the market (J. Chen et al. 2015). As human development continues

to expand agriculture into migratory flyways and other areas of high waterfowl density, interactions between domestic swine and wild birds may become more common, introducing more genetic diversity into existing swine influenza networks and raising the risk of novel reassortments producing dangerous hybrid viruses (Lycett, Duchatel, and Digard 2019; M. S. Park et al. 2020; Lloren et al. 2017; Wong et al. 2018).

# Epidemiology of Equine Influenza

As equids are not a substantial component of international meat production and trade, and zoonotic transmission is extremely rare, equine influenza virus (EIV) is often neglected in virological and epidemiological research. Equine outbreaks are common, however, and can cause substantial economic disruption. In 2007, for instance, an EIV strain was introduced to Australia via thoroughbred horses from Japan and escaped quarantine due to lax biosecurity measures, spreading rapidly despite widespread vaccination and causing a 5% mortality rate in infected horses (Sack et al. 2019). The total cost of the outbreak, including measures taken to shore up biosecurity and surveillance networks, was nearly 1 billion USD.

As with SIV, recreation is a significant and understudied component of the human-animal interface that can facilitate transmission of EIV between horse holdings and across country borders (Spence et al. 2017). Many recent studies of equine influenza have focused on South America, where occasional outbreaks have been recorded for decades. Perglione et al. examined two recent outbreaks, in 2012 and 2018, of EIV in Argentina and surrounding countries. In the first outbreak, clinical signs of respiratory disease were noticed in racing and training horses in Uruguay before spreading to Argentina. Sequence analysis confirmed that the cause was H3N8, closely related to viruses isolated in the USA in 2012. An identical virus was also isolated from vaccinated horses in Dubai that had been imported from Uruguay (Perglione et al. 2016). The 2018 outbreak, primarily restricted to Argentina, was associated with the same virus strain (H3N8 Florida clade 1), but with several amino acid substitutions that facilitated immune escape despite regular vaccination of racing horses. Equine competitions and movement of horses were not restricted during the outbreak, likely leading to wider spread (Olguin-Perglione et al. 2020). Bravo-Vasquez et al. examined the epidemiology of equine influenza in Chile, where equine-like internal genes have been identified in avian influenza virus isolates. H3N8 remains endemic in the country and shows hallmarks of adaption to avian hosts, permitting maintenance and transmission in wild and domestic birds (Bravo-Vasquez et al. 2020).

In Mongolia epizootic EIV outbreaks with relatively high mortality rates (~20-30%) are common among the country's large domestic horse population (Sack et al. 2019). Soilemetzidou *et al.* studied the extent to which these outbreaks are shared with Mongolia's two wild equid species, the Asiatic wild ass and the Przewalski horse. They found seroprevalence of numerous EIV subtypes including H7N7, which had been thought extinct in the region. These wild horses may therefore represent an understudied ecological reservoir for EIV (Soilemetzidou et al. 2020).

Continuing outbreaks of EIV, and the ability of antigenic drift to rapidly generate vaccine-escape variants, highlight the need to continue and expand existing EIV surveillance programs and enforce biosecurity measures currently in place for preventing international EIV transmission. Additionally, historical and serological evidence suggests that EIV strains have the potential to develop human-adaptive traits unexpectedly, making it a potential epidemic threat (Sack et al. 2019). Horses display both  $\alpha$ -2,3- and  $\alpha$ -2,6-SA residues in their respiratory tracts, potentially facilitating antigenic drift toward human-adapted genotypes (P. Zhou et al. 2019).

# Influenza in Companion Animals

Domestic cats and dogs are potential reservoirs for influenza mammalian adaptation due to their proximity with humans and, often, infected wildlife. Thought for many years to be naturally resistant to influenza viruses, companion animals have more recently been found to be susceptible to a wide range of influenza subtypes, including avian-origin viruses. As companion animals are an uncommon source of zoonotic infections, research into the epidemiology of associated veterinary outbreaks is rare. Recent studies suggest caution and continual monitoring, however in 2016, for example, transmission of H7N2 from a cat to a veterinarian was recorded in a New York animal shelter (Belser et al. 2017). In South Korea, during the 2014-2016 HPAI H5 outbreak, several cats with access to migratory birds as prey were found to be infected with H5N6 similar to isolates from nearby poultry farms (K. Lee et al. 2018). Meanwhile, Ibrahim *et al.*, conducting seroprevalence surveys of domestic cat sera during and after the 2009 H1N1 pandemic, found a high level of feline exposure to human influenza virus infection that correlated with IAV prevalence in the human population (Ibrahim et al. 2016).

Canines are susceptible to infection by equine-origin H3N8, and cases of avian-origin H3N2 have been reported in the United States and Eastern Asia (He, Li, Zhu, et al. 2019). H3N2 seems to be adapting to dogs as a host and can cause viral shedding for more than 21 days during infection, stymying

outbreak control protocols based on the shorter infectious period of H3N8 (Newbury et al. 2016). Canines may also transmit this virus to horses via close contact (P. Zhou et al. 2019). Dogs, as with horses, display both  $\alpha$ -2,3- and  $\alpha$ -2,6-SA in their respiratory tracts, potentially raising the risk of human-adaptive mutations in canine viruses (P. Zhou et al. 2019). Recent data from the National Institutes of Allergy and Infectious Diseases CEIRS network show that canine H3 influenza A viruses are capable of replication in human primary nasal/bronchial epithelial cells and experimental transmission in mammalian models while exhibiting sensitivity to existing antiviral drugs (Martinez-Sobrido et al. 2020).

# Zoonosis and Reverse Zoonosis

The primary factor associated with zoonotic transmission of veterinary influenza is close contact between humans and domestic animals. Such contact is often unregulated and carried out with minimal biosecurity precautions (Derksen et al. 2018), and the number and size of high-density animal farms is rapidly increasing across the world (Hautefeuille, Dauphin, and Peyre 2020; Shuo Liu et al. 2020). In recent years, reverse zoonosis – the transmission of virus from humans back to animals – has also received increasing attention for its role in generating viral diversity and mammalian adaptations.

Zoonosis of avian influenza is especially common in countries with long-standing systems of LPMs, and while AIV often jump first to swine and then to humans, direct human transmission is possible without requiring long periods of mammalian adaptation (S. Su et al. 2015). Egypt has recently been the epicentre of a large number of human H5N1 infections, with more confirmed cases of zoonotic avian H5N1 than any other country (Young et al. 2018). Young *et al.*, tracking key amino acid substitutions that might facilitate viral adaptation to human hosts, observed such substitutions in 94.5% of Egyptian viral isolates with significant clustering in the densely populated Alexandria and Beheira Governorates (Young et al. 2018). Backyard chickens are a constant reservoir of AIV in Egypt, and incomplete vaccination strategies can promote the emergence of novel subtypes and escape variants (AI-Ebshahy and Abotaleb 2019). H5Nx clade 2.3.4.4 is a growing concern in many developing countries, including Latin America and the Caribbean where avian influenza is one of the most frequently reported emerging zoonoses (Maxwell et al. 2017).

HPAI H5Nx viruses deserve careful attention due to their high case fatality rate. Worldwide, these viruses have caused at least 861 human cases and 455 deaths (Salvador et al. 2020). However, zoonotic

cases of H5N1 have decreased drastically since 2016, while H5Nx clade 2.3.4.4 viruses in general do not appear amenable to airborne transmission or replication in mammals (Sutton 2018). Exceptions seem to exist, however – clade 2.3.4.4 H5N6, for instance, has the potential to cause severe human disease and is currently spreading rapidly from China via asymptomatic migratory ducks (Lycett, Duchatel, and Digard 2019; W. S. Liang et al. 2020; Bi et al. 2016). Seven human cases of HPAI H5N8 were recently observed in Russian poultry workers, with minimal-to-no symptoms (Adlhoch et al. 2021). Molecular epidemiology and active surveillance will play an important role in continually monitoring such viruses for the acquisition of traits promoting zoonotic transmission. It is also critical to direct research toward understudied potential influenza reservoirs in the wild – little brown bats, for instance, are widely distributed in North America and have been found to express both  $\alpha$ 2,3- and  $\alpha$ 2,6-SA in their respiratory and gastrointestinal systems, making them potentially amenable to coinfection with avian, swine, and/or human strains (Chothe et al. 2017).

Unlike most H5Nx viruses, LPAI H7N9 does show signs of airborne transmission, and Asian-lineage H7N9 viruses are recognized by the CDC as the highest potential pandemic risk among AIV (Sutton 2018). Since the emergence of an HPAI variant during the 2016-2017 fifth wave of the China H7N9 outbreak, both versions remain endemic in Chinese poultry. More *et al.* noted that H5 and LPAI H7 viruses circulate in European migratory birds, while potentially zoonotic H9N2 is common in much of the Middle East, Asia, and north Africa (More et al. 2017)

Swine, meanwhile, are well-known to act as an intermediate host that is amenable to infection with a wide array of avian-, swine-, and human-origin influenza viruses, promoting reassortment and mammalian adaptation. As noted above, reverse zoonosis has a critical and understudied role in the generation and maintenance of novel SIV reassortments worldwide (Henritzi et al. 2020). In a 2020 study of zoonotic infections resulting from livestock shows in the USA, Nelson *et al.* found that 99% of the variant viruses they identified in humans had reassortant genotypes that contained H1N1pdm09 internal genes segments originally introduced into swine from humans (Nelson *et al.* 2020). These results are in line with similar data from Australia, where segments from decades-old pandemic influenza viruses have been found circulating widely (Wong et al. 2018). H3 swine viruses remain a particular concern. Zoonotic infections in the USA have recently shifted from H3N2 to H1N2 (Nelson et al. 2020), but H3 remains endemic not only in North America but in regions of Africa (Ayim-Akonor et al. 2020), Asia (He, Li, Zhu, et al. 2019), and Europe (Henritzi et al. 2020). Henritzi *et al.* noted that in Europe, new H3 viruses began circulating in areas with H3-naïve swine populations but then spread to areas with constant H3 exposure, indicating lack of cross-protection (Henritzi et al. 2020).

Particularly virulent H3 strains have been identified in birds, swine, horses, dogs, and many other species, and more research is required to track their spread and identify potential unknown reservoirs in the environment (P. Zhao et al. 2019; Newbury et al. 2016; Bravo-Vasquez et al. 2020; Venkatesh et al. 2020). Interestingly, human coinfections with seasonal H3N2 and avian H7N9 have been reported, raising the possibility that humans may act as a mixing host for reassortment under certain circumstances (S. Su et al. 2017).

Increased surveillance and research are also needed for the recently-discovered influenza D virus (IDV), an important component of the bovine respiratory disease complex. First identified in North American swine in 2011, but now associated primarily with cattle, IDV is not known to be pathogenic in humans. However, high IDV seroprevalence (>90%) has been found in some bovine workers (White et al. 2016), and evidence of airborne transmission has been observed from experimental infections (Salem et al. 2019). IDV also displays receptor-binding preferences similar to those of human influenza viruses (Horimoto et al. 2016). IDV is highly prevalent across the world (Horimoto et al. 2016), but most of its basic properties – pathogenesis, tropism, transmission routes, etc. – remain critically under-explored (Salem et al. 2019; Horimoto et al. 2016), particularly in developing countries (Fusade-Boyer et al. 2020). IDV is likely to have circulated worldwide in swine and cattle long before its discovery, emphasizing the need for enhanced surveillance capabilities encompassing species not commonly associated with influenza infections.

Zoonosis and reverse zoonosis are important pathways by which viral diversity is generated (Chastagner, Enouf, et al. 2019), but large-scale surveys and representative studies have shown that these risks are often underestimated by farmers and workers in close contact with domestic animals. In a questionnaire-based study, Venkat *et al.* found that veterinarians in Arizona, USA, often fail to report cases of zoonotic infections, and only 37% of those surveyed regularly wore PPE when handling clinically ill animals (Venkat, Yaglom, and Adams 2019). In India, which is considered to have a high risk for the emergence of new diseases, a survey of poultry farmers showed generally low knowledge of zoonosis and regular practice of unsafe farming/animal handling methods (Hundal et al. 2016). Biosecurity regulations within the swine industry as a whole are often lax, with vaccination and sick leave policies rarely enforced (Nelson, Stratton, et al. 2015). The condition of both animals and humans must be considered when designing policies to curb zoonosis/reverse zoonosis, and widespread improvements in education, regulation, and outreach will be necessary to increase control of this increasingly volatile area of viral generation.

### Climate Change and Environmental Epidemiology

Climate change presents a unique and unpredictable challenge for veterinary influenza research that has only grown more urgent over the past 5 years. Warmer climates will have multiple impacts on the maintenance and spread of influenza viruses, and the interactions between these factors may be difficult or impossible to predict beforehand. Colder weather, for instance, has often been found to increase incidences and persistence of various influenza viruses. Studying factors underlying a recent outbreak of HPAI H5N1 in Egypt, Salaheldin et al. found that winter weather was significantly correlated with number of reported outbreaks from 2006-2015 (Salaheldin et al. 2018) – similar results have been reported worldwide (Lau et al. 2019; W. S. Liang et al. 2020; Delabouglise et al. 2017). However, the impact of a warmer climate on other factors that promote survival of AIV in the environment (such as elevated pH and low salinity of water reserves) is unclear (Morin et al. 2018), particularly when paired with other variables like wildlife habitat destruction and skyrocketing domestic meat production (Hautefeuille, Dauphin, and Peyre 2020; Shuo Liu et al. 2020). A warming climate has also contributed to a recent surge in wild swine populations worldwide – concurrently, environmental and habitat disturbance may increase the population density of these swine and facilitate SIV maintenance and zoonotic transmission at the human-animal interface (Ruiz-Fons 2015). Overall, the picture painted by recent research on influenza climatology suggests caution and concern.

Long-term studies and recent modelling have suggested that accelerated warming could bring animal species together in new combinations and promote increased pathogen transmission. Epidemiological climate research is needed to narrow down surveillance programmes to areas of greatest risk (Morin et al. 2018). In some cases, an effective outbreak response may even be at cross-purposes with environmental practices. Salvador *et al.* noted that the common bird disposal method of burying can release leachates into the groundwater, while burning contributes to the emission of highly toxic dioxins (Shuo Liu et al. 2020; Salvador et al. 2020). Recommendations to build poultry cages from easily cleanable – but nonbiodegradable – materials like plastic rather than wood or bamboo (Peiris et al. 2016) are another such example. Where a balance exists between outbreak control and environmental preservation, economic and public health dictate that outbreak control must come first, but an increased research focus on sustainable practices and environment-friendly methods of disinfection and disposal would help to ensure that both needs can be met in the long-term (Morin et al. 2018).

More research is urgently needed to model and estimate the impacts of climate change on influenza transmission mechanics as the planet's temperature continues to rise. The impact of climate on

44

influenza epidemiology is difficult to study and therefore often ignored in favour of more tangible variables. Current surveillance programmes tend to be intermittent and reactive rather than proactive, facilitating unnoticed transmission and diversification of viruses particularly in wild avian populations (Morin et al. 2018). Where changing climatic variables are altering wild population distributions and migratory routes, proactive surveillance will become ever more critical to ensure our ability to respond quickly to novel strains or particularly dangerous reassortants. Partnerships between epidemiologists and climate modelling technologies (discussed in more detail below) will allow us to focus on areas of particular interest and ensure that limited resources go where they are needed most (Morin et al. 2018; Canavan 2019).

# Molecular Epidemiology and Computational Modelling

Continual advances in computing power have facilitated corresponding increases in the predictive capacity of computational models for influenza transmission networks. Over the past 5 years, computational modelling has been employed to study the origins and evolution of severe outbreaks, determine variables strongly correlated with viral spread, and estimate the major routes by which influenza is transmitted and maintained. Sun et al., for instance, used the MEGA 6.0 phylogenetics platform to construct an evolutionary tree of H5N1 sequences and evaluate the global spatial risk pattern of this HPAI virus in wild birds (L. Sun et al. 2018), and Perglione et al. used similar tactics to track the evolution of South American equine influenza outbreaks (Perglione et al. 2016). Kurscheid et al. conducted a social network analysis in Indonesia, mapping the sources and destinations of birds traded in LPMs and then using UCINET analysis software to construct contact networks across the islands of Bali and Lombok (J. Kurscheid et al. 2017). Similar results on the epidemiological importance of informal animal trading were generated by Mateus-Anzola et al., who used the Epimodel R package to estimate the risk of movements between swine farms at a wildlife/livestock interface (Mateus-Anzola et al. 2019). Scott et al., modelling the likelihood of LPAI H7 spread within and between Australian commercial chicken farms, found via partial consequences assessment that shared equipment was the most likely vector for the viral spread (Scott et al. 2018). In a recent study, Holbrook et al. employed computationally intensive Bayesian multidimensional scaling to infer the spread of various seasonal influenza subtypes via worldwide air travel (Holbrook et al. 2021).

Dhingra *et al.*, meanwhile, combined governmental data on HPAI H5N1 outbreaks to construct a global suitability model for the virus, finding that viral host distributions – domestic ducks in particular – predicted outbreaks better than land use or climatic variables (Dhingra et al. 2016). Endo & Nishiura

devised a multisite, multispecies susceptible-infectious-susceptible model to examine the role of migration in maintaining AIV along the East Asian-Australian Flyway. They also found that duck species play a particularly important role in the process (Endo and Nishiura 2018). Such studies allow us to focus costly active surveillance strategies on the species most likely to spread and maintain HPAI viruses. Artois & Lai conducted research on HPAI H5N1 and LPAI H7N9 in China, with resulting data from boosted regression tree models showing a strong positive association between outbreaks of the HPAI virus and proximity of LPMs (Artois et al. 2017).

Similar modelling strategies also allow us to test the effectiveness of outbreak control strategies under various computational models. Lewis *et al.* used the North American Animal Disease Spread Model to estimate the efficacy of influenza control methods in Ontario, finding that the stamping out of infected flocks without ring culling resulted in the most efficient outbreak containment. They stress, however, that such modelling studies require information from meat production industries that may be difficult to obtain depending on the region of interest (N. Lewis et al. 2017). Guinat *et al.* conducted additive Bayesian network analyses on the relationship between biosecurity and HPAI H5N8 risk in French poultry farms. They found that the management of vehicles entering and leaving farms was an especially important variable (Guinat et al. 2020).

Modelling studies require not only computing power but also large amounts of high-quality data in order to generate reliable predictions. Most of the foundational data for phylogenetic/geographic studies come from viral genomic sequencing, and next-generation sequencing (NGS) has played a vital role in generating large datasets that show the complete viral diversity in a given region or population. Fusaro et al., for instance, used Illumina MiSeq analysis of AIV samples to study viral evolution and transmission during a 2013 HPAI H7N7 outbreak in Italy, finding that multiple viruses of the same subtype often circulated within single farms (Fusaro et al. 2016). Unfortunately, NGS is generally timeconsuming, costly, and dependent on experienced users and stationary instruments. These issues and others have led to the recent development of so-called third-generation sequencing technologies (Verhagen, Fouchier, and Lewis 2021). Though mainly focused on longer reads, these third-generation technologies have also brought increased attention to portability, speed, and ease-of-use - for instance, the recently-developed MinION sequencer is fully portable, thus allowing sample-source data collection (Tyler et al. 2018; Verhagen, Fouchier, and Lewis 2021). Continuing the development of such technologies will be critical for the rapid acquisition of high-quality genomic data used for computational modelling, climate-focused epidemiology, and active surveillance. Great care must also be taken, as Poen et al. point out, that sequencing methods be stress-tested and their results checked

for accuracy and repeatability to ensure robustness and compatibility with other experimental approaches (Poen et al. 2020). Once collected, it is equally important that high-quality sequencing data be made available on network databases (e.g. the GISAID EpiFlu database) that allow rapid sharing and coordination of international research.

### Epidemiology, Biosecurity, and the Economy

Thorough knowledge of influenza epidemiology goes hand-in-hand with effective biosecurity measures. A strong outbreak response may be effective, but the measures involved may be extremely costly and cause long-term damage to local food production economies (Salvador et al. 2020; Zancanaro et al. 2019). Epidemiological studies allow us to test the efficiency and efficacy of biosecurity tactics, aiming to maximize protection and minimize cost where possible. Surveys and small-scale community investigations can also show us the likelihood that local farms will follow biosecurity measures and the strategies that may be implemented to incentivize compliance.

Lambrou et al., surveying the attitudes and practices toward AIV of farmers in the poultry-dense Chitwan District of Nepal, found that only half of those surveyed believed that AIV was preventable. HPAI and LPAI outbreaks, though common, were rarely reported due to fears of the economic consequences of culling (Lambrou et al. 2020). Similar results came from a survey of LPM workers in Chongqing, where limited biosecurity measures (e.g. rest/cleaning days) were unpopular and nearly half of respondents failed to recognize contact with sick birds or excrement as an infection risk (X. Lei et al. 2019). Farmers and LPM workers are unlikely to pursue safety education or properly implement biosecurity measures unless there is an economic benefit to doing so (Ayim-Akonor et al. 2020). Therefore, it is critical for governments to expand outreach and education programs while providing economic reassurance to farmers who report influenza outbreaks promptly and implement required biosecurity measures (Leibler et al. 2017). Such practices will likely have a feed-forward effect, reducing the overall economic strain of an outbreak at both the local and regional levels (Cui et al. 2019). Salvador et al., for instance, note that smaller poultry depopulation radii are appropriate for control and can minimize poultry loss as long as government agencies are quickly informed of an outbreak (Salvador et al. 2020). It is also important to note that significant increases in biosecurity may be possible at relatively low cost – Wei et al., for instance, demonstrated a design for a simple, low-cost lid that reduced aerosol production from mechanical defeatherers by 57% (Wei et al. 2019). Further research into inexpensive biosecurity methods, or lowering the cost of existing methods, may raise compliance rates (Lambrou et al. 2020).

Biosecurity measures are generally poorly standardized and vary substantially between countries and regions. Bui *et al.* suggest that biosecurity measures must be tightly integrated with epidemiological studies for maximum efficiency, noting that the fundamental differences in transmission dynamics between H5N1 and H7N9 in China make a one-size-fits-all prevention plan unrealistic (Bui et al. 2018). Many countries rely heavily on vaccination to prevent viral spread, but in addition to the risks posed by unexpected antigenic drift/shift, vaccination can conceal asymptomatic infections and facilitate the maintenance and evolution of novel strains (Shuo Liu et al. 2020). Linking vaccination strategies more closely with epidemiological surveillance can decrease this risk by providing up-to-date information on locally circulating influenza strains (Bui et al. 2018).

Strategies for SIV control must take into account the specific economies and cultures in the regions under study. In Bangladesh, for instance, pig farming is stigmatized in certain communities, reducing surveillance capabilities and making implementation of biosecurity measures and health intervention very difficult (Turner et al. 2017). In China, meanwhile, the slow but steady increase in centralization and consolidation of poultry farms has led to higher biosecurity coverage countrywide (Shuo Liu et al. 2020). Biosecurity education and compliance within many LPMs, however, remains low.

### **Ongoing research**

At the University of Minnesota's College of Veterinary Medicine, research is ongoing into biosecurity strategies for the prevention of AIV outbreaks, building a social network model to evaluate the impact of shared system resources (e.g. fomites, materials, equipment, etc.) on viral transmission and methods for controlling this spread. Scientists at Japan's National Institute of Animal Health are currently conducting studies on the molecular epidemiology of HPAI, while at Ghent University, studies within the EU Horizon 2020 project DELTA-FLU explore HPAI maintenance and transmission patterns, LPAI-to-HPAI transition, viral genetic factors associated with reassortment, and other critical topics at the interface between virus, host, and environment. At the Southeast Poultry Research Laboratory, meanwhile, researchers continue to study interrelated aspects of avian influenza host-virus interaction, including pathogenesis, host adaptation, transmission dynamics, and evasion of the host immune response, along with conducting molecular epidemiology studies to discern the origin and evolution of AIV's inter- and intra-hosts.

Also at the University of Minnesota, one ongoing project evaluates the impact of management strategies directed at decreasing SIV transmission during the preweaning period – current results

indicate that such strategies can reduce SIV infections but are not sufficient to wean negative pigs. U of M scientists also study genetic variability of SIV and the role of suckling piglets in maintaining SIV within and between farms at weaning, finding substantial molecular and genetic complexity and cocirculation of multiple strains at the farm and piglet levels. In Europe, as part of the Pig Influenza Genetics, Intervention and Epidemiology (PIGIE) project coordinated by ANSES, researchers are studying the dynamics of SIV in intensive pig herds, where recurrent forms of influenza are becoming more common and may contribute to coinfections and subsequent reassortments. This study involves field-side, *in silico*, and *in vivo* experimentation to probe the determinants of SIV persistence in pig farms. Research at ANSES also focuses generally on factors influencing the epidemiology and evolution of SIV in European farms, including biosecurity measures, vaccination protocols, and herd immunity.

Two new studies at the Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut (FLI) are currently exploring the dynamics and evolution of SIV in Europe and the role of aerosols in transmitting HPAI between poultry holdings. At the FLI's Institute of Diagnostic Virology, research is ongoing into AIV dynamics (including viral, host, and environmental factors) within the DELTA-FLU project. Meanwhile at the UK Animal and Plant Health Agency, the PIGIE program has been developed to define SIV epidemiology and genetic/antigenic evolution in European pig herds and to produce tools for the prevention and control of SIV within these herds. Researchers there are also involved in the Centers of Excellence for Influenza Research and Response (CEIRR) program, which targets emergency response by characterising pandemic-potential IAV strains and their virulence, transmissibility, etc. Involved in CEIRR as well is the Royal Veterinary College at the University of London. This laboratory also conducts studies within the SIV pandemic risk pipeline, the CANARIES program (Consortium of Animal market Networks to Assess Risk of emerging Infectious diseases through Enhanced Surveillance), and the UKRI GCRF One Health Poultry Hub that explores the risk factors associated with expanding poultry production systems and tests new disease control technologies.

Human infections are monitored at the Francis Crick Institute, the Worldwide Influenza Centre (a WHO Collaborating Centre for Reference and Research on Influenza), including the characterization of zoonotic strains, assessment of pandemic risk, and preparation for candidate vaccine viruses. Researchers at the University of Nottingham, UK, meanwhile, are conducting studies of emerging equine RNA viruses in north-western Nigeria, including a seroprevalence study for equine IAV.

# **Future research priorities**

Based on the above literature review and with reference to previously identified knowledge gaps and expert opinion, the following areas of animal influenza epidemiology should be considered priorities for future research:

- Transmission dynamics of influenza across major interfaces (e.g. wild, domestic, human, and environment), particularly between pigs and humans
- Human-animal interface studies at key sites, including social and behavioural sciences
- Risk frameworks for pandemic potential and interspecies transmission pathways and potential mitigations
- Computational risk modelling based on epidemiological and surveillance data
- Routes and patterns of avian influenza incursion into poultry holdings
- Inter- and intra-species transmission dynamics
- Transmission of influenza from wild birds into farms
- Studies of experimental long-term influenza maintenance within a population
- Maintenance and potential for elimination of HPAI in wild birds, including ecology and evolution
- Reassortment and continuing spread of H5N8
- Epidemiology of the global spread of LPAI in wild birds, including ecology and evolution
- Factors that influence the spread/risk of HPAI along new bird migratory routes
- Evolutionary origins of influenza A viruses and potential roles played by newly-detected bat flu viruses (e.g. H9, H17, and H18).
- Increasing knowledge of global swine influenza circulation, including the roles of novel swine reassortants and their pandemic/zoonotic risk
- Prioritization of swine viruses with zoonotic potential for pandemic preparedness
- Propagation pathways of swine influenza between herds (e.g. live pig transport, airborne transmission, etc.)
- Better understanding of swine influenza persistence in intensive farms to improve control and prevention measures
- Dynamics of influenza transmission in various population settings in swine
- Strategies for the suppression and local/regional eradication of swine influenza
- Epidemiological gap filling in under-surveyed regions
- Integration of multiple disciplines (e.g. epidemiology, immunology, ecology, evolution, etc.) under the One Health umbrella

### Virology/Molecular Biology

Influenza viruses are members of the *Orthomyxoviridae* family. Influenza A, the most common and clinically-relevant influenza genus, is an enveloped virus with a single-stranded negative-sense RNA genome. This genome is composed of eight separate linear segments; consequently, co-infection of a single cell allows the production of hybrid viruses with segments from both infecting strains, a process known as reassortment that may lead to "antigenic shift" when it occurs between viruses of different subtypes. Influenza RNA polymerase is also error-prone, a common property of RNA viruses, and influenza viruses accumulate approximately two to eight substitutions per 1000 nucleotides per year (termed "antigenic drift" when occurring within the antigenic proteins/protein domains of the virus) (Lycett, Duchatel, and Digard 2019). Combined, these processes allow influenza to mutate quickly and unexpectedly, with possible gain-of-function mutations including increased virulence/pathogenicity and changes in tissue or host tropism (Lycett, Duchatel, and Digard 2019). During the late 1990s, for instance, human-to-swine influenza transmission resulted in the generation of "triple-reassortant internal gene" viruses combining genetic material from avian-, swine-, and human-origin influenza; later reassortments involving these viruses led to the introduction of H1N1pdm09, the influenza A virus that caused a worldwide zoonotic pandemic in 2009 (Rajão et al. 2015).

As mutations and reassortments continue to generate novel influenza viruses across the world, it is critical to expand our understanding of the molecular determinants of particularly dangerous viral properties (e.g. vaccine escape, increased pathogenicity, antiviral drug resistance, or ability to adapt to mammalian hosts). Mutation studies of influenza genes have identified many individual mutations that are associated with such changes, but critical mutations may remain unknown, and in many cases their combinatorial effects are not well understood. As sequencing and computational analysis technologies continue to advance, our ability to rapidly sequence influenza genomes and perform mutational analyses increases as well. These virology/molecular biology studies can clarify the mechanisms behind viral gains-of-function and allow us to focus surveillance and control efforts on emerging viruses with particularly dangerous genetic characteristics.

# Previously identified knowledge gaps

Previous reports (United States Department of Agriculture 2014; OFFLU 2014; European Food Safety Authority 2015) identified the following priority research knowledge gaps in animal influenza virology in 2014/15:

- molecular determinants of virulence
- molecular determinants of viral adaptation/restriction to different species/tissues
- molecular determinants of viral survival under different conditions
- functions of viral proteins
- host-virus protein interactions
- influence of virus on host gene expression by novel mechanisms, e.g. microRNAs
- development of systems to track model viruses in vivo in experimental animals
- rate of genetic change and factors affecting
- effect of mutations at receptor binding site on viral replication
- mechanisms of gene reassortment between virus subtypes

# Literature review

# Avian Influenza Virus

AIV evolution and antigenic diversification begin within the avian host, where intra-host adaptation and cross-species adaptive mutations facilitate enhanced viral replication, shedding, and transmission. Soda *et al.* applied molecular studies to questions about the evolution of an HPAI H5N8 strain in Japan during the 2014-2015 winter season, finding that a significant increase in chicken pathogenicity could emerge from a single passage in chickens. This increase was attributed to an M374V mutation in the viral NP gene, associated with polymerase activity and leading to rapid growth *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Soda et al. 2019). Recent advances in sequencing technology have allowed in-depth studies of intrahost AIV evolution – research by Leyson *et al.*, for instance, examined HPAI H5N8 genomic diversity in experimentally-infected mallards and chickens to clarify observed differences in mortality and transmission dynamics between species (Leyson et al. 2019).

Mutations that enhance transmission, shedding, replication, and other survival-related factors can lead to rapid dissemination of adapted strains within poultry populations. Long *et al.* studied the adaptations that initially allowed HPAI H5N1 to transmit from wild birds to gallinaceous poultry –

namely altered receptor binding, increased pH of HA fusion, and deletions of the NA stalk (Long, Benfield, and Barclay 2015). DeJesus *et al.*, meanwhile, studied adaptation of HPAI H5N2 clade 2.3.4.4 compared to index virus, finding a complex pattern of mutations that reduced infectious dose thresholds and enhanced contact transmission in some isolates (DeJesus et al. 2016). Further study of this evolutionary adaptive pathway revealed specific mutations in this virus's HA, NA, NP, and PB1 genes that have contributed to viral fitness in chickens (S.-S. Youk et al. 2021). These include mutations in HA (e.g. M66I, S141P, and L322Q) and NA (E368K and S416G) that contribute to the balance between these proteins' functions that is critical for viral fitness (Du et al. 2020), and mutations like PB2-L386V and -V649I that have been associated with viral polymerase adaption to lower temperatures.

Many recent molecular and phylogenetic analyses have focused on the HPAI H5Nx strains that have spread rapidly worldwide over the past five years. Chen et al., studying virulence determinants within the PB2 viral RNA polymerase subunit, discovered a polymorphic site at PB2-283M, where novel mutations began appearing after 2005. PB2-M283L, in particular, has been isolated from mammalian hosts and was found to increase viral replication in mammalian cells (S. Chen et al. 2020). Studies in the earlier H5N1 clade 2.2.1 identified multiple mutations in the PB1, PB2, PA, and NP genes that worked cooperatively with a PB2-E627K mutant known to contribute to human adaptation. These polymorphisms, including the D175N, T182I, K198R, and K214R mutations of PB1 that modify the vRNA promoter-binding  $\beta$ -ribbon region, increased viral growth in human airway epithelial cells and mouse lungs (Arai et al. 2016). Relatedly, the full-length PB1-F2 accessory protein has been found to cause longer viral shedding periods in chickens, but it is often truncated in swine and human viruses, suggesting mammalian adaptations for increased protein stability and pathogenicity (James et al. 2019). In the HA protein, the K193T mutation has been shown to increase the viral binding preference of a ferret-transmissible H5N1 strain for the  $\alpha$ 2,6-sialic acid (SA) linkages found in the human respiratory tract (W. Peng et al. 2018); similarly, HA-T160A within the receptor-binding domain caused deglycosylation at the nearby 158 residue in several strains of H5Nx clade 2.3.4.4, creating a more hydrophobic local environment with enhanced binding to both  $\alpha 2,6$ - and  $\alpha 2,3$ -SA linkages (R. Gao et al. 2018). Similar results were found by Gu et al., who found that the mutation enhanced transmission between guinea pigs (M. Gu et al. 2017).

An *in vivo* study by Peng *et al.* involved passaging HPAI H5N6 avian influenza virus in mice ten times, analysing virus after each passage for mammalian-adaptive mutations. Observed mutations included HA-A150V, NA-R143K and -F147E (both in the 150-loop adjacent to the catalytic site of

neuraminidase), and an A343T mutant in the PB2-binding site of the PA polymerase subunit. This last mutation arose after only two passages in mice and has been shown to increase growth capacity in human cells (X. Peng et al. 2016). Finally, Guo *et al.* conducted a large-scale study of all available H5Nx AIV genomes, finding 29 host-shift branches with significant signals of positive selection for mammalian adaptation (F. Guo, Li, et al. 2019).

Recent mutational studies have also focused on the capacity for antigenic shift to generate vaccineescape mutants. Li *et al.* studied the particularly fast-spreading HPAI H5Nx clade 2.3.4.4, showing that vaccines developed against the parent 2.3.4 clade do not provide full protection against these newer viruses. Several mutations were observed within the antigenic regions of the HA protein, including residues 88, 156, 205, 208, 239, and 289. Of these, the most critical were located in antigenic region B, in the membrane-distal globular head. The authors found that anti-clade 2.3.4 vaccines protect poultry from death due to clade 2.3.4.4 infection, but not from viral shedding, potentially increasing the risk of unnoticed transmission (J. Li et al. 2020).

HPAI H5Nx viruses have continued to play a substantial role in the epidemiological landscape of avian influenza over the past five years, while studies of other major players have revealed additional markers of increased pathogenicity and/or mammalian adaptation. H9N2, an LPAI that has spread worldwide and is endemic in many regions of China, Southeast Asia, and the Middle East (Shuo Liu et al. 2020), has been the subject of much recent study. Zhang et al. observed a PB2 mutation, D253N, that increased replicative ability of avian H9N2 in human cells, possibly by assisting with adaptation of H9N2 to growth at 37°C (Jinfeng Zhang et al. 2018). A wider-scale study of 68 total environmental H9N2 samples from Chinese poultry farms and LPMs found that an HA-I155T mutation, previously shown to be involved in human-like  $\alpha$ 2,6-SA receptor binding, was conserved in all tested strains (S. Zou et al. 2019). Sealy et al. examined AIV isolates from Pakistan during 2014-2016; they found a worrying increase in the prevalence of H9N2 genotype PK3, which includes an HA-A180T substitution that facilitates binding to human-like receptors (Sealy et al. 2019). Similarly, representative isolates from Chinese LPMs universally possessed an  $\alpha$ 2,6-SA binding-associated HA-226L mutation, although this residue alone was not sufficient to allow efficient replication in mice (Teng et al. 2016). The function of these mutations can often be determined from their locations in the folded protein (e.g. NA-K142E likely impacts ligand binding or catalysis), but care must be taken in the case of multifunctional mutations with more complicated interaction networks. Song et al. identified one such mutation in an H9N2 strain isolated from diseased chickens in China: an observed HA-D200N switch was found to alter the viral antigenicity, increase intra-endosomal cleavage efficiency, and increase

replication in chicken cells and embryonated hens' eggs (J. Song et al. 2020). Li and colleagues looked more broadly at the reassortant potential of H9N2 when coinfecting with another common avian strain, H4N6. They coinfected 26 chickens and subsequently isolated nine reassortants from six genotypes over the next week. Some of these reassortants displayed enhanced virulence, with the H4N6 PA gene contributing to higher polymerase activity and faster viral replication (Xuyong Li et al. 2018).

Targeted virological studies of AIV sublineages can also provide valuable information on the phenotype and infective characteristics of growing populations within a given class of AIV. Peacock *et al.* used biophysical assays to check for potentially zoonotic mutations in the BJ94 and G1 lineages of H9N2, finding that the latter displayed preference for human-like receptors. This was primarily mediated by HA-A190E/D and -I227Q mutations (Peacock et al. 2017). In a similar study, Pu and colleagues studied the H9N2 G57 genotype, where a reassortment event introduced the M gene from a quail-origin virus, leading to enhanced viral transcription and protein production. The primary residues involved in these functions were M1-37A, -95K, -224N, and -242N, along with M2-21G (Pu et al. 2017). Genotype G57 remains a concern, as reassortments between this virus and H7N9 are known to have contributed to the severe zoonotic outbreaks caused by the latter virus in China during 2016-2017 (Shuo Liu et al. 2020).

H7N9 is another widespread LPAI AIV with demonstrated potential for disease burden in both poultry and humans. During a 2013-2017 series of outbreaks in China, an HPAI strain unexpectedly emerged in Guangdong, causing several human infections (Artois et al. 2018). The genome and subsequent properties of this virus have attracted significant attention, as this event illustrated the speed with which unanticipated AIV reassortants can acquire novel properties *in vivo*. Many relevant mutations originated in H9N2, as discussed above, but researchers have identified several novel mutations unique to H7N9, including PA-V100A and PB2-K526R, -A588V, -D627K, and -D701N (Pu et al. 2017; Qi et al. 2017). PB2-D701N, in particular, is a multifunctional mutation known to increase viral genome transcription and enhance viral binding to importin  $\alpha$ , both leading to increased replication in mammalian cells (L. Liang et al. 2019; Z. Yu et al. 2019). de Vries *et al.* conducted molecular analyses to determine the minimal set of mutations necessary for avian H7N9 to acquire human receptorbinding specificity. They found two separate triple-mutants – HA-V186G/K+K193T+G228S and HA-V186N+N224K+G228S – could accomplish this switch. Both bound preferentially to extended branched N-linked glycans that end with an  $\alpha$ 2,6-Gal, a property shared with the H1N1pdm09 strain responsible for the 2009 pandemic (de Vries et al. 2017). The HA of avian H3N2 virus appears to have evolved similar binding preferences, which potentially increase avidity by simultaneously binding two subunits of one HA trimer (W. Peng et al. 2017).

Wu *et al.* assessed adaptation in avian H7N7 via serial lung-to-lung passages in mice, finding a range of mutations over ten passages. Of particular interest were HA-D103N, close to the 130-loop, NA-K142E, near the active site of the protein, and PB2-D701N, which has previously been associated with increased virulence in H1N1, H5N1, H7N9, and H10N7 across a range of species (H. Wu et al. 2020). Herfst *et al.*, meanwhile, examined an avian H10N7 strain that caused a 2014 outbreak in North European seals, signalling a possible propensity for mammalian transmission. They observed polymorphisms in the 220-loop of the virus's HA protein, the most important of which was a Q226L mutation previously observed in the 1957 (H2) and 1968 (H3) pandemic strains. Transmission characteristics were unclear, since seals are highly social animals, but the H10N7 strain was found to transmit via respiratory droplets between ferrets, likely owing to HA-T244I and -E74D dual mutations (Herfst et al. 2020; Bodewes et al. 2015). H6N1 AIV from Chinese LPMs has also recently shown characteristics of human receptor binding, including residues HA-186L, -190V, -222A, and -228S (Tzarum et al. 2015). Hsieh *et al.* conducted an in-depth study of the binding properties of this subtype, finding the positively charged HA-R201 residue is required for binding to host cells (Hsieh et al. 2019).

Antiviral resistance is another clinically important trait associated with specific mutations within the avian influenza genome. Song *et al.* found that the M2-S31N mutation, associated with amantadine resistance, was present in three different avian H9N2 isolates from Shandong Province layer chicken farms (Y. Song et al. 2019). This particular mutation was also observed in both avian and human isolates of the HPAI H7N9 virus that caused significant outbreaks in China during 2013-2017 (Qi et al. 2017). Schaduangrat *et al.*, studying the occurrence of avian H5N1 "quasispecies" with resistance to oseltamivir, found that such resistance mutations (mainly NA-S236F) may be able to occur naturally without prior exposure to the drug (Schaduangrat et al. 2016).

## Swine Influenza Virus

Due to the interactions between domestic swine and poultry and the permissive nature of swine to infection by avian influenza viruses, many of the virological studies described above are applicable to influenza strains that may spread from birds to pigs (e.g. H1N1, H3N2, H4N6, and many others). SIV antigenic drift within infected pigs has historically been thought to occur only at a low rate due to the short lifespans of these animals and the typically acute nature of SIV infections. Multiple recent studies

have, however, shown remarkable genetic diversity even within individual SIV sublineages; Ryt-Hansen *et al.*, for instance, studying H1N2 SIV, found a relatively high mutation rate of 7.6x10<sup>-3</sup> substitutions/site/year in the HA gene, with most occurring in the globular head and antigenic sites (Ryt-Hansen et al. 2020).

The aforementioned permissiveness of pigs to infection by avian influenza viruses allows swine to act as a "mixing vessel", facilitating reassortment events during co-infections with avian, swine, and/or human influenza viruses. Zhang *et al.* conducted a study examining viral mutations that allow transmission from birds to pigs (and subsequent transmission between swine), focusing on H4N6 AIV that has twice been detected in North American swine. Four out of 115 tested avian isolates were capable of replicating effectively in swine cells, and these shared the mutations HA-Q226L and -G228S (X. Zhang et al. 2020). Such studies expand our understanding of cross-species transmission and may allow us to detect potentially zoonotic strains by identifying the presence of associated mutations in circulating SIV strains. Lai *et al.* studied the interplay between the activities of the HA and NA proteins in H1N1pdm09, finding that HA binding enhanced the cleavage of  $\alpha$ 2,6-SA by NA and potentially contributing to human adaptation (Lai et al. 2019). These findings were in line with earlier findings from Du and colleagues, who examined NA enzymatic activity in H5N1 AIV and H1N1pdm09 (Du et al. 2018). They found NA activity to be altered as expected by mutation of contact residues (in the 370, 400, and 430 loops) but also by noncontact residues in these same loops.

Anderson *et al.* conducted a sweeping phylogenetic analysis of thousands of viral gene segments from H1 and H3 SIV subtypes sourced from the USDA Influenza A Virus Surveillance System, looking for novel subtypes and evidence of antigenic drift. They detected a minor clade, H1γ-2, consisting of 37 H1 viruses isolated between 2003 and 2013. Though representing only ~1% of swine H1 genes sequenced over the past ten years, it was found to be antigenically distinct from major H1 clades, raising concerns about the proliferation of small, understudied SIV populations and their capacity to escape contemporary vaccines (Anderson et al. 2015). Lewis and colleagues conducted a similarly large-scale study of antigenic diversity in swine H1 and H3, here using data from the European ESNIP3 program, collaborations with labs in Southeast Asia, and expanding datasets from North America to encompass over 500 virus isolates. They found that SIV diversity was primarily driven by reverse zoonosis and subsequent antigenic evolution, while the contribution of avian introduction was unexpectedly limited to only one case of cross-species transmission (N. S. Lewis et al. 2016). Their results stress the need to match SIV vaccines with circulating strains, combining data from virological and epidemiological studies to track particularly concerning strains and anticipate their spread.

### Equine Influenza Virus

Equine influenza viruses (EIV) spread primarily through international trade and recreational events that bring animals from different regions into close proximity. Common subtypes have included H7N7 and H3N8, although the former is now very rarely isolated and considered possibly extinct. Kumar et al. provide data attributing this shift to several properties of H7N7 viruses, including high codon usage bias, low mutation pressure, and less adaptation to the tRNA pool of equine cells compared to H3N8 (N. Kumar et al. 2016). H3N8 EIV is now widespread across the world, and regular outbreaks continue to occur, with varying degrees of veterinary impact on infected animals. Lee *et al.*, for instance, found that the KG11 strain isolated from Korean horses in 2011 contains a naturally truncated NS1A coding region within its NS gene, leading to impaired inhibition of host interferon production and attenuated replication (Jihye Lee, Park, and Min 2017). EIV has historically not been responsible for human infections, but horses remain a potential source of antigenic diversity generation, and indeed crossspecies transmission has been detected – specifically transmission from horses to dogs. He et al. examined this event in detail, describing the emergence in 2002 of an H3N8 canine influenza virus (CIV) via a reassortant virus of Florida-1 clade H3N8 EIV. This CIV then spread efficiently and remained enzootic, evolving and diverging into 5-6 sublineages via intra- and inter-lineage reassortment (He, Li, Wang, et al. 2019).

### Influenza Virus in Companion Animals

Such cross-transmission events have attracted recent attention to CIV, which has historically remained understudied due to the rarity of canine-to-human zoonosis. Dogs are susceptible to a wide range of influenza viruses, however, and given the high risk of contact with other species including birds and humans, virological research into CIV may provide insights into potentially hazardous reassortants with cross-species or zoonotic potential (He, Li, Wang, et al. 2019; Kalhoro et al. 2019). H3N2 CIV, for instance, first emerged in China during 2005-2006, but numerous reassortants have already been detected, including one carrying gene segments from human H1N1pdm09 (Parrish, Murcia, and Holmes 2015). Canine H3N2 was detected in the United States in 2015, prior to which only H3N8 was known to circulate widely in American dogs. H3N2 CIV possesses HA-226Q and -228G residues associated with  $\alpha$ 2,3-SA binding, in line with the mainly avian-type receptors expressed in canine respiratory tracts (Pulit-Penaloza et al. 2017), but also show a few changes linked to mammalian adaptation (e.g. HA-S159N and -W222L).

Chen *et al.*, meanwhile, conducted a study on CIV in southern China, finding two independent instances of reassortant H1N1 transmission from swine to canines in Guangxi. Both viruses contained genomic segments from North American triple reassortant H3N2, Eurasian avian-like H1N1, and H1N1pdm09 (Y. Chen et al. 2018). These H1N1 viruses have transmitted onward in dogs and reassorted with canine H3N2 to produce further variants. All tested strains contained an M2-S31N mutation that confers resistance to adamantane. Na *et al.* later studied the morphology of H3N2 CIV from China and South Korea, also finding a strain (KR07M) that carried the M gene from H1N1 and showed enhanced cellular uptake *in vitro* (Na et al. 2020).

Cats too are permissive to various influenza strains and often come into close contact with both wild birds and humans. Wang *et al.* examined an H5N6 avian virus that was isolated from cats in Guangdong in 2015, finding that its NS1 protein inhibited NF-κB and IRF2 proinflammatory activity in infected cells; this activity was attributed to its dsRNA binding domain, potentially at the S42 residue as previously observed in H5N1 AIV (L. Wang et al. 2017).

# Novel Virological Assays and Technologies

Developments in experimental capabilities continue to push the boundaries of virological studies and increase the speed, efficiency, and thoroughness of influenza studies. NGS-based whole genome sequencing has expanded dramatically over the past five years, increasing the efficiency of data collection for influenza virus identification, diagnostics, and surveillance (Alleweldt et al. 2021)(Adlhoch et al. 2020; Wong et al. 2018). Concurrently, advances in computational analysis and modelling technologies are expanding the information we can gain from influenza virus genome sequences. Wu et al., for instance, used sequence analysis software including the DSSP program to examine influenza virus PA protein stability under various mutational conditions, finding that the PA-K281I mutation abolishes polymerase activity due to lack of hydrogen bonding (N. C. Wu et al. 2015). Kargarfard et al. conducted a large-scale study applying machine learning to 674 total avian, swine, and human influenza strains, looking for reassortant changes associated with host adaptation. Algorithms including CBA, Ripper, and decision tree were used to identify statistically significant mutations, and combinations thereof, relating to host range – HA-14V, for instance, was found to be an important discriminative and combinatorial position for avian infection (Kargarfard et al. 2016). Similar machine learning techniques have also been used to score amino acid mutations predictive of avian-to-human transmission (Qiang et al. 2018). Khaliq and colleagues, meanwhile, applied

computational rule-based modelling to describe combinatorial sets of interacting residues in 12 proteins from H1N1 and H3N2 influenza viruses, also looking for host-specific signatures. They found that in H1N1, for instance, M2-G14 is associated with avian hosts while M2-E14 is associated with human infectivity (Khaliq et al. 2016). Host-specific signatures were identified in several proteins, including NP and NS1 in H1N1 and PA and PB1 in H3N2. Finally, Guo *et al.* used the CodonW software package to analyse codon bias in HPAI H5Nx subtypes, using subsequent correspondence analysis and neutrality plotting to estimate the effects of natural selection and mutation pressure on codon usage patterns (F. Guo, Shen, et al. 2019). As computational power continues to increase, it will only grow more critical to influenza virology, and the development of new analytical models and comparative testing against *in vivo* results is a critical emerging area of research.

Other technological advances involve the validation of new systems for influenza replication and protein interactions. Kasloff & Weingartl evaluated swine alveolar macrophages (IPAM 3D4/31 cells) as a host cell model for influenza virus replication due to their equal expression of  $\alpha 2,3$ - and  $\alpha 2,6$ linked SA residues. They found that eleven tested avian-, human-, and swine-origin influenza viruses replicated optimally at 37°C, while PB2 protein amino acid profiles correlated with different growth characteristics at 33°C and 41°C (Kasloff and Weingartl 2016). Seibert et al. recently developed a spol1 (swine RNA pol I promoter)-based reverse genetics system capable of rescuing both influenza A and influenza B viruses in swine and human cells. This system could limit substrate-adapted changes that may occur when candidate vaccine viruses are grown in non-natural conditions (e.g. growing swine viruses in embryonated hens' eggs) (Seibert et al. 2021). As this study illustrates, research into influenza B has increased in the past five years (along with influenzas C and D). Although these viruses have not yet caused zoonotic outbreaks, they have demonstrated their capacities for widespread and often cross-species transmission, warranting increased attention (Yan et al. 2019). Ishida et al. established a reverse genetics system for influenza D virus utilizing human rectal tumor cells (HRT-18G). Despite lower transfection efficiency that the HEK-293T cells commonly used for influenzas A, B, and C, HRT-18Gs produced virus with much higher infectivity (Ishida et al. 2020). Following optimization of transfection ratios with 7 viral RNA-synthetic plasmids and 4 protein expression plasmids, the resulting virus showed similar growth properties to the wild-type.

Similarly, *in vitro* methods for protein isolation and interaction studies have also been expanded over the past five years. Thulasi Raman *et al.* infected swine tracheal cells with a Strep-tagged NS1 protein, using immunoprecipitation followed by liquid chromatography with tandem mass spectrometry to characterise protein complexes and NS1 interaction partners (Thulasi Raman and Zhou 2016). Liu and colleagues used a similar MS-based analysis to examine the phosphorylation of canine lung cell proteins after H3N2 CIV infection, finding dramatic changes in phosphoproteins associated with RNA processing and modification, chromatin remodelling, and energy production/conservation (Y. Liu et al. 2020). Nogales *et al.*, meanwhile, examined the functions of the NS1 protein of influenzas A, B, C, and D in canine MDCK and human A549 cells. They show that the B, C, and D proteins exhibited different RNA-binding properties, and IAV expressing heterotypic NS1 proteins could be used as the basis for live attenuated influenza vaccines as their replication *in vivo* is stunted (Nogales *et al.* 2019). Liu and colleagues used a similar MS-based analysis to examine the phosphorylation of canine lung cell proteins after H3N2 CIV infection, finding dramatic changes in phosphoproteins associated with RNA processing and modification, chromatin remodelling, and energy production/conservation (Y. Liu et al. 2020). Nogales *et al.*, meanwhile, examined the functions of the NS1 protein of influenzas A, B, C, and D in canine MDCK and human A549 cells. They show that the B, C, and D proteins associated with RNA processing and modification, chromatin remodelling, and energy production/conservation (Y. Liu et al. 2020). Nogales *et al.*, meanwhile, examined the functions of the NS1 protein of influenzas A, B, C, and D in canine MDCK and human A549 cells. They show that the B, C, and D proteins exhibited different RNA-binding properties, and IAV expressing heterotypic NS1 proteins could be used as the basis for live attenuated influenza vaccines as their replication *in vivo* is stunted (Nogales *et al.* 2019).

Lastly, organoids are proving an invaluable tool for biological research, including for the study of interactions between IAV and human respiratory cells (J. Zhou et al. 2018). Porcine intestinal (Yang Li et al. 2020) and testicular (Vermeulen et al. 2019; Sakib et al. 2019) organoids have been developed and used successfully. However, to date, porcine lung organoids have not been reported. Similarly, chicken enteroids have recently been developed that include immune, as well as intestinal, cells, and were successfully infected with IAV (Nash et al. 2021); again, though, the development of lung organoids is lacking so far.

#### **Current research**

At the Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut, researchers are applying 3<sup>rd</sup>-generation sequencing (including Nanopore MinION technology) to whole-genome IAV analysis. Multiple aspects of influenza virology are under study at the Exotic and Emerging Avian Viral Diseases Unit of the US National Poultry Research Center, including genetic and epidemiological research on LPAI and HPAI strains from the 2020 outbreak in North/South Carolina turkey farms and on LPAI H2N2 from American LPMs. Research is also underway here into AIV adaptation and evolution, specifically studying the molecular determinants of H7 incursions from wild birds to domestic poultry and the adaptation of Mexican-lineage LPAI H5N2 in chickens. At the Southeast Poultry Research Laboratory, study of recent outbreak viruses is ongoing, with researchers applying standardized approaches to evaluate novel isolates and

measure transmissibility for outbreak preparedness. Meanwhile, scientists at the Royal Veterinary College of the University of London carry out ecological and evolutionary studies of AIV in wild birds.

Scientists at the UK Animal and Plant Health Agency are currently conducting Defra-funded research into the mechanisms of influenza virulence and species tropism and associated surveillance strategies, threat identification methodology, and outbreak control. Mammalian influenza viruses are also under specific study here, with researchers examining host/virus interactions in swine, cattle, and humans. At ANSES, scientists are examining the genetic and antigenic evolution of SIV in France, conducting indepth genome analyses to identify molecular determinants of virulence and cross-species transmission. Methods include *in silico, in vitro,* and *in vivo* assays, and data is shared within the OFFLU Swine Influenza group. At the National Veterinary Research Institute in Vom, Nigeria, research is underway into IAV molecular characterization, particularly in a zoonotic context, with studies examining genotypic changes associated with transmission and pathogenesis.

# **Future research priorities**

Based on the above literature review and with reference to previously identified knowledge gaps and expert opinion, the following areas of animal influenza virology should be considered priorities for future research:

- Sequence-to-phenotype prediction models
- Predictive approaches for understanding the level of risk posed to poultry by new isolates
- Determinants of host adaptation beyond the HA and NA proteins
- Mechanisms/pathways of intra-host virus evolution
- Mechanisms of adaptation of avian and human influenza viruses to swine
- Determinants of the emergence of reassortant viruses
- Continuing development of NGS-based whole genome sequencing
- Effective deployment of 3<sup>rd</sup>-gen sequencing technologies for both wet- and dry-lab protocols, allowing point-of-incidence analysis
- Rapid characterization of variants circulating in the field via high-throughput point-of-care technology
- Fast typing of avian influenza isolates without virus isolation (applicable for noninvasive samples from wild birds)
- Expand virological research into areas of Asia where circulating strains remain understudied

# **Pathogenesis**

Influenza A viruses (IAV) infect a wide range of animals critical for food production (e.g. poultry and swine) or involved in recreation (horses) and human companionship (cats and dogs). Some IAV can infect multiple species, while others are restricted to a single host (Eng, Tong, and Tan 2017) – and within one host, various subtypes can have different tissue tropisms, causing diverse infection patterns, clinical signs, and viral shedding (X. Zhang et al. 2020). Gene segment swapping between co-infecting subtypes can result in dramatic shifts in IAV pathogenicity, while selective pressure induces smaller-scale changes that can nevertheless have wide-ranging effects. Due to the small size of the IAV genome, viral proteins are multifunctional and even minor changes can be synergistic, leading to unexpected changes in host or tissue tropism. Even closely-related, cocirculating influenza viruses can vary drastically in pathogenicity, and unexpected reassortments can lead to the emergence of dangerous combinatorial properties (Mei et al. 2019; Uchida et al. 2019). Influenza pathogenesis research is primarily aimed at uncovering the molecular changes behind these differences, studying determinants of viral transmission and tropism, zoonosis and airborne transmission, and interactions with host cells.

# Previously identified knowledge gaps

Previous reports (United States Department of Agriculture 2014; OFFLU 2014; European Food Safety Authority 2015) identified the following priority research knowledge gaps in animal influenza pathogenesis in 2014/15:

- molecular determinants of virulence and immune evasion in target species
- determinants of high- vs. low-pathogenicity avian influenza
- determinants of viral shedding from respiratory vs. intestinal tracts
- determinants of host range and tissue tropism, particularly with cross-species or zoonotic potential
- mechanisms (genetic or otherwise) behind duck resistance to HPAI strains
- *influence of virus on host cell molecular biology*
- effects of co-infection with different viruses or bacteria

#### Literature review

# Avian Influenza Pathogenesis

Avian influenza viruses are considered as either low pathogenic (LPAI) or highly pathogenic (HPAI) dependent on their disease burden in poultry (Lycett, Duchatel, and Digard 2019). Both types of virus can spread rapidly through infected flocks and may be capable of transmission to other species, including swine and humans, with varying clinical signs therein that may not reflect their pathogenicity in birds (CDC, NCIRD Fact Sheet). Poultry infected with LPAI strains may show minimal or even no signs of infection, allowing the disease to spread unchecked unless active surveillance is carried out within the flock. HPAI strains, conversely, tend to cause severe systemic infections and can cause mortality of up to 90-100% in chickens and other poultry (Stoimenov et al. 2019; Dinev et al. 2020). Ducks, however, tend to be asymptomatic even with HPAI infection, allowing them (along with other waterfowl species) to serve as a natural reservoir for these viruses (Smith et al. 2015a). The migratory routes of wild waterfowl bring them into contact with a wide range of domestic poultry species (Pantin-Jackwood et al. 2016). Kikutani and colleagues studied the mechanisms of duck-to-chicken transmission in H6 AIV, finding that HA-N192D and -E190V mutations facilitate the process by enhancing binding to sulphated SA $\alpha$ 2,3Gal glycans (Kikutani et al. 2020).

The main molecular determinant of an HPAI phenotype is the acquisition of a multi-basic cleavage site (MBCS) in the HA gene (Joseph et al. 2017; Dietze et al. 2018). This site, where HA is posttranslationally cleaved by host proteases, typically contains a single basic residue in LPAI strains (e.g. PQRETR/G) but contains two or more basic residues in HPAI strains (e.g. PQRERRRKR/G). This substitution widens the pool of host proteases capable of cleaving the site, expanding tissue tropism and allowing the systemic spread characteristic of HPAI infection in poultry (Seekings et al. 2018). LPAI H7N9, for instance, caused multiple outbreaks in China before unexpectedly producing an HPAI variant via MBCS acquisition during the fifth outbreak in 2016-2017 (Tanikawa et al. 2019). Seekings *et al.* detected a rare di-basic cleavage site motif (PEIPKKRGLF) unique to LPAI H7N7 in Galliformes, and found that three distinct MBCS-containing HPAI variants had evolved from it and were cocirculating locally (Seekings et al. 2018). Kwon and colleagues, however, found that an MBCS may not be an absolute requirement for systemic spread of an AIV. They examined an H7N6 strain isolated from several organs (including lung, spleen, and brain) of a dead Korean mallard duck in 2007, finding a trypsin-independent growth phenotype dependent on N6 NA and a specific cleavage motif in HA (H. Il Kwon et al. 2019). The authors theorize that prothrombin activation by N6 NA during replication may enable thrombin-dependent cleavage of the GRG motif, removing the need for trypsin-like enzymes and allowing systemic spread without a classical MBCS.

Studies of LPAI H9N2, which has spread throughout China, Southeast Asia, the Middle East, and Europe in recent years (Shuo Liu et al. 2020; Fallah Mehrabadi et al. 2019), have uncovered several polymorphic sites that modulate the infectivity and pathogenic phenotype of the virus in vivo. Li et al. examined mutations within the 3' UTR of the H9N2 NA gene, finding that the NA-U13C mutation promotes viral genome expression (Xi Li et al. 2019). Within the coding sequence, NA-G127S and -S450L mutations have also been shown to increase pathogenicity – isolates with these mutations display mortality >75% despite their classification as LPAI (Shahzad et al. 2020). Ismail and colleagues found that H9N2-infected chickens displayed more severe disease (higher viral titres and increased lesions on internal organs) after vaccination with infectious bronchitis live attenuated vaccine, raising the possibility of a deleterious immune interaction (Ismail et al. 2018). Meanwhile, James et al. studied the PB1 viral polymerase subunit of H9N2, finding that a full-length PB1-F2 protein is associated with prolonged viral shedding and increased minimal lethal dose, both facilitating transmission. This fulllength product is found in ~93% of avian isolates but is frequently truncated in mammalian isolates, suggesting mammalian adaptation (James et al. 2016). Co-infection studies have also dealt frequently with H9N2; Belkasmi et al. examined co-infection of chickens with H9N2 AIV and Moroccan Italy 02 infectious bronchitis virus, finding that the trypsin-like serine domain encoded by the latter enhances H9N2 pathogenicity (Belkasmi et al. 2020). Fowl adenovirus also appears to play a complementary role with AIV, with FAdV-4 causing immunosuppression that inhibits antibody responses to inactivated H9 vaccines (Niu et al. 2017). In bacterial infections, enhanced pathogenicity has been observed during coinfections of H9N2 with E. coli in chickens and Pseudomonas aeruginosa in commercial mink (which are susceptible to H9N2 AIV infection) (Bo-shun et al. 2020).

Much recent attention has been focused on HPAI H5Nx viruses that have spread rapidly worldwide over the past five years. These viruses are spread primarily by migratory waterfowl which are often resistant to disease but shed relatively high titres for at least seven days post-infection (Pantin-Jackwood et al. 2016). In chickens and other domestic poultry, HPAI H5Nx viruses can cause severe pathologies, spreading into the endothelium, central nervous system, and myocardium and inducing systemic inflammation with high mortality (Butler et al. 2016). Several hundred human cases have also been reported with ~50-60% mortality, but human-to-human transmission has not yet been observed (Mahardika et al. 2019). Azab *et al.* studied an early mutational event – the shift from H5 clade 2.2.1 to clade 2.2.1.2 that occurred in 2014/2015 – finding that point mutations in the MBCS likely played a

role in the higher virulence of the latter clade (Azab et al. 2017). Guo and colleagues, meanwhile, examined the emergence of the particularly fast-spreading clade 2.3.4.4 from the older clade 2.3.4. They found mutations HA-K222Q and -S227R, unique to HPAI H5 proteins, facilitate binding to fucosylated sialosides. These substitutions seem to have appeared at the root of H5Nx clade 2.3.4.4, as K222 and S227 are highly conserved in all clades of the earlier HPAI H5N1. This poultry-specific adaptation may have facilitated the rapid spread of clade 2.3.4.4 across Southeast Asia, Europe, and North America (H. Guo et al. 2017).

HPAI H5N8 caused two recent outbreaks in Europe - one in 2014-2015, and another 2016-2017. The latter outbreak showed substantially higher virulence and pathogenicity, with a greater number of affected poultry farms and higher mortality. Vigeveno et al. examined the determinants for this change, finding that extensive reassortment had occurred in the viral polymerase genes between outbreaks. The polymerase complexes from the first outbreak showed much higher activity in avian cells but also induced higher levels of IFN- $\beta$  via Retinoic acid-Induced Gene I (RIG-I) activation – although activity of the polymerase from the virus causing the second outbreak was lower, a corresponding drop in innate immune activation overbalanced this change, resulting in the observed increase in virulence (Vigeveno et al. 2020). In Taiwan, after years of dominant LPAI H5N2 circulation, HPAI H5Nx clade 2.3.4.4 viruses emerged in 2015 and are now circulating widely in the local poultry industry. Wang and colleagues looked specifically at the role of the viral NS1 protein in HPAI H5Nx pathogenicity, finding that deletions in the highly variable NS1 C-terminus are associated with higher proinflammatory cytokine mRNA production. PDZ-binding motifs within the C-terminus also modulate pathogenicity via interactions with PDZ domain-containing host proteins that modulate cell polarity establishment and tight junction formation (W. C. Wang et al. 2020). The NS1 protein in general has been found to display remarkably high plasticity, contributing to immune evasion and adaptation across various hosts by following random evolutionary pathways within various influenza A lineages (Muñoz-Moreno et al. 2019).

Such host cell interactions are a critical determinant of viral virulence and play an important role in initiation of infection, immune activation, and viral replication and spread. Chothe *et al.* conducted a wide-spectrum study of immune dynamics in chicken primary lung cells and macrophages, finding that NLRC5, the largest member of the NOD-like receptor family, plays a proviral role by decreasing innate cytokine gene expression in response to LPAI and HPAI infection (Chothe et al. 2020). Such modulation of the immune system is an important factor in virulence – Kumar *et al.*, for instance, found that LPAI AIV strain infection leads to upregulation of antiviral genes (e.g. *IFIT5* and *ISG12*) and β-defensins,

while HPAI strains exhibit a more proinflammatory activity by upregulating chemokines, like *CCL4* and *CXCR4*, and IFN-stimulated genes (e.g. *STAT3* and *TGFB1/3*) (A. Kumar et al. 2017). Drobik-Czwarno and colleagues took an opposite approach, looking for genetic determinants of HPAI AIV resistance/survival in commercial egg layer chickens. Several regions in chromosomes 1, 7, 9, and 15 coding for membrane receptors and/or involved in immune responses were associated with H5N2 survival, while associated regions for H7N3 were neuronal cell surface, signal transduction, and immune response genes in chromosomes 1 and 5 (W. Drobik-Czwarno et al. 2018). In ducks, meanwhile, PIAS2 (Protein Inhibitor of Activated STAT2) expression was linked to HPAI H5N1 strain DK212 replication through its SUMO E3 ligase activity (Zu et al. 2020).

### Swine Influenza Pathogenesis

Swine are highly susceptible to a wide range of influenza viruses and can host dangerous reassortments between coinfecting strains (Vincent et al. 2017). Chastagner *et al.*, for instance, describe the emergence of a triple-reassortant H1N2 SIV with an avian-like backbone, N2 from a human seasonal H3N2 isolate, and M segment from H1N1pdm09 (Chastagner, Bonin, et al. 2019). Such reassortments can produce viruses with the potential for zoonotic or cross-species transmission. Yang *et al.*, for instance, passaged H9N2 AIV three times in differentiated swine airway epithelial cells and found a PB2-G685R mutation that, in combination with HA-A190V or -T212I, significantly increased virulence in mouse models (W. Yang et al. 2017). Veljkovic and colleagues conducted an *in silico* analysis of A/swine/Guangdong/104/2013 (H1N1), finding strong human infectivity and potential to acquire a human-adaptive HA1-D74N mutation (Veljkovic et al. 2016).

The development of an *in vitro* system for detailed study of the interaction between SIV and the porcine respiratory epithelium represents an important advance. Wu *et al.* have designed and tested an air-liquid-interface long-term culture method using primary epithelial cells from porcine bronchi; following IAV infection, the epithelium exhibited apoptosis which was associated with loss of cilia and epithelial thinning (N. H. Wu et al. 2016). Thomas *et al.* also reported the suitability of the respiratory epithelial cell line, MK1-OSU, for *in vitro* study of SIV pathogenesis (Thomas et al. 2018).

In the densely-populated environment of pig farms, multiple circulating pathogens are common, and coinfections can lead to unexpected pathological and immunological interactions. Simultaneous infection with H1N1 SIV and *Haemophilus parasuis*, a common bacterial pathogen of swine, increases

replication of both pathogens and induces stronger local and systemic immune responses. Nasal shedding of SIV, and lung lesions due to *H. parasuis*, were also increased (Pomorska-Mól et al. 2017).

# Mammalian Adaptation

Mammalian adaptations – mutations that allow avian viruses to replicate and thrive in swine or human hosts – are required for cross-species transmission and zoonosis. Identification of such mutations allows us to monitor their emergence in circulating strains, increasing our preparedness for potential outbreaks and informing vaccine development. Yamaji et al., for instance, found five substitutions in the PA polymerase subunit of a Vietnamese HPAI H5N1 human isolate – PA-V44I, -V127A, -V241Y, -A343T, and -I573V – that increased growth capacity in A549 cells and pathogenicity in mice (Yamaji et al. 2015). A similar study focused on the H5 HA antigenic protein, where human-adaptive mutations (e.g. HA-N224K and -Q226L) have been found to decrease heat stability, reduce airborne transmission potential, and raise pH of fusion >5.5 (whereas a fusion pH of  $\leq$  5.5 confers optimal infectivity in human cells). HA-T318I and -H110Y served as compensatory mutations, restabilizing the HA protein while retaining human-type receptor binding preference (Hanson et al. 2016). Comparable results were found in H1N1pdm09 SIV, where experimentally-introduced destabilizing mutations reverted during mammalian adaptation and replaced with stabilizing, fusion pH-lowering substitutions like HA2-R106K (Russier et al. 2016). Swine in general appear to support a wide range of HA stabilities/pH's of fusion, in keeping with their reputation as a melting pot of influenza strains from various species, and many recent H1N1 and H3N2 SIV isolates include stabilized (human-like) HA proteins (Russier et al. 2017).

HA mutations can also alter growth characteristics in mammalian cells – a study of duck AIV adaptation to swine respiratory cells, for example, identified HA2-G67S and -S113F as conferring a fast-growth phenotype by enhancing HA-mediated membrane fusion (Bourret et al. 2017). Deletion of HA glycosylation sites, previously observed in circulating HPAI H5N1 strains (X. Zhang et al. 2015), may also play a role in mammalian virulence, with mutations at H5 HA-144 and either -158 or -169 causing enhanced proinflammatory cytokine release and ER stress in human cells and mouse models (Y. Yin et al. 2020). Jegede and colleagues passaged LPAI H9N2 AIV 19 times in chickens via aerosol inoculation, finding selection for the HA-Q226L mutation associated with human receptor-binding preference (HA-226Q to -226L ratio increased from 54:46 in the first inoculum to 0:100 at passage 19). This suggests that ostensibly mammalian-adaptive traits may be acquired during asymptomatic circulation in poultry (Jegede et al. 2018). The surface-exposed HA is a major player in influenza virulence and pathogenicity, but internal genes also play a significant role in mammalian adaptation. Bogdanow *et al.* found that splicing of the IAV genome M segment is a host range determinant, with eight nucleotides in the 3' splice site responsible for modulating replication efficiency in bird- vs. human-adapted strains (Bogdanow et al. 2019). In the PB2 polymerase subunit gene, many mutations that influence mammalian pathogenicity have been identified and are observed at high frequencies in human influenza viruses (C. Y. Lee et al. 2020). Lee and colleagues found the most potent of these to be PB2-K526R, although its function remains unclear. Also highly potent were E627K, which interacts with the host factor ANP32A to stimulate RNA synthesis, and D701N, which may reflect the importance of PB2 nuclear localization via interaction with importin- $\alpha$  (C. Y. Lee et al. 2020). Chin *et al.* also found a high degree of plasticity in PB2-701 along with -702, with the combinations -701A/702E and -701N/702G broadening tissue tropism *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Chin et al. 2017). Gain-of-function potential has also been observed in the structural NP gene, where a K470R mutation in HPAI H5N1 increased mammalian virulence by increasing polymerase activity and replication. This residue is surface-exposed in trimeric NP and was found to be polymorphic among IAVs (Lin Chen et al. 2017).

Recent HPAI H5N8 viruses of the now-dominant clade 2.3.4.4 have demonstrated lower pathogenicity in mammalian hosts compared to older HPAI H5N1 viruses (clade 2.2). Park and colleagues generated single-gene substitutes to probe this change, finding that HPAI H5N1 PB2 and NA genes significantly increased pathogenicity; the former, in particular, increased virulence in mice 1000-fold and substantially raised polymerase activity (S. J. Park et al. 2018).

### Influenza D Virus

Recent studies have begun to bring focus to influenza D virus (IDV), an influenza genus first identified in 2011. Although originally found in pigs, IDV is now known to circulate primarily in cattle, where seroprevalence is high (Bailey, Choi, et al. 2018). Alongside, the incidence of swine IDV infections may be increasing (Bailey, Fieldhouse, et al. 2018), highlighting the need to keep a close watch on this potentially dangerous genus. An early genetic analysis of IDV by Collin *et al.* looked at six viruses isolated from cattle with bovine respiratory disease, finding that the HA-212K/R residue appeared to be an antigenic determinant (Collin et al. 2015). Experimentally-infected cattle have been shown capable of transmitting IDV to naïve counterparts via in-pen contact (Ferguson et al. 2016). Knowledge of cross-species infectivity is limited but contact transmission of IDV is possible between guinea pigs. The infected animals show no clinical signs, however, despite seroconversion and presence of viral
antigen in the lungs (Sreenivasan et al. 2015). Ferguson *et al.*, meanwhile, found that ferrets can be experimentally infected with IDV but are not infected by contact with contaminated fomites (Ferguson et al. 2016).

### **Ongoing research**

Erasmus MC Viroscience maintains several lines of pathogenesis research, including studies of the genetic and phenotypic determinants of mammalian virulence and the emergence of HPAI from LPAI AIV strains. At the US National Poultry Research Center, meanwhile, researchers are studying the pathobiology of AIV isolates selected based on a risk assessment of their threat to poultry (e.g. from recent US outbreaks), conducting tests of infectivity, viral transmission and shedding, morbidity/mortality, and determinants of tissue tropism. In this centre's Exotic and Emerging Avian Viral Diseases Unit, scientists are examining the genetic determinants of mallard virulence in HPAI H5N8 clade 2.3.4.4, where the two strains responsible for the 2014-2015 and 2016-2017 outbreaks caused markedly different clinical signs (with the latter exhibiting severe pathogenicity and high mortality). Future studies at this unit will focus on molecular markers of infectivity, pathogenicity, and transmissibility of AIV and host-specific factors associated with pathogenic profiles in birds of various physiological states.

Researchers at ANSES in France study the role of SIV within the larger porcine respiratory disease complex, where influenza virus may coinfect with other viral and bacterial pathogens and lead to significant health complications. At Ghent University, researchers are currently studying determinants of cross-species transmissibility, using pig infection models to determine (a) the genetic changes required for adaptation of H3N2 AIV to swine, and (b) the involvement of host factors in viral pathogenesis and transmission to pigs or ferrets.

At the University of Nottingham, UK, researchers continue to study molecular determinants of equine influenza (including HA polymorphisms and the role of NS1 in virulence and cross-species transmission), while in Germany at the Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut, scientists are conducting pathogenesis studies of IAV in numerous animal models, including birds and mammalian models like swine, ferrets, and mice.

# **Future research priorities**

Based on the above literature review and with reference to previously identified knowledge gaps and expert opinion, the following areas of animal influenza pathogenesis should be considered priorities for future research:

- Molecular determinants of human adaptation/zoonosis and subsequent human-to-human transmission
- Increased understanding of the role of pigs in the emergence of human pandemic strains
- Viral, host, and environmental factors that influence the risk of acquiring an HA multibasic cleavage site
- Duration of infectious windows for various subtypes
- Determinants of virulence, particularly in waterfowl, apart from HA cleavage site
- Mechanisms behind increased pathology observed with some H9N2 and H5N2 LPAI strains
- Further study of new HPAI H5N8 and H8Nx strains and their potential for reassortment and zoonosis
- Improved methods for zoonotic risk assessment (e.g. cell culture, animal models)
- Emergence of HPAI from LPAI subtypes
- Potential role of the vasculature in HPAI pathogenesis
- Comparative studies of pathogenesis with different influenza viruses in the swine host
- Standardization of pathogenesis/transmission models and experimental influenza delivery routes across laboratories

#### Immunology

The immune response to influenza virus infection operates at the innate and adaptive level both to tackle acute infection, and, in the case of adaptive immunity, to generate long-lasting immune memory. Pattern-recognition receptors act as sentinels, detecting the earliest stages of viral incursion and activating downstream signalling cascades that amplify the alarm call. Type I interferons (IFN) are key immune molecules that protect cells from infection and also support the activation of innate and adaptive immune cells to combat the infection. Soon after, B cells are stimulated to produce antibodies that recognise several influenza virus proteins and so bind to the viral surface, interfering with infection of cells; alongside, T cells recognising influenza peptide epitopes bound on major histocompatibility complex (MHC) I or II can destroy infected cells, preventing the virus from completing its life cycle, or may focus instead on cytokine production and supporting the anti-viral action of B cells. In parallel, influenza virus has developed multiple mechanisms of immune that affect the ensuing host response (see Pathogenesis).

Understanding the multiple aspects of the immune response to influenza virus infection is a significant challenge. Moreover, many of the components of the immune response are influenced by the genetic background of the host in ways that we are only just beginning to understand. Different breeds within the same species, as well as different species, also respond differently to infection with the same virus; ducks for example exhibit strong clinical resistance HPAI, while chickens do not. Understanding the mechanisms underpinning susceptibility versus resistance is an active area of influenza research.

The design of effective cross-protective vaccines is also reliant on a thorough understanding of natural infection and immunity. In particular, activation of local immune responses in the lung mucosa and stimulation of cross-reactive T cells seem to be key features of broadly-reactive immunity that must be recapitulated by the next generation of vaccine candidates. Understanding the drivers of long-lasting immune memory in different species will also be important.

# Previously identified knowledge gaps

Previous reports (United States Department of Agriculture 2014; OFFLU 2014; European Food Safety Authority 2015) identified the following priority research knowledge gaps in animal influenza immunology in 2014/15:

- contribution of host immunogenetics in innate protection, including by the generation of transgenic animals to study virus-host interactions
- *immune correlates of protection, and tests for them*
- identification of B and T cell epitopes that provide best protection from inactivated and vectored vaccines
- design of systems to predict escape mutants to allow rapid development of vaccine seed strains
- existence of carrier state in some species (pheasants) or immunocompromised animals
- mechanism of action of duck RIG-I in conferring AI resistance, and whether there are homologues in other avian species
- timing and identity of cytokines expressed following AI infection that reduce virus shedding from cells and increases resistance of birds to infection
- role of cell mediated immunity in protection following infection in wild birds versus poultry, and in particular its role in determining transmission
- Identification of antibody epitopes important for antigenic drift in swine and development of models to predict epitopes based on HA sequence evolution
- Identification of conserved B- and T- cell epitopes within and between virus subtypes for targeting by vaccines
- Identification of subtype-specific B- and T- cell epitopes for subtype diagnosis of previous infection

# Literature review

# Avian Influenza Immunology

# Host Immunogenetics

Although commercially reared chickens are renowned for their high susceptibility to HPAI, there are marked differences in the level of susceptibility between breeds. An *et al.* compared the genetic characteristics of the more-susceptible Leghorn GB2 and less-susceptible Fayoumi M43 breeds and uncovered a high degree of genetic difference in the anti-viral *MX-1* and heat-shock protein genes (An et al. 2019). Moreover, the regulation of transcription and methylation of these genes was significantly more stable in Fayoumi birds than in the Leghorns during AIV infection (An et al. 2019), raising the possibility that genomic stability is a differential feature linked to susceptibility in chicken breeds. It

should be noted, however, that this study was conducted with small numbers of highly inbred laboratory chickens, and so the results will require validation in larger cohorts under field conditions. In fact, a retrospective genome-wide association study seeking to identify genetic features associated with the survival of chickens from natural infection with HPAI H5N2 during the 2015 US outbreak concluded that resistance was indeed a complex trait mediated by multiple genes (Wioleta Drobik-Czwarno et al. 2018). Similarly, Susanti *et al.* uncovered marked Mx genotype variation between individuals within breeds (Susanti et al. 2017). Therefore, the idea that there exist resistant versus susceptible chicken breeds is perhaps not as reliable, at least at the individual animal level, as was first thought.

There is also some evidence of a link between breed and the magnitude of CD8 T-cell responses, which is associated with the susceptibility of chickens to AI infection. Blohm et al. found that two phylogenetically related brown layer breeds had increased survival following infection with LPAI or HPAI and relatively higher CD8 T-cell counts during infection than the more susceptible white layer breeds (Blohm et al. 2016). Importantly, the more resistant breeds exhibited a generally more active CD8 T-cell compartment, as these hens also eliminated injected allogeneic cells more rapidly than their less AI-resistant counterparts (Blohm et al. 2016). At present, the genetic basis for this differential CD8 T cell reactivity is unknown and could be important to define to support the development of diseaseresistant commercial chicken breeds.

The immunogenetic basis of the resistance of ducks to AI infection has also begun to be investigated. Recent research has revealed high MHCI diversity in wild duck populations, which is not present in domesticated ducks and would be expected to offer greater population-level resistance to AI, whilst also placing the virus under continual pressure to evolve (Fleming-Canepa et al. 2016). It is interesting to speculate that the higher level of inbreeding in commercial poultry breeds would remove some pressure from the virus, and may contribute to their relatively increased level of AI susceptibility than their counterpart wild species.

Interferon-induced transmembrane protein 3 (IFITM3) has broad anti-viral properties and restricts the replication of influenza virus in cells *in vitro* (Brass et al. 2009). Polymorphisms in this gene in humans have been associated with differential susceptibility to influenza H1N1 infection (Xuan et al. 2015), leading researchers to ask whether the same was true in avian species. Kim et al. discovered 14 genetic polymorphisms among commercially reared Delkab White and Ross breeds of chicken, of which two were predicted to be deleterious to the function of IFITM3 (Y. C. Kim, Jeong, and Jeong 2019). The

authors also noted structural differences within the C-terminal domain of chicken and duck *IFITM3* (Y. C. Kim, Jeong, and Jeong 2019), which may warrant further investigation.

### Innate Immunity to Avian Influenza

Understanding the clinical resistance of some avian species to influenza subtypes that are rapidly fatal in others, including commercial poultry, is a key area of research. The RIG-I protein and its binding partners have previously been identified as dominant factors underpinning the resistance of ducks to HPAI (Barber et al. 2010a; Smith et al. 2015b). Moreover, a recent study also identified a role for TRIM32. In mammals, the E3 ubiquitin ligase tripartite motif 32 (TRIM32) is an important regulator of the innate antiviral response; during IAV infection of human cells and cell lines in vitro, TRIM32 restricted viral replication by targeting the influenza polymerase basic protein 1 (PB1) for degradation (Fu et al. 2015). Wu et al. have now identified and studied this molecule in ducks (S. Wu et al. 2020). TRIM32 mRNA expression was increased in the lungs and spleens of H5N6 HPAI-infected ducks at 3 days post-infection, and in vitro, duck TRIM32 increased IFNB production (by interacting with the innate immune adaptor protein STING) and reduced H5N6 replication (S. Wu et al. 2020). It is possible that TRIM32 also functions to transiently increase the expression of innate immune response genes, including those encoding IFN $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , RIG-I, Mx, and OAS, as seen in duck embryonic fibroblasts infected with duck Tembusu virus in vitro (T. Li et al. 2021); however, it is unclear whether the same pathways operate in the context of influenza virus infection or in vivo. Wu et al. also identified TRIM32 sequences in chicken and goose genomes (S. Wu et al. 2020), but these species are typically highly susceptible to HPAI infection. Further studies are needed to dissect the role of TRIM32 in AIsusceptible and resistant species to understand whether/how it contributes to their susceptibility.

TRIM27 may also have a role in mediating the resistance to AI infection in ducks. The *TRIM27-L* gene is present in ducks but not chickens, and its expression is increased in lung tissues during infection with LPAI or HPAI; moreover, when overexpressed in chicken DF-1 cells *in vitro* in the presence of duck RIG-I, TRIM27-L induced strong activation of *MX1* and *IFN6* transcription (Blaine et al. 2015).

In addition to the known mediators of innate responses to viral infection, transcriptional regulatory long non-coding RNAs (IncRNAs) might have an emerging role. Duck tissues exhibited significantly altered expression of eight IncRNAs with predicted innate immune-regulatory functions during H5N1 HPAI infection, suggesting a possible role for these molecules in the antiviral response (C. Lu et al. 2019). While ducks display marked resistance to multiple AI subtypes, including most HPAI viruses, chickens are highly susceptible to HPAI, often succumbing within a few days of infection. Aside from the lack of genes encoding RIG-I and the RIG-I binding protein RNF-135 (Magor et al. 2013; Barber et al. 2010b), few determinants of this differential susceptibility had been identified, due, in part, to a lack of side-by-side studies in chickens and ducks. To address this, Smith *et al.* infected ducks and chickens with HPAI H5N1 and found clear differences in their expression of the known anti-viral interferon-induced transmembrane protein (IFITM) gene family (Smith et al. 2015c) *IFITM 1,2,3,5 and 10* genes were identified in both species, with levels of protein homology ranging from 40-92%. However, while H5N1 infection of ducks led to an up to 93-fold increase in the *IFITM 1-3* expression level in the lung and ileum as early as day 1 post-infection, suggesting high levels of upstream interferon induction, infected chickens only showed a slight increase in *IFITM3* expression in the ileum on day 3 (Smith et al. 2015c). Further studies of the role of IFITM family members in other avian species and IAV subtypes may provide much-needed insights into differential AI susceptibility.

In ducks, RIG-I is a primary sensor of viral RNAs and triggers downstream induction of Type I IFNs. Until recently it was unclear which molecules fulfilled this role in chicken cells. Toll-like receptor (TLR) 3 and melanoma differentiation-associated protein 5 (MDA5) can both sense viral RNAs and are present in chicken cells, but data from a recent *in vitro* study suggest that TLR3 is dispensable for the induction of type I IFN in response to influenza virus infection, which relies instead on MDA5 (S. bin Lee et al. 2020). Chicken embryonic fibroblasts overexpressing MDA5 and infected with HPAI H5N6 exhibited significantly increased expression of the IFN-stimulated genes *MX1, IFI6, IFIT5, RSAD2,* and *OASL* (S. Yu et al. 2020).

The downstream adaptor of RIG-I, STING, contributes to antiviral immunity in ducks (Y. Cheng et al. 2019), and also seems to be activated in a RIG-I-independent manner in chicken cells. DF-1 cells infected with H9N2 LPAI increased expression of STING mRNA, and cells overexpressing STING exhibited induced IFNβ promotor activation and pro-inflammatory cytokine induction (Y. Cheng et al. 2015). Moreover, STING overexpression reduced AI replication in DF-1 cells, and was shown to interact with MDA5, which the researchers proposed represented a functional compensation for the lack of RIG-I in these cells (Y. Cheng et al. 2015). The possible role of RIG-I-independent STING activation *in vivo* in chickens is unknown and warrants further investigation.

In *in vitro* studies, IRF7 knockout chicken embryonic fibroblasts supported higher levels of LPAI replication (T. H. Kim, Kern, and Zhou 2020). Also *in vitro*, chicken cathelicidin-B1 – a member of the cathelicidin family of host defence proteins – was shown to agglutinate several IAV strains, inhibiting their ability to infect cells (L. Peng et al. 2020). Similarly, the innate immune mediator mannose binding

lectin from chickens inhibited IAV haemagglutination *in vitro* (Weidong Zhang et al. 2017). Evaluating the relevance of these pathways and molecules *in vivo* may advance our understanding of anti-viral immunity and therefore open up new avenues of investigation into novel anti-influenza therapeutics/immunomodulators.

Although the vast majority of studies have focused on host immunity to influenza, several have addressed viral immune evasion. PA-X is a fusion product expressed by numerous influenza viruses, and an avian-origin H5N1 PA-X was recently shown to reduce influenza virus-induced nuclear localization and activity of NF-κB p65 in Madin Darby bovine kidney cells *in vitro* (J. Hu et al. 2020). It is possible that this represents a novel mechanism of AIV immune evasion that operates in mammalian cells, but it remains to be tested in avian cells, or *in vivo*.

In the past five years, the importance of the microbiota in shaping immune responses has come to light. Whilst earlier studies focused on mice, several more relevant to AI have been conducted, all confirming the role of the mucosal microbiota. For example, Figueroa et al. treated ducks with broad spectrum antibiotics to deplete both respiratory and intestinal microbiota and compared their responses to HPAI H5N9 with those of untreated ducks: the researchers found that antibiotic treatment had profound effects on gut immunity, leading to impaired RIG-I and type I IFN-induced gene expression, reduced IgA levels and increased virus shedding in faeces (Figueroa et al. 2020). In chicks, antibiotic treatment similarly led to increased cloacal virus shedding with reduced production of type I IFNs and IL-22 in the lung and intestine during infection with H9N2 LPAI, which could be partially prevented by post-antibiotic pre-infection administration of pro-biotics (Alexander Yitbarek, Taha-Abdelaziz, et al. 2018). Despite profound effects on innate mucosal immunity, the same group showed that antibiotic-treated specific-pathogen-free (SPF) chicks exhibited comparable antibody responses to their untreated counterparts following H9N2 infection (A. Yitbarek et al. 2018), suggestive of at least a partial decoupling between the microbiota-dependent and -independent mechanisms required for innate and adaptive responses to AI infection in this setting. Similar studies in mice identified microbially-derived desaminotyrosine as a potential candidate molecule mediating the pro-interferon effects of the gut microbiota (Steed et al. 2017) but its relevance in avian species remains to be tested.

Furthermore, there is some evidence that influenza virus infection itself disrupts the intestinal microbiome: Yitbarek at al. found that SPF chicks infected with LPAI H9N2 exhibited disrupted gut microbiota homeostasis, which the researchers speculated could assist the establishment of the infection (Alexander Yitbarek, Weese, et al. 2018). In agreement with the concept of an influenza-host-microbiome relationship, a large study characterising the faecal microbiota of five species of wild

ducks with and without IAV infection identified marked species-specific differences in the presence of IAV infection (Hird et al. 2018): thus, IAV infection is frequently linked with differences in the intestinal microbiota, but the exact nature of those differences varies by duck species. These studies reinforce the importance of moving away from widespread antibiotic (mis)use in poultry farming and also suggest that interventions aiming to shape a pro-immune/anti-viral microbiota could form a key part of an effective AI control strategy in the future. Further research is needed in the field to understand how specific features of the microbiota are associated with protection from AI and how effective interventions targeting the microbiota might be under real-world conditions.

### Adaptive Immunity to Avian Influenza

The identification of cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) epitopes within AI that are recognized by the chicken immune system has been lacking until recently. Zhang *et al.* identified NP67-74 from H5N1 (A/Goose/Gongdong/1/96) as a potent CTL epitope polypeptide within AI that was bound by MHC class I haplotype BF2\*15 in chickens (Weijun Zhang et al. 2016). Importantly, following DNA vaccination with a plasmid encoding NP, the NP67-74 polypeptide stimulated strong recall CTL and IFNy responses *in vitro* demonstrating its dominance in these chickens *in vivo*. The relevance of this epitope during challenge experiments is currently unclear.

A persistent question is how natural infection with LPAI can induce long-lasting immunity to reinfection with HPAI, while many vaccines fail to achieve the same feat. A recent study found increased expression of cytotoxicity-related genes including TNF $\alpha$ , NK lysin and granzyme A in lung cells from SPF chickens infected with low pathogenicity H9N2, whilst vaccination with inactivated H9N2 did not induce the same changes (Dai et al. 2021). Similarly during LPAI infection, another group uncovered marked differences in cellular response between two chicken breeds that exhibit relatively high- and low- resistance to influenza virus infection: Aston et al. correlated the relatively higher B and T cell frequencies seen in the trachea of the resistant Fayoumi breed after challenge with the low viral titre in swab samples, while the more susceptible Leghorn chickens failed to increase B and T cell frequencies in trachea and exhibited higher viral titres (Aston et al. 2021).

The role of adaptive immunity in determining both homo- and hetero-subtypic immunity to IAV in reinfection settings has also begun to be dissected. Latorre-Margalef *et al.* experimentally infected mallard ducks with LPAI H3N8 and then, five weeks later, groups of these birds were challenged with either the same virus or one of four heterologous IAV subtypes (Latorre-Margalef, Brown, et al.

78

2016a). After primary infection with H3N8, ducks exhibited partial cross-protection that was related to the genetic relatedness between the HA of the primary and secondary viruses (Latorre-Margalef, Brown, et al. 2016b). Taking these findings further, Wille *et al.* immunized laboratory-reared ducks with inactivated H3N8 and H6N2 IAV subtypes and exposed them to naturally-infected wild ducks which gave the opportunity to study multiple infections and co-infections under field conditions (Wille et al. 2017a). They found that H3 vaccination did induce H3-specific serum antibodies, but that ducks were not protected from H3 infection, or indeed from subsequent H3 re-infection: H6 viruses were not detected during the natural challenge experiment and so the protective efficacy of the vaccine could not be assessed (Wille et al. 2017b). Although there was not evidence of heterosubtypic protection in this study, the authors noted that the group's previous wild-duck monitoring study suggested that secondary and tertiary heterosubtypic infections are shorter and less intense (Avril et al. 2016).

### Advances in Understanding of Avian Immunology

Given the importance of the Type-I IFN response in avian influenza, it is noteworthy that a study by Glotis *et al.* defined the global transcriptional response of chick embryonic fibroblasts to avian IFN $\alpha$  *in vitro* (Giotis et al. 2016). The researchers identified 128 genes whose expression was significantly differentially regulated in cells in response to treatment. These data may be a useful resource for future studies into the downstream effects of IFN $\alpha$  signalling in chicken cells, and for comparison with gene expression patterns induced by influenza viruses.

Another significant development is the finding that the cellular immune systems of chicks is functionally immature until approximately three weeks of age. While some studies have not seen any association between age and mortality from HPAI infection in commercial poultry as young as five weeks of age (Bertran et al. 2016), a recent study found that infection with an HPAI mutant that was survived by adult chickens was fatal in young chicks, but that their susceptibility could be prevented by the transfer of adult lymphocytes (Schmiedeke et al. 2020). These findings have potential implications for the vaccination program of young chickens, as they highlight a developmental window in which effective cellular immunity is unlikely to be stimulated and the chicks remain highly susceptible to infection. It is possible, however, that the presence of maternal antibodies could compensate for a chick's inability to mount effective responses during this time, with evidence that maternally-derived vaccine-induced antibodies to H7N3 HPAI can protect chicks from challenge for

the duration of this 3-week window of vulnerability (Cardenas-Garcia et al. 2019). The interaction between cell-mediated, antibody-mediated and innate responses in determining susceptibility versus resistance is yet to be explored.

# New Tools for Immunological Studies of Avian Influenza

Several immunological techniques and tools have been advanced in recent years and could be applied to study the immune response of avian species to AIV in more detail. Two studies report improved methods for multi-parameter flow cytometry of chicken immune cells (Hofmann and Schmucker 2021; Hao et al. 2020), while another study demonstrated the utility of IFNy ELISpot for detection of virus-specific CD8 T cell responses to AIV infection (Ruiz-Hernandez et al. 2015). The authors noted that coupling this technology with the use of recombinant viruses could assist in the definition of antigen specificity and CD8 T cell epitopes, which could aid rational vaccine design in future.

Another important advance for *ex vivo* immunological study is the recent definition of a working protocol for generation and use of precision cut lung slices from adult chicken lungs, which can be maintained in culture for around 40 days (Bryson et al. 2020). This approach has major advantages for virological and immunological studies as it retains the organisation and cellular diversity of the *in vivo* tissue and allows for extended monitoring: Bryson *et al.* also demonstrated the potential utility of lung slices for the study of LPAI (Bryson et al. 2020), and it will be interesting to see what knowledge can be gained from further exploration of this approach.

An important aspect of effective experimental design is validation of the models being used. Recent work by van Dijk *et al.* confirmed that laboratory mallards are an appropriate model for their wild counterparts (van Dijk et al. 2020), giving greater confidence that conclusions generated in laboratory duck populations may well be applicable to free-living birds.

#### Swine Influenza Immunology

#### Host Immunogenetics

Although host genetics are likely to play a key role in immunity to SIV vaccines and infection, few studies have aimed to assess specific links between these factors. Zanella *et al.* conducted a genomewide association study in 103 pigs from a cross-bred population vaccinated with an H1N1 WIV vaccine (Zanella et al. 2015a). The authors identified a total of seven genomic loci that were linked to levels of anti-NP or anti-HA antibody post-vaccination: among these loci were genes involved in down-regulation of the Th17 response and mediating signal transduction in T cells (Zanella et al. 2015b). The genes identified in this study are valid targets for further investigation and may have relevance to breeding strategies for enhanced disease resistance. It remains to be established whether naturally more influenza-resistant swine vary at these loci compared to commercial pig breeds, and whether the same loci are involved in responses to different types of vaccines/adjuvants/immunization routes.

### Innate Immunity to Swine Influenza

The innate immune response in the lung represents one of the first lines of defence following exposure to influenza virus. In the first days post-infection, swine infected with H1N2 exhibit significant increases in expression of genes encoding type I IFNs, as well as RIG-I, MDA5 and TLRs 3 and 7; alongside, the transcription of pro-inflammatory cytokines including IL-1 and IL-6, and of the antiinflammatory cytokine IL-10 (Brogaard et al. 2018). Brogaard *et al.* also uncovered a 400-fold increase in expression levels of pulmonary IFN- $\lambda$  (Brogaard et al. 2018), a type III interferon that is important in mediating the murine defence against IAV (Galani et al. 2017), but is relatively unstudied in swine. These data confirm and extend findings from an earlier study that showed that porcine alveolar macrophages infected with H3N2 SIV *ex vivo* significantly increased expression of TLR-3, RIG-I and MDA5 from 4 hours post-infection; by 8 hours, the researchers also detected significant changes in MyD88, MAVS, IRF-3 and IRF-7 mRNA expression levels, as well as increased TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IFN- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\beta$  mRNA and protein levels (Jinqiu Zhang et al. 2015).

The importance of type I IFNs in response to influenza virus infection is well established. At the cellular level a role has now been identified for interferon-induced protein with tetratricopeptide repeats (IFIT)3, whose expression is increased in immortalised porcine alveolar macrophages during *in vitro* infection (Yongtao Li et al. 2015) The researchers found that IFIT3 overexpression inhibited SIV

replication and enhanced IFN $\beta$  promotor activity by targeting the mitochondrial antiviral signalling protein, MAVS (Yongtao Li et al. 2015). IFN $\beta$  production during IAV infection may also be moderated by the NLRP3 inflammasome – a key molecular platform contributing to pro-inflammatory cytokine production during viral infection (C. Zhao and Zhao 2020). Park *et al.* infected porcine alveolar macrophages with SIV H1N1 and H3N2 *ex vivo* and found that production of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1 $\beta$  in response to viral replication was NLRP3-dependent (H.-S. Park et al. 2018). In a subsequent study, the same group revealed that SIV infection in this system led to phosphorylation of DRP1 and its translocation to the mitochondrial membrane, leading to mitochondrial fission, production of reactive oxygen species and consequent enhancement of IL-1 $\beta$  production by the NLRP3 inflammasome (H. S. Park et al. 2018).

There is significant evidence in humans and mice of the importance of lung and gut microbiota in resistance to influenza virus infection (Yuan et al. 2020). However, the possible immune-modulating effects of commensal bacteria in pigs are only beginning to be investigated (as reviewed in (Patil, Gooneratne, and Ju 2020)), and their interaction with the response to influenza infection is unknown.

According to the importance of the type I interferon response in combatting influenza virus infection, antagonising the production of antiviral products by host cells is an important mechanism of influenza immune evasion. Early work identified SIV NS1 protein as a potent IFN $\alpha/\beta$  antagonist and *in vivo* virulence factor (Solórzano et al. 2005). More recently, studies in a canine cell line showed that the S42 residue within the NS1 protein of swine H1N1 was able to block the action of IRF3 and thereby inhibit the production of IFN $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ : a mutation at this position led to reduced virus growth *in vitro* (J. Cheng et al. 2018). Better understanding of such mechanisms of immune evasion may support the development of effective anti-viral interventions targeting the disrupted pathways to reinstate full anti-viral function.

Under field conditions, swine may be infected by more than one respiratory virus at a time, and an open question had been how this affects the magnitude and type of innate immune response. A recent study showed that there was no significant difference between the lung cytokine profile or the amount of cytokines produced at days 2 or 4 post-infection in piglets intra-nasally inoculated with H1N1 alone, porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus alone, or both viruses together (Turlewicz-Podbielska, Czyżewska-Dors, and Pomorska-Mól 2021). By contrast, when piglets were co-infected with *Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae* and SIV, lung concentrations of IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-8, and IFN- $\alpha$  were significantly higher than in piglets infected with either pathogen alone ((Czyzewska-Dors et al. 2017). Different again, when porcine lung slices were infected *ex vivo* with SIV and porcine respiratory

coronavirus, Krimmling et al. uncovered evidence of viral interference, leading to reduced titres of both pathogens(Krimmling and Schwegmann-Weßels 2017). Therefore, it seems likely that whether and how the porcine lung immune response is modified during co-infection likely depends on the identity of the co-infecting pathogen, and this may well have to be assessed on a "case-by-case" basis.

### Adaptive Immunity to Swine Influenza

To develop subtype cross-protective vaccines against SIV, there is a need to define conserved antigenic epitopes. A recent study immunized groups of inbred pigs with different combinations of UV-inactivated H1N1, a commercial preparation of swine H3N2, H1N1 and H1N2 subtypes, and a live recombinant IAV bearing the H5 HA with the rest of the proteins from human IAV A/PR/8/34, then tested their T-cell restimulation responses to a set of peptides *ex vivo* (Baratelli et al. 2020). The authors identified NP<sub>406-416</sub> as a putative swine leucocyte antigen (SLA) -II cross reactive T-cell epitope that warrants further investigation for incorporation in rationale vaccine designs; however, the power of these findings was limited by the small sample size and further experiments will be required to firmly establish the validity of the epitope. Computer modelling may also be helpful in this regard (for more information see <u>here</u>).

In the case of CTL epitopes, there is encouraging *in vitro* evidence that several SIV H1N1 peptides may bind SLA-3\*hs0202 and the most common human MHC allele, HLA-A\*0201 (Fan et al. 2018). Such studies support the idea that it might be possible to generate multi-species vaccines against some types of IAV in the future. While such targeted epitope binding and prediction approaches are undoubtedly useful, they are limited to assaying recall responses that test for reactivity to those peptide epitopes. Another approach is to ask which epitopes are presented naturally by infected cells, and then to identify them. Lamont *et al.* used primary porcine airway epithelial cells infected with SIV H3N2 *ex vivo* and incubated them for 24 hours before eluting SLA-I-bound peptides for identification by mass spectrometry (Lamont et al. 2018). They identified peptides from across M1 and NP, with exciting evidence of SLA-I presentation of peptides within the region of M1 that is conserved across multiple SIV strains (Lamont et al. 2018), which could be incorporated into CTL-targeted crossprotective vaccine strategies. Similarly, in a study combining epitope prediction and detection of peptide-specific specific T cells from the blood of immunised animals, Baratelli *et al.* detected recognition of T-cell epitopes within M1 and NA proteins that were conserved between avian-like SIV H1N1 and H1N1 of the 2009 pandemic lineage (Baratelli et al. 2017). The larger scale T-cell response to SIV infection of pigs has also begun to be described in more detail. Complementing their earlier studies on circulating T-cell populations in SIV-infected swine (Talker et al. 2015), Talker *et al.* went on to characterise cellular immunity in the lungs of piglets infected with H1N2 SIV. Following inoculation, the researchers revealed the emergence of virus-specific IFNγproducing CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the lung from as early as 4 days post-infection, followed by an influx of proliferating CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells from 6 days post-infection that was accompanied by the onset of high levels of antibody in serum (Talker et al. 2016). Lung samples taken at 6 weeks post-infection contained both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> memory T cells, which exhibited heterologous reactivity against H1N1 and H3N2 SIVs when restimulated *ex vivo* (Talker et al. 2016), again supportive of the development of T-cell-mediated cross-protective vaccines for SIV.

In mice, tissue-resident memory cells T cells in the lung have been found to be important for crossprotection following intra-nasal immunization with the LAIV human influenza vaccine, FluMist (Zens, Chen, and Farber 2016). Initial evidence suggests that a comparable cell population may be elicited in the lungs of pigs following aerosol administration of the single-cycle LAIV S-FLU; here, the presence of tissue-resident memory cells was associated with reduced pathology following hetero-subtypic challenge (Holzer et al. 2018). How these observations fit in the overall picture of immunity to SIV during infection or after vaccination remains to be elucidated.

The effects of maternal antibodies on the immune responses of pigs to SIV are also gradually becoming clearer. A recent study by Pardo *et al.* highlighted the potential for MDA to reduce SIV prevalence and increase the time before first SIV infection in weaning piglets in the field; however, they also noted the high heterogeneity of MDA levels amongst piglet populations from similarly-vaccinated sows (Pardo et al. 2019). Variability of MDA levels in piglets does not appear to relate to differences in antibody titres in sows (Sisteré-Oró et al. 2019a); thus is would be interesting to establish the basis for the heterogeneity among piglets. Such knowledge could be useful in the design of more effective vaccination strategies aiming to induce reliable protection of piglets until the optimal timepoint of first vaccination.

A key point regarding MDA is whether they affect the likelihood of transmission of SIV under different circumstances. Deblanc *et al.* recently showed that SPF piglets bearing MDA to H1N1, H3N2 and H1N2 were resistant to clinical disease following H1N1 challenge, and that this resistance waned as did the levels of MDA (Deblanc et al. 2018), which have been shown to persist for 2-to-3 months after birth (Cador, Hervé, et al. 2016b). From five weeks of age, all piglets were able to mount responses to H1N1

challenge that protected them from subsequent reinfection, regardless of the presence of MDA; yet intriguingly, while levels of viral genomes were comparable in nasal swab supernatants from MDA and non-MDA piglets challenged at this age, the *in vitro* infectivity of the virus in MDA-bearing piglets was significantly lower (Deblanc et al. 2018). Despite this, previous studies have shown that MDA-bearing piglets *are* capable of transmitting infection to MDA- positive and negative piglets, albeit with a significantly lower R number compared to piglets lacking MDA (Cador, Hervé, et al. 2016b), and, in one case, that detection of live virus in air samples from challenged piglets was dependent on the presence of heterologous MDA and did not occur when the MDA matched the challenge strain (Corzo et al. 2014). In contrast, a recent field study documented frequent infection of piglets within the first five weeks of life, despite the presence of MDA (Ryt-Hansen, Larsen, Kristensen, Krog, Wacheck, et al. 2019), although the levels and specificity of the MDA in piglets was not assessed.

### New Tools for Immunological Studies of Swine Influenza

Knowledge of the role of T cells following vaccination or during infection with SIV is limited, in part due to a lack of tools with which to study porcine responses. Work by Tungatt et al. represents an important step forwards: using the Babraham inbred pig they developed a comprehensive toolset for the study of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell response and showed its utility for characterising the response to SIV immunisation and infection (Tungatt et al. 2018). The authors defined the structures of two SLA-I molecules, identified the primary anchor points for immunodominant SIV T cell epitopes within their grooves and characterised several novel peptide sequences from NA that are recognized by SIVspecific CD8 T cells from immunized or infected pigs. They also generated a long-term pig T cell clone for *in vitro* culture and further studies.

Holzer *et al.* recently reported the generation of the first porcine monoclonal antibodies recognizing H1N1 HA, which will enable enhanced monitoring of antigenic drift of IAV as well as representing a useful tool for immunological studies of influenza viruses that can infect both swine and humans (Holzer et al. 2021).

Monitoring the immune response of pigs in real-time is critical for our understanding of their response to infection and vaccination. Yen et al. have reported an improved minimally-invasive technique for cannulation of the thoracic duct, allowing collection of lymph (and therefore immune cells) draining from respiratory tissues without marked tissue damage and the associated inflammation this causes (Yen and Davies 2016).

## Equine Influenza Immunology

Literature searching retrieved no studies investigating the immune response to equine influenza in horses in the past six years.

## Companion Animal Influenza Immunology

CIV varies markedly in pathogenicity in dogs, but the reasons for this have been unclear. A study comparing microRNA expression in lungs from beagles infected with high (H5N1 AI) and low (H3N2 AI) pathogenesis CIV revealed marked differences, suggestive of modulation of metabolic pathways and inhibition of innate immunity in the high-pathogenesis group (Y. Zheng et al. 2018).

Canine STING is expressed abundantly in the spleen and lung during the steady state. *In vitro* overexpression of STING resulted in induced IFN, increased ISG15 and viperin expression, and inhibited H3N2 canine influenza virus replication (Y. Zhang et al. 2017). However, Zhang et al. found that STING was not necessary for the IFN- $\beta$  response to poly(dA:dT), poly(I:C), or Sendai virus. The precise role of STING in anti-viral immunity and specifically influenza virus immunity, remains to be defined.

### **Ongoing research**

In the UK, researchers at the University of Nottingham are exploring the interactions of IAV and IDV proteins with host immune responses (e.g. the role of host protease in IDV HEF protein activation and interactions between the NS1 protein and swine cell-signalling pathways), and an upcoming study here will focus on the importance of the phosphoinositide 3-kinase pathway in modulating IAV replication in chickens and ducks. At the French ANSES, scientists are currently studying training of porcine alveolar macrophages by SIV and its possible impact on innate immune responses towards heterologous viral superinfections. Meanwhile in the USA, researchers at the University of Minnesota are conducting an international collaboration with UK scientists to evaluate how IBDV-related immunosuppression influences AIV transmission and evolution in wild and domestic birds. Resulting data on infectious dose, transmission rates, R<sub>0</sub>, etc. will be used to generate transmission and surveillance models.

At the Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut, scientists are examining the spillover potential of bat IAV-like viruses, specifically relating to their host cell immunological interactions (e.g. cellular factors associated with cell entry/endosomal release and innate immune proteins that act as restriction factors), and at the Norwegian Veterinary Institute, research continues into the impact of avian endothelial cell programs on the activation or blunting of antiviral responses. Conversion from an LPAI to an HPAI phenotype involves acquisition of endothelial tropism, and blunting of this tropism can ameliorate disease – these studies may therefore enhance our understanding of the immunological underpinnings of HPAI virulence and resistance in various bird populations.

Researchers at the Royal Veterinary College at the University of London and OIE/FAO International Reference Laboratory are currently engaged in a collaboration with the American National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases – the Centers of Excellence for Influenza Research and Response program (CEIRR) – that conducts wide-ranging surveillance and epidemiological studies including research into immune responses against vaccination and infection. At Ghent University in Belgium, meanwhile, the DELTA-FLU five-year project encompasses a wide array of interdisciplinary aims relevant to virology, environmental epidemiology, and immunology – specific to the latter, researchers are currently studying the effect of flock immunity against AIV on early detection and genetic drift.

### **Future research priorities**

Based on the above literature review and with reference to previously identified knowledge gaps and expert opinion, the following areas of animal influenza immunology should be considered priorities for future research:

- The application of immunogenetic study findings to generating more resistant commercial poultry species
- Immunogenetic studies in swine
- Information on a possible carrier state in some species or immune-suppressed individuals
- Translation of recent findings on possible innate immune determinants of susceptibility in avian species into generation of more resistant breeds
- Definition of the role of specific cytokines in reducing viral shedding and increasing resistance to infection
- How dietary/other interventions might be targeted towards eliciting changes in the microbiota that support immunity to influenza and/or improve responses to vaccines

- The cellular immune response of chickens to HPAI and its significance during infection
- Widespread validation of the findings of laboratory studies under field/near-field conditions
- Characterisation of the post-infectious adaptive immune response that determines protection from reinfection with homologous or heterologous strains
- Understanding the role of factors such as pregnancy and obesity on the susceptibility of breeding sows to SIV infection

# **Controlling the Disease**

### **Surveillance**

Current methods for veterinary influenza surveillance include population monitoring (e.g. swabs from animals in poultry and swine farms), bioaerosol testing, environmental sampling (e.g. water samples from migratory bird resting sites), and targeted active surveillance (Schar et al. 2019; Munyua et al. 2019). Data from these efforts allow public health officials and researchers to monitor animal production networks for signs of disease, quickly respond to changing transmission patterns during ongoing outbreaks, and keep tabs on emerging flu strains that may be circulating within wild bird populations. Surveillance is an expensive endeavour that requires integration into existing government health networks and cooperation from landowners, poultry farmers, live bird market workers, and others within the animal production pipeline. Flint *et al.*, for instance, argue that active surveillance should be targeted to areas where biosecurity measures can be most efficiently implemented to reduce economic loss (e.g. regions of high domestic poultry as opposed to watersheds/wild duck populations) (Flint et al. 2015). Surveillance systems must also be tied closely to research advancements in virology and epidemiology – the identification or genome sequencing of new reassortant strains, for instance - to ensure that limited resources are focused on the geographical regions, animal species, and influenza strains most relevant to current epidemiological patterns (Alkhamis, Li, and Torremorell 2020).

# Previously identified knowledge gaps

Previous reports (United States Department of Agriculture 2014; OFFLU 2014; European Food Safety Authority 2015) identified the following priority research knowledge gaps in animal influenza surveillance in 2014/15:

- systematic approaches for analysing and reporting viral genome sequences
- effective systems for monitoring influenza at the human/animal interface
- inclusion of epidemiological, environmental, and socioeconomic data into comprehensive viral prediction systems
- development of efficient sampling methods for rapid detection of emerging strains
- assessment of high-risk areas to target limited surveillance resources for maximum impact
- integration of diagnostic and surveillance data systems

#### Literature review

As computational modelling capabilities continue to gain power, much recent attention has focused on applying these resources to new, efficient methods of influenza surveillance. Pereira et al. demonstrated a "fireworks" model, where the trajectory of outbreaks is viewed as a series of shortrange local transmissions and long-range propagation events, for describing the spread of HPAI H5N1 AIV in wild birds in Europe. La Sala et al., meanwhile, took a more combinatorial approach, integrating expert opinion, multicriteria decision analysis, and ecological niche modelling to calculate a spatially explicit risk index for identifying high-risk sites for LPAI transmission from wild birds. Unsurprisingly, they found this risk to be significantly higher near commercial poultry farms (La Sala et al. 2019). Expert opinion has proven a useful addition to integrated surveillance approaches - Paul and colleagues, for instance, studied HPAI H5N1 risk in Thailand and found that predictive power was substantially higher for risk maps drawn using local experts' opinions than those produced from literature review (Paul et al. 2016). Other studies have focused on novel applications of existing datasets, with Belkhiria et al. testing the use of previous LPAI suitability maps for prediction of areas at high risk for HPAI outbreaks. Working within the context of the North American HPAI H5Nx outbreaks of 2014-2015, the authors applied species distribution modelling to map HPAI suitability over each of the four North American migratory flyways, finding that 89% of HPAI outbreaks occurred in regions already known to be highly suitable for LPAI (Belkhiria, Alkhamis, and Martínez-López 2016).

Increasing computational capabilities are also reflected in the growing importance of internet-based databases as a source of integration between surveillance and other areas of influenza research. Recent developments have focused on the collaborative potential of such databases. Peyre *et al.*, for example, describe the EVA surveillance evaluation tool, a support network for integrating technical, process, and socioeconomic factors when evaluating existing surveillance systems. The EVA tool includes generalized evaluation work plans, a web interface for generating custom evaluation plan designs, and a Wiki-style classroom for providing theory education (Peyre et al. 2019). Other webbased resources focus on information mining and automated classification; these include the PADI-web, a French web platform that collects, processes, and extracts relevant information on disease outbreaks from Google News (Arsevska et al. 2018). Such informal, event-based surveillance reduces the required manpower and allows automated discovery of epizootic disease emergence, dynamics of enzootic diseases, and the emergence of non-notifiable diseases (Arsevska et al. 2018).

These computational networks rely ultimately on the efficient collection of frontline data, and novel methods for collecting such data remain one of the most important areas of influenza surveillance

research. Anderson and colleagues tested bioaerosol sampling as a method for SIV surveillance in five Guangdong province swine farms during the 2014 summer and fall/winter seasons, finding it to be a statistically significant predictor of SIV-positive pig oral secretions and environmental swab samples. Relatedly, Reeves and colleagues described a proof-of-concept for testing environmental persistence of AIV shed from waterfowl under ambient conditions. They inoculated filtered pond water with avian faecal samples, then placed these samples in sealed vials and submerged within Alaska wetland terrain for up to 132 days. Samples were subsequently tested via rRT-PCR and virus isolation, with virus isolation possible for up to 118 days (Reeves et al. 2020). Depending on their scope of detection, surveillance systems may also be combined with active deterrence to create an automated network designed to limit AIV transmission at high-risk sites. Atzeni et al. describe one such endeavour, reporting a machine vision-based surveillance system that detects and deters target wildlife (specifically ducks, the natural reservoir of HPAI) from poultry farms in Australia. They tested proofof-concept for a solar-powered, Wi-Fi-connected system using a surveillance camera and custom image-processing/classifying software to automatically detect and recognize birds of target species, tying this system to digital deterrence methods (e.g. noise- or light-based) to produce a closed-loop automated detect-alert-deter system (Atzeni et al. 2020). Such rapid detection biosensors can also be combined with data on migratory flyway patterns to efficiently produce predictive risk maps (Astill, Fraser, et al. 2018), generating more data for wide-scale surveillance efforts.

Frontline reporting of identifiable diseases to public health authorities remains one of the most important avenues of influenza surveillance, bringing with it many challenges relating to socioeconomic factors. Kurscheid *et al.*, for instance, surveyed LPM poultry traders in Bali and Lombok, Indonesia, finding that two thirds of respondents were not willing to report sudden or suspicious bird deaths to the government (Johanna Kurscheid et al. 2015). Such willingness did not positively correlate with better education, suggesting a need for increased incentives for disease reporting. Such incentive networks may be more difficult to deploy in resource-limited countries where local trade and development imperatives are likely to outweigh disease control and public health concerns (Mwacalimba and Green 2015). Minimally-invasive surveillance methods may also play an important role in generating surveillance data without interfering in day-to-day economic necessities – Choi *et al.*, for instance, trialed the use of telemetry (via small GPS transmitters) to record domestic duck movement and poultry transport from source farms and through market chains in China, providing direct information on poultry market network connectivity (C. Y. Choi et al. 2016).

#### **Ongoing research**

In France, ANSES, which hosts the National Reference Laboratory for Swine Influenza, established RESAVIP, a public-private national surveillance network for influenza virus in pigs. The passive surveillance carried out within this network makes it possible to define the genetic diversity and geographical distribution of swIAVs across France. ANSES also contributes to specific surveillance programmes in certain farms/regions, as well as conducting occasional surveys of wild boars. Researchers there are currently working on surveillance of influenza virus types B, C and D, which are less common and much less pathogenic in pigs than IAV.

Scientists at the Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut, in collaboration with the University of Freiburg's Institute of Virology, are conducting surveillance on workers and animals in large commercial swine holdings, conducting surveillance for potential zoonoses and associated determinants. Similar studies are underway at the University of Minnesota, where researchers are actively surveying swine farms during peak influenza season to evaluate worker influenza positivity rates, use of sick leave, and risk factors for zoonotic transmission. At Erasmus MC Viroscience, researchers conduct surveillance of wild birds to elucidate LPAI ecology and routes of HPAI incursion via migratory patterns. Scientists at the National Institute of Agriculture Technology, meanwhile, are involved in similar surveillance of AIV in wild birds in the southern cone of South America and also conduct surveillance in swine populations. The Nigerian National Veterinary Research Institute is involved in multiple surveillance programs as well, conducting targeted AIV surveillance in high-risk areas (e.g. wetlands and LPMs) and multispecies monitoring in swine, equines, and canines.

Scientists at the University of Minnesota are also involved in surveillance methods comparison, identifying udder wipes from lactating sows as a novel, convenient, inexpensive test that maintains high sensitivity for monitoring SIV in litters prior to weaning. In the U of M College of Veterinary Science, meanwhile, scientists are conducting surveillance of wild gull populations, which remain understudied despite their frequent interactions with domestic poultry farms. Researchers in the UK at the Animal and Plant Health Agency are heavily involved in international influenza monitoring and surveillance, rapidly characterising viral evolution and strain emergence and linking together international efforts to WHO collaborating centres.

In the Russian Federation, meanwhile, work continues at the Federal Research Center for Virology and Microbiology to survey and genotype Russian AIV isolates e.g. by conducting primary screening of samples from wild birds, isolating viruses from chicken embryos and sequencing, and making information available in the FRCVM collection of microorganisms. The National Institute of Animal Health, SIV surveillance is conducted on Japanese swine populations, while the National Agricultural Technology Institute carries out similar monitoring on equine influenza in Argentina. Ghent University in Belgium participates in OIE/FAO's OFFLU network, performing SIV surveillance and providing data to strengthen and coordinate worldwide surveillance efforts and methods.

# **Future research priorities**

Based on the above literature review and with reference to previously identified knowledge gaps and expert opinion, the following areas of animal influenza surveillance should be considered priorities for future research:

- Standardization of international surveillance programs for avian and swine influenza
- Improvement of surveillance systems in wild birds
- Early detection of zoonotic (or potentially zoonotic) influenza strains for pandemic prevention
- Early detection systems for influenza A virus in turkeys and pigs
- Monitoring of point-of-entry into high-risk areas (introduction of HPAI from Asia/Europe to Nigeria) via migratory waterfowl
- New methods for anticipating/detecting potentially dangerous viral subtypes prior to major outbreak events
- Early-warning risk-based surveillance systems designed for emerging events in both wild and domestic hosts
- Surveillance for swine influenza in pig populations worldwide, including antigenic and genetic characterization of contemporary circulating strains
- Applied research on novel/highly relevant viruses with heightened outbreak risk

#### **Diagnostics**

Accurate and timely diagnosis of viral influenza infection in animal species is vital for a number of reasons. Infection has direct health implications for affected individuals, so limiting viral spread promotes animal welfare. Outbreaks of influenza can also have drastic consequences for both infected and uninfected animals and economic impacts on farmers, as the need to prevent the spread of IAVs, and especially those with zoonotic potential, can necessitate the culling of very large numbers of animals on affected farms.

The particular evolutionary dynamics of IAV present specific challenges to diagnosis. Many subtypes and strains of IAV currently exist, and they differ considerably in host range and pathogenicity. In addition, the viral genome is prone to reassortment and mutation, leading to the emergence of new variants. The HI assay is well characterised, as the traditional standard method for IAV serotyping, but it is not suited to pen-side use, high throughput or simultaneous testing for multiple viral subtypes and/or other pathogens. HI generally requires propagation of virus in cells or eggs prior to testing, which takes time and can lead to viral mutation, affecting the accuracy of the HI results. Although the introduction of the ELISA and PCR methodologies to IAV diagnostics has demonstrated great potential to facilitate viral identification, further refinements are necessary to optimise the use of these techniques.

### **Current recommendations**

The Manual of Diagnostic Tests and Vaccines for Terrestrial Animals 2019 contains information on the current OIE recommendations for diagnosis of avian, equine and swine influenza infections. The *Terrestrial Manual* also contains information on management of diagnostic laboratories, collection, storage and transport of specimens, and validation of diagnostic tests.

For the purposes of notification and control, the OIE defines avian influenza as infection of poultry caused by any high-pathogenicity IAV, or by low-pathogenicity H5 or H7 IAV. The *Terrestrial Manual* lists virus isolation, antigen detection and RT-PCR as methods for AIV identification, and agar-gel immunodiffusion (AGID), HI and ELISA as methods for detection of immune responses. Although virus isolation is described as the 'gold standard' for AIV identification, it is acknowledged to be labour-intensive and relatively slow, and therefore recommended for use primarily for diagnosis of index

cases and for isolation of virus for further analysis. Virus isolation typically proceeds by inoculation of SPF embryonated chicken eggs, incubation for 2–7 days, chilling and recovery of allantoic fluid, which is tested for the presence of AIV by methods such as haemagglutination, AGID, ELISA, HI, NA inhibition (NI) and rRT-PCR. AGID is used for detection of NP and M antigens in concentrated allantoic fluid or extracts of chorioallantoic membranes. Adding these samples and appropriate positive antisera to wells in agar plates enables diffusion of antigens and antibodies into the agar, where interaction is demonstrated by formation of a visible line of precipitate. Antigen-capture ELISAs are alternatives to AGID. Haemagglutination does not distinguish between the presence of AIV or an avian paramyxovirus, but the presence of NDV can be evaluated by HI testing. RT-PCR and rRT-PCR using primers specific for conserved sequences of NP or M genes are suitable methods for identification of the presence of AIV, and H5/H7 subtypes can also be identified through the use of appropriate subtype-specific primers. Subtyping can also be achieved by antigenic characterization in HI and NI tests, using monospecific antisera to subtype-specific HA and NA proteins, or polyclonal antisera to specific intact AIVs. Pathogenicity of isolated AIV can be determined directly, by IVPI assay or similar intravenous inoculation method in susceptible chickens. In addition, for H5 or H7 LPAIVs, the sequence of the HA proteolytic cleavage site should be determined, as similarity with known HPAIV sequences is sufficient to result in classification as HPAIV. In addition to the sequencing of individual genes for subtyping and pathotyping, complete genomic sequencing is important for monitoring of viral reassortment and evolution.

For H3N8 EIV, the *Terrestrial Manual* lists the methods of agent identification as virus isolation, rRT-PCR, RAD and antigen-capture ELISA, with detection of immune responses by HI, single radial haemolysis (SRH) and ELISA. Virus isolation is generally carried out by inoculation of embryonated hens' eggs, with identification of EIV in amniotic and allantoic fluids by haemagglutination assays. RT-PCR and ELISA can be used for diagnosis, or to select samples for virus isolation and further characterization. For EIV subtyping, HI can be carried out with antisera specific to H3N8 and H7N7 (which is not currently circulating). *HA* and *NA* gene sequences can also be determined by RT-PCR and sequencing. Serological tests for infection include HI (using virus/viral antigens for haemagglutination), SRH and ELISA. In SRH, test sera are added to wells in agarose containing viral antigens coupled to fixed red blood cells, along with guinea-pig complement. Diffusion of antibodies to EIV into the agarose results in cell lysis and a clear haemolytic zone.

For IAV in swine, the *Terrestrial Manual* lists the main methods of agent identification as virus isolation, HI and PCR (rRT-PCR and conventional PCR), with detection of immune responses by HI and

ELISA. Notably, swine IAV is a potential human pathogen, requiring appropriate biological safety measures. Virus isolation is by egg inoculation or cell culture, with haemagglutination to determine its presence. HI is used for antigenic typing of viral isolates, which can also be achieved by fluorescence-labelled-antibody staining of infected cells or tissue samples, immunohistochemistry, antigen-capture ELISA and PCR. Options for viral identification by RT-PCR include amplification of sequences corresponding to the *M* and *NP* genes, and a number of assays are also available for viral subtyping. Serological subtyping is carried out on paired serial serum samples by HI assay, or by ELISA.

# Previously identified knowledge gaps

Previous reports (United States Department of Agriculture 2014; OFFLU 2014; European Food Safety Authority 2015) identified the following priority research knowledge gaps and priorities in animal influenza diagnostics in 2014/15:

- Early detection of virus with zoonotic and/or pandemic potential
- Development of tests for use in the field
- Development of DIVA tests
- Improvement of viral sampling and isolation
- Development of internal controls
- Development of rapid, cost-effective full-genome sequencing
- Improvement of systems for viral replication
- Subtype-specific testing capability, including antibody tests for sera
- Validation of existing diagnostics against novel isolates
- Development of rapid molecular tests that are robust to genetic mutations
- Development of transport media that stabilise the virus without refrigeration

### Literature review

Developments in testing for viral RNA, protein and antibody responses can relate to the general identification of IAV, to specific viral subtypes such as H1N1 and H9N2, or to individual genes or

antigens. Multiplex tests for simultaneous identification of multiple strains of IAV or for IAV and other pathogens are increasingly being developed. Developed assays match the host specificities of particular IAV subtypes and are designed for either lab-based or field-based application. Additional developments relate to the updating of PCR primers, assessment of storage media, and characterization of novel techniques for identification of infection.

There have been many more published developments in IAV diagnostics since 2015 than it is possible to describe here, and this literature review is therefore focussed less on improvements to existing methods, such as *M*-gene RT-PCR, ELISA and genome sequencing, and more on new applications of existing techniques, and the introduction of new techniques to IAV diagnostics. Notably, although these advances have been described in the following sections in relation to subtype specificity, it may also be helpful to compare them by methodology, as shown in Table 2.

Methodology	Lab/	Target	Host	Subtype(s)	Reference
	field		specificity		
rRT-PCR	Lab	HA gene	Avian	Н3	(Teng et al. 2015)
rRT-PCR	Lab	HA gene	Avian	H7 LPAIV/HPAIV	(Graaf, Beer, and
					Harder 2017)
rRT-PCR	Lab	HA gene	Avian	H9N2	(Saito et al. 2019)
Multiplex RT-PCR	Lab	HA gene	Avian	H1, H2, H3, H5, H6, H7, H9, H10	(M. Li et al. 2018)
Multiplex RT-PCR	Lab	HA, M, F, N	Avian	IAV (all, H5, H7, H9), NDV, IBV	(Q. Xiao et al. 2019)
Multiplex rRT-PCR	Lab	HA, M genes	Avian	IAV (all), H5 HPAIV/LPAIV	(Naguib et al. 2017)
Multiplex rRT-PCR	Lab	HA gene	Avian	H5 HPAIV	(Le et al. 2020)
Multiplex rRT-PCR	Lab	NA gene	Avian	N1-N9	(Z. Sun et al. 2017)
Multiplex rRT-PCR	Lab	HA, NA, M genes	Avian, swine	IAV (all), H1–H13, H16, N1–N9	(Hoffmann et al. 2016)
rRT-PCR	Lab	HA, NA, M genes	Swine	IAV (all), H1N1, H1N2, H3N2	(Bonin et al. 2018)
Multiplex rRT-PCR	Lab	HA, NA, M, PB1,	Swine	IAV (all), H1N1, H1N2, H3N2	(Goecke et al. 2018)
		PB2, PA, NP, NS			
Multiplex RT-PCR	Lab	HA gene	Canine	H1N1, H3N2, H3N8	(C. Wang et al. 2017)
Multiplex rRT-PCR	Lab	HA gene	Equine	H3N8 (clade-specific)	(Brister et al. 2019)
Insulated isothermal RT-PCR	Field	HA, NA genes	Avian	H7	(Inui et al. 2019)
RT-LAMP/microarray	Lab	HA gene	Avian	H5N2, H6N1, H5 HPAIV	(L. C. Wang, Huang, and
					Chen 2016)
RT-LAMP	Field	HA gene	Avian	H10	(Luo et al. 2015)
RT-LAMP	Field	<i>M</i> gene	Avian	IAV (all)	(SHI et al. 2019)
RPA, lateral flow	Field	HA, NA genes	Avian	H7N9	(S. Ma et al. 2018)
RPA, lateral flow	Field	HA gene	Avian	H9N2	(Zeng Wang et al. 2019)
Multiplex RT-RPA	Lab	NP, HA genes	Avian	IAV (all), H5, H6, H7	(Tsai et al. 2020)
Sandwich ELISA	Lab	Virus	Avian	H3	(Luo et al. 2020)
Sandwich ELISA	Lab	Virus	Avian	H7	(Lingling Chen et al.
					2019)

Sandwich ELISA	Lab	Virus	Avian	H9N2	(Ming et al. 2019)
ICS	Field	HA protein	Avian	H7N9	(Yeo et al. 2017)
ICS	Field	Virus	Avian	H7N9	(M. Xiao et al. 2019)
ICS	Field	Virus	Avian	H9N2	(Yeo et al. 2016)
Electrochemical	Field	HA protein	Avian	H1N1, H5N1	(Veerapandian, Hunter,
immunosensor					and Neethirajan 2016)
Antibody-conjugated vesicles	Field	HA protein	Avian	H5 AIV	(L. Jiang et al. 2015)
Surface plasmon resonance	Field	Virus	Avian	H6N1	(X. Zhao et al. 2016)
immunosensor					
Proximity ligation assay	Lab	Virus	Swine	H3N2	(Martin et al. 2017)
Magnetoresistance	Field	NP protein	Swine	IAV	(D. Su et al. 2019)
Rapid antigen detection	Field	Virus	Equine	H3N8	(Yamanaka et al. 2017)
Field-effect-transistor	Field	Virus	Avian/human	$\alpha$ -2,3-/ $\alpha$ -2,6-linked sialic-acid-	(Hideshima et al. 2019)
biosensor				binding IAV	
ICS	Field	Virus	Avian/human	$\alpha$ -2,3-/ $\alpha$ -2,6-linked sialic-acid-	(Watanabe et al. 2015)
				binding IAV	
ICS	Field	Serum Abs	Avian	H5 and H6 AIV	(Y. L. Cheng, Wang, and
					Wang 2015)
Multiplex Luminex xMAP	Lab	Serum Abs	Avian	16 HA, 9 NA subtypes	(Germeraad et al.
					2019)
Blocking ELISA	Lab	Serum Abs	Avian	H5	(Sączyńska et al. 2021)
Competitive ELISA	Lab	Serum Abs	Avian	H7	(Dong et al. 2019)
ELISA	Lab	Serum Abs	Mammalian	IAV	(Okumura et al. 2019)
Mass spectrometry		Breath	Swine	IAV	(Traxler et al. 2018)
Sound recognition	Field	Sound	Avian	H9N2	(Cuan et al. 2020)

Table 2: Selected developments in IAV-related animal diagnostics since 2015.

# H1-subtype diagnostics

The host range of H1 subtypes of IAV includes poultry and wild birds, pigs, cats and dogs, marine mammals and humans. Strains of the H1N1 subtype are endemic in humans, pigs, dogs and birds, and have been responsible for major human pandemics. Among the notable recent developments in testing relating to H1N1 have been two approaches to PCR-based viral identification, which is quicker and more amenable to high-throughput analysis than HI. A multiplex RT-PCR assay has been developed for the simultaneous detection and differentiation of the *HA* genes corresponding to four canine influenza viruses (H1N1/2009, avian-origin canine H3N2, seasonal human-origin H3N2 and equine-origin H3N8) (C. Wang et al. 2017). In this assay, primers specific to the four genes were combined in each reaction, and products were visualised by agarose-gel electrophoresis. The assay was specific for the four canine influenza viruses, including multiple strains of each subtype, with no amplification of the non-canine subtypes H9N2 and H5N1, or of non-influenza viruses. The limits of

detection were  $1 \times 10^1$  50% tissue-culture infective dose (TCID<sub>50</sub>) for H1N1/2009 and  $1 \times 10^0$  TCID<sub>50</sub> for avian-origin canine H3N2, seasonal human-origin H3N2 and H3N8. In 420 clinical specimens, the PCR results agreed completely with those of virus isolation and HI.

An rRT-PCR-based approach has been developed for the detection and subtyping of European enzootic IAV in swine (Bonin et al. 2018). The assay sought to discriminate between avian-origin H1N1, the human-origin 2009 pandemic H1N1, human-like reassortant H1N2, human-like reassortant H3N2 and an antigenic-drift variant of H1<sub>hu</sub>N2. Individual reactions for amplification of the eight *HA* and *NA* genes (avian-origin H1, human-like H1, antigenic drift H1, pandemic H1, H3, N1, pandemic N1 and N2) were refined and validated, along with control reactions for detection of the conserved IAV *M* gene and *Sus scrofa ACTB*. To establish high-throughput diagnostic profiling, the 10 rRT-PCRs were run for each of 118 samples (83 SIV isolates, five SIV mixtures and 30 swine nasal-swab supernatants) in very-low-volume (2  $\mu$ I) reactions in a PCR machine capable of running 1,536 reactions on a single plate. The *M*-gene rRT-PCR threshold-cycle value was used as an indicator of the level of viral template in each sample, and for clinical samples with a threshold-cycle value <30, the high-throughput analysis enabled full subtyping of >90% of SIV genomes, indicating its potential value for SIV surveillance and epidemiological studies.

Although lab-based diagnostics enable high-precision, high-throughput analyses, they inevitably result in a delay between sampling and diagnosis, and can be associated with high costs when applied to large-scale surveillance. Low-cost, easy-to-use, rapid-turnaround, field-based diagnostics can lead to early identification of infections, enabling actions to be taken to contain potential outbreaks. A pointof-use device for poultry diagnostics has been developed for the electrochemical detection of H1 and H5 HA proteins corresponding to H1N1 and H5N1 AIVs (Veerapandian, Hunter, and Neethirajan 2016). This immunosensor contains two electrodes, each composed of methylene-blue electro-adsorbed graphene-oxide nanostructures, modified with anti-HA monoclonal antibodies, and functionally enhanced by the inclusion of layers of chitosan and protein-A molecules. Immune-complex formation of the sensors with either H1N1 or N5N1 AIVs resulted in differential pulse-voltammetric signals, enabling quantitative discrimination between the viruses over a wide range of concentrations (25– 500 pM). This immunosensor had the benefits of simple fabrication and instrumentation, and had an analytical-response time of <1 min.

#### H3-subtype diagnostics

For the detection of H3-subtype AIV, an anti-H3 mAb has been produced and used for the development of a sandwich ELISA (Luo et al. 2020). In this assay, plates were coated with anti-H3 polyclonal antibody, serum samples were added, and retained H3 AIV was detected by addition of the mAb, followed by an HRP-conjugated secondary antibody. In 180 swab-derived samples, results with the ELISA were coincident with those of viral isolation, HI testing and RT-PCR followed by *HA* and *NA* amplicon sequencing.

The H3-subtype IAVs include H3N2 strains that have avian, swine and canine (and human) hosts, and H3N8 equine and canine strains. In swine (particularly in North America), circulating H3N2 IAV HA genes belong to cluster IV, and the subclusters A to F (Grgić, Gallant, and Poljak 2017). Methods for characterization of circulating strains are needed to enable effective and timely vaccination of pigs. A method that has been applied to the detection and differentiation of H3N2 swine IAVs is the polyclonal serum-based proximity ligation assay (polyPLA) (Martin et al. 2017). In this assay, a polyclonal serum (here generated by infection with H3N2 IAV) is split in two, and each half is conjugated with a different oligonucleotide. When the two conjugated polyclonal antibodies are incubated with a suitable antigen (H3N2 IAV), antibody binding brings the oligonucleotides into proximity, enabling their ligation to create a PCR template, which is then used for quantitative determination of the initial quantity of antigen. Application of polyPLA to detection of H3N2 IAV in 81 clinical samples collected from swine at agricultural fairs indicated that specificity of 100% and sensitivity of 77% could be obtained with a  $\Delta C_{T}$  cut-off of 7.0. The polyPLA was able to accurately discriminate between H3 $\alpha$  and H3 $\beta$  SIVs, with 100% specificity and 85% sensitivity. PolyPLA with polyclonal serum generated from H1N1 SIV was able to identify and discriminate between H1N1 isolates belonging to various antigenic clades. An optimal workflow incorporating polyPLA was suggested to proceed via initial testing for IAV infection, followed by rRT-PCR to determine IAV subtype and then subtype-specific polyPLA for antigenic characterization.

As mentioned in relation to H1 IAV diagnostics, PCR-based assays for the detection of canine H3N2 and H3N8 (C. Wang et al. 2017) and swine H3N2 IAVs (Bonin et al. 2018) have been described. An rRT-PCR assay for the specific identification of H3 AIV subtypes has also been developed (Teng et al. 2015). This assay uses a TaqMan minor-groove-binding probe to generate fluorescence in response to amplification of a conserved region of the *HA* gene of H3 AIV, giving a limit of detection one thousandth of that of conventional RT-PCR, enabling a much greater detection rate for H3 AIV in samples obtained from oropharyngeal or cloacal swabs from ducks.

Equine influenza results from infection with A(H3N8) viruses that belong to either clade 1 or clade 2 of the Florida sub-lineage. Identification of clade affiliation of isolated EIV is important for epidemiology and for appropriate use of vaccine strains, and it can be achieved by allelic discrimination through a form of multiplex rRT-PCR in which a single amplicon is combined with multiple allele-specific probes. For EIV clade discrimination, Brister et al. assessed the performance of two such assays (Brister et al. 2019). In each assay, a region of the A(H3N8)-virus *HA1* gene containing a clade-specific SNP was amplified by rRT-PCR in the presence of a FAM-labelled clade 1 probe and a VIC-labelled clade 2 probe. Fluorescence signals from the two rRT-PCR assays enabled classification of 341 EIV-positive nasal secretions sampled in the USA from 2012 to 2017 as clade 1 (98.8%) and clade 2 (1.2%), with the clade 2 identifications occurring in horses imported from Europe or vaccinated with a clade 2 modified-live virus.

Rapid antigen detection (RAD) tests are available for diagnosis of equine influenza, but tests with greater sensitivity are required to ensure that the results of field testing can be relied upon to inform the implementation of disease-control measures. In this regard, a RAD test that has been licensed for diagnosis of human seasonal influenza in Japan has been compared against molecular tests and existing equine RAD tests for its performance in the detection of EIV (Yamanaka et al. 2017). The Quick Chaser Auto Flu A, B system uses silver-amplification immunochromatography and densitometric signal measurement to obtain a result for the presence of EIV in a single sample in ≤15 min. In seven horses that were experimentally infected with Florida clade 1 or clade 2 H3N8-subtype EIVs and tested longitudinally for the presence of virus in nasopharyngeal swabs, the average detection period for Quick Chaser Auto Flu A, B was significantly longer than for virus isolation or for conventional RAD tests, and comparable with RT-PCR, rRT-PCR and reverse transcription loop-mediated isothermal amplification (RT-LAMP) tests. On a collection of 550 nasal swabs from pyretic horses testing negative for EIV by RT-PCR, all also tested negative by Quick Chaser Auto Flu A, B.

#### H5-subtype diagnostics

The H5 subtype of IAVs consists of many antigenic variants, including those that are highly pathogenic in poultry and are responsible for substantial economic loss and depopulation. Although numerous methods are available for subtyping of AIVs, the devastating impact of H5-subtype AIV infections means that there is an ongoing requirement for further assays with the potential to rapidly detect multiple strains of HPAIVs. In addition to the recent development of rRT-PCR assays for specific identification of H5N6 and H5N8 HPAIVs, a multiplex rRT-PCR assay has been shown to have wider specificity for H5 HPAIVs (Le et al. 2020). This multiplex assay contained fluorescence-labelled probes for simultaneous detection of three viral HA sequences: one that was conserved across H5 HPAIVs, one that was specific to clade 2.3.4.4 H5 HPAIVs and one that was conserved in clade 2.3.2.1 H5 HPAIVs. Consequently, the assay was able to detect the H5N1-subtype HPAIVs A/environment/Korea/W150/2006 (clade 2.2) and A/duck/Vietnam/NCVD-1648/2012 (clade 2.3.2.1), the H5N6-subtype HPAIV A/Environment/Korea/W541/2016 (clade 2.3.4.4) and the H5N8-subtype HPAIV A/Common Teal/Korea/W555/2017 (clade 2.3.4.4), with no non-specific detection of H1, H3, H7, H9 or H10 IAVs or non-influenza viruses. Notably, the assay did not detect LPAIVs of the H5N2 subtype (A/aquatic bird/Korea/CN2/2009) or the H5N3 subtype (A/aquatic bird/ South Korea/sw007/2015). Another pathotyping/phylotyping rRT-PCR-based method used six separate PCR assays: one *M*-specific reaction for general viral identification, and five reactions to detect potentially zoonotic AIV subtype H5 viruses, enabling distinction between HPAIV and LPAIV, and between clades 2.2.1.2, 2.3.2.1 and 2.3.4.4 (Naguib et al. 2017).

The emergence of new AIV subtypes and reassortment between circulating variants add to the complexity of AIV surveillance in poultry. To facilitate the detection and differentiation of the prevailing AIVs in Taiwan, RT-LAMP coupled with an oligonucleotide microarray has been used for simultaneous subtyping and pathotyping of H5N2, H6N1 and H5 HPAIV variants (with *HA* genes related to an H5N8 isolate) (L. C. Wang, Huang, and Chen 2016). The method required two RT-LAMP reactions to be carried out (using biotinylated primers), one to amplify highly conserved sequences of the *HA* genes corresponding to both H6N1 and H5N2 AIVs, and one to specifically amplify a sequence corresponding to the H5 HPAIV variants. The products of each RT-LAMP reaction were then hybridised to an oligonucleotide-probe microarray and hybridization was visualised via a streptavidin-conjugated alkaline phosphatase colorimetric reaction, the results of which could be read by the naked eye. Different patterns of signals in the seven IAV-specific dots of the microarray corresponded to the presence of H5N2, H6N1 and H5 HPAI viruses, with detection limits of one, one and ten RNA copies,

respectively. This rapid and sensitive assay did not require expensive instrumentation for amplification or for visualization and had great potential for modification to enable detection of emerging AIVs.

Advances have been made in the development of assays for H5 AIVs that may be suitable for use in the field. As described above in relation to H1, one point-of-use device for poultry diagnostics incorporated immune-electrodes responsive to the presence of HA proteins to identify and differentiate between H1N1 and H5N1 AIVs (Veerapandian, Hunter, and Neethirajan 2016). An assay for the specific detection of H5 AIVs has been developed by conjugating monoclonal antibodies against HA of H5 AIV to polydiacetylene vesicles (L. Jiang et al. 2015). Binding of H5 AIV (but not H3 AIV or non-influenza viruses) to the conjugated antibodies resulted in a dramatic blue-to-red colour change within 20 min that could be assessed by eye or by spectrometry, with a limit of detection of 1.35 copies/µl. With a sample set of 93 tracheal swabs collected from wild birds in the field, both virus isolation and rRT-PCR methods identified 14 samples as positive for the presence of H5 AIV, whereas the polydiacetylene biosensor identified 16 positive samples, including two false positives. The ease of use, specificity, sensitivity and detection limit suggest that this biosensor has great potential for rapid, field-based monitoring of H5N1 AIV, facilitating prompt action to control the spread of the virus.

For detection of H5 seroconversion in poultry, a blocking ELISA was developed, in which plates were coated with H5 HA protein, and an anti-H5 mAb was used to block the binding of serum antibodies to the HA antigen (Sączyńska et al. 2021). The assay was validated against 358 serum samples including reference antisera obtained by immunizing SPF chickens with H5N1, H5N2, H5N3 or H5N9 LPAIVs or non-H5 AIVs, experimental antisera from vaccination with recombinant H5 HA protein, and sera from unvaccinated chickens, giving 97.6–100% specificity and 98.0–99.1% sensitivity.

# H6-subtype diagnostics

H6 AIVs have low pathogenicity in poultry, but they are also able to cross species barriers into a range of hosts and can provide genes for potentially pathogenic reassortant viruses. As described above in relation to H5 diagnostics, a combination of RT-LAMP and oligonucleotide microarray has enabled simultaneous subtyping of H6N1 and H5 AIVs (L. C. Wang, Huang, and Chen 2016).

An immunosensor that has been validated for the detection of H6N1 AIV used the phenomenon of surface plasmon resonance to measure binding of virus to a monoclonal antibody that had been conjugated to a gold-coated exposed surface of an optical fibre (X. Zhao et al. 2016). The detection

limit of the immunosensor for A/chicken/Taiwan/2838V/00 (H6N1) was  $5.14 \times 10^5 \text{ EID}_{50}/0.1 \text{ ml}$ , with a test time of 10 min, which compared with  $2.10 \times 10^6 \text{ EID}_{50}/0.1 \text{ ml}$  and 3 h for antigen-capture ELISA and  $2.60 \times 10^4 \text{ EID}_{50}/0.1 \text{ ml}$  and 2.5 h for RT-PCR. The optical-fibre immunosensor was a low-cost, label-free device requiring only 50 µl of sample. Furthermore, with the appropriate washing steps, each sensor could be reused multiple times.

Although HI is the gold-standard test for seroconversion resulting from IAV infection, it is a timeconsuming assay that must be carried out in a laboratory. An immunochromatographic-strip test was therefore developed to enable the rapid, pen-side assessment of serum antibodies to H6N1 AIV (Y. L. Cheng, Wang, and Wang 2015). In this lateral-flow assay, A/chicken/Taiwan/2838V/2000 (H6N1) virus was bound to the test line of a nitrocellulose membrane, and the formation of complexes between the immobilised virus and anti-AIV serum antibodies was detected by the inclusion in the strip of colloidal-gold-conjugated antibodies against chicken IgG. Seroprevalence of antibodies against H5 and H6 AIVs in 326 field samples of chicken serum was determined by HI, and compared with the results of the same samples with the immunochromatographic-strip test. Relative to the HI results, the immunochromatographic-strip test had sensitivity of 95.2% and specificity of 94.3%, demonstrating that it could detect antibodies to both H5 and H6 AIVs. This assay was simple and rapid, requiring neither equipment nor skilled operators, giving it great potential for field diagnostics.

## H7-subtype diagnostics

H7 LPAIVs can give rise to HPAIVs via spontaneous mutations that result in the insertion of basic amino acids at the cleavage site of the HA protein. H7 AIV infections are therefore notifiable to the OIE, and pathotyping by characterization of the HA cleavage site is very important for management of confirmed H7 AIV infections. Pathotyping by determination of the IVPI in experimentally inoculated chickens requires appropriate animal-experimentation facilities, and pathotyping by nucleotide sequencing requires expensive laboratory equipment. To overcome these limitations, an rRT-PCR-based method for H7 IAV pathotyping has been demonstrated (Graaf, Beer, and Harder 2017). By amplification of a short fragment of the *HA* gene spanning the sequence encoding the endoproteolytic cleavage site in the presence of nuclease-activated, fluorescence-labelled cleavage-site-specific probes, the assay could distinguish the presence of H7 LPAIV (of the H7N1, H7N2, H7N3, H7N4, H7N7 and H7N9 subtypes) in 48 of 56 samples, and H7 HPAIV (of the H7N1 and H7N7 subtypes) in 15 of 19 samples, with additional discrimination between two H7 HPAIV lineages. Because detection was highly

lineage-specific, it was suggested that this assay would be used following an initial sequence analysis of any newly identified infection, to enable the design of specific probes.

In countries that are at risk of the introduction of H7N9 AIV, active surveillance has been performed, but its value has been limited by the length of time required to send samples for processing and to obtain results. Rapid-turnaround assays are required, and in particular, assays that can be conducted in the field. Insulated isothermal RT-PCR (iiRT-PCR) systems are portable, battery-powered devices that use freeze-dried, thermostable reagents to carry out convection-driven PCRs in <1 h. Coupled with a portable nucleic acid extraction system, an iiRT-PCR assay has been developed and shown to have 100% specificity and sensitivity for the detection of both H7 *HA* and N9 *NA* sequences in extracted viral reference RNA, with 100% specificity and 98% sensitivity for the detection of H7 AIVs in extracts of oropharyngeal samples from chickens and ducks (Inui et al. 2019). The system has been trialled and shown to be suitable for use in the field.

Another nucleic-acid amplification procedure that has been adapted for H7N9 AIV diagnostics is recombinase polymerase amplification (RPA), an extremely versatile and rapid isothermal assay in which recombinase enzymes facilitate binding of oligonucleotide primers to target DNA sequences, thereby enabling DNA amplification by polymerase action. By establishing RPA reactions for the H7 *HA* and N9 *NA* genes, with each reaction containing an unlabelled forward primer, a biotin-labelled reverse primer and a FAM-labelled probe, specific RPA amplicons could be detected by applying the reactions to a lateral-flow device (S. Ma et al. 2018). Carbon-conjugated neutravidin in the test strip bound to the biotin, and when the complexes reached the test line, they were captured by anti-FAM antibodies, so that only an appropriate amplicon containing both biotin and FAM would concentrate carbon particles at the test line to give a visible signal. The RPA reactions took 20 min at 39°C, with a further minute for the lateral-flow assay. The assay could detect 32 fg of cDNA derived from H7N9 viral RNA, and was specific for H7N9, with no detection of the *HA* or *NA* of H1N1, H3N2, H5N6 or H9N2 subtypes.

ELISAs are available for both antigenic and serological diagnosis of infection with H7-subtype AIVs. A sandwich ELISA used a pair of anti-H7 mAbs, and had detection limits of 0.5-2.0 HAU/50 µl for H7N7 and H7N9 live viruses (Lingling Chen et al. 2019). A competitive ELISA that used an anti-HA mAb to detect serum antibodies to H7 AIV was validated with 1,294 field samples from chickens, ducks, geese, quails and pigeons, and had specificity of 93.2% and sensitivity of 96.2%, with a coincidence rate of 97.5% in comparison with HI (Dong et al. 2019).
Immunological point-of-care tests have been developed for the detection of H7N9 AIV. For one test, two mouse monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) were produced to H7N9 recombinant HA1 protein (Yeo et al. 2017). One mAb (2F4) was conjugated to the fluorescent reagent Europium and used to impregnate the conjugate pad of an immunochromatographic strip, and the other mAb (6D7) formed the test line of the strip. When a sample containing H7 AIV was applied to the strip, the virus bound to the Europium-conjugated 2F4, then migrated to the test line and bound to 6D7, giving a fluorescent signal at the test line that could be read by an LED-based portable strip reader in 15 min. The optimised assay had a limit of detection of 40 HAU/ml for two H7 subtypes (H7N1 and H7N7), and did not give a test signal with H1N1 or H5N3 AlVs. Although widespread use of this test could be restricted by the cost of the LED reader (~20,000 USD), there is potential to adapt the assay for use with a smartphonebased imaging system. Another assay has been specifically designed to overcome the problems of low signal intensity and the unsuitability of imaging devices to field deployment that are associated with the use of immunochromatographic strips. In this assay, highly fluorescent (CdSe)ZnS quantum-dot nanobeads were conjugated with mAb to H7N9 AIV, and used to impregnate the conjugate pad of an immunochromatographic strip (M. Xiao et al. 2019). H7N9 virus in a sample added to the strip formed a complex with the mAb–nanobeads, and on migration through the strip, formed a further complex with mAb immobilised at the test line. To facilitate on-site analysis, a compact fluorescence imaging unit was designed and 3D-printed. The unit functioned as a darkroom that contained battery-powered LEDs for fluorescence excitation, enabling read-out by eye (and image capture by smartphone camera) in 15 min. With a commercial strip reader, the limit of detection for H7N9 virus was 0.0268 HAU, and in the 3D-printed reader an unambiguous positive signal was produced with as little as 0.0312 HAU. The assay did not detect H1, H5 or H9 AIVs or non-influenza viruses, and in 50 H7N9 samples from different chicken organs it had a total coincidence rate of 98% with rRT-PCR.

# H9-subtype diagnostics

H9N2 LPAIVs on their own are responsible for mild-to-moderate disease in poultry, but co-infections with other viruses and bacteria can result in around 70% morbidity and 30% mortality. In addition, some H9N2 viruses recognise human-type  $\alpha$ -2,6-linked sialic acid receptors, and avian-to-human transmission of Eurasian-lineage H9N2 AIV has been observed. To improve monitoring of these viruses, a one-step rRT-PCR assay has been developed for detection of two major Eurasian H9N2 lineages of AIV (Saito et al. 2019). The assay incorporated a minor-groove-binding probe, and had a

detection limit with *in vitro*-transcribed RNA of around three copies per reaction, with no crossreactivity with other IAV subtypes, IVB or other viral respiratory pathogens.

As described above in relation to H7N9 diagnostics, RPA can be combined with lateral-flow assays to enable the rapid, field-based detection of AIVs (S. Ma et al. 2018). This combination has also been applied to assessment of H9N2, and specifically to the amplification of a sequence of the H9 *HA* gene, using a forward primer labelled with fluorescein isothiocyanate and a reverse primer labelled with biotin (Zeng Wang et al. 2019). The amplification reaction took 20 min, and the lateral-flow assay could detect 0.15 pg of H9N2 AIV RNA. With 120 cloacal samples from chickens with respiratory syndromes, the coincidence rate of the RPA assay and conventional RT-PCR was 95.8%.

A sandwich ELISA using a pair of mAbs has been developed for detection of H9N2 AIV (Ming et al. 2019). The assay had a detection limit of  $10^{-2.3}$  TCID<sub>50</sub>, with 98.9% sensitivity and 98.1% specificity relative to detection based on virus isolation.

Smartphones have great potential to facilitate field-based diagnostic imaging. For the detection of H9N2 AIV, smartphone-based imaging has been coupled to an immunochromatographic-strip test. This assay used an anti-NP antibody to form a complex between the virus and a fluorescent bioconjugate, and also to capture that complex at the test line of the strip (Yeo et al. 2016). Fluorescence signals from the test and control lines were generated in a compact, lightweight, 3D-printed module that contained an LED and optical filters of appropriate wavelengths. The LED was powered by connection to a smartphone, which was also used as an imaging system, to visually record the result, to calculate the ratio of the test-line and control-line signals, to make a binary decision on positive-versus-negative detection, to log the results along with the date of testing and the location of the testing site, and finally to submit the results to a central database. The detection limit of the assay was 7.5 PFU/ml, with specificity of 100% and sensitivity of 94.4% for oropharyngeal samples and 95.2% for cloacal samples, relative to rRT-PCR results.

# H10-subtype diagnostics

The AIV subtypes H10N4, H10N5, H10N7 and H10N8 consist mostly of low-pathogenicity viruses, but high-pathogenicity H10 AIVs have been identified, and H10 AIVs are also capable of causing infections in mammals, including pigs and humans. To facilitate monitoring of H10 AIVs, RT-LAMP has been used, with primers specific to conserved sequences of the H10 *HA* gene (Luo et al. 2015). The assay took 40

min at 63°C to give a result that could be observed directly as a colour change from orange to green, or that could be measured in real time by assessment of turbidity. The limit of detection of the assay was 10 copies/ $\mu$ l of *in vitro*-transcribed RNA, and it demonstrated specific amplification of H10-subtype AIVs, with no cross-reactivity with other AIV subtypes or with non-influenza avian pathogens. The assay can provide a rapid, simple, low-cost test with potential for use in the field.

# Diagnostic tests for multiple IAV subtypes

Reassortment and mutation increase the numbers of circulating IAV subtypes, along with the potential for the occurrence of highly pathogenic and/or zoonotic strains, and the need for diagnostic assays that are capable of identifying multiple relevant subtypes. For example, at least eight AIV subtypes (H1, H2, H3, H5, H6, H7, H9 and H10) have been found to infect humans, and an assay has therefore been developed for the simultaneous detection of all of these eight subtypes (M. Li et al. 2018). The basis of the assay was the multiplex RT-PCR amplification of a specific *HA* region for each subtype, and detection was achieved by capillary electrophoretic separation of amplified products and spectrophotometry to identify the incorporated fluorescent labels, using the GeXP system. The assay could detect as few as 100 copies of RNA templates, and was not affected by the presence of RNA from multiple viral subtypes. With specimens from domestic poultry and wild birds, the assay specificity was equivalent to that of conventional RT-PCR.

NA subtyping of IAVs has traditionally been performed by neuraminidase-inhibition assays, but that approach is not ideal, because of the time and labour it requires, as well as issues of diversity of reference antisera, cross-reactivity, subjectivity and accuracy. An rRT-PCR-based method has made it possible to detect nine *NA* subtypes, with a multiplexed setup involving three reactions per sample, each with three primer–probe–fluorescent-label combinations (Z. Sun et al. 2017). The assay had a detection limit of <100 EID<sub>50</sub> or <100 copies of cDNA per reaction, showed no subtype cross-reactivity, and had comparable sensitivity to sequencing of isolated virus when applied to tracheal and cloacal swabs of experimentally infected chickens.

The Riems Influenza A Typing Array (RITA) combined 32 individual TaqMan rRT-PCRs: one each for detection of H4, H6, H8, H9, H11, H12, H13 and H16; two each for H1, H2, H3, H5 and H10; three for H7 detection; one each for subtyping of N1, N2, N4, N5, N6, N7, N8 and N9; two assays for N3; along with amplification of an *M* gene sequence for pan-influenza IAV detection (Hoffmann et al. 2016). The

assay was validated with isolates representing 45 different IAV subtypes, with diagnostic samples obtained from wild birds and swine.

Assays are sometimes developed to target specific combinations of IAV subtypes. For example, an assay developed to facilitate the monitoring of migratory birds in Taiwan used multiplex RT-RPA to detect the conserved NP gene and the HA genes of clade 2.3.4.4 H5, H6 and H7 subtypes (Tsai et al. 2020). By coupling the RT-RPA to capillary electrophoresis for high-throughput analysis of the reaction products, a detection limit of one gene copy could be achieved in a total assay time of 6 h. With 60 field samples collected from migratory wild ducks or endemic waterfowl, the multiplex RT-RPA assay identified the presence of AIV in 50 samples by positivity of NP and at least one HA product. Furthermore, in 44 of the samples, the assay identified co-infection, with 42 of the samples being positive for H5, H6 and H7 products. Another multiplex assay for specific IAV subtypes has targeted those that are relevant to commercial pig farming in Denmark (Goecke et al. 2018). In this highthroughput method, 18 rRT-PCRs were carried out for each sample, with five reactions targeting specific HA gene sequences corresponding to avian-origin H1N1, human-like H1N2, A(H1N1)pdm09, H3N2 SIV and seasonal human H3 IAV, six reactions targeting N1 and N2 NA sequences (two broadly reacting assays for each subtype, one reaction specific for A(H1N1)pdm09-lineage N1 and one for seasonal human H3N2), one reaction for a conserved M sequence, and six reactions that were specific for the internal genes of A(H1N1)pdm09 (PB1, PB2, PA, NP, M and NS). Following an initial preamplification step, the reactions were carried out with the high-throughput BioMark platform, and showed high sensitivity and specificity, with no cross-reaction, and with the detection of co-infections.

For some purposes, the aim is to identify infection with any IAV, rather than with a particular subtype. In relation to AIV, RT-LAMP has been used for amplification of a conserved region of the *M* gene, enabling the detection of H1–H16 subtypes following a 30-min reaction (SHI et al. 2019). Inclusion of fluorescein enabled visual identification of amplification, and the reactions could also be monitored by measuring turbidity, which gave them a detection limit of 0.1 PFU per reaction. The RT-LAMP detection rate among 335 clinical samples (throat swabs, tracheal aspirates and visceral organs) was the same as with rRT-PCR, and higher than that with conventional RT-PCR (14, 14 and 12 positive results, respectively). A very different approach has been taken to detection of the NP protein of swine IAV (D. Su et al. 2019). The assay that was used was based on the giant magnetoresistance effect, in which the electrical resistance associated with a structure composed of alternating ferromagnetic and non-magnetic conductive layers depends on whether the magnetization of the ferromagnetic layers is in a parallel or antiparallel alignment. This structure was coated with an antibody to IAV NP, and the test sample was incubated with magnetic nanoparticles coated with another anti-IAV antibody, then added to the magnetoresistance sensor. Binding of IAV–nanoparticle complexes to the sensor could be detected by applying a magnetic field and measuring the change in magnetoresistance. This assay enabled the technically simple, wash-free analysis of swine nasal-swab samples, with a limit of detection of 250 TCID<sub>50</sub>/ml for swine IAV and a procedure time of 4 min in a handheld, portable device capable of wireless communication. Notably, ELISAs are also available targeting conserved viral proteins or serum antibodies to those proteins, for antigenic or serological detection of multiple IAV subtypes.

Several assays exist for the simultaneous detection of IAV and other viral and/or bacterial pathogens. Although some of these assays target a single, conserved IAV sequence, others incorporate some form of IAV subtyping. One example of a test for important avian pathogens involved the RT-PCR amplification of sequences for the differentiation of the H5, H7 and H9 subtypes of AIV, as well as NDV and infectious bronchitis virus (Q. Xiao et al. 2019). Biotin-labelled amplified products were hybridised to specific oligonucleotide probes in a microarray, and hybridization was detected by the addition of streptavidin conjugated to horseradish peroxidase, giving a visible signal that could be assessed by eye. There was no cross-reaction with other subtypes of AIV or with IBDV, and the detection limits for H5, H7 and H9 AIV and NDV were 0.1 EID<sub>50</sub> per reaction (1 EID<sub>50</sub> per reaction for infectious bronchitis virus).

### Multi-strain serology

Tests for the identification of seroconversion resulting from IAV infection include both non-specific and multiplex assays. For AIV, a multiplex Luminex xMAP assay has been developed for the simultaneous subtyping of antibodies to any of 16 HA and 9 NA subtypes (Germeraad et al. 2019). Recombinant HA and NA proteins were coupled to colour-coded magnetic beads, and following incubation with poultry sera, complexes of antigen, bead and antibody were further bound to fluorescence-labelled anti-chicken-IgY antibodies. The association of a specific colour with each antigen then enabled its fluorescence signal to be measured, indicating the presence of antibodies to any AIV subtype in the sample. This assay gave results that were consistent with those of HI and ELISA in 97.8% of reference sera and 90.8% of field sera. There was no cross-reaction with non-influenza avian respiratory viruses, and the detection limit was lower than that of HI, and was achieved with a much lower (2 µL) sample volume. The multiplex assay has the further advantage that it is able to identify antibody profiles that indicate infection with multiple viral subtypes in a single animal.

110

An ELISA for serological detection of infection by multiple subtypes of IAV was developed by coating plates with H1–H15 HA proteins (Okumura et al. 2019). Reference antisera demonstrated specific reactions with these antigens, and the assay enabled serological subtyping in samples from wild boars and from raccoons, suggesting the potential for the use of this ELISA for sero-surveillance of wild mammals.

#### Further advances in IAV diagnostics

The zoonotic and pandemic potential of IAV is of great concern, and has been addressed by the creation of a number of assays that identify HA binding specificity for sialic-acid-terminated glycans. AIVs are generally characterised by binding to  $\alpha$ -2,3-linked sialic acid, whereas a switch to binding  $\alpha$ -2,6-linked sialic acid facilitates human infection. Notably, both types of linkage are present on respiratory epithelia in swine. A device that has been evaluated for the discrimination of binding preferences to these glycan types is the dual-channel field-effect-transistor biosensor (Hideshima et al. 2019). The biosensor was generated by the binding of sialic acid- $\alpha$ -2,6-galactose to one gate and sialic acid- $\alpha$ -2,3-galactose to the second gate of the transistor. IAV samples in human nasal mucus (treated with L-cysteine ethyl ester to reduce viscosity) were added to the glycan-immobilised biosensor gates for 10 min, the sensor was washed, and the threshold voltage shift was calculated for each gate, as a measure of virus binding. The human H1N1 IAV was specifically detected by the sialic acid- $\alpha$ -2,6-galactose gate, whereas H5N1 AIV was detected by the sialic acid- $\alpha$ -2,3-galactose gate, with a detection limit of 10<sup>0.5</sup> TCID<sub>50</sub>/ml. When the binding of NDV was assessed as a model for a pandemic IAV (NDV recognises both  $\alpha$ -2,6-linked and  $\alpha$ -2,3-linked sialic acids), it gave a signal at both gates of the sensor. The system was evaluated for potential use in the field, and the modified transistors were found to maintain their effectiveness even with extended storage, and to integrate well with a handheld reader that connected via Bluetooth to a smartphone.

A variation on the immunochromatographic-strip method has also been used for identification of IAV receptor-binding specificity (Watanabe et al. 2015). In this assay, a biotinylated broad-specificity (group 1) anti-HA antibody enabled capture of IAV at the test lines of the strips. Inclusion of blue-latex-conjugated  $\alpha$ -2,3-sialylglycopolymer or red-latex-conjugated  $\alpha$ -2,6-sialylglycopolymer (on separate strips) meant that AIV could be distinguished by a blue test line on the  $\alpha$ -2,3 strip, whereas human IAV gave a red test line on the  $\alpha$ -2,6 strip. The presence of these coloured test lines on both strips indicated that the sample contained interphyletic virus with affinity for both types of receptor. The assay

showed great potential for use in the field, with no deterioration of the strips on long-term storage, no requirement for specialised equipment, and a test time of only 30 min.

Direct detection of viral proteins or nucleic acids or serum antibodies is not the only way to test for IAV infection. For example, a pilot study has been carried out to investigate the potential association of IAV with the presence of volatile organic compounds in the breath of swine (Traxler et al. 2018). These compounds were analysed by gas-chromatography mass spectrometry, and six (acetaldehyde, propanal, n-propyl acetate, methyl methacrylate, styrene and 1,1-dipropoxypropane) were found to be related to influenza disease progression, with the potential to enable early detection of IAV infection. However, although the analysis of volatile organic compounds in swine breath is non-invasive, the breath-capture method used in the pilot study required harnessing of individual pigs in a sling and fitting with a respiratory mask, and further improvements are clearly necessary to enable the continuous, large-scale screening that would maximise the potential of this approach.

In the search for non-invasive diagnostic methods, it has been discovered that analysis of the sounds made by chickens might enable identification of AIV infection (Cuan et al. 2020). A sound-recognition method called the chicken sound convolutional neural network has been developed and combined with the separation of chicken sounds from environmental sounds (to reduce redundant data processing) and with mapping of specific features of the chicken sounds. Different data-processing models were assessed, and the chicken sound convolutional neural neural network with input via spectrogram achieved accuracies of 93%, 95% and 97% on days 2, 4 and 6 post injection for discrimination of uninfected chickens from chickens infected with H9N2 AIV. With input via feature mapping, the recognition accuracies were 90%, 94% and 96% on days 2, 4 and 6, with the additional benefit that feature mapping had the fastest training speed and smallest data size of the pre-processing techniques. Sound-based AIV diagnostics could provide continuous monitoring of flocks without the need for any physical testing of individual birds, thereby reducing the risk of human infection and potentially greatly reducing the costs associated with surveillance.

Not all methods that are assessed for IAV diagnostics result in successful applications. Body temperature has been found to be ineffective for the screening of swine at agricultural fairs, where early detection would enable prevention of transmission among pigs and between pigs and humans (Bowman et al. 2016). Surface body temperatures were measured with infrared thermometers in 1,092 pigs and compared with the results of nasal swabs. Similarly, rectal temperatures were measured in 1,948 pigs and compared with results from snout wipes. In both cases there was no

112

significant difference in mean temperature between uninfected pigs and those infected with swine IAV.

#### Diagnostic sampling and sample storage

Lab-based diagnostics rely upon the stable transportation of biological samples, to maintain the integrity of the testing analytes. Developments that improve sample stability have potential benefits for many diagnostic systems, particularly if they can also increase transportation biosafety. Flinders Technology Associates filter paper cards are formulated to denature proteins, lyse cells and bind nucleic acids, and they have been assessed as sampling media for numerous pathogens, including H7N1 LPAIV and H5N1 HPAIV (Jóźwiak et al. 2016). Following application of viral samples to the cards, complete inactivation of H7N1 LPAIV was observed within 1 h storage at room temperature, whereas the H5N1 HPAIV was inactivated by the second timepoint of 24 h. Viral RNA could be recovered from the cards following room temperature storage of at least 150 days, and was suitable for use in rRT-PCR detection and subtyping assays.

For the purposes of diagnostic analysis, sampling methodology is a relevant consideration. A longterm, single-site surveillance study in which 26,586 samples from wild mallards were screened by rRT-PCR for the presence of AIV demonstrated that cloacal/faecal samples were associated with consistently higher detection rates and lower PCR C<sub>7</sub> values than oropharyngeal samples (Latorre-Margalef, Avril, et al. 2016). Among 4,354 sample pairs with both oropharyngeal and faecal/cloacal samples, 80.5% gave negative rRT-PCR results in both samples, 3.5% were positive in both, 13.0% were positive in the faecal/cloacal sample but negative in the oropharyngeal sample, and 2.9% were negative in the faecal/cloacal sample but positive in the oropharyngeal sample. The success rate of virus isolation in embryonated chicken eggs was negatively correlated with rRT-PCR threshold cycle and with age, as samples from adult birds resulted in lower success rates than comparable samples from juveniles. The isolation success rates were also greater in faecal samples than in comparable cloacal samples. These results suggested that the ideal sampling regimen in diagnostic terms would involve both cloacal and oropharyngeal samples for each bird, and that such an approach would be necessary to maximise the probability of HPAIV detection (because of respiratory tract tropism), but if sampling was restricted to a single sample per bird and the aim was the detection of LPAIV, then cloacal samples would be preferable. The results also indicated the importance of the collection of metadata such as host species and age, and sample type, to ensure analytical consistency between surveys.

Detection of subclinical infections is a challenge for approaches that use sampling of individual animals. In turkey flocks affected by LPAIV infection, viral RNA has been shown to be widely distributed in the barn environment, including in biofilms associated with the drinker apparatus (Muñoz-Aguayo et al. 2019). Viral RNA could be detected in these biofilms by rRT-PCR and by virus isolation, and correlated with results from oropharyngeal samples. At an HPAI-positive site, virus was detected in biofilm swabs 1–2 days prior to its appearance in oropharyngeal samples.

# PCR primer validation, internal controls and viral RNA enrichment

IAVs are constantly evolving, and established diagnostic tests need to be assessed regularly to ensure that they still perform optimally in recognition of the currently circulating viral strains. A number of existing RT-PCR methods for IAV diagnosis are based on amplification of the conserved M gene, and four such protocols that are routinely used in AIV reference laboratories, along with a USDA-licensed commercial kit, have been evaluated in silico and *in vitro* to determine the level of identity between their primers and probes and the target regions in known M gene sequences (Laconi et al. 2020). These assays were found to have differing levels of diagnostic sensitivity, and lower sensitivity was associated with viral sequence variability within primer binding sites. The more recently developed assays showed the best analytical and diagnostic performances, suggesting the need to update the primer and probe sequences for the older assays. In a study with a similar aim, the M gene PCR primers for 12 assays were compared with 9,103 complete M gene sequences (J. W. Kim et al. 2019). None of the primers was found to have 100% identity with all of the gene sequences; the 100% identity rate for individual forward primers ranged from 0 to 93.2%, and for reverse primers it ranged from 0.4% to 85.3%. A new set of degenerate forward and reverse primers was designed with 100% identity rates of 94.4% and 96.2%, respectively. The primers were incorporated in a SYBR Green-based rRT-PCR assay, and sensitivity was further increased by the use of immunomagnetic beads to concentrate the viral ribonucleoprotein prior to RNA extraction and PCR.

Sequencing of IAV RNA enables subtyping and identification of new mutations and reassortants. Because PCR amplification of limited amounts of RNA template may introduce sequence errors, and to enable enrichment of any IAV RNA without prior knowledge of the subtype, a set of universal oligonucleotide probes has been designed for the hybridization capture of any IAV, IBV or ICV sequences (Yongli Xiao et al. 2018). The set of 46,953 120-nt biotin-labelled RNA probes was based on all the available influenza viral sequences, and its use with wild-bird cloacal-swab samples enabled detection of mixed infections with different AIV subtypes.

To ensure that RT-PCR test results can be accurately compared, both within and between labs, appropriate internal controls should be used. An exogenous, 'armoured' internal control consisting of a 65-nt sequence of the gene encoding enhanced GFP has been produced for use in IAV RT-PCR assays (Andreychuk et al. 2019). The 'armour' was branched polyethylenimine, which conferred resistance to nucleases and physical stability, enabling the control to be added directly to pathological material suspensions, thereby facilitating assessment of the efficiency of subsequent extraction of viral RNA. Amplification of the control RNA with specific primers resulted in consistent threshold-cycle values in samples from different species of wild birds. Addition of PCR inhibitors resulted in increased threshold-cycle values in samples for the internal control.

# **Ongoing research**

Diagnostic virology researchers at the Friedrich-Loffler-Institut are working to improve diagnostic procedures within the framework of the national and OIE/FAO reference laboratory. At the National Veterinary Research Institute in Vom, Nigeria, study is ongoing into rapid laboratory diagnosis of HPAI via PCR and virus isolation. Research at the Norwegian Veterinary Institute, meanwhile, continues as part of TELE-Vir, an initiative of the One Health European Joint Programme. A critical aim of this project is to develop field-side diagnostic tools based on 3<sup>rd</sup>-generation sequencing technology for efficient identification and characterisation of diseases like influenza. Data can then be collected and analysed within the user-friendly web-based Insaflu portal, easing international collaboration efforts.

At the UK Animal and Plant Health Agency, meanwhile, researchers are working to enhance the influenza diagnostic profile by expanding molecular detection and subtyping methods, validating novel molecular assay formats, and optimizing sample submission pipelines. At the US Southeast Poultry Research Laboratory, efforts are underway to improve real-time PCR diagnostics for AIV, evaluating existing technologies and developing reagents for subtype-specific tests. Next-generation sequencing is also under study, with researchers working to increase its sensitivity and efficiency and improve data analysis.

In France, the Ploufragan-Plouzané-Niort Laboratory of ANSES has served as the nation's SIV reference laboratory for over ten years, running a network of veterinary labs approved for molecular diagnosis,

providing reference reagents and technical support/expertise, and performing inter-laboratory tests to ensure continuing aptitude within the network. Similarly, at the US National Poultry Research Center, established diagnostic tests for AIV are monitored and updated to reflect changing viral transmission patterns. Novel test formats are also evaluated using a combination of *in vitro* and *in vivo* methods.

# **Future research priorities**

Based on the above literature review and with reference to previously identified knowledge gaps and expert opinion, the following areas of animal influenza diagnostics should be considered priorities for future research:

Application of SARS-CoV-2-related advances in diagnostics to IAV Identification of novel reassortants and mutations with pathological potential Continued improvement of diagnostics for subtyping, serology and whole-genome sequencing Use of portable 3<sup>rd</sup>-generation sequencing technology to enable point-of-incidence analysis Standardization of methods across labs Rapid characterization and pathotyping of variants circulating in the field (high throughput point-ofuse technology) Fast typing of AI virus using molecular tools without virus isolation, applicable for noninvasive samples from wild birds.

# Vaccines

Vaccines are an important component of comprehensive influenza control strategies that may be used in both enzootic and epizootic situations. However, current vaccines suffer several shortfalls across the various target species: breadth and duration of protection are insufficient, the vaccines can account poorly for the currently-circulating strains, and obstacles exist to rapid production and dissemination in the face of an outbreak, particularly in the case of egg-produced AIV vaccines.

Improved vaccination strategies are urgently needed to prevent unnecessary mass culling of livestock due to lack of sterile immunity, to reduce the economic and social burden of influenza infection, and to decrease the risk of zoonotic infection of humans. The success of these strategies will be underpinned both by studies of immunity to natural influenza virus infection in host species, as well as by careful investigation of the immune responses induced by various novel vaccine candidates to establish correlates and/or underlying mechanisms of durable protection and cross-protection. The application of computer modelling to this task holds promise of rapid advances in the coming years, if used and tested well. However, significant regulatory and practical challenges remain before we will be able to realise the ultimate goal of easily administered, effective vaccines for all affected species.

# Previously identified knowledge gaps

Previous reports (United States Department of Agriculture 2014; OFFLU 2014; European Food Safety Authority 2015) identified the following priority research knowledge gaps in animal influenza vaccines in 2014/15:

- novel technologies that reduce the time taken to produce a vaccine
- development of vaccines/adjuvants to induce broad/universal clinical cross-protection
- strategies to increase mucosal immune responses after inactivated vaccines
- role of unregulated cytokine expression in production of vaccine-associated enhanced respiratory disease of swine
- multi-species vaccine platforms
- vaccines with accompanying DIVA tests
- needle-free mass-delivery systems for vaccines
- immune correlates of vaccine-induced protection

- strategies to improve vaccine responses in ovo or in young animals, especially in the presence of maternal antibody
- strategies to increase speed of protection from vaccines
- vaccine performance under field conditions

#### Literature review

### Avian Influenza Vaccines

# Route of delivery

Conventional inactivated AI vaccines require cold-chain storage and injection by well-trained personnel: this dual reliance has the potential to lead to reduced vaccine efficacy, as well as being time consuming and leading to the generation of huge quantities of biohazardous sharps waste globally.

Powder vaccines - permitting long term storage capacity with no need for a cold chain - are immunogenically and physically stable at up to 30°C for 3 months (Murugappan et al. 2013). Building on their previous work showing partial protection of chickens by passive inhalation of freeze-dried inactivated H5N1 (Peeters et al. 2014), Tomar et al. compared the passive inhalation of inactivated freeze-dried reverse-genetics-derived H5N1/H1N1 virus alone to the inhalation of the same inactivated virus adjuvanted with Lactococcus lactis-derived bacteria-like particles (BLP) or adjuvanted with the commercially available inulin-based adjuvant Advax<sup>™</sup> (Tomar et al. 2018). The researchers found that the addition of either adjuvant did not adversely affect the vaccine's physical properties and both induced significantly higher titres of specific circulating antibody in immunized hens as well as mucosal IgY (BLP) and IgA (Advax) in the lung compared to the non-adjuvanted, inactivated virus: the best results were obtained when BLP were used in the booster dose. When chickens that had received two doses of the vaccines two weeks apart were challenged two weeks later, all birds were completely protected from HPAI and no viral shedding was detected, regardless of whether the vaccine included adjuvant or not. The researchers proposed that this difference from the previous study was likely related to the reduced particle size of the powder, which aimed to improve vaccine delivery into the lung, and the increased concentration of the powder in the immunisation chamber (Tomar et al. 2018). The inclusion of adjuvant might still be useful to either reduce the amount of inactivated virus needs for an effective does (important in outbreak situations), to speed induction of protective immunity, and/or to increase the length of effective immune memory following vaccination. These points require assessment in further studies, which are highly warranted given these promising data.

Coarse spraying is another method of vaccine delivery suitable for mass application. Ma et al. showed that an attenuated NDV (LaSota strain) vectored vaccine expressing the ectodomain of HA from H5N2 could clinically protect 90% of chickens from H5NX challenge, and almost completely block viral shedding, after a single application (Jingjiao Ma et al. 2017). As for the Tomar et al. study above, further investigations are needed but this promising method should be more widely explored for AIV vaccine delivery. Future studies should also assess the possible impact of existing immunity to NDV (either due to natural infection or vaccination) upon responses to attenuated NDV-vectored vaccines in commercial chicken flocks in the field.

# Field studies

Given the numerous differences between laboratory and field conditions, it was reassuring that a recent study testing two different inactivated H9N2 vaccines showed comparable immune responses and reduced viral shedding from chicks immunized between 1 and 7 days of age and challenged at 28 days of age under either laboratory or field conditions (Talat et al. 2020). Importantly, all chicks were from vaccinated hens and therefore exposed to MDA, but effective vaccination responses were mounted following immunization at 7 days old, though less so if chicks were vaccinated at 1 day old (Talat et al. 2020).

A single study reported a full field trial of an experimental inactivated fowl cholera and AI H9N2 vaccine in poultry, followed by laboratory transfer for challenge (Salama, Abdelhady, and Atia 2019)while another study in ducks on smallholdings demonstrated the high immunogenicity of the current H5N1 vaccine in use in Vietnam's HPAI control program (Huynh et al. 2019).

Tarigan *et al.* measured the duration and levels of immunity stimulated by vaccination with seven different commercially available inactivated H5N1 vaccines in 16 small-to-medium sized commercial laying flocks in Indonesia (Tarigan et al. 2018). They found marked differences in strength and duration of immunity, as well as significant variations between farms whose cause was unknown (Tarigan et al. 2018). An important finding was that few farms followed the manufacturer's recommended dosing schedule; moreover, complete vaccination failure in two farms was linked to errors in vaccine administration. Just two of the 16 flocks demonstrated antibody titres associated with protection at the end of the sampling period, which the researchers linked to repeated vaccinations: they suggested

that a dosing schedule incorporating five immunizations would give the greatest chance of long-lasting immunity at the flock level which would be effective in preventing spread of HPAI (Tarigan et al. 2018). Similarly, Sitaras *et al.* explored the impact of sub-optimal field-like vaccination upon cross protection from challenge with antigenically-distant viruses (Sitaras et al. 2016). The authors concluded that, for the viruses tested, even a low level of immunity had some cross-protective effect, and suggested that better cross-protection could be induced simply by improving the performance and administration of current vaccines. However, this study also highlights the often-overlooked (or at least unquantified) human factors involved in vaccine efficacy.

In a rare but much-needed approach, Chen et al. recently extended their laboratory-based vaccination study (P. Chen et al. 2019) to the field, immunising 500 farmed ducks three times with a recombinant duck enteritis virus expressing HA from H5N1 HPAI and demonstrating efficient induction of antibody responses across the cohort (P. Chen et al. 2019). The researchers then transferred groups of ducks to the laboratory for challenge experiments and observed sterile protection from homologous virus and complete clinical protection with at least 80% reduction in frequency of shedding ducks after heterologous H5N6 and H5N8 AI (J. Wu et al. 2019a). This type of paired sequential study where a laboratory-based set of experiments is then taken into the field to deepen understanding and flag any translational issues at an early stage should be encouraged as standard practice for the testing of novel candidate vaccines.

The duration of immunity is another factor that is infrequently taken into account in laboratory trials of novel vaccines; yet it is critically important in the field. Santos et al. assessed the impact of vaccine choice and different prime-boost regimens on duration of protective immunity in commercially reared turkeys housed together in an open-floor barn designed to mimic farm conditions. They found that although both the alphavirus-based and the inactivated reverse engineered vaccines induced protection at 6 weeks of age (3 weeks post-boost), there were significant differences in protection at 16 weeks of age, with the best protection elicited by an alphavirus prime and inactivated vaccine boost (Santos et al. 2017). Bertran et al. also identified the potential for long lasting immunity to be induced by a reverse-genetics inactivated H5N1 vaccine, which completely protected SPF white leghorn hens from challenge at 20 weeks post-boost (Bertran et al. 2017); similarly, Ladman *et al.* showed that another alphavirus-based HPAI vaccine induced antibody responses and protection that endured to 18 weeks post-vaccination (Ladman et al. 2019). Remarkably, Bhatia et al. reported protection elicited by a high dose H5N1 challenge following a single immunization with a reverse genetics-derived live attenuated H5N2 vaccine at 200 days post-vaccination (Bhatia et al. 2016). Together, these studies

highlight the importance of assessing vaccine combinations with the potential not only for gains, but for losses of potential immunity by sub-optimal regimens. The duration of protective immunity should be a standard parameter required/expected of all studies of novel vaccines, protocols and adjuvants as it has the potential for significant impact under field conditions.

In the field, poultry may be infected with pathogens at the point of immunization, but the impact of this on vaccine efficacy has rarely been studied in any detail. Spackman et al. used SPF chickens to study this phenomenon, finding that exposure of day-old chicks to the immunosuppressive infectious bursal disease virus (IBDV) significantly inhibited AIV antibody generation following vaccination 2 weeks later with an inactivated H7N3 vaccine (Spackman, Stephens, and Pantin-Jackwood 2018a). When previously IBDV-infected were challenged with homologous HPAI, they suffered mortality rates as high as nonvaccinated chickens, while chickens vaccinated in the absence of prior IBDV infection had 100% survival (Spackman, Stephens, and Pantin-Jackwood 2018a). Similarly, the use of the live NDV vaccine, LaSota, in the period around experimental infection of commercially reared chickens with LPAI H9N2 increased clinical signs, mortality, pathology and viral shedding (Ellakany et al. 2018a; Spackman, Stephens, and Pantin-Jackwood 2018b). When previously-IBDV-infected were challenged with homologous HPAI, they suffered mortality rates as high as nonvaccinated chickens, while chickens vaccinated in the absence of prior IBDV infection had 100% survival (Spackman, Stephens, and Pantin-Jackwood 2018a). Similarly, the use of the live NDV vaccine, LaSota, in the period around experimental infection of commercially reared chickens with LPAI H9N2 increased clinical signs, mortality, pathology and viral shedding (Ellakany et al. 2018b).

Commercial breeding hens typically pass down anti-AI antibodies to their progeny; therefore, any vaccine designed for use in the hatchery must be able to function well in the presence of maternallyderived passive immunity. Whilst previous studies have indicated an inhibitory effect of MDA on vaccine responses in chicks (Maas et al. 2011; de Vriese et al. 2010) it may be that this effect depends on the vaccination strategy used. Bertran et al. found that the presence of maternal antibodies to H5 AI did not interfere with responses of day-old chicks to a recombinant turkey herpesvirus (HVT) vaccine with an H5 AIV insert but impeded responses to an NDV-vectored H5 vaccine (Bertran et al. 2018); the latter since being confirmed by Murr *et al.* in the case of one or two week old chicks, but not in chicks three weeks of age or older (Murr et al. 2020). Further complicating the issue, there is some evidence that pre-existing MDA increased protection against AI elicited by a turkey herpesvirus-vectored H5N1 vaccine (Gardin et al. 2016). Therefore, at present, our understanding of the mechanisms underpinning MDA-meditated enhancement or repression of vaccine-induced immunity is incomplete.

### Modelling/Outbreak control

Effective vaccination has the potential to contribute to outbreak control by reducing transmission, enabling reduced culling of livestock and decreasing economic and psychological impacts for humans. The introduction of a bivalent H5/H7 vaccine in the Guangdong and Guangxi provinces in China between 2017-2018 in response to an HPAI outbreak led to a 92% reduction in detection of H7 viral RNA in samples from LPMs and reduced human infections with H7N9 by 98% in the region (J. Wu et al. 2019b). However, vaccine responses are also a major factor driving the emergence of new antigenic variants within the AIV population (Milani et al. 2017)(Y. Wu et al. 2021b). Therefore, understanding the right vaccine(s) to use at the right time and in the right place has been a key objective for modelling studies to date.

Even when vaccines are available, they are not always used due to concerns about cost-effectiveness, the ensuing trade restrictions, and their likely impact on control or surveillance outcomes; one example of this was the decision not to vaccinate during the 2015-2016 H5N6 and 2016-2017 H5N8 outbreaks of HPAI in France. Hautefeuille et al. have since attempted to model the probable effects of vaccination during future outbreaks in the French poultry sector, aiming to establish the most impactful and cost-effective means of applying existing vaccines (Peyre et al. 2016). Using EVACS (Evaluation tool of VACcination Strategies), which was developed to compare different strategies for HPAI vaccine application in Egypt's poultry industry (Hautefeuille et al. 2020), the authors first modelled the French poultry farming network and likely routes of viral spread (based on data from the 2015/16 and 2016/17 outbreaks); when they applied various methods of vaccine use, they found that hatchery vaccination with a recombinant vector vaccine (where available for the species) of day old chicks would achieve the highest population-level of immunity and also had the highest benefitto-cost ratio (Hautefeuille et al. 2020) Interestingly, although both French outbreaks have been concentrated in duck production units, the EVACS tool indicated that vaccination of ducks alone – or of other "high-risk" populations, such as free-range chickens - would likely be insufficient to prevent another outbreak (Z. Hu et al. 2020). These important data show that effective prophylactic vaccination strategies should focus on breadth of coverage across the sector, rather than depth of coverage in the at-risk group(s); they also strengthen the call for the development of vaccines able to induce effective and long-lasting responses in day-old chicks across the full range of commercial poultry species.

Molecular modelling can also be informative when considering optimal control strategies for future outbreaks. A fascinating approach was used by Metwally et al. who rationalised that the functional biological constraints on IAV HA meant that there were a limited number of variations that could arise which would enable the virus to remain infectious whilst attempting to escape the immune system of its host. Therefore, if one could model those variations and screen for them in existing vaccine seed strains, it should be possible to define an effective "cocktail" of vaccines to use within a region that would protect from circulating strains within a given subtype (Metwally and Yousif 2017). Through retrospective analysis of H5N1 outbreaks in Egypt in 2010-2014, for which data on viral sequence and vaccine usage were available, the researchers confirmed their hypothesis and were able to predict which vaccines could have provided additional protection against the AI field isolates (Metwally and Yousif 2017). The application of this type of molecular modelling approach for vaccine selection is further supported by findings that genetic variation within the HA1 head domain of H5N1 HA better predict antigenic variation than overall HA genetic difference; genetic variation between heterologous H5N1 viruses in these same regions of antigenic significance also correlated with cross-clade protection in vivo in vaccinated chickens (Peeters et al. 2017). However, these strategies are yet to be tested in the field under outbreak conditions.

#### Correlates of vaccine-induced protection

While neutralising antibody titre and HI have long served as the standard measure of the efficacy of immune response induced by inactivated AI vaccines, they do not, in fact, always accurately predict protection from disease. Zhao et al. found that immunisation of chickens with inactivated or Newcastle disease virus-vectored H7N9 induced low titres of antibodies capable of HI or viral neutralisation *in vitro*, yet they found high levels of non-neutralising IgG and full clinical protection of all chickens from H7N9 challenge (Criado et al. 2020). The researchers suggested that total anti-viral antibody levels may provide a more accurate correlate of protection, at least in the case of H7N9 immunity.

Petri et al. provide further evidence that predicting the extent of vaccine-induced protection and its impact on transmission remains challenging. They immunized groups of SPF chickens with one of two inactivated H5N1 AI vaccines and found that while immunization with the Karangganya strain could protect against Sukabumi strain challenge, the reverse did not apply, despite the same antigenic unrelatedness between the vaccine and challenge viruses used (Poetri et al. 2017). The researchers

highlighted additional key factors including the vaccine potency and strain antigenicity as having a major influence in determining future cross protection.

In the case of live inactivated AI vaccines, protection seems to correlate with the ability of the vaccine to induce elevated expression of interferon-stimulated genes in the trachea following intranasal administration of an NS1-truncated live attenuated vaccine derived from H7N3 (Jang, Ngunjiri, and Lee 2016a). How this innate gene expression connects with other immune factors in driving protection is yet to be investigated.

Interesting data have also emerged from retrospective analyses of situations in which vaccine have failed to perform as hoped in the field. Swayne et al. investigated the high rates of vaccine failure seen in Indonesian H5N1 outbreaks since 2005; they detected significant antigenic drift away from the vaccine seed strains as a primary factor, but noted that in most cases HI titre to the challenge strain correlated well with subsequent vaccine-induced protection from that strain, but not from antigenically-dissimilar strains (Swayne et al. 2015). The researchers also noted that the relationship between HI titre and protection may well vary by species, and even by breed, and that the investigation of non-HI factors to cross-protection required further investigation. Indeed, a more recent study on the vaccination of backyard poultry with an inactivated H5N1 vaccine revealed significant differences in response between the four avian species tested (Kandeil et al. 2017).

# **Cross-protection**

The ability of a vaccine to induce protection against a range of influenza virus variants and strains is of paramount importance in the field, especially in the face of the antigenic drift that can occur in outbreak settings. In a wide-reaching study, Criado et al. conducted a set of vaccine-challenge experiments in chickens aiming to assess the level of cross-protection given by immunization with one of six inactivated influenza vaccines from the human pandemic preparedness program against eight homologous and heterologous isolates of HPAI H5N1 A/goose/Guangdong/1996 (Gs/GD) (Criado et al. 2020). While the levels of clinical protection varied between vaccine-challenge pairs as expected, almost all vaccinated birds exhibited significantly reduced viral shedding (Criado et al. 2020). Intriguingly, antibody titers prior to challenge did not predict protection, and some birds were partially protected from heterologous challenge despite the absence of detectable neutralizing antibodies to the challenge virus (Nassif et al. 2020). The researchers also identified a conserved pattern of epitope alterations within the HA protein that affected protection from all the vaccines tested, arguing for engineering of these epitopes in future vaccine strains.

Current vaccines have also been tested to assess their levels of cross-protection, although often not in field-like conditions. For example, Nassif et al. found that the commercially available turkey herpes virus-vectored recombinant HPAI H5N1 vaccine (Vectormune® AI) was able to clinically protect 80-90% of SPF chicks vaccinated subcutaneously at 1 day of age from intra-nasal challenge 28 days later with a homologous virus, or with H5N2 or H5N8 field isolates (Nassif et al. 2020). The researchers also found significant reductions in the frequency of birds shedding, and in the amount of virus shed, which is important for preventing transmission. A possible method to increase the cross-protective efficacy of current inactivated vaccines may be to boost immunity to the conserved M2e protein. There are promising initial data on this strategy from a study by Song et al., which showed that while chickens immunized with VLPs presenting M2e were not protected from either homologous or heterologous challenge, those primed with inactivated H5N1 and then boosted with the M2e VLP were completely protected after inoculation with either homologous or heterologous AI (B. M. Song et al. 2016). However, it is not clear whether this cross-protection would have been similarly induced by two immunizations with the inactivated vaccine, which was not tested in the study. Similarly, building on their previous work showing the potential of a chimeric norovirus P particle containing M2e (M2eP) to increase the breadth (but not strength) of response elicited by conventional inactivated vaccine (Elaish et al. 2017), Ghorbani et al. more recently assessed M2eP in combination with an H7N3 LPAI live-attenuated vaccine to understand whether combining these two approaches could induce broad protective immunity in chickens (Ghorbani et al. 2019a). They found that multiple M2eP boosts following a live-attenuated prime did transiently enhance protective immunity to heterosubtypic LPAI challenge, but that further study would be needed to understand the mechanisms of immunity important for effective cross-protection in this system (Ghorbani et al. 2019b).

Another method of inducing cross-protective immune responses is via the use of multi-epitope vaccines, in which the included epitopes are derived from heterologous influenza strains. Yu et al. constructed a recombinant baculovirus containing a sequence of cytotoxic T-cell, T helper-cell and B-cell epitopes from H1HA, H9HA and H7HA subtypes, and used it to intra-perintoneally vaccinate commercially reared chickens and SPF mice and assess their specific immune responses (Pushko et al. 2017). Encouragingly, both species mounted specific humoral and T cell-mediated responses to H7HA; however, these responses have yet to be linked to protection or cross-protection from challenge.

Extending the multi-epitope approach to the inclusion of whole multi-antigens, Pushko et al. generated a VLP that displayed H5, H7 and H9 HA, as well as N1 NA, and showed that chickens

receiving two doses of adjuvanted VLP vaccine mounted strong HI antibody responses. They also exhibited strong clinical protection from heterologous HPAI challenge and reduced viral shedding following HPAI or LPAI exposure (Kapczynski et al. 2016). Similarly, chickens immunised with VLPs containing HA from three distinct clades of H5N1 HPAI, as well as NA, mounted robust antibody responses and were protected from challenge with H5N1 and H5N8 AI (Ross et al. 2019).

Ross *et al.* harnessed computational modelling - using the Computationally Optimized Broadly Reactive Antigen (COBRA) approach - to generate a novel HA gene that was predicted to elicit broad cross-protective responses in chickens (Ross et al. 2019). They found that VLPs expressing the novel HA induced a greater breadth of cross-reactive antibodies capable of HI of diverse H5 strains, and protected chickens from challenge with an antigenically-drifted H5 clade virus, while VLPs expressing native H5 HA did not (J. E. Lee et al. 2020). The data from these studies further strengthen the case for VLP use as the basis of cross-protective vaccine design. For more on novel VLP-based vaccines see <u>here</u>.

# Adjuvants

Adjuvants have traditionally been considered only for their ability to increase the size of response to a vaccine antigen, though we now know that they can also affect the type and breadth of immune response elicited. Several studies have identified novel adjuvants capable of increasing the magnitude of immune response to AIV vaccines. For example, using *Bacillus subtilis* spores with inactivated LPAI H9N2 increases immune responses in chickens (Gan et al. 2019), as does the incorporation of recombinant chicken IFN $\alpha$  (P. Gu et al. 2020), while polyethylenimine-coated PLGA nanoparticleencapsulated Angelica sinensis polysaccharide outperformed conventional oil- and alum- based adjuvants as an immune stimulant in chickens immunized with an inactivated H9N2 vaccine (Tang et al. 2019). The effects of these adjuvants on the broader immune response and, in some cases, protection, have yet to be established.

As several novel vaccine candidates make use of the intra-nasal route of administration, there is a need for testing of mucosal vaccine adjuvants. Yitbarek *et al.* showed that Type IIb *Escherichia coli* heat-labile enterotoxin, when fused to H5 from HPAI H5N1 and instilled intranasally, was strongly immunogenic in mice and in chickens, where it elicited high titres of antiviral IgY, IgA and HI and neutralising antibodies in serum (Alexander Yitbarek et al. 2019).

Specifically aiming to enhance the immune response of ducks to conventional inactivated AI vaccines, Zhang *et al.* used the TLR3 ligand Poly I:C (which mimics the effects of viral double-stranded RNA on cells) as an adjuvant for an H9N2 vaccine in commercially reared two-week-old ducks (A. Zhang et al. 2017). Compared to ducks vaccinated with inactivated H9N2 alone, ducks that received Poly I:C/H9N2 mounted high anti-influenza antibody titres and in a shorter time, as well as higher levels of IFN- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-6 and MHC-II mRNA in cells from spleen; moreover, they exhibited reduced virus shedding after challenge with an antigenically-drifted H9N2 virus (A. Zhang et al. 2017).

Lone *et al.* compared a panel of 10 different adjuvants encompassing synthetic oil-based, plant oilbased, synthetic polymers, natural carbohydrates and seaweed-derived alginate for their ability to enhance immune responses to beta-propriolactone (BPL)- or formalin- inactivated H7N3 LPAI in 1month-old SPF chickens (Lone, Spackman, and Kapczynski 2017). The authors found that almost all adjuvants induced higher levels of antibodies to the vaccine virus compared to nonadjuvanted controls, and greater clinical protection from homologous HPAI challenge; however, BPL-inactivation was clearly superior to formalin-inactivation methods, leading to greater immunogenicity. They concluded that mineral- or plant oil-based adjuvants were optimal for injected whole inactivated AI vaccines, and that BPL-inactivation should become the method of choice (Lone, Spackman, and Kapczynski 2017).

In line with the theory of Sitaras *et al.* (Sitaras et al. 2016) that achieving cross-protection is at least in part simply down to stimulating a strong enough vaccine-induced response to a partially-related AI strain, Lu *et al.* showed that combining the immunopotentiator CVCVA5 with conventional oil-in-water adjuvanted inactivated H5 vaccine stimulated increased antibody and cellular immune responses to the vaccine across a range of poultry species, which was associated with improved antibody cross-neutralization *in vitro* compared to vaccine alone (J. Lu et al. 2016). Whether this response translates into increased protection *in vivo* remains to be established.

#### Dietary interventions to improve vaccine responses

Given the findings on the immune-modifying effects of the intestinal microbiota in birds (see <u>here</u>), it is perhaps unsurprising that studies are starting to show that the intestinal microbiota also affect responses to AI vaccination. One recent study compared the post-vaccination immune responses of SPF chicks that were pre-treated with probiotics, antibiotics, or by faecal microbial transplant (Alexander Yitbarek et al. 2019). The researchers found that antibiotic treatment was associated with lower cellular and humoral responses to inactivated H9N2 vaccine, while probiotic treatment was associated with higher virus-specific antibody titres; importantly, faecal microbial transplant could rescue the effect of antibiotic treatment, supporting the direct association between the gut microbiota and vaccine responses (Nofouzi et al. 2021). Manafi et al. also studied the effects of supplementing the diet of commercially reared chicks with either *Bacillus*- or *Lactobacillus*-containing probiotics on their responses to IV vaccination at day 7 of age (M. Manafi, Hedayati, and Mirzaie 2018). Intriguingly, while the highest dose of *Bacillus*-containing probiotics resulted in significantly higher HI titres on day 42 post-immunization compared to non-supplemented vaccinated controls, lower doses or treatment with *Lactobacillus* species was associated with lower than control levels of HI antibody (M. Manafi, Hedayati, and Mirzaie 2018). Given the broad effects of the gut microbiota on immunity, it is perhaps not surprising that the addition of the "wrong" bacteria could be deleterious to the response to vaccination. Defining the optimal probiotic supplement may require considerable research efforts, and tests under field conditions will be important to achieve the potential of this promising intervention.

A potentially easy way to improve vaccine responses would be to exploit the immune-modulating effects of natural feed supplements. Multiple studies have reported enhanced responses to conventional whole inactivated virus vaccines through oral administration of: heat-killed *Tsukamurella inchonensis* (Zakaria and Ata 2020), enzymatic treated soya protein concentrates (Harlystiarini et al. 2020), black soldier fly larvae meal (Shojadoost et al. 2020), selenium (Attia, Al-Harthi, and Abo El-Maaty 2020), fish- or plant-derived oils (Saleh et al. 2020), the plant flavonoids genistein and hesperidin (Kamboh et al. 2018), organic minerals (L. Lu et al. 2019), chromium (Jin et al. 2018; Zost et al. 2017), or golden needle mushrooms stems (Mahfuz et al. 2018). The mechanisms, and in many cases the relationship between enhanced response and protection, remain unknown. It would be interesting to understand how/whether these supplements affect the chicken gut microbiota and if this in turn relates to their immune-modulating properties.

Commercial and domestic poultry may be immunosuppressed as a result of viral infection, fungal contamination of their food, and/or stress. This immunosuppression can adversely impact responses to vaccination (as reviewed in (Schat and Skinner 2013)). A single study also looked at the possibility of using orally-administered immune modulators to increase vaccine-induced immune responses in immunosuppressed chickens. SPF chickens given oral ginseng stem-leaf saponins before induced immune suppression by cyclophosphamide injection, exhibited recovered general immune-responsiveness and antibody responses to an inactivated AI vaccine (J. Yu, Shi, and Hu 2015).

#### Novel vaccines

One of the key requirements of novel vaccine technologies is to facilitate the rapid and timely production of new vaccines. A recent paper reported the use of a reverse-genomics platform to generate an inactivated AI vaccine targeting HA and NA from HPAI H5N1 from the dominant clade circulating in Vietnam between 2012 and 2014 as a proof-of-principle study demonstrating the ability of the technique to expedite production of effective AI vaccines (Hoang et al. 2020). The authors used a low pathogenicity PR8 H1N1 backbone combined with the gene sequences for the HA and NA from the isolate of interest. The plasmids encoding all eight gene segments were transfected into 293T cells then rescued virus was propagated in SPF embryonated chicken eggs, where serial passage attested to its genomic stability and continued lack of pathogenicity. This virus was then inactivated before inoculation into three-week-old SPF chickens, where it induced over 90% protection from challenge with AI from within the same clade, and approximately 80% cross-protection against AI from a different clade; though it should be noted that both figures were lower than those following immunisation with the commercial vaccine NAVET-Vifluvac (Hoang et al. 2020). Similarly, Boubk et al. showed that a reverse-genetics approach could be used to effectively translate HA and NA sequences from recently circulating HPAI H5N8 into an effective vaccine capable of inducing complete clinical protection from homologous challenge in SPF chickens (Kang et al. 2020). Reverse-genetics engineered vaccines also have the potential to improve the process of vaccine seed-strain matching to circulating viruses. Kang et al. recently used this approach to generate five H5 vaccine seed strains for the Korean AI emergency vaccine bank, showing that the resulting egg-derived inactivated vaccines induced 100% protection in SPF chickens even after a single 1/10 dose (Kang et al. 2020).

Whilst these studies represent a promising demonstration of the potential of reverse genetics for production of animal influenza vaccines, the continued reliance on propagation of virus in embryonated hens' eggs remains a rate-limiting-step.

Virus-like particles (VLP) functionally mimic the antigenic structure of native virions but do not carry any genetic material and are therefore safe and relatively easy to manufacture, circumventing the need for embryonated hen egg culture; moreover they can be rapidly modified to take account of emerging variants. A recent study assessed the efficacy in chickens of a Montanide-adjuvanted VLP vaccine comprising M1 and HA proteins from LPAI H6N1 expressed using a baculovirus system, finding that two sub-cutaneous immunizations were sufficient to induce complete clinical protection from homologous challenge and high antibody titres that were cross-reactive with a human H6N1 isolate, as well as with antigenically-drifted H6N1 isolates *in vitro* (Zhu et al. 2020). Excitingly, the VLP platform

129

may also be able to be used from cross-species vaccines without significant modification: Hu et al. showed that a VLP comprising HA, NA and M1 proteins from a human H7N9 elicited neutralising antibodies and *ex vivo* antigen-specific cytokine production in both mice and chickens (Tatár-Kis et al. 2019).

In a comparative study in chickens, a novel H9N2 VLP vaccine out-performed the conventional inactivated equivalent, inducing higher levels of neutralising antibody and lower levels of viral shedding following homologous challenge (Xin Li et al. 2017). Similar results were found previously using an H6N1-VLP, which was able to induce cross-reactive antibodies in mice that inhibited the replication of diverse H6N1 isolates in vitro, while the conventional inactivated H6N1 vaccine did not (J. R. Yang et al. 2016). The efficacy of VLPs and their adaptation to mucosal administration may be achieved by the incorporation of dendritic cell-targeting sequences, as shown in a combined Newcastle disease virus and AI VLP vaccine in chickens (X. Xu et al. 2020). Moreover, there is some evidence that VLP-based HPAI vaccines may be able to overcome the issues of limited immunogenicity of some conventional inactivated AI vaccines in ducks: studies have shown strong antibody responses (Qin et al. 2019), and clinical protection against homologous HPAI challenge (Tatár-Kis et al. 2019). VLPs can also be efficiently produced in plants, with a recent study estimating that one kilogram of Nicotiana benthamiana leaf material would be sufficient to produce between five and 30 thousand chicken doses of an AI VLP vaccine (Nerome et al. 2017), compared to approximately three vaccine doses per chicken egg using current methods. Similarly, silkworm pupae might represent another low cost relatively efficient means of AI VLP production (Shehata et al. 2020a; Nerome et al. 2015).

One criticism of VLPs is that the lack of genetic material renders them potentially less immunogenic than live viruses. Live-attenuated influenza vaccines aim to overcome this and *do* include viral genetic material but are typically attenuated by truncation of NS1. One effect of this truncation is the generation of increased amounts of Type I IFN in response to LAIV vaccination, which has been correlated with their protective efficacy against LPAI in chickens (Jang, Ngunjiri, and Lee 2016b). Recently, Ghorbani *et al.* identified rare mutations in NS1 and PB2 proteins that increased the interferon-stimulatory properties of a reverse-genetics derived H7N3 LAIV; engineering both mutations into a novel LAIV significantly increased innate immune stimulation and reduced viral shedding after heterologous LPAIV challenge (Ghorbani *et al.* 2020). However, LAIV produced in this way continue to rely on embryonated chickens' eggs and there is a level of risk of recombination with circulating field strains which has been shown to occur readily, at least in chickens experimentally infected with H4N6 and H9N2 (Xuyong Li *et al.* 2018). The risk of recombination may be partially

ameliorated by emerging strategies such as modifications to the HA and NS1 packaging signals within the attenuated vaccine strain, as demonstrated by Chen *et al.* (S. Chen et al. 2021).

DNA vaccines have several attractive features as candidates for next-generation influenza prophylactics: they are relatively inexpensive to produce, can be produced and modified rapidly and safely, have the potential to induce long-lived humoral and cellular immunity, and are heat-stable, removing the need for cold-chain storage. However, previous candidate influenza DNA vaccines have suffered from variable immunogenicity *in vivo*, leading to a plethora of studies aiming to define the optimal strategy for their use. One such study demonstrated high efficacy in turkeys of a single intramuscular immunization of saponin-adjuvanted DNA vaccine incorporating the full HA gene from LPAI H9N2 (Shehata et al. 2020b). Researchers observed complete clinical protection and effective inhibition of viral shedding, followed by the development of high titres of neutralizing antibody from three weeks post-immunisation (Huo et al. 2019a). However, this study did not assess T cell immunity, nor the longevity of the response, which therefore remain to be established. Stachyra et al. also demonstrated that codon optimisation can be a powerful tool to increase the immunogenicity of AI DNA vaccines, but also noted high inter-individual variation in response level (Stachyra et al. 2016)

Additional methods of increasing the potency of DNA vaccines have also been trialled. For example, the use of the pCAGGS plasmid that uses the chicken  $\beta$ -actin promoter to drive antigen transcription, rather than the commonly used mammalian promotors (as reviewed in (Meunier, Chemaly, and Dory 2016)). The incorporation of IL-2- and IL-7- encoding sequences also significantly increased the immunogenicity and efficacy of a DNA vaccine against infectious bursal disease virus in chickens (Huo et al. 2019b) but is yet to be tested in an AI DNA vaccine.

RNA vaccines against H1N1 have recently been trialled for the first time in mice, with promising results (Vogel et al. 2018); however, to our knowledge the same technology has yet to be tested in avian species.

Efforts to improve the efficacy of live vectored viruses are also underway. Tsunekuni et al. reported an increase in clinical protection from HPAI H5N1 challenge from 70% to 100% with an associated reduction in frequency of shedding birds from 50% to 0% when a recombinant avian avulavirus expressing H5N1 HA was modified to include the 3' and 5' untranslated regions of the HA gene (Shirvani et al. 2020). Similarly, the selection of improved viral vectors may represent a significant forward step. For example, Shirvani et al. compared the previously studied recombinant avian paramyxovirus-1 (Newcastle disease virus) expressing HPAI HA, to a novel avian paramyxovirus 3vectored equivalent, which should replicate in a greater number of host organs (Shirvani et al. 2020). While either vaccine was able to induce complete clinical protection against HPAIV challenge, the avian paramyxovirus-vectored vaccine gave rise to higher levels of neutralizing antibodies (Criado et al. 2019). A potential problem with NDV-vectored AI vaccines is the interference of existing anti-NDV antibodies, which are common in commercial flocks due to a comprehensive NDV vaccination program. One way of overcoming this issue is the modification of the NDV vector to remove immunogenic sites: Kim et al. exchanged the ectodomains of the H5N1 HA-expressing NDV HN and F proteins for those of avian paramyxovirus-2, which share 41% and 35% sequence homology at the amino acid level, and showed that it was able to induce significant protection from HPAI H5N1 challenge two weeks after the second dose (S. H. Kim, Paldurai, and Samal 2017). Similarly, a prime boost regimen using a chimeric NDV vector that is antigenically distinct from NDV and expresses HA and NA, followed by a boost with the HA-alone-expressing NDV vector produced complete protection against both HPAI and NDV in commercially reared chickens

Criado et al. also reported success using a recombinant fowlpox vector to protect chickens against HPAI H7N3, but the vaccine showed little ability to induce cross-protective immunity and would require regular updating to maintain efficacy (L. Xu et al. 2020). HerpesVirus of Turkeys' (HVT) is another promising viral vector candidate, with one study in commercial broiler chicks achieving 100% clinical protection from H5N1 challenge and 80-100% reduction in viral shedding, one month after a single immunization of day old chicks with an recombinant HVT vaccine containing the HA gene from H5N1 AI at the same time as an HVT vaccine against NDV (Abd EI-Hamid et al. 2018). Also in HVT, Esaki et al. demonstrated the importance of optimal promotor selection in the case of virally-vectored vaccines, identifying the superior HI titres induced by immunization with HVT expressing H5 HA under the control of the cytomegalovirus promotor rather that the chicken beta actin or CMV/Bac chimera promotors (Esaki et al. 2015).

Viral vector strategies have also been designed specifically for use in ducks, via the use of attenuated vaccine strains of duck enteritis virus (DEV). Sun et al. inserted the gene for HA from H9N2 into DEV and found that a single intra-muscular immunisation induced sterile immunity to homologous challenge four weeks later (Y. Sun et al. 2017). Assisting in the development of future DEV vaccines, Zou et al. demonstrated the utility of the CRISPR/Cas9 system for the rapid generation of effective AIV vaccines (Z. Zou et al. 2017).

Another advantage of recombinant viral vectors is the potential to modify their biochemical characteristics, for example, a NDV vector with increased thermostability that allowed maintenance of initial titre for three days at 37°C and relatively high titres for 7 days at this temperature, whilst demonstrating enhanced immunogenicity in chickens and mice, has recently been reported (H. Lei et al. 2020a)Such developments are critical for the application of vaccination programmes in low-resource settings where cold-chain storage is not possible or reliable, but again issues of pre-existing immunity to the viral vector backbone must be carefully assessed.

Lactococcus lactis vectored vaccines offer several potential advantages over conventional vaccines, not least their independence from eggs for production; they are also suitable for needle-free administration via the oral route, but may require multiple administrations to elicit strong immune responses (reviewed in (Azizpour et al. 2017)). Current poultry vaccines for HPAI H5N1 are clade specific, but greater cross-protection is highly desirable. Lei et al. assessed the ability of a recombinant L. lactis displaying a portion of HA from H1N1 A/Vietnam/1203/2004 to induce protection from crossclade challenge, and found that a regime of six oral doses during the first month of life elicited significant systemic and mucosal antibody responses and complete clinical protection from lethal challenge with homologous or heterologous clades two weeks later (H. Lei et al. 2020b). This study builds on previous work by the same group and others, showing the potential for L. lactis-vectored oral influenza vaccines: Sha et al. used a modified L. lactis secreting an M1-HA2 fusion protein and induced strong mucosal and systemic immune responses in chickens that significantly reduced clinical signs of LPAI H9N2 infection (Sha et al. 2020); while Lahiri et al. showed that *L. lactis* expressing NA or M2e induced mucosal and systemic immune responses against these antigens, not only in the gut but also in the upper respiratory tract of intra-gastrically-immunised chickens (Lahiri, Sharif, and Mallick 2019). Increased strength of immune response to intra-nasally-administered *L. lactis*-vectored H5N1 HA has been achieved by the addition of heat-labile toxin B subunit – a mucosal adjuvant – leading to complete clinical protection from H5N1 challenge two weeks later, accompanied by strong specific Th1-biased cellular responses and high systemic and mucosal antibody responses, which were significantly less, or absent, without the use of the adjuvant (H. Lei, Peng, Jiao, et al. 2015). The potential of adjuvanted L. lactis as a vector for effective and cross-protective influenza vaccines may even extend to cross-species use: Lei et al. used a cholera-toxin-adjuvanted L. lactis expressing H1N1 NP and administered it orally to mice, resulting in strong humoral and cellular immunity and 80% cross-protection from H3N2 and H5N1 challenge (H. Lei, Peng, Ouyang, et al. 2015); similar results were found in ferrets immunized with an unadjuvanted *L. lactis* expressing HA from H5N1, which was

able to induce protective systemic and mucosal immune responses after intra-nasal delivery (Cox, Patriarca, and Treanor 2008; Cox and Hollister 2009).

Lactobacillus plantarum is another bacterial species showing promise as an AIV vaccine vector. Most recently, Li et al. constructed an L. plantarum expressing a fusion of NP and M2 from LPAI H9N2, with the Salmonella typhimurium flagellin protein FliC as a mucosal adjuvant, on the bacterial cell surface (Q. Y. Li et al. 2020). After three oral doses, SPF chicks were challenged with homologous AIV. The authors found that, compared to conventional inactivated vaccine, the recombinant L. plantarum vaccine elicited significantly higher levels of specific antibodies in the lung and of virus-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the spleen, which translated to low levels of virus in the lung and high levels of survival (Q. Y. Li et al. 2020) Similarly, Yang et al. found that *L. plantarum* expressing NP and M1 from H9N2, combined with a DC-targeting peptide, was an effective intra-nasal vaccine, capable of inducing high levels of specific antibodies both locally and systemically, as well as higher frequencies of CD8<sup>+</sup>T cells in the spleen compared to conventional inactivated vaccine; however, these effects required six doses and failed to control viral titre in the lung to the same level as conventional vaccine (W. T. Yang et al. 2017). Six oral doses of L. plantarum expressing HA2 from H9N2 LPAI on its surface was effective in inducing high HI titres in serum but was outperformed by conventional inactivated vaccine, however comparable levels of HA-specific IgA were present in lung of the two vaccinated groups, and accordingly, both provided comparable reductions in lung pathology and lung viral titre (Couture MM-J et al. 2010) Thus, an orally-administered non-egg-propagated bacterially-vectored AIV vaccine has the capacity to perform as well as conventional vaccine in a LPAI challenge model.

Recently, the bat influenza virus subtype H17N10 has been used as the backbone for the development of a new live vaccine prototype against HPAI H5N1 in chickens (Schön et al. 2020). This vaccine provided full protection against a lethal challenge infection in both juvenile and subadult chickens and in ferrets. Importantly, due to its use of the bat influenza backbone, this vaccine is unable to reassort with avian influenza viruses, raising its safety profile.

### Advances in vaccine production

Rapidity of production and non-reliance on the use of embryonated chickens eggs are desirable directions for future vaccine production. Petiot et al. reported the development of a new duck-derived cell line, DuckCelt®-T17, and conducted a proof-of-principle study of its use for inactivated influenza vaccine preparation (Petiot et al. 2018). This cell line showed good adaptation to suspension culture in animal-component-free medium, supported the replication of 18 influenza strains of human, swine

or avian origin, and demonstrated encouraging yields and scalability (Petiot et al. 2018). Though the study's main focus was on methods of production for human vaccines, this technology might prove ideal for the production of AI vaccines in future, especially given the evidence of egg-adaptation of IVs undergoing multiple passage in chicken eggs. Thus, the development of species-specific platforms for vaccine production may be desirable. Importantly, however, the ability of these new cell lines to be used for reverse-genetics-derived influenzas has not yet been tested and warrants further investigation.

The methods used for inactivating whole IV particles can affect virion structure and therefore immunogenicity. A study by Astill et al. compared the effects of the three main virus inactivation methods: formaldehyde, gamma irradiation, and BPL, finding that SPF chicks immunized intramuscularly at seven and 14 days of age mounted significantly higher antibody responses to AI when the vaccine was inactivated by BPL or gamma irradiation compared to formaldehyde (Astill, Alkie, et al. 2018). Dumard et al. provisionally investigated the use of high hydrostatic pressure to inactivate both human and avian IVs, finding that it had potential as a method that induced only minor and often reversible changes to the capsid structure with some retention of biological properties but without infectivity (Dumard et al. 2017).

Another major problem with egg-based vaccine production methods is the possibility of contamination of the vaccine stock by inoculation of already-dead embryonated eggs. Existing methods aiming to avoid this are manual candling at the production farm, but some embryos may also die between the farm and vaccine production unit, this is highly labour intensive, and this method fails to detect approximately 5% of unsuitable eggs. To overcome these issues Kimura et al developed an LED-based method for screening out unsuitable eggs, and demonstrated a 93% discrimination rate with great potential for automation and high-throughput analysis (Kimura et al. 2015).

# DIVA

A major issue with current vaccines is that they do not allow the differentiation of infected versus vaccinated animals, hampering surveillance efforts. Several novel strategies have aimed to overcome this, including the use of VLPs. In theory, any vaccine employing only part of the AI virion should allow DIVA by detection of antibodies to those proteins not included in the vaccine; however, in practice, many vaccines use the most immunogenic parts of the virus in their formulation, making detection of antibodies to the less immunodominant components of AI more challenging. However, Noh et al. demonstrated that this strategy can be successful: they immunized chickens with a chimeric VLP

comprised of HA and M1 proteins from HPAI H5N1 and a chimeric Newcastle disease virus fusion protein and achieved 100% clinical protection with reduced viral shedding, plus successful DIVA by detection of anti-NP antibodies in vaccinated-infected but not vaccinated chickens using a commercially available NP ELISA (Hautefeuille et al. 2020). Oliveira Cavalcanti et al. also successfully achieved cross-clade protection using a single immunisation with an adjuvanted H5 antigen generated using the baculovirus system (VOLVAC®B.E.S.T AI + ND KV, Boehringer Ingelheim Vetmedica), and demonstrated clear DIVA through the detection of anti-NP antibodies in vaccinated-infected, but not vaccinated-uninfected chickens (Oliveira Cavalcanti et al. 2017).

# Swine Influenza Vaccines

As swine influenza is not generally a notifiable disease, and causes morbidity rather than mortality, global vaccination strategies vary widely. Ten years ago in the US, over 95% of swine nursery sites vaccinated their animals, but over half of these also reported SIV infections (USDA 2017). Despite the licensing of additional LAIV and RNA based-alphavirus vectored subunit vaccines for use in the US, issues of poor antigenic match between commercial vaccines and circulating strains remain, leading to strong growth in the production of autogenous inactivated vaccines, which now represent approximately 50% of IAV-S vaccines sold in the US (Sandbulte et al. 2015). In Europe, vaccination is much less widely used, and only 5-10% of sows are immunized (Reeth, Vincent, and Lager 2016).

Debate is ongoing on the optimal approach to vaccination of swine against SIV: whole inactivated vaccines can be effective in protecting from homologous challenge, and, unlike LAIVs, do not risk reassortment with circulating field strains; however, in the face of heterologous challenge conventional vaccines may be linked with the occurrence of vaccine-associated enhanced respiratory disease (VAERD), and establishment of effective immunity may be hampered by the presence of MDA. Thus, there is ample room for improvement of existing vaccines against SIV.

# Route of delivery

Conventional inactivated vaccines are most frequently administered intra-muscularly. This has several drawbacks: it requires the production and disposal of vast quantities of biohazardous sharps waste each year, vaccines must be administered by well-trained personnel, the process is highly labour-intensive, the injected tissue cannot enter the human food chain, and the intra-muscular route is

notoriously poor at inducing mucosal responses which contribute significantly to protection from SIV. Thus, the ideal vaccine administration route would be designed to overcome these issues.

# Effects of maternal antibody

Maternal antibody interference to conventional whole inactivated vaccines is well documented (Markowska-Daniel, Pomorska-Mól, and Pejsak 2011; Kitikoon et al. 2006), and recent attempts to vaccinate MDA-bearing piglets within the first days of life have confirmed this, proving ineffective at preventing SIV infection in the field (Ryt-Hansen, Larsen, Kristensen, Krog, and Larsen 2019). However, a laboratory study in 14-day-old piglets given an intra-nasally-administered LAIV vaccine indicated induction of immunity regardless of the presence of MDA (Pyo, Hlasny, and Zhou 2015).

An alternative perspective considers how the power of MDA could be harnessed through sow immunization. Pardo *et al.* carried out a prospective longitudinal field study of 52 commercial breed-to-wean farms in the US aiming to compare the effects of different sow vaccination strategies and the impact of commercial versus autogenous vaccine use on IAV infection in piglets at the point of weaning (Fabian O. Chamba Pardo et al. 2021a). They found that all vaccination strategies were effective at reducing the incidence of IAV infection in weaning piglets on the farms, though not the frequency of infected farms, and did not detect any differences between the use of different whole virus inactivated vaccine products (Fabian O. Chamba Pardo et al. 2021b).

# Vaccine-Associated Enhanced Respiratory Disease (VAERD)

An intriguing phenomenon is the rare but well-documented occurrence of disease enhancement in pigs after immunization against SIV. This has been found to occur after vaccination with whole inactivated SIV (Khurana et al. 2013), recombinant HA (Rajão et al. 2014), or NP delivered via virus replicon particles (Ricklin et al. 2017) followed by heterologous challenge, or after immunization with either M2e fusion proteins or a DNA vaccine encoding M2e-NP followed by inoculation with H1N1 (Heinen et al. 2002). Understanding VAERD has proven challenging, but several studies have begun to shed light on various aspects of the processes involved. For example, it appears that not only the antigen but the route of delivery may influence the risk of VAERD: Bernelin-Cottet *et al.* compared the intra-dermal and intra-muscular routes of delivery for CpG-adjuvanted conserved IAV protein antigens (M2e, NP and HA2) and found that while the intra-dermal route of delivery was associated with increased frequency, severity and duration of symptoms, the same vaccine administered intra-muscularly elicited a partially-protective response (Bernelin-Cottet *et al.* 2016). The type of adjuvant used may also play a role. Souza et al. found that intra-muscular administration of H1N1 adjuvanted

with oil-in-water emulsion induced marked VAERD upon H1N1 challenge, while the same antigen delivered in squalene-based nano-emulsion or gel format adjuvant did not (Souza et al. 2018). A previous study by the same group effectively excluded a role for either age or timing of infection relative to vaccination in determining the onset of VAERD (Souza et al. 2016).

Earlier studies linked VAERD in pigs to the presence of non-neutralising antibodies to HA2 (Khurana et al. 2013), to mismatch in NA sequence (Rajão et al. 2016); and showed the capacity for amelioration by inclusion of M2e protein in the WIV vaccine preparation (Kitikoon et al. 2009). Moreover, there is some evidence that VAERD-inducing antibodies can be passed down from the WIV-immunized sow to her piglets (Rajao et al. 2016). In mice immunized against a human H3N2 strain, VAERD was associated with the induction of pathologic Th17 responses (Maroof et al. 2014), but to our knowledge this latter phenomenon has yet to be explored in pigs.

Parallels have been drawn between VAERD in pigs and other occurrences of antibody-dependent enhancement of viral infection, as most notably seen during some natural secondary heterologous infections with dengue virus (reviewed in Kuczera et al. 2018), causing major challenges for the design of protective vaccines against dengue. In the case of dengue, studies have indicated important roles for T cells (Nikin-Beers and Ciupe 2018) and complement (Byrne and Talarico 2021) in driving severe disease during secondary infection. These possibilities have yet to be assessed in SIV infection.

### Correlates of vaccine-induced protection

Studies using the single-cycle replicating LAIV vaccine, S-FLU, which is available in Europe, have been informative in identifying correlates of vaccine-induced protection. Morgan et al. showed that S-FLU administered intra-nasally by aerosol induced both local and systemic CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses, but it was the local responses that correlated with protection from homologous challenge, which occurred in the absence of systemic neutralizing antibody (Morgan et al. 2016a).

A single study has noted that the frequency of IFN<sub>γ</sub>-producing T cells is not related to protection following intra-nasal immunization with a temperature-sensitive reverse-genetics derived LAIV, but may be a useful measure of intra-muscular adjuvant/WIV vaccine immunogenicity in pigs (Olson et al. 2017).

#### **Cross-protection**

As a result of the constantly changing heterogeneity of circulating SIV strains, a single conventional whole-inactivated virus vaccine may not not protect against challenge with antigenically distinct strains. Therefore, much research has focused on ways of achieving greater cross-protection with existing WIV vaccines through the use of modified regimes or formulations, and several novel vaccines have been designed with the specific aim of inducing increased breadth of protection.

A study by Van-Reeth et al. showed that a heterologous prime-boost regimen with oil-in-water adjuvanted WIV European H3N2 followed by American H3N2 induced solid protection against both strains, as well as cross-reactive antibody responses to further antigenically-distinct H3N2 isolates (Van Reeth et al. 2017). Interestingly this response could not be recapitulated by a single immunization with a bivalent vaccine containing the same WIV strains, however it is not clear whether boosting with the bivalent vaccine would have increased the cross-reactivity. The same group then went on to assess the efficacy of the same regimen in pigs with pre-existing immunity to human-origin H3N2, finding that prior influenza exposure increased and broadened the response to heterologous prime-boost immunization (Chepkwony et al. 2020). Similarly, a recent study comparing homologous and heterologous prime-boost strategies using multivalent commercially-available inactivated SIV vaccines and a bivalent commercially-available LAIV demonstrated potential for a heterologous approach: the authors found that any heterologous regimen conferred improved immunity to simultaneous H1N1 and H3N2 homologous challenge compared to homologous prime-boost (C. Li et al. 2020). Together, these studies pose important questions about the mechanisms of increased protection/cross-protection elicited by heterologous vaccination in swine and whether it is the nature of the prime and boost, the order in which they are applied, or simply the presence of any two heterologous vaccines that is important in this process.

The capacity of DNA vaccines to encode both conserved and strain-specific antigens may also be exploited to generate vaccines with broad cross-protective potential. Borggren *et al.* studied the immune response induced by two immunizations of swine with an  $\alpha$ -tocopherol-based adjuvanted DNA vaccine encoding NP and M from one H1N1 strain, with HA and NA genes from a different strain of H1N1 and an H3N2 isolate (Borggren et al. 2016). The intra-dermally-administered DNA vaccine elicited antibody and T cell responses that recognised both homologous and heterologous viruses *in vitro*, although protective efficacy *in vivo* is yet to be established.

### Adjuvants

Alongside the ability of adjuvants to increase the magnitude of the immune response, recent data also suggest that certain adjuvants may be able to broaden the antigen recognition elicited by conventional inactivated whole virus vaccines, with the potential for enhancing cross-protection. Dhakal *et al.* first reported the use of corn-derived alpha-D-glucan nanoparticles as a novel adjuvant for inactivated SIV administered intra-nasally, and showed encouraging induction of local cross-reactive specific IgA but without inducing cross-reactive T cells or serum IgG responses to the vaccine (Dhakal *et al.* 2019). However, a follow up study aiming to enhance systemic responses to the vaccine by incorporating Poly I:C, the potent immunostimulatory TLR3 ligand, into the nanoparticles along with either inactivated SIV or conserved SIV B cell and T cell peptide antigens showed minimal improvements (Renu et al. 2020).

Other adjuvants have also been trialled as enhancers of cross-protection by whole-inactivated SIV vaccines. Following their work showing that a Poly[di(sodium carboxylatoethylphenoxy)-phosphazene-adjuvanted inactivated H1N1 SIV vaccine induced strong local and systemic specific antibody and potentially-cross-reactive T cell responses that together protected from virulent H1N1 challenge (R. Magiri et al. 2018), Magiri *et al.* went on to establish whether this T cell response was able to cross-protect against H3N2 after intra-dermal immunization of swine: it was not (R. B. Magiri et al. 2020).

Invariant natural killer T (iNKT) cells have important roles in viral infections: upon ligation of their MHC-I-like CD1d molecule, iNKT secrete large amounts of T-cell stimulatory cytokines and support the activation of antigen-presenting, NK and B cells (reviewed in (Opasawatchai and Matangkasombut 2015)). Two studies have assessed the use of the iNKT cell ligand,  $\alpha$ Galacosyl-Ceramide ( $\alpha$ Gal-Cer), as a novel adjuvant for SIV vaccines. Dwivedi *et al.* combined  $\alpha$ Gal-Cer with UV-inactivated H1N1 administered as intra-nasal drops; they found that the addition of  $\alpha$ Galacosyl-Ceramide increased WIV-induced specific-IgA, NK cytotoxicity and IFN $\alpha$  levels in the lung, which was associated with significantly decreased viral titres and pathology following homologous challenge, compared to WIV alone (Dwivedi et al. 2016). In their study on the effect of  $\alpha$ Gal-Cer as an adjuvant for intra-muscularly administered UV-inactivated H1N1, Artiaga et al. similarly saw significant enhancements to the immune response: compared to non-adjuvanted antigen,  $\alpha$ Gal-Cer-adjuvanted H1N1 induced higher levels of systemic and lung HI antibodies, as well as SIV-specific IFN $\gamma$ -secreting T cells in the blood that localised to the lung during homologous challenge; also in the lung the authors saw increased levels of iNKT cells during infection, which was associated with reduced viral replication and shedding (Artiaga, Yang, Hackmann, et al. 2016). Thus,  $\alpha$ Gal-Cer appears to be a promising candidate adjuvant for SIV vaccines capable of enhancing immunity and harnessing this potent cell population that may contribute to protection. Further studies are needed to assess the effects of  $\alpha$ Gal-Cer on crossprotection and to understand the role of iNKT cells in natural and vaccine-induced immunity to SIV.

#### Novel vaccines

Current vaccines against swine influenza typically have long production times and may not accurately reflect the current strains in circulation by the time they come to be administered. This becomes an especially pressing issue in the case of the emergence of a zoonotic strain with pandemic potential, when our ability to respond rapidly to the threat can have significant benefits in controlling the disease.

DNA vaccines have generated much interest in the swine influenza field for three main reasons: they are quick and easy to produce and modify to match the circulating strain, are capable of inducing broadly cross-reactive T cell responses – which current whole inactivated vaccines are notoriously poor at doing, and they can be delivered rapidly in a needle-free way. However, they often lack the ability to induce the high levels of antibody that are typically thought to be required for protection. One possible way of increasing antibody generation by DNA vaccines is by including an APC-targeting sequence to direct the translated antigenic protein to the APC at the immunization site. Building on their previous work with a DNA vaccine encoding MHCII-targeted HA from H1N1 (PR8) (Grodeland et al. 2016), Grodeland *et al.* recently showed that H1N1 HA linked to a chemokine-receptor targeting protein (MIP1 $\alpha$ ) was able to induce stronger IgG2 antibody responses in swine in the field, alongside higher levels of cross-reactive T cell activation compared to vaccination with the same DNA vaccine minus the targeting sequence (Grodeland, Fossum, and Bogen 2020). It remains unclear whether the increased level of IgG2 would be sufficient for clinical and virological protection following challenge, but these data represent a promising step forwards in the rational design of effective DNA vaccines for swine.

As for avian species, the use of viral RNA sequences to stimulate specific immune responses in swine is largely unexplored. A single study has reported the results of an RNA-prime, inactivated boost strategy against foot-and-mouth disease virus, with RNA-vaccinated animals exhibiting higher levels of neutralising antibodies, more quickly, and greater specific T cell responses, compared to pigs receiving conventional vaccine alone (Borrego et al. 2017). Given the recent success of RNA vaccines

141
in humans against SARS-CoV-2 (Dolgin 2021), generation and testing of RNA vaccines for SIV should be considered a research priority.

Other live-virus-vectored vaccine strategies have also given encouraging results on their crossprotective ability. One particularly interesting study documented the use of a live mouse-adapted human H1N1 strain as an SIV vaccine in commercially-bred piglets: subsequent challenge with SIV H1N1 or H3N2 showed strong control of local viral replication by day five post-inoculation (though not at day three), in the absence of detectable increases in serum HI antibodies (Zhao Wang et al. 2019). The mechanism of protection was unclear, but the authors speculate that it may be attributed to the activities of non-HI antibodies, mucosal antibody or cell-mediated immunity.

Again with the aim of inducing strong cross-protective immunity in swine, McCormick et al. exploited the power of molecular breeding (also known as DNA shuffling) to recapitulate the effects of viral genome evolution *in vitro* and generated four chimeric HA gene sequences representing distinct H1N1 clades. An initial study showed that these proteins delivered on an inactivated reassortant influenza virus background were broadly immunogenic in pigs, but their protective efficacy was untested (McCormick et al. 2015). More recently, they conducted a challenge study in pigs and found that two intra-nasal immunizations with a live parainfluenzavirus-vectored vaccine expressing one of the chimeric HA antigens induced broadly cross-reactive antibodies in sera and strong protection from homologous H1N1 challenge (Z. Li et al. 2020). It will be interesting in future studies to establish the full breadth of protection elicited by this novel vaccine.

An important feature of any novel vaccine for use in young animals is that it be able to induce effective immunity in the presence of MDA. In 2017, the US licensed a bivalent LAIV incorporating two reversegenetics-derived viruses (Ingelvac Provenza<sup>™</sup>). Intra-nasal immunization with this mixture of NS1truncated H3N2 and the same virus but possessing H1N1 HA and NA, was able to induce long-lasting immunity that reduced the incidence and shedding of virus from H1N2 or H3N2 challenged piglets (Kaiser et al. 2019), and was effective regardless of the presence or absence of MDA (Genzow et al. 2018). The ability of this vaccine to induce equally effective immunity in MDA -positive or -negative piglets is a major step forwards in reducing the heterogeneity of the national/regional herd response to immunization; however, this was tempered by recent findings showing that the vaccine strain had likely reassorted with circulating field strains in the US as soon as 2018 (Sharma et al. 2020). A recent strategy reported the use of a chimeric bat influenza vectored LAIV expressing truncated NS1 as a strategy designed to prevent recombination while retaining immunogenicity (Jinhwa Lee et al. 2021); however the vaccine was not assessed in the presence of MDA. The use of DNA vaccines does not carry the risk of genetic reassortment and may also circumvent the potentially-inhibitory effects of MDA upon vaccine-induced immune responses. Sisteré-Oró et al. recently demonstrated that an alpha-tocopherol adjuvanted DNA vaccine encoding HA antigens fused with the bacterial immune-activator flagellin induced cross-protective responses that significantly reduced viral shedding at days five and 7 post-challenge with H1N1 or H3N2, regardless of the presence of MDA (Sisteré-Oró et al. 2019b).

#### Use of computer modelling for vaccine design

The induction of cross-protective immunity is a major goal of swine influenza vaccine research. A novel approach to the design of cross-protective vaccines is the use of computer modelling to predict an optimal cocktail of vaccine antigens to maximise the epitope coverage of a diverse protein, such as influenza virus HA. This field has progressed rapidly in recent years: using their own PigMatrix platform (Gutiérrez et al. 2015), Gutierrez *et al.* identified class I and II SLA epitopes predicted to cover seven representative IAV-S strains and generated a multi-epitope DNA vaccine that induced high levels of epitope-specific T cell responses in commercially reared outbred piglets (Gutiérrez et al. 2016). Utilising the same computationally-designed DNA vaccine, Hewitt et al. experimented with various combinations of homologous or heterologous boost (using the bivalent FluSure XP® whole inactivated H1N1/H3N2 vaccine), with fascinating results: pigs primed with the DNA vaccine and boosted with inactivated vaccine exhibited the highest level of peptide-specific T cell responses *and* comparable humoral responses to animals receiving two immunizations with the inactivated vaccine following H1N1 challenge (Hewitt et al. 2019).

Antigenic relatedness of SIV strains is often estimated based on their sequence identity, however this does not have a linear relationship with their immunological relatedness. In particular, cross-protection in the absence of neutralising antibodies is thought to be mediated by T cells (Hiremath et al. 2016; Morgan et al. 2016b), making "T-cell antigenic relatedness" a key parameter. Based on data from the PigMatrix platform, Gutiérrez et al. went on to develop the EpiCC algorithm, which links the identified SLA-I and -II epitopes with their predicted T-cell-facing structures and thereby assesses the likelihood of their recognition by vaccine-elicited T cells (Gutiérrez et al. 2017). Concentrating on T cell epitopes within the highly-variable HA region, the authors were able to link epitope relatedness between vaccine and challenge strains to clinical efficacy based on data from previously published studies (Gutiérrez et al. 2017). (Hiremath et al. 2016; Morgan et al. 2016b), making "T-cell antigenic

relatedness" a key parameter. Based on data from the PigMatrix platform, Gutiérrez et al. went on to develop the EpiCC algorithm, which links the identified SLA-I and -II epitopes with their predicted T-cell-facing structures and thereby assesses the likelihood of their recognition by vaccine-elicited T cells (Gutiérrez et al. 2017). Concentrating on T cell epitopes within the highly-variable HA region, the authors were able to link epitope relatedness between vaccine and challenge strains to clinical efficacy based on data from previously-published studies (Gutiérrez et al. 2017).

Another algorithm that is generating exciting new data to inform DNA vaccine design is Epigraph. (Theiler and Korber 2018). Bullard et al. recently used this tool to compute optimal H3 HA sequences for incorporation into replication-defective adenovirus vectors (Bullard et al. 2021). A single intramuscular immunization of the viral-vectored Epigraph-designed antigens into outbred piglets generated cross-reactive antibodies to 11 of the 13 swine H3 strains tested, as well as to three of the seven human isolates of H3, and broadly-reactive T cell responses; neither of which were seen after a single immunization with commercial inactivated vaccine (Bullard et al. 2021). Cross reactivity to human and swine H3 was boosted in both novel and conventional vaccine groups by a second administration three weeks after the prime; however, the strong response induced by the Epigraph antigens in a short time frame is noteworthy and could provide a critical advantage in an outbreak or pandemic scenario.

#### Equine Influenza Vaccines

Vaccination remains a primary method of control of EIV outbreaks globally, but with disparate regulations governing its use in different countries and situations. The OIE now recommends that all EIV vaccines include both Florida Clade 1 and 2 viruses to increase protection (OIE 2019), but a close antigenic match between vaccine virus and circulating strains remains necessary for adequate protection: this in turn requires ongoing surveillance and sequencing of field strains. Furthermore, protection is also affected by the immunisation schedule, which is complicated further by the presence of MDA in young foals (reviewed in (Daly and Murcia 2018)).

#### Effects of maternal antibody

Defining the optimum timing and approach to vaccination is a key factor in any successful immunization campaign. A recent study detected evidence of strong interference from maternal antibodies in foals injected with an inactivated equine influenza at 3 days of age, which exhibited rapid declines in antibody titre from 3 weeks post-immunization, in contrast to foals from unvaccinated

mares (Tallmadge et al. 2017). Interestingly, despite their low levels of antibodies, foals from vaccinated mares exhibited comparable immunoglobulin class switching and antibody diversity, demonstrating that the effects of maternal antibody interference are likely to be restricted to limiting the duration of vaccine-induced immunity in this setting, rather than impacting the qualitative aspects of the antibody response.

Maternal antibody interference was also seen in a field vaccination study in foals using a canarypoxvectored EIV vaccine, which found that over 98% of foals vaccinated between 4 and 9 months of age were predicted to be unprotected at 3 months post-boost, likely as a result of MDA (Fougerolle et al. 2016a). Importantly, when the prime immunization was administered 7 weeks later in a separate cohort, significant increases in humoral immunity were detected in the foals at the same timepoints (Fougerolle et al. 2016b). Interestingly, whilst an earlier study also found that initial immunization with a multi-valent inactivated EIV-containing vaccine at 3 versus 6 months of age led to significantly lower specific antibody levels to EI, the researchers observed that several measures of cellular immunity were comparable between groups (Davis et al. 2015).

#### Studies of licensed vaccines

Several vaccines against EIV are commercially available, and a recent study has compared the responses to each in groups of young sport horses to establish the speed of antibody induction after a prime-boost program, and the duration of antibody titres predicted to provide clinical and virological protection. The authors found that a canarypox-vectored vaccine was slower to induce seroconversion compared to recombinant or subunit vaccination, which induced seroconversion in almost all horses by day 7 post-boost (Entenfellner et al. 2020a). Two months later, the antibody response to whole inactivated vaccine was high enough to be likely to protect over 90% of horses, compared to 62% and 48% of horses that would have been protected after immunization with the subunit and live-vectored vaccines respectively; however, by six months none of the vaccine responses remained high enough to be likely to achieve virological protection (Entenfellner et al. 2020b). This study highlights the need for significant improvements to EIV vaccines, with a particular focus on increasing the duration of immunity.

Due to regional or global regulations that require immunization of horses before travel, competition, or high-risk seasons for pathogen infection, many animals are given multiple vaccines concurrently, but it is unclear whether this affects the immune responses to the individual vaccines. An observational study by Ohta *et al.* showed that separating inactivated EIV vaccine boost from

immunization with a new live attenuated equine herpesvirus type-1 vaccination by two weeks led to far higher antibody responses to the influenza vaccine (Ohta et al. 2020). In contrast, there was no interference evident when inactivated EIV and inactivated equine herpesvirus-1/4 vaccines were coadministered to horses (Gildea et al. 2016). These findings call for further investigation and perhaps regulation of the equine vaccination schedule to avoid interference between vaccines, and also for further research in other species as to the effects of live and inactivated vaccine co-administration.

Accurate analysis of protection offered by current or novel vaccines inevitably requires experimental infection of the natural host. However, in the case of EIV, reduced pathogenicity of recently emerged FC2 strains has led to variable induction of clinical signs and the need for larger numbers of animals to be challenged in order to generate robust results. The most commonly used challenge method in these studies is room nebulisation, which was initially adopted due to its superior efficacy compared to other routes tested at the time, as well as being well-tolerated by the animals (Mumford, Hannant, and Jessett 1990), but a meta-analysis by Garrett *et al.* has now revealed that greater accuracy can be achieved by changing to individual nebulisation, particularly for less pathogenic EIV strains (Garrett et al. 2017). This is an important finding that makes clear evidence-based recommendations for a change to current protocols in line with the imperative for reduction and refinement of the use of animals in research.

#### Novel vaccines

Antigenic drift away from the vaccine seed strains currently used to produce inactivated whole virus EIV vaccines may limit their efficacy, and the generation of new seed strains and vaccine stocks is a slow and expensive process; moreover, immunity to conventional vaccines can be short-lived in horses (Entenfellner et al. 2020b). Thus, several novel vaccine candidates are under investigation. A recent study by Blanco-Lobo *et al.* described a novel bivalent live-attenuated reverse-genetics-derived EIV vaccine that aims to overcome these issues. Building on their previous work developing a monovalent H3N1 FC1 LAIV which was both safe and effective in horses (Rodriguez et al. 2018), the authors generated a recombinant virus vaccine containing the internal genes of an attenuated clade 1 H3N8 and the HA and NA of an attenuated clade 2 H3N8 EIV and tested it in horses (Blanco-Lobo et al. 2019a). Horses immunized twice, 29 days apart, with the novel vaccine by aerosol inhalation exhibited decreased clinical signs and lower levels of virus excretion than their non-immunized counterparts when challenged with virulent clade 1 or clade 2 virus 28 days later (Blanco-Lobo et al. 2019b). This represents the first live-attenuated bivalent vaccine effective against circulating clade 1 and 2 EIVs,

engineered onto a viral backbone that makes updates to the antigenic sequence relatively straightforward, and with the ability to be produced independent of egg culture. However, as duration of protection is a key shortfall of existing inactivated vaccines, this should be specifically assessed in future studies.

#### Modelling/Outbreak control

Whilst vaccines are commonly used in EIV endemic countries, some regions have not ever been affected by an EIV outbreak, such as New Zealand. Rosanowski et al. have developed epidemiologic (S. M. Rosanowski et al. 2016a) and combined epidemiologic-economic (Sarah M. Rosanowski et al. 2019a) models to predict and compare the efficacy and cost-effectiveness of different control strategies under specific outbreak scenarios in this country. They compared movement restrictions only with the same restrictions alongside suppressive (vaccination of all susceptible animals within a 3km radius of an infection site), protective (vaccination of animals in the zone between a 7 and 10 km radius ring from an infection site) or targeted (vaccination of animals on all breeding and racing properties within 20km of an infection site) vaccination strategies, finding that addition of suppressive vaccination offered the greatest reduction in cases, and that the speed of the vaccination response was a critical factor in successful control (S. M. Rosanowski et al. 2016b). An extension of the work to include economic parameters further supported the use of suppressive or protective vaccination versus movement restrictions alone, taking into account the cost of the vaccination programs themselves and the impact of whether the outbreak were to occur during or outside of the main breeding season, offset against the predicted cost of the ensuing outbreak (Sarah M. Rosanowski et al. 2019b).

#### **Companion Animal Vaccines**

Although rarely fatal, canine influenza has attracted growing research interest since 2015, when an avian-derived H3N2 originating from Korea/South China caused an outbreak in the USA (Voorhees et al. 2017; Watson, Bell, and Toohey-Kurth 2017), and proved transmissible to other companion animal species (Lyoo et al. 2015). Although human infection with CIV has yet to be reported, active surveillance and pro-active CIV control strategies are warranted.

#### Route of delivery

Conventional needle-based administrations have multiple limitations including the need for relatively high volumes of virus, a cold chain of storage, disposal of sharps (with associated safety and environmental issues), and the need for trained professionals for administration; furthermore, in the case of companion animals the use of needles may reduce compliance of owners not wishing to put their pet under stress. Initially developed with the aim of generating a thermo-stable format for human influenza vaccines with the possibility of self-administration that avoided the need to travel to a healthcare setting (Mistilis, Bommarius, and Prausnitz 2015), microneedle-coated patches have recently been trialled as an alternative administration method for CIV vaccines. Microneedle patches consist of an array of microscopic needles that are attached to a backing pad, which may be dissolvable or removable, and – alongside their practical advantages – are thought to effectively target antigenpresenting cells in the skin to induce potent immune responses with low doses of vaccine (for a recent review of this technology see (Rodgers et al. 2018)). Choi et al. showed that coating and drying and inactivated H3N2 CIV vaccine onto microneedle tips significantly increased the thermal stability of the vaccine at high temperatures and elicited strong HI antibody responses in guinea pigs (I. J. Choi et al. 2018). A subsequent study by the same group confirmed that microneedle delivery of H3N2 inactivated vaccine was as effective as intramuscular injection at inducing antibody responses in dogs (I. J. Choi et al. 2020).

An orally- delivered CIV would be highly desirable, but to date no reports have been published towards this aim.

#### Novel vaccines

The emergence of H3N2 CIV in the US in 2015 caused concern not only for the health of affected dogs, but also for other susceptible companion animals, such as cats, and about the risk of transmission to humans. While there was some evidence in mouse models that the existing vaccine against equineorigin H2N8 CIV may offer partial protection against the H3N2 strain (Willis et al. 2016), a new vaccine offering improved protection was needed. Researchers working at Merial Inc. developed a monovalent inactivated H3N2 vaccine soon after: after two immunizations puppies were challenged with virulent H3N2 and exhibited complete clinical protection coupled with an 80% reduction in viral shedding compared to the placebo-immunized group (Cureton et al. 2016). The availability and application of this vaccine has not, however, prevented increasing incidence of CIV outbreaks across the country (Voorhees et al. 2017). Rodriguez *et al.* have since developed both monolvalent H3N2 (Rodriguez, Nogales, Reilly, et al. 2017) and bivalent H3N2 and H3N8 (Rodriguez, Nogales, Murcia, et al. 2017) LAIVs to protect dogs against CIV, with encouraging results in mouse challenge studies after single dose intra-nasal administration. However, these have yet to be proven effective in dogs.

Although many cats are routinely vaccinated against "feline influenza" which is the common name for flu-like symptoms caused by infection with feline calicivirus and feline herpesvirus, a CIV vaccine licensed for use in cats is currently lacking. Velineni *et al.* tested an inactivated CIV vaccine in ten kittens, showing its safety and effective induction of HI antibodies two weeks post-boost (Velineni et al. 2020). This proof-of-principle study showed that this vaccine could be used in a cross-species immunization program, though the protective efficacy in felines remains to be tested.

### **Ongoing research**

Scientists at the US National Poultry Research Center are evaluating the efficacy of existing and novel AIV vaccines in poultry by conducting gene sequencing and evaluating serological cross-reaction among relevant isolates, and new viral vector-based vaccine approaches are also under study. In Germany, at Boehringer Ingelheim Animal Health, development of novel vaccines against H9N2 AIV is underway, and scientists at Erasmus MC Viroscience in Rotterdam in the Netherlands are working to design universal vaccine candidates against H5 AIV. At the University of Nottingham, meanwhile, researchers study the potential of plant-based vaccines against AIV, expressing avian IAV proteins in plants for the development of virus-like particle vaccines.

Research into swine influenza virus vaccination also continues apace. At the National Institute of Animal Health in Japan, scientists are working to establish criteria for SIV vaccine strain selection. In Argentina, at the National Institute of Agriculture Technology, researchers are developing antigen candidates by reverse genetics for swine IAV vaccines based on Argentinean isolates. Research continues at the Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut into novel platforms for swine IAV vaccines, including avenues for universal and DIVA vaccination methods; alongside, scientists there are developing and testing temperature-sensitive LAIV vaccines targeting SIV, in collaboration with the University of Freiburg and Ceva. The efficacy of heterologous prime-boost swine vaccination protocols are under study at the University of Minnesota, testing both live attenuated and multivalent inactivated vaccines against simultaneous infection of pigs with H1N1 and H3N2 SIVs. Also under study here are the impact

of vaccination on reassortment under field conditions, testing whether vaccines can reduce the likelihood of potentially hazardous antigenic shifts, and the use of pre-farrowing sow vaccination to consistently wean SIV-negative pigs. At Ghent University in Belgium, meanwhile, researchers are developing a sustainable vaccination strategy for cross-clade protection against H1N1 in both swine and humans.

# **Future research priorities**

Based on the above literature review and with reference to previously identified knowledge gaps and expert opinion, the following areas of animal influenza vaccines should be considered priorities for future research:

- better understanding of the mechanisms and immune-system-wide effects of adjuvants to enable rational design of improved vaccines with rapid onset of broadly-protective immunity
- multi-species vaccine platforms that are broadly cross-protective: a universal flu vaccine?
- design of vaccination strategies that take into account both potential protection and interference from MDA
- vaccine performance under field conditions/studies that validate laboratory models of vaccination by comparison to field conditions
- comparative studies of vaccine efficacy in avian species other than chickens, including domestic ducks and turkeys
- characterization of the post-vaccination adaptive cellular immune response in swine
- correlates/tests for vaccine protection in avian species and swine
- *identification of factors that can affect the efficacy of AIV vaccination.*
- assessment of novel vaccines according to their ability to prevent infection and transmission for prolonged periods post-immunization
- understanding the role of vaccines in driving escape mutations, and how to prevent them
- vaccines that can be mass-administered to poultry already placed on the farm, i.e. not in ovo or at hatchery
- vaccines to induce strong mucosal immunity able to block shedding of LPAI
- potent vaccines for less immunogenic flu subtypes (e.g. H9, H7)
- development of protective vaccines to prevent outbreaks of influenza in horses
- RNA vaccines

## **Drugs/Therapeutic Approaches**

Although a number of drugs are available for treatment of viral influenza in humans, no comparable therapeutic approaches exist for widespread use in animals, primarily because of the risk of the development of resistance. Some limited situations may be suitable for use of the existing drugs in animals, but for more widespread therapeutics, new agents must be developed that can be safely used in the huge numbers of livestock that are at risk of influenza, without resulting in novel drug-resistant strains of virus.

# Previously identified knowledge gaps

Previous reports (United States Department of Agriculture 2014; OFFLU 2014; European Food Safety Authority 2015) identified the following priority research knowledge gaps and priorities in animal influenza drugs/therapeutic approaches in 2014/15:

- identify appropriate uses of antivirals in animals
- *develop agents for widespread use without adverse effects on human health*
- study dietary/environmental interventions influencing immunity to infection
- improve resistance to infection by selective breeding or genetic modification
- develop interventions to block virus replication

### Literature review

## Human anti-influenza drugs for animal influenza

AIV in poultry is generally managed through prevention (via surveillance, biosecurity and vaccination) and eradication. Currently available drugs that are used for treatment of human influenza are not suited for widespread use in poultry. However, culling is not always an appropriate response to HPAIV infection in poultry or in endangered species of wild birds. To address the ongoing need for protection of specific birds from HPAIV, Twabela *et al.* assessed the effectiveness of the cap-dependent-endonuclease inhibitor baloxavir marboxil (Xofluza) and the NAI peramivir (Twabela *et al.* 2020). In chickens that were experimentally infected with H5N6 HPAIV, simultaneous treatment with baloxavir

marboxil resulted in full survival with massively reduced viral replication, whereas peramivir was somewhat less effective. Unfortunately, neither treatment was effective at preventing mortality if given 24 hours after infection, when clinical signs would first be expected, so the utility of this approach would depend on knowledge or suspicion of infection prior to clinical presentation. With early treatment, a dosage of 2.5 mg/kg was shown to provide protection to chickens and Pekin ducks for 48 hours.

Although NAIs are not approved for widespread use in poultry, their use in humans can nevertheless result in environmental contamination and exposure to wildlife. The active metabolite of oseltamivir is stable, and as it is not removed from waste water by conventional sewage treatment, it has been identified in river water at up to 865 ng/l. Similarly, levels of another NAI, zanamivir (Relenza) up to 59 ng/l have been measured in river water. Tepper et al. used a mallard model to demonstrate the emergence of zanamivir-resistance mutations in the N2-type H4N2 AIV in response to exposure to zanamivir in the water environment (Tepper et al. 2020). In common with previously observed zanamivir-resistance mutations in N1-type H1N1 LPAIV, the H4N2 mutations did not persist when the drug pressure was removed. By contrast, similar experiments have previously demonstrated the emergence of a persistent oseltamivir-resistance H1N1 mutation, suggesting that the likelihood of the development of resistance in response to NAIs in the environment might depend on both the drug and the genotypic prevalence, and is another factor that should be considered in relation to the choice of NAIs for human use.

Adamantanes were used for many years as anti-influenza drugs in humans and livestock, until the widespread development of viral resistance limited their effectiveness. To safeguard against the further establishment of resistance, which would restrict the potential utility of adamantanes in pandemic situations, animal products are monitored for the presence of adamantanes and their metabolites. A paper-based lateral-flow immunoassay has now been developed that can facilitate the inexpensive, point-of-use detection of five adamantanes (somantadine, rimantadine, amantadine, 1-adamantanemethanol and 1-adamantyl methyl ketone) in biological samples (Y. Gao et al. 2019).

## Therapeutics for animal influenza

To limit the potential for the evolution of resistance to agents targeting individual viral proteins, gaps exist for the development of strategies for the stimulation of animals' immune responses to influenza viral infections. One approach that has been investigated in swine is the stimulation of host immune responses by  $\alpha$ -galactosylceramide, which is a superagonist of iNKT cells. Intranasal administration of  $\alpha$ -galactosylceramide to piglets infected with H1N1 IAV resulted in amelioration of disease signs and restoration of weight gain, with reduction of viral titres in the respiratory tract and prevention of lung inflammation (Artiaga, Yang, Hutchinson, et al. 2016). Notably, however, prophylactic administration of  $\alpha$ -galactosylceramide to pigs does not seem to protect them from subsequent IAV infection, even though it results in the systemic expansion of iNKT cells (W. Gu et al. 2021).

Interferons are antiviral cytokines with a range of biological activities, making them common targets for stimulation of expression in strategies to improve immune responses to infection. To facilitate the use of chicken IFN $\alpha$  as a therapeutic in poultry, it has been expressed in *Escherichia coli* as a thioredoxin-tagged fusion protein (J. Zhao et al. 2019). Following purification of the fusion protein and excision of the thioredoxin tag, the recombinant IFN $\alpha$  was shown in an *in ovo* H9N2 infection model to significantly reduce the viral haemagglutination titre and *HA* gene copy numbers, indicating that this system could be used for the scalable production of bioactive antiviral IFN $\alpha$ .

In addition to bioactive macromolecules, some trace-mineral micronutrients, such as selenium, are known to have beneficial effects on poultry health and performance, and have also been tested for potential antiviral activities. Growing yeast in media enriched with trace minerals concentrates these substances and increases their bioavailability via incorporation into organic compounds. In a comparison of the effects in chickens of dietary supplementation for 2 weeks with selenium-enriched yeast or with inorganic sodium selenite, challenge with H9N2 LPAIV resulted in significantly lower levels of cloacal shedding of virus in all selenium-treatment groups relative to untreated controls (Shojadoost et al. 2019). Notably, oropharyngeal viral shedding was significantly lower in chickens fed selenium-enriched yeast than in sodium-selenite-fed chickens or in selenium-free controls. Any of the selenium supplementation regimens resulted in elevation of expression of interferon-stimulated genes in caecal tonsils, and either a low dose of selenium-enriched yeast or a high dose of sodium selenite was associated with elevation of expression of IFNA, IFNB and IFNG genes in caecal tonsils and spleens. These results demonstrated the beneficial potential of selenium supplementation for control of AIV infections in poultry. A combined yeast-based dietary supplement containing zinc, selenium and chromium has also been assessed in broiler chickens (Sobhi et al. 2020). In addition to positive effects on growth rate, carcass traits and feed-conversion ratio, the supplement was associated with significantly higher HI antibody titres in response to vaccination against H5N1 AIV, as well as higher relative weights of bursa, thymus and spleen, compared with chickens fed a basal diet.

One approach for the prevention of IAV infection is to interfere with the initial host-cell-receptor binding. The sialylated human-milk oligosaccharides 3'-sialyllactose and 6'-sialyllactose have been assessed for antiviral activity against IAV (Pandey et al. 2018). In HI assays, 3'-sialyllactose was active against all 13 strains of IAV that were tested, although higher concentrations of 3'-sialyllactose were required for inhibition of H1N1 strains than for inhibition of H1N2, H3N2, H5N1, H5N8 and H9N2 viruses. To determine the in vivo effectiveness, 3'-sialyllactose was mixed with H9N2 AIV prior to intranasal challenge of SPF chickens, followed by a further 9 days of treatment with 3'-sialyllactose. Notably, in chickens challenged with 0.8 HAU of H9N2 AIV, co-treatment with 3'-sialyllactose resulted in the complete absence of virus in both oral and cloacal swabs throughout the study period, as well as the prevention of an anti-H9N2 antibody response, indicating that the virus was completely neutralised and excreted from the chickens. Although the 3'-sialyllactose treatment was not effective at neutralizing a higher dose of 8 HAU of H9N2 AIV, multimerization of 3'-sialyllactose has the potential to increase its active concentration and improve its usefulness for the prevention of H9N2 virus infection in chickens. Taishan *Pinus massoniana* pollen polysaccharides have also been shown to interfere with the entry of H9N2 AIV into chickens, resulting in significant, dose-dependent inhibition of viral replication (Shang et al. 2020). Pre-treatment of chickens with these polysaccharides enhanced disease resistance and delayed infection by H9N2 AIV.

### Genetic modification

Although most of the research into therapeutic approaches to tackle IAV infections involves the oral or parenteral administration of exogenous agents, direct genetic modification of livestock also has considerable potential. For instance, the use of the Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeat activation-synergistic activation mediator system (CRISPRa-SAM) has been demonstrated for the enhancement of resistance to IAV in porcine cell lines (J. Jiang et al. 2019). Two antiviral genes were examined in this study: Mx2, which encodes a myxovirus resistance protein, and B4gaInt2, which encodes  $\beta$ 1,4 N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferase. The CRISPRa-SAM system enabled activation of these genes in the PK-15 and IPEC-J2 porcine cell lines. In PK-15 cells, activation of either gene resulted in elevation of antiviral activity. Compared with unmodified cells, haemagglutination assays demonstrated significantly lower virus titres as a result of infection with H9N2 IAV in cells with activation of *B4gaInt2*.

The 3D8 single-chain variable fragment (scFv) is a mini-antibody with antiviral nuclease activity. Transgenic chickens that express the 3D8 scFv gene under the control of the chicken *ACTB* promoter have been generated by the use of recombinant lentiviruses (June Byun et al. 2017). One line of the transgenic chickens was selected for viral challenge on the basis of a low yield of virus (in terms of plaque-forming units) from embryonic fibroblasts infected with H9N2 AIV. When directly challenged with H9N2 AIV, the transgenic chickens demonstrated a lower level of cloacal (but not oropharyngeal) viral shedding compared with the controls. Furthermore, following contact exposure, the transgenic chickens had significantly lower levels of viral shedding, lower incidence of seroconversion and significantly lower HI titres than the controls, suggesting a reduction in transmission between the transgenic birds. In another study of the antiviral effects of 3D8 scFv against H9N2 AIV, chickens were treated daily for 3 weeks with oral doses of *Lactobacillus paracasei* that had been engineered to express the mini-antibody (H. Choi et al. 2019). In each experimental group, some birds were then challenged directly with AIV, and among those that were infected by contact transmission, chickens that were fed 3D8-anchored *L. paracasei* or non-recombinant *L. paracasei*.

Transgenic chickens expressing constitutively active chicken IFN-induced protein with tetratricopeptides repeats 5 (chIFIT5) also showed marked clinical resistance and reduced viral shedding during infection with HPAI H5N1, though protection was not sterile and transgenic animals frequently exhibited developmental defects (Rohaim et al. 2018). The generation of duck RIG-I-transgenic chickens has been under patent since 2010 (US20110247091A), with the idea being further supported by recent data showing that overexpressed chicken interferon response factor (IRF) 7 could induce transcription from the duck RIG-I promotor in chicken DF-1 cells *in vitro* (Yanna Xiao et al. 2018).

#### Herbal products and botanicals

Herbal products and botanicals have great potential as alternatives to synthetic antiviral drugs. The complex mixtures of active substances that are present in the wide array of natural products already have many known therapeutic uses, and many more undoubtedly remain to be discovered. The potential benefits associated with these products include economical production, ease of incorporation into animal feeds, the low probability of the development of resistance, and possible additional contributions to animal health not specifically related to any antiviral properties. These antiviral properties typically fall into the categories of adjuvant effects or enhancement of immune responses in relation to vaccination, or enhancement of immune responses to viral challenge.

Antibiotic growth promoters (AGPs) have been widely used in poultry production to enhance growth parameters, prevent disease and stimulate immune responses, but their inappropriate use leads to the development of bacterial drug resistance. A plant-derived non-AGP (Natusol), which consists of phytomolecules, direct-fed microbials, glucamannan oligosaccharides and organic acids, has been directly compared with the AGP bacitracin methylene disalicylate for its effectiveness in commercial broiler chickens (Milad Manafi 2015). Compared with chickens that were fed only the basal diet, supplementation with either AGP or non-AGP resulted in significant improvements in growth parameters and antibody titres in response to standard vaccinations, including AIV. Similarly, a herbal compound consisting of thyme, oregano, chamomile and peppermint essential oils has been shown to perform as well as the AGP phospho-flavomycin with respect to growth parameters and post-vaccination AIV antibody titres (Hedayati and Manafi 2018).

In addition to plants, yeast and algae are sources of potentially beneficial antiviral compounds. Red algae contain carrageenans, which are high-molecular-weight sulphated polysaccharides that have been shown to have a number of antiviral properties. The effects of  $\kappa$ -carrageenan on infection and replication of swine pandemic 2009 H1N1 IAVs have been studied *in vitro* (Shao et al. 2015). The polysaccharide was found to dose-dependently inhibit replication of two pandemic H1N1 strains in MDCK cells, at concentrations that did not result in cytotoxicity. The results of HI assays demonstrated that  $\kappa$ -carrageenan specifically interacted with the HA protein of the two pandemic H1N1 strains, and did not affect the HA proteins of other swine H1N1 or avian H9N2 IAVs. The interaction of  $\kappa$ -carrageenan with HA interfered with viral adsorption to MDCK cells, and the polysaccharide also had the further effect of inhibition of IAV mRNA and protein expression following viral cellular internalization.

In chickens, dietary supplementation with a combination of vitamin E and a commercial yeast-extract product (Fetomune Plus) has been shown to significantly reduce the effects of direct challenge with H9N2 AIV (Awadin et al. 2019). Infected birds with dietary supplementation had significantly lower expression of duodenal IFNγ (on day 3 post-infection [p.i.]) and duodenal and splenic IL-6 (day 5 p.i.), with higher expression of duodenal IL-2 (days 3 and 5 p.i.), as well as significantly lower levels of virus shedding, higher HI titres, lower levels of clinical signs and mortality, and lower H9N2 staining intensity by immunohistochemistry, compared with infected chickens that did not receive supplementation.

# **Ongoing research**

At the University of Minnesota College of Veterinary Medicine, scientists are testing viral interference as a means for controlling AIV within infected premises. Newcastle disease virus, for instance, stimulates IFN production that can protect birds against HPAI, and this mechanism may be applicable on a wider scale for limiting the spread of AIV on poultry farms.

# **Future research priorities**

Based on the above literature review and with reference to previously identified knowledge gaps and expert opinion, the following areas of animal influenza drugs and therapeutics should be considered priorities for future research:

- intervention products, such as antivirals that prevent escape mutants
- application of SARS-CoV-2-related advances in therapeutics to IAV
- assessment of combinations of agents that show individual promise
- scalable, economical introduction of beneficial agents into animal feeds

### Disinfectants

The stability of influenza viruses is sufficient to allow transmission via contact between animals and contaminated surfaces. Therefore, surface disinfectants play a vital role in the prevention and control of avian influenza outbreaks. Disinfection of materials and vehicles entering poultry farms reduces the chance of cross-property transmission. If an outbreak is detected, post-culling cleansing and disinfection can help ensure that the virus is not transmitted to the next batch of poultry to occupy the premises. Disinfection steps are included in many official/governmental outbreak control procedures (Gale et al. 2020), and proper implementation of these steps can significantly reduce transmission risk and viral maintenance period at a given location.

Incomplete or inefficient disinfection, however, can create a false sense of security and hamper outbreak prevention and control efforts. Some commonly-used disinfectants are less effective at low or high temperatures or in the presence of organic contaminants (common in the messy environment of a poultry farm). Additional concerns include breakdown of disinfectants (e.g. from long-term storage or exposure to sunlight) and environmental impact from particularly hazardous substances. The ideal disinfectant will be suitable for long-term storage, cost-effective, environment-friendly, and highly effective against influenza virus within a short exposure time. Research has been ongoing over the past five years to describe disinfection methods that meet some or all of these criteria.

# Previously identified knowledge gaps

Previous reports (United States Department of Agriculture 2014; OFFLU 2014; European Food Safety Authority 2015) identified the following priority research knowledge gaps in animal influenza disinfectants in 2014/15:

- methods for efficient application of disinfectants with minimal environmental impact
- development of fast-degrading disinfectants
- continued research into cost-effective reagents with focus on ease-of-use

### Literature review

A recent study by Thammakarn *et al.* examined scallop shell powder, primarily composed of CaCO<sub>3</sub>, for viral inactivation properties, finding that a 20% suspension inactivated AIV within three minutes even under harsh conditions (emulated sunlight exposure and repeated cycling between wet and dry

conditions) and was less sensitive to neutralization than the similar slaked lime (Thammakarn et al. 2015). Similarly, Ruenphet *et al.* tested the efficacy of slaked lime and fresh charcoal ash in both powder and liquid form against LPAI H7N1 virus. They found both solutions effective against the virus via alkalinity, with charcoal ash able to inactivate H7N1 in less than a minute. This held even in the presence of organic contaminants that can interfere with the activity of more common disinfectants like chlorine and quaternary ammonium compounds (Ruenphet et al. 2019). Slaked lime reached similar efficacy under a longer timetable of 10-30 minutes depending on the presence of organic materials. Both solutions were also found robust to lengthy storage ( $\geq$  8 weeks at room temperature), with charcoal ash slightly more stable over time.

Taking an alternative route for disinfection, Nishisaka-Nonaka *et al.* tested inactivation of IAV using UV-emitting LEDs, finding that 280nm light (UVC) caused 10-fold decrease in the infectivity of H1N1 at a fluence of 0.028 J/cm<sup>2</sup> (Nishisaka-Nonaka et al. 2018). Interestingly, this effect seemed subtype-dependent, with HPAI H5N1 more sensitive to UV inactivation than H1N1.

Meanwhile, Guan *et al.*, searching for a disinfectant suitable for pandemic control during winter months, tested various compounds for activity at -20°C. They found that at this low temperature, the standard disinfectants Virkon (2%) and Accel (6.25%) caused 6-log inactivation of H6N2 AIV when supplemented with 20% propylene glycol, 20% methanol, or 20% CaCl<sub>2</sub> (Jiewen Guan et al. 2015). Propylene glycol and methanol did not kill AIV by themselves at this temperature, but 20% CaCl<sub>2</sub> alone caused 5-log inactivation within 10 minutes (Guan et al. 2015).

Environmental conditions can play an important role in outbreak control by influencing the length of time that AIV remains stable on exposed surfaces. In a later study, Guan *et al.* tested the effect of relative humidity on environmental survival of AIV by measuring time to 10-fold infectivity reduction under different conditions (J. Guan, Chan, and VanderZaag 2017). They found that, at the relatively standard farm temperature of 23°C, raising the humidity from 25% to 55% reduced this time from approximately 1.5 days to 0.32 days for H9N2 AIV on porous surfaces, and from 7.8 to 0.05 days on non-porous surfaces. H6N2 AIV was generally more stable but still faced 10-fold activity loss within a day on non-porous surfaces at 55% humidity. These results recommend humidifiers in poultry buildings as a general infection-reduction strategy, but the authors note that AIV has been shown to survive longer in wet poultry faeces than dry – more research would be necessary to weigh the sum benefits of higher humidity on poultry farms (J. Guan, Chan, and VanderZaag 2017). Temperature may itself be a means for decontamination – research by Stephens & Spackman evaluated thermal

inactivation on LPAI and HPAI present in poultry litter, finding that both types were inactivated by 24hr at temperatures from 32.2-48.9°C (Stephens and Spackman 2017). Depending on the heating capabilities of specific poultry houses, temperature treatment may be used in combination with other disinfection protocols to reduce the time from depopulation to repopulation and minimize economic impacts of an outbreak.

Another potential route for general disinfection/outbreak control on poultry premises is air filtration. Ventilation is mainly an understudied area of influenza control research – studies of HPAI H5Nx outbreaks have shown that virus release from poultry farms is consistent with the possibility of airborne transmission and surface deposition around infected premises (Torremorell et al. 2016; Scoizec et al. 2018), but further research is needed to clarify the amount of virus disseminated from poultry houses and how this may vary between outbreaks.

HEPA filters are known to effectively filter virus particles, but the humidity, high rates of air exchange, and large concentration of particulates at most poultry farms would render them cost-inefficient in this environment (Leibler et al. 2017). Other ventilation technologies that have been tested on farms are primarily targeted toward odour containment rather than pathogen filtration. A related option is to treat existing filters with a disinfectant compound capable of inactivating airborne AIV. For this purpose, Ren *et al.* tested filters coated with a member of the N-halamine family, known for their antimicrobial activity but not previously tested on AIV (Ren et al. 2018). N-halamines are low-toxicity and do not release gaseous chlorine, increasing their environmental suitability. Here, N-halamine-coated filters (nonwoven fabric from N95 respirators) were found to trap and completely inactivate avian H1N1 virus in bioaerosols (Ren et al. 2018).

In addition to further research on effective disinfectants, extended outreach and public education will be necessary to increase understanding of the importance of cleansing and disinfection procedures. Cui et al., surveying risk perception in Chinese poultry farmers in the Jiangsu and Anhui provinces, found that fewer than 50% of respondents always carry out regular disinfection of premises and any vehicles or materials entering the poultry farm (Cui et al. 2019). Also important to study further is the degree to which certain outbreak control procedures may be unnecessary if disinfection is carefully performed. Gale et al., for instance, modelled HPAI H5N1 reinfection risk between poultry restocks in an enriched colony-caged layer poultry house, finding that the lengthy and costly process of dismantling complex machinery for thorough disinfection may not be necessary if the premises themselves are thoroughly disinfected and at least 40-90 days pass between culling and restocking (Gale et al. 2020).

# **Ongoing research**

At the US National Poultry Research Center, researchers are studying the environmental stability of AIV, including the efficacy of disinfection/inactivation protocols and their impact on virus detection. Meanwhile, Defra-funded research at the UK Animal and Plant Health Agency investigates environmental survival of various influenza subtypes with the aim of reducing outbreak cost burdens and enabling rapid reestablishment of trade links post-outbreak. At the University of Minnesota, researchers are developing methods for containing bioaerosols via electrostatic precipitator technology, which can be applied to intake and exhaust air systems in swine farms to mitigate aerosol transmission.

# **Future research priorities**

Based on the above literature review and with reference to previously identified knowledge gaps and expert opinion, the following areas of animal influenza disinfection should be considered priorities for future research:

- Decontamination procedures for caged/layer poultry houses
- Increasing understanding of virus survival in the environment (e.g. fomite contamination timeframes, temperature stability, variability between subtypes, etc.)
- Risk analysis of contaminated land/fomites upon restocking
- Role and necessary level of cleaning and disinfection required for different outbreaks

### **Depopulation and Disposal**

In the event of an outbreak of notifiable avian influenza, culling of affected animal populations is often the first step in outbreak control. National policies on reportable disease containment may stipulate that affected farms be quarantined, movement halted, and animals humanely euthanized. The resulting animal carcasses must then be safely and efficiently disposed of to prevent further spread of the disease, clearing the way for disinfection and resumption of animal production. Despite the relative simplicity of depopulation compared to the biological complexities of vaccines and antivirals, the process involves numerous economic, ethical, and environmental concerns. Depopulation is necessarily an extremely costly action, causing the loss of entire populations of poultry and swine with potentially devastating downstream economic effects. Such costs may incentivize farmers in regions with low biosecurity to avoid reporting infected animals to regulatory agencies, allowing outbreaks to spread unchecked. From an ethical perspective, humane euthanasia of large animal populations is challenging, and the impact of depopulation on the human operators themselves must also be considered. Finally, carcass disposal has the potential to release significant amounts of contaminants into the environment (including influenza virus in the case of improper disposal).

# Previously identified knowledge gaps

Previous reports (United States Department of Agriculture 2014; OFFLU 2014; European Food Safety Authority 2015) identified the following priority research knowledge gaps in animal influenza depopulation and epidemic control in 2014/15:

- defining necessary extent of depopulation depending on outbreak factors (e.g. transmission rate) with aim of reducing economic impact
- improving euthanasia protocols for layer/caged birds
- modelling outbreak spread vs. culling radii to determine smallest effective radius
- more humane culling methods
- reducing environmental impact of carcass disposal
- addressing depopulation and disposal in resource-limited regions

#### Literature review

Depopulation and disposal are vital components of effective influenza outbreak response, but they are also expensive and challenging to implement at scale (Pramuwidyatama, Hogeveen, and Saatkamp 2019). Culling in particular is an extremely costly process, and it is very difficult to accurately predict appropriate cut-offs for culling that maximize disease control while minimizing unnecessary economic losses (Mummert and Weiss 2017). Lee and colleagues, for example, developed a spatiotemporal compartmental model of control measures in context of the winter 2016/2017 South Korea HPAI epidemic, finding an optimal culling radius of 2.65km for towns with a viral reproductive number (correlated with farm density and number of duck farms) > 1 (Jonggul Lee, Ko, and Jung 2019). This is smaller than the Korean government-recommended radius of 3km, illustrating the potential for computational modelling-based approaches to minimize unnecessary losses during an outbreak.

Gassing remains one of the most common methods for mass poultry culling during an AIV outbreak due to its relatively inexpensive equipment requirements and minimal necessary personnel training (EFSA 2018). Research continues into methods that may improve on the efficiency or humaneness of gassing – Benson *et al.*, for instance, tested the deployment of compressed air foam systems for poultry depopulation during an AIV outbreak, finding them to efficiently euthanize birds in a large caged layer operation with a faster time-to-unconsciousness than CO<sub>2</sub> gassing (Benson *et al.* 2018). It is important to note, however, that ethical guidelines are commonly breached under outbreak situations, with consequences not only for the welfare of the animals to be culled but also for the workers who perform the depopulation. Park and colleagues conducted a survey of frontline livestock workers, finding a very high incidence (>75%) of extreme stress and PTSD-like symptoms. They stress the importance of implementing strict pre-operational education and training procedures and providing mental health care to frontline workers during and after outbreak-related culling (H. Park, Chun, and Joo 2020).

Disposal methods vary between regions, with varying degrees of efficiency and environmental impact. In Korea, for instance, on-farm burial is the most common method, but this can lead to the generation of contaminants like ammonium-N and chloride. Yoon *et al.* tested biochar as a permeable reactive barrier in combination with fast-growing poplar trees to soak up contaminants, finding that such a barrier decreased leachates released from buried swine carcasses (J. H. Yoon et al. 2017). Composting and rendering are also popular methods, but these often require the use of dedicated sites for bulk disposal. Jenner *et al.* stress the need for relationships between government agriculture/public health agencies and commercial composting/rendering facilities to be established during "peacetime" in order to create functional plans and workflows rather than waiting until an outbreak has arrived (Jenner et al. 2020). From the standpoint of private actors, economic considerations come to the forefront when considering different disposal methods. Huang *et al.* conducted a 2015 survey of Chinese poultry farmers' willingness to accept compensation to practice safe disposal of chickens infected with HPAI; they found that only 75% and 60% of farmers in South and North China, respectively, would adopt safe disposal methods at the 2015 compensation rate of 10 yuan/bird. This number increased to 80% in both regions if compensation was increased by 40-90% (Huang, Wang, and Zuo 2017). Further research will be necessary to help thread the balance between up-front economic loss (e.g. due to compensation for culled birds) and downstream costs from poultry trade losses.

### **Ongoing research**

Researchers at the University of Minnesota College of Veterinary Medicine are conducting studies to assess the risk of different mortality disposal strategies during an AIV outbreak, specifically addressing the risk of virus transmission during transport of animal carcasses from farms to off-site disposal locations (e.g. for carcass rendering, incineration, or burial in landfills). Such systems have remained relatively unchanged in the USA even after the major 2014-2015 HPAI H5 outbreak, requiring focused attention and evaluation to ensure proper biosecurity measures are in place ahead of the next outbreak. Study at U of M is also underway to assess high expansion nitrogen foam for humane mass depopulation of poultry and swine farms in the event of an outbreak.

#### **Future research priorities**

Based on the above literature review and with reference to previously identified knowledge gaps and expert opinion, the following aspects of animal depopulation and disposal following influenza outbreaks should be considered priorities for future research:

- Computational modelling studies to determine minimal effective depopulation radii during outbreaks of various subtypes
- Rapid and humane methods of depopulation for caged/layer poultry farms with large populations

### **Personal Protective Equipment**

Personal protective equipment (PPE) is the "last line of defence" between a person and a potential infection with zoonotic influenza. Although process and engineering controls aim to reduce the risk of exposure of workers, during outbreaks individuals may still be exposed repeatedly to high titres of virus, particularly during mass culling operations. The design of effective, easy-to-use and comfortable PPE underpins high compliance rates and correct use, maximising protection. Alongside, monitoring the protection afforded by various strategies in the field is an important part of the process of designing improved approaches.

# Previously identified knowledge gaps

Previous reports (United States Department of Agriculture 2014; OFFLU 2014; European Food Safety Authority 2015) identified the following priority research knowledge gaps in PPE for use in animal influenza control settings in 2014/15:

- improved respirators (ease-of-use, comfort, etc.) for working under difficult field conditions
- availability of approved drugs and vaccines for animal workers

### Literature review

The design of effective strategies to keep workers safe from zoonotic infections with animal influenza viruses during epidemic control relies on a thorough understanding of the risks and the assessment of previously used strategies. A study of the incidence of avian influenza among poultry farm depopulation workers in Korea during the 2016-2017 HPAI H5N6 outbreak demonstrated the efficacy of combined use of PPE (disposable coveralls, nitrile gloves, N95 particulate half- mask with two- strap design, unvented goggles, and boots) and prophylactic administration of oseltamivir from day one of exposure to seven days after last exposure (Ryu et al. 2018a). All workers were instructed to report any respiratory symptoms, and among the 4633 workers enrolled in the study 22 did exhibit clinical signs of viral respiratory infection, however none were due to H5N6 infection (Ryu et al. 2018b). This data is encouraging, however as the mean days of depopulation per worker were just 1.5 (range 1-15), it remains to be seen whether the 100% protection afforded by the combination of anti-viral drug use and PPE would withstand longer periods of exposure.(Ryu et al. 2018a). All workers were instructed to report any respiratory symptoms, and among the 4633 workers enrolled in the study 22 did exhibit clinical signs of viral respiratory symptoms, and among the 100% protection afforded by the combination of anti-viral drug use and PPE would withstand longer periods of exposure.(Ryu et al. 2018a). All workers were instructed to report any respiratory symptoms, and among the 4633 workers enrolled in the study 22 did exhibit clinical signs of viral respiratory symptoms, and among the 4633 workers enrolled in the study 22 did exhibit clinical signs of viral respiratory symptoms, and among the 4633 workers enrolled in the study 22 did exhibit clinical signs of viral respiratory infection, however none were due to H5N6 infection (Ryu

et al. 2018b). This data is encouraging, however as the mean days of depopulation per worker were just 1.5 (range 1-15), it remains to be seen whether the 100% protection afforded by the combination of anti-viral drug use and PPE would withstand longer periods of exposure.

Previous studies in the USA also support the conclusion that appropriately-used PPE is effective in preventing transmission of AI to workers involved in outbreak control. Olsen *et al.* recently reviewed data from 2014-17 AI H5 and H7 outbreaks in the US and found zero cases of human infection among 4,555 workers who were potentially exposed to the virus while wearing PPE (recommended level C: dermal protection suit e.g. Tyvek, goggles and air-purifying respiratory protection (United States Department of Agriculture 2006)) and without the use of anti-viral drug prophylaxis (Olsen et al. 2019). Remarkably, even without PPE use, transmission may be a rare event under certain conditions: a study of 164 cases of self-reported exposure to infected birds during HPAI H5 outbreaks in the USA in 2014/15 again revealed zero instances of laboratory-confirmed human infection (Arriola et al. 2015). However, neither of the studies conducted in the USA included duration of individual exposure of the at-risk workers.

### **Future research priorities**

Based on the above literature review and with reference to previously identified knowledge gaps and expert opinion, the following areas of animal influenza vaccines should be considered priorities for future research:

• improved respirators (ease-of-use, comfort, etc.) for working under difficult field conditions

# **Conclusions**

A huge number of studies have been published across the various fields of animal influenza research in the past six years: approximately three studies per day, every day. Some of these studies report major breakthroughs in new areas, begin to answer key questions or pave the way for future work with the promise of significant gains in knowledge. However, according to the process undertaken in reviewing this body of literature, only around ten percent of the published studies (excluding those not published/available in English) were considered to warrant inclusion on the basis of their relevance to previously-identified priority research knowledge gaps and their scientific merit: nine in ten studies published during this six year period did not address these knowledge gaps or were not reported in a way that allowed us to be certain of their conclusions. This does not, of course, mean that these studies were without value, but it does highlight the real issue of how animal influenza researchers from across the globe can come together in a way that favours maximum progress in the areas in which it is most needed.

The authors of this report believe that meaningful advances in understanding and controlling animal influenza viruses will require an increasingly "joined up" approach to research/research funding, policy and implementation across geographic and institutional borders, as well as along the bench-to-pen-side innovation pipeline. This report forms an important resource that can be used towards a comprehensive analysis of priority research knowledge gaps, but the success of this process will depend on the effective use and implementation of the ensuing findings by all key stakeholders.

The progress reported here leaves room for considerable optimism about upcoming developments in the animal influenza field in future years; in particular, we feel that the exponential growth in the ability of computer modelling to assist in understanding various aspects of influenza including epidemiology, immunology, vaccine design and outbreak control is especially exciting and should be fully leveraged. At the same time, lessons can, and should, be learned from the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic and various countries' responses to the arrival of the virus at their doors. Broad insights into understanding and control of potentially zoonotic viruses are emerging from this global disaster. In particular, the success of the SARS-CoV-2 research-to-vaccine pipeline should be noted in the animal influenza context and the key role of streamlined, but still standardised, vaccine-testing protocols in identifying lead candidates for further development.

Bringing together policy-makers, researchers and practitioners across both private and public sectors, with the common aim of increasing our knowledge of animal influenza viruses, their hosts and the interaction between the two, holds great promise for future advances in control and understanding of this most enigmatic of viruses.

# Acknowledgements

The authors gratefully acknowledge the input of all scientists and institutes that responded to the requests for research activity updates. The authors are also indebted to the considerable efforts of Alex Morrow, Robert Taylor, Madeline Newman and Cyril Gay in the commissioning organisations for guiding the process and assisting with reviewing the report.

### **References**

- Abd El-Hamid, H. S., H. F. Ellakany, A. R. Elbestawy, and Ahmed Setta. 2018. "The Combined Use of RHVT-H5 and RHVT-F Vector Vaccines in the Hatchery Enhances Immunity against Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza H5N1 and Velogenic Newcastle Disease Viral Infections in Commercial Chickens." *Poultry Science Journal* 6 (2). https://doi.org/10.22069/psj.2018.14418.1309.
- Adlhoch, Cornelia, Alice Fusaro, José L. Gonzales, Thijs Kuiken, Stefano Marangon, Éric Niqueux, Christoph Staubach, et al. 2021. "Avian Influenza Overview December 2020 – February 2021." *EFSA Journal* 19 (3): e06497. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2021.6497.
- Adlhoch, Cornelia, Alice Fusaro, Thijs Kuiken, Eric Niqueux, Christoph Staubach, Calogero Terregino, Irene Muñoz Guajardo, and Francesca Baldinelli. 2020. "Avian Influenza Overview November 2019 – February 2020." *EFSA Journal* 18 (3): 6096. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2020.6096.
- Al-Ebshahy, Emad, and Mahmoud Abotaleb. 2019. "Novel H5N1 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Viruses in Egypt: Characterization, Zoonotic Potential and Vaccination Studies." *Alexandria Journal of Veterinary Sciences* 61 (2): 194–201. https://doi.org/10.5455/ajvs.56176.
- Alkhamis, Moh A., Chong Li, and Montserrat Torremorell. 2020. "Animal Disease Surveillance in the 21st Century: Applications and Robustness of Phylodynamic Methods in Recent U.S. Human-like H3 Swine Influenza Outbreaks." *Frontiers in Veterinary Science* 7 (April): 176. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2020.00176.
- Alleweldt, Frank, Şenda Kara, Kris Best, Frank M. Aarestrup, Martin Beer, Theo M. Bestebroer, Josefina Campos, et al. 2021. "Economic Evaluation of Whole Genome Sequencing for Pathogen Identification and Surveillance Results of Case Studies in Europe and the Americas 2016 to 2019." Euro Surveillance : Bulletin Europeen Sur Les Maladies Transmissibles = European Communicable Disease Bulletin 26 (9). https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2021.26.9.1900606.
- An, Jing, Jinxiu Li, Ying Wang, Jing Wang, Qinghe Li, Huaijun Zhou, Xiaoxiang Hu, Yiqiang Zhao, and
  Ning Li. 2019. "A Homeostasis Hypothesis of Avian Influenza Resistance in Chickens." *Genes* 10 (7). https://doi.org/10.3390/genes10070543.
- Anderson, Tavis K., Brian A. Campbell, Martha I. Nelson, Nicola S. Lewis, Alicia Janas-Martindale, Mary
   Lea Killian, and Amy L. Vincent. 2015. "Characterization of Co-Circulating Swine Influenza A
   Viruses in North America and the Identification of a Novel H1 Genetic Clade with Antigenic
   Significance." Virus Research 201: 24–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virusres.2015.02.009.

- Andreychuk, D. B., A. v. Andriyasov, Z. B. Nikonova, A. A. Kozlov, D. L. Suarez, and II A. Chvala. 2019.
   "Armoured Exogenous Internal Control for Real-Time PCR Diagnosis of Avian Influenza." Avian Pathology 48 (5). https://doi.org/10.1080/03079457.2019.1628918.
- Arai, Yasuha, Norihito Kawashita, Tomo Daidoji, Madiha S. Ibrahim, Emad M. El-Gendy, Tatsuya Takagi,
  Kazuo Takahashi, et al. 2016. "Novel Polymerase Gene Mutations for Human Adaptation in
  Clinical Isolates of Avian H5N1 Influenza Viruses." *PLoS Pathogens* 12 (4): e1005583.
  https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1005583.
- Arriola, Carmen S., Deborah I. Nelson, Thomas J. Deliberto, Lenee Blanton, Krista Kniss, Min Z. Levine,
   Susan C. Trock, et al. 2015. "Infection Risk for Persons Exposed to Highly Pathogenic Avian
   Influenza a H5 Virus–Infected Birds, United States, December 2014–March 2015." *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 21 (12). https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2112.150904.
- Arsevska, Elena, Sarah Valentin, Julien Rabatel, Jocelyn De Goër de Hervé, Sylvain Falala, Renaud Lancelot, and Mathieu Roche. 2018. "Web Monitoring of Emerging Animal Infectious Diseases Integrated in the French Animal Health Epidemic Intelligence System." *PLoS ONE* 13 (8): e0199960. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0199960.
- Artiaga, Bianca L., Guan Yang, Timothy J. Hackmann, Qinfang Liu, Jürgen A. Richt, Shahram Salek Ardakani, William L. Castleman, John A. Lednicky, and John P. Driver. 2016. "α Galactosylceramide Protects Swine against Influenza Infection When Administered as a Vaccine
   Adjuvant." Scientific Reports 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep23593.
- Artiaga, Bianca L., Guan Yang, Tarun E. Hutchinson, Julia C. Loeb, Jürgen A. Richt, John A. Lednicky,
   Shahram Salek-Ardakani, and John P. Driver. 2016. "Rapid Control of Pandemic H1N1 Influenza
   by Targeting NKT-Cells." *Scientific Reports* 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep37999.
- Artois, Jean, Shengjie Lai, Luzhao Feng, Hui Jiang, Hang Zhou, Xiangping Li, Madhur S. Dhingra, et al.
  2017. "H7N9 and H5N1 Avian Influenza Suitability Models for China: Accounting for New Poultry and Live-Poultry Markets Distribution Data." *Stochastic Environmental Research and Risk Assessment* 31 (2): 393–402. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00477-016-1362-z.
- Artois, Jean, Xiling Wang, Hui Jiang, Ying Qin, Morgan Pearcy, Shengjie Lai, Yujing Shi, et al. 2018.
   "Changing Geographic Patterns and Risk Factors for Avian Influenza A(H7N9) Infection in China."
   *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 24 (1): 87–94. https://doi.org/10.1101/146183.
- Astill, Jake, Tamiru Alkie, Alexander Yitbarek, Khaled Taha-Abdelaziz, Jegarubee Bavananthasivam, Éva Nagy, James John Petrik, and Shayan Sharif. 2018. "Examination of the Effects of Virus Inactivation Methods on the Induction of Antibody- and Cell-Mediated Immune Responses against Whole Inactivated H9N2 Avian Influenza Virus Vaccines in Chickens." *Vaccine* 36 (27). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.05.093.

- Astill, Jake, Evan Fraser, Rozita Dara, and Shayan Sharif. 2018. "Detecting and Predicting Emerging Disease in Poultry with the Implementation of New Technologies and Big Data: A Focus on Avian Influenza Virus." *Frontiers in Veterinary Science* 5 (OCT): 263. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2018.00263.
- Aston, Emily J., Ying Wang, Karen E. Tracy, Rodrigo A. Gallardo, and Huaijun Zhou. 2021. "Comparison of Cellular Immune Responses to Avian Influenza Virus in Two Genetically Distinct, Highly Inbred Chicken Lines." *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology* 235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetimm.2021.110233.
- Attia, Youssef A., Mohammed A. Al-Harthi, and Hayam M. Abo El-Maaty. 2020. "The Effects of Different Oil Sources on Performance, Digestive Enzymes, Carcass Traits, Biochemical, Immunological, Antioxidant, and Morphometric Responses of Broiler Chicks." Frontiers in Veterinary Science 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2020.00181.
- Atzeni, M., J. Muehlebach, D. Fielder, and David Mayer. 2020. *Detect-Alert-Deter System for Enhanced Biosecurity and Risk Assessment. AgriFutures Australia*.
- Avril, Alexis, Vladimir Grosbois, Neus Latorre-Margalef, Nicolas Gaidet, Conny Tolf, Björn Olsen, and Jonas Waldenström. 2016. "Capturing Individual-Level Parameters of Influenza A Virus Dynamics in Wild Ducks Using Multistate Models." *Journal of Applied Ecology* 53 (4). https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12699.
- Awada, Lina, Paolo Tizzani, Susan Marite Noh, Christian Ducrot, Francois Ntsama, Paula Caceres, Neo
   Mapitse, and Karine Chalvet-Monfray. 2018. "Global Dynamics of Highly Pathogenic Avian
   Influenza Outbreaks in Poultry between 2005 and 2016—Focus on Distance and Rate of Spread."
   Transboundary and Emerging Diseases 65 (6): 2006–16. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.12986.
- Awadin, Walaa F., Abdelfattah H. Eladl, Reham A. El-Shafei, Mohamed A. El-Adl, and Hanaa S. Ali. 2019. "Immunological and Pathological Effects of Vitamin E with Fetomune Plus <sup>®</sup> on Chickens Experimentally Infected with Avian Influenza Virus H9N2." *Veterinary Microbiology* 231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2019.02.028.
- Ayim-Akonor, Matilda, Eva Mertens, Jürgen May, and Timm Harder. 2020. "Exposure of Domestic Swine to Influenza A Viruses in Ghana Suggests Unidirectional, Reverse Zoonotic Transmission at the Human–Animal Interface." *Zoonoses and Public Health* 67 (6): 697–707. https://doi.org/10.1111/zph.12751.
- Azab, A. A., A. Arafa, A. Selim, M. K. Hassan, A. I. Bazid, A. H. Sultan, H. A. Hussein, and E. M.
   Abdelwhab. 2017. "Pathogenicity of the Egyptian A/H5N1 Avian Influenza Viruses in Chickens." *Microbial Pathogenesis* 110: 471–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2017.07.026.

- Azizpour, Maryam, Seyyed Davood Hosseini, Parvaneh Jafari, and Neda Akbary. 2017. "Lactococcus Lactis: A New Strategy for Vaccination." *Avicenna Journal of Medical Biotechnology*.
- Bahl, Justin, Truc T. Pham, Nichola J. Hill, Islam T.M. Hussein, Eric J. Ma, Bernard C. Easterday, Rebecca
  A. Halpin, et al. 2016. "Ecosystem Interactions Underlie the Spread of Avian Influenza A Viruses
  with Pandemic Potential." *PLoS Pathogens* 12 (5): e1005620.
  https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1005620.
- Bahnson, Charlie S., Sonia M. Hernandez, Rebecca L. Poulson, Robert E. Cooper, Shannon E. Curry, Taylor J. Ellison, Henry C. Adams, Catharine N. Welch, and David E. Stallknecht. 2020.
  "Experimental Infections and Serology Indicate That American White IBIS (Eudociumus Albus) Are Competent Reservoirs for Type a Influenza Virus." *Journal of Wildlife Diseases* 56 (3): 530–37. https://doi.org/10.7589/2019-05-136.
- Bailey, Emily S., Jessica Y. Choi, Jane K. Fieldhouse, Laura K. Borkenhagen, Juliana Zemke, Dingmei Zhang, and Gregory C. Gray. 2018. "The Continual Threat of Influenza Virus Infections at the Human-Animal Interface: What Is New from a One Health Perspective?" *Evolution, Medicine and Public Health* 2018 (1): 192–98. https://doi.org/10.1093/emph/eoy013.
- Bailey, Emily S., Jane K. Fieldhouse, Jessica Y. Choi, and Gregory C. Gray. 2018. "A Mini Review of the Zoonotic Threat Potential of Influenza Viruses, Coronaviruses, Adenoviruses, and Enteroviruses." *Frontiers in Public Health*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2018.00104.
- Baratelli, Massimiliano, Sophie Morgan, Johanneke Dinie Hemmink, Elizabeth Reid, Brigid Veronica Carr, Eric Lefevre, Sergio Montaner-Tarbes, et al. 2020. "Identification of a Newly Conserved SLA-II Epitope in a Structural Protein of Swine Influenza Virus." *Frontiers in Immunology* 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.02083.
- Baratelli, Massimiliano, Lasse Eggers Pedersen, Ramona Trebbien, Lars Erik Larsen, Gregers Jungersen,
   Esther Blanco, Jens Nielsen, and Maria Montoya. 2017. "Identification of Cross-Reacting T-Cell
   Epitopes in Structural and Non-Structural Proteins of Swine and Pandemic H1N1 Influenza a Virus
   Strains in Pigs." Journal of General Virology 98 (5). https://doi.org/10.1099/jgv.0.000748.
- Barber, Megan R.W., Jerry R. Aldridge, Robert G. Webster, and Katharine E. Magor. 2010a.
  "Association of RIG-I with Innate Immunity of Ducks to Influenza." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 107 (13). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1001755107.
- Beerens, Nancy, Rene Heutink, Frank Harders, Alex Bossers, Guus Koch, and Ben Peeters. 2020. "Emergence and Selection of a Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza H7N3 Virus." Journal of Virology 50 (8): e01818-19. https://doi.org/10.3390/proceedings2020050046.

- Belewu, K.Y. 2019. "Effects of Avian Flu on the Consumption of Chicken and Egg among University of Ilorin Staff, Ilorin, Nigeria." *Agro-Science* 18 (2). https://doi.org/10.4314/as.v18i2.6.
- Belkasmi, Sakhia F.Z., Siham Fellahi, Charifa Drissi Touzani, Fatima Zahra Faraji, Imane Maaroufi, Maxence Delverdier, Jean Luc Guérin, Ouafaa Fassi Fihri, Mohammed El Houadfi, and Mariette F. Ducatez. 2020. "Co-Infections of Chickens with Avian Influenza Virus H9N2 and Moroccan Italy 02 Infectious Bronchitis Virus: Effect on Pathogenesis and Protection Conferred by Different Vaccination Programmes." *Avian Pathology* 49 (1): 21–28. https://doi.org/10.1080/03079457.2019.1656328.
- Belkhiria, Jaber, Moh A. Alkhamis, and Beatriz Martínez-López. 2016. "Application of Species Distribution Modeling for Avian Influenza Surveillance in the United States Considering the North America Migratory Flyways." *Scientific Reports* 6 (August): 33161. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep33161.
- Belser, Jessica A, Joanna A Pulit-Penaloza, Xiangjie Sun, Nicole Brock, Claudia Pappas, Hannah M Creager, Hui Zeng, and Terrence M Tumpey. 2017. "A Novel A(H7N2) Influenza Virus Isolated from a Veterinarian Caring for Cats in a New York City Animal Shelter Causes Mild Disease and Transmits Poorly in the Ferret Model." *Journal of Virology* 91 (15): e00672-17.
- Benson, Eric R., Jaclyn A. Weiher, Robert L. Alphin, Morgan Farnell, and Daniel P. Hougentogler. 2018.
  "Evaluation of Two Compressed Air Foam Systems for Culling Caged Layer Hens." *Animals* 8 (5): ani8050061. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani8050061.
- Bernelin-Cottet, Cindy, Charlotte Deloizy, Ondrej Stanek, Céline Barc, Edwige Bouguyon, Céline Urien, Olivier Boulesteix, et al. 2016. "A Universal Influenza Vaccine Can Lead to Disease Exacerbation or Viral Control Depending on Delivery Strategies." *Frontiers in Immunology* 7 (DEC). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2016.00641.
- Bertran, Kateri, Charles Balzli, Dong Hun Lee, David L. Suarez, Darrell R. Kapczynski, and David E.
  Swayne. 2017. "Protection of White Leghorn Chickens by U.S. Emergency H5 Vaccination against
  Clade 2.3.4.4 H5N2 High Pathogenicity Avian Influenza Virus." Vaccine 35 (46).
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.05.051.
- Bertran, Kateri, Miria Ferreira Criado, Dong Hun Lee, Lindsay Killmaster, Mariana Sá e Silva, Eduardo Lucio, Justin Widener, et al. 2020. "Protection of White Leghorn Chickens by Recombinant Fowlpox Vector Vaccine with an Updated H5 Insert against Mexican H5N2 Avian Influenza Viruses." Vaccine 38 (6): 1526–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.11.072.
- Bertran, Kateri, Dong Hun Lee, Charles Balzli, Mary J. Pantin-Jackwood, Erica Spackman, and David E. Swayne. 2016. "Age Is Not a Determinant Factor in Susceptibility of Broilers to H5N2 Clade 2.3.4.4

High Pathogenicity Avian Influenza Virus." *Veterinary Research* 47 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13567-016-0401-6.

- Bertran, Kateri, Dong Hun Lee, Miria F. Criado, Charles L. Balzli, Lindsay F. Killmaster, Darrell R.
   Kapczynski, and David E. Swayne. 2018. "Maternal Antibody Inhibition of Recombinant Newcastle Disease Virus Vectored Vaccine in a Primary or Booster Avian Influenza Vaccination Program of Broiler Chickens." *Vaccine* 36 (43). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.09.015.
- Bhatia, S., R. Khandia, R. Sood, S. Bhat, A. Siddiqui, G. Jahagirdhar, S. Mishra, A. Mishra, A. K. Pateriya, and D. D. Kulkarni. 2016. "Reverse Genetics Based RgH5N2 Vaccine Provides Protection against High Dose Challenge of H5N1 Avian Influenza Virus in Chicken." *Microbial Pathogenesis* 97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2016.06.011.
- Bi, Yuhai, Quanjiao Chen, Qianli Wang, Jianjun Chen, Tao Jin, Gary Wong, Chuansong Quan, et al. 2016. "Genesis, Evolution and Prevalence of H5N6 Avian Influenza Viruses in China." *Cell Host and Microbe* 20 (6): 810–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2016.10.022.
- Biswas, P. K., M. Giasuddin, B. K. Nath, M. Z. Islam, N. C. Debnath, and M. Yamage. 2017. "Biosecurity and Circulation of Influenza A (H5N1) Virus in Live-Bird Markets in Bangladesh, 2012." *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 64 (3): 883–91. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.12454.
- Blaine, Alysson H., Domingo Miranzo-Navarro, Lee K. Campbell, Jerry R. Aldridge, Robert G. Webster, and Katharine E. Magor. 2015. "Duck TRIM27-L Enhances MAVS Signaling and Is Absent in Chickens and Turkeys." *Molecular Immunology* 67 (2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2015.07.011.
- Blanco-Lobo, Pilar, Laura Rodriguez, Stephanie Reedy, Fatai S. Oladunni, Aitor Nogales, Pablo R. Murcia, Thomas M. Chambers, and Luis Martinez-Sobrido. 2019a. "A Bivalent Live-Attenuated Vaccine for the Prevention of Equine Influenza Virus." *Viruses* 11 (10). https://doi.org/10.3390/v11100933.
- Blohm, Ulrike, Steffen Weigend, Rudolf Preisinger, Martin Beer, and Donata Hoffmann. 2016. "Immunological Competence of Different Domestic Chicken Breeds against Avian Influenza Infection." In Avian Diseases. Vol. 60. https://doi.org/10.1637/11159-051615-RegR.
- Bodewes, Rogier, Theo M. Bestebroer, Erhard Van Der Vries, Josanne H. Verhagen, Sander Herfst,
  Marion P. Koopmans, Ron A.M. Fouchier, et al. 2015. "Avian Influenza A(H10N7) Virus–
  Associated Mass Deaths among Harbor Seals." *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 21 (4): 720–22.
  https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2104.141675.
- Bodewes, Rogier, Siamak Zohari, Jesper S. Krog, Matthew D. Hall, Timm C. Harder, Theo M. Bestebroer, Marco W. G. van de Bildt, et al. 2016. "Spatiotemporal Analysis of the Genetic Diversity of Seal

Influenza A(H10N7) Virus, Northwestern Europe." *Journal of Virology* 90 (9): 4269–77. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.03046-15.

- Bogdanow, Boris, Xi Wang, Katrin Eichelbaum, Anne Sadewasser, Immanuel Husic, Katharina Paki, Matthias Budt, et al. 2019. "The Dynamic Proteome of Influenza A Virus Infection Identifies M Segment Splicing as a Host Range Determinant." *Nature Communications* 10: 5518. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-13520-8.
- Bonin, Emilie, Stéphane Quéguiner, Cédric Woudstra, Stéphane Gorin, Nicolas Barbier, Timm C.
   Harder, Patrick Fach, Séverine Hervé, and Gaëlle Simon. 2018. "Molecular Subtyping of European Swine Influenza Viruses and Scaling to High-Throughput Analysis." *Virology Journal* 15 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12985-018-0920-z.
- Borggren, Marie, Jens Nielsen, Ingrid Karlsson, Tina S. Dalgaard, Ramona Trebbien, James A. Williams, and Anders Fomsgaard. 2016. "A Polyvalent Influenza DNA Vaccine Applied by Needle-Free Intradermal Delivery Induces Cross-Reactive Humoral and Cellular Immune Responses in Pigs." *Vaccine* 34 (32). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.05.030.
- Borrego, Belén, Esther Blanco, Miguel Rodríguez Pulido, Francisco Mateos, Gema Lorenzo, Sabrina Cardillo, Eliana Smitsaart, Francisco Sobrino, and Margarita Sáiz. 2017. "Combined Administration of Synthetic RNA and a Conventional Vaccine Improves Immune Responses and Protection against Foot-and-Mouth Disease Virus in Swine." *Antiviral Research* 142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.antiviral.2017.03.009.
- Bo-shun, Zhang, Li juan Li, Zhu Qian, Wang Zhen, Yuan Peng, Zhou Guo-dong, Shi Wen-jian, Chu Xue-fei, Shijin Jiang, and Xie Zhi-jing. 2020. "Co-Infection of H9N2 Influenza Virus and Pseudomonas Aeruginosa Contributes to the Development of Hemorrhagic Pneumonia in Mink." *Veterinary Microbiology* 240: 108542. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2019.108542.
- Bourret, Vincent, Jon Lyall, Simon D.W. Frost, Angélique Teillaud, Catherine A. Smith, Sarah Leclaire, JinQi Fu, Sylvain Gandon, Jean Luc Guérin, and Laurence S. Tiley. 2017. "Adaptation of Avian Influenza Virus to a Swine Host." *Virus Evolution* 3 (1): vex007. https://doi.org/10.1093/ve/vex007.
- Bowman, A. S., J. M. Nolting, J. D. Workman, M. Cooper, A. E. Fisher, B. Marsh, and T. Forshey. 2016.
  "The Inability to Screen Exhibition Swine for Influenza A Virus Using Body Temperature." Zoonoses and Public Health 63 (1). https://doi.org/10.1111/zph.12201.
- Brass, Abraham L., I. Chueh Huang, Yair Benita, Sinu P. John, Manoj N. Krishnan, Eric M. Feeley,
  Bethany J. Ryan, et al. 2009. "The IFITM Proteins Mediate Cellular Resistance to Influenza A H1N1
  Virus, West Nile Virus, and Dengue Virus." *Cell* 139 (7).
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2009.12.017.

175

- Bravo-Vasquez, Nicolas, Jiangwei Yao, Pedro Jimenez-Bluhm, Victoria Meliopoulos, Pamela Freiden,
  Bridgett Sharp, Leonardo Estrada, et al. 2020. "Equine-like H3 Avian Influenza Viruses in Wild
  Birds, Chile." *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 26 (12): 2887–98.
  https://doi.org/10.3201/EID2612.202063.
- Brister, Hanna, Samantha M. Barnum, Stephanie Reedy, Thomas M. Chambers, and Nicola Pusterla.
  2019. "Validation of Two Multiplex Real-Time PCR Assays Based on Single Nucleotide
  Polymorphisms of the HA1 Gene of Equine Influenza A Virus in Order to Differentiate between
  Clade 1 and Clade 2 Florida Sublineage Isolates." *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation*31 (1). https://doi.org/10.1177/1040638718822693.
- Brogaard, Louise, Lars E. Larsen, Peter M.H. Heegaard, Christian Anthon, Jan Gorodkin, Ralf Dürrwald, and Kerstin Skovgaard. 2018. "IFN-λ and MicroRNAs Are Important Modulators of the Pulmonary Innate Immune Response against Influenza A (H1N2) Infection in Pigs." *PLoS ONE* 13 (4). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0194765.
- Bryson, Karen Jane, Damien Garrido, Marco Esposito, Gerry McLachlan, Paul Digard, Catherine Schouler, Rodrigo Guabiraba, Sascha Trapp, and Lonneke Vervelde. 2020. "Precision Cut Lung Slices: A Novel Versatile Tool to Examine Host-Pathogen Interaction in the Chicken Lung." *Veterinary Research* 51 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13567-019-0733-0.
- Bui, Chau M., Dillon C. Adam, Edwin Njoto, Matthew Scotch, and C. Raina MacIntyre. 2018.
  "Characterising Routes of H5N1 and H7N9 Spread in China Using Bayesian Phylogeographical Analysis." *Emerging Microbes and Infections* 7: 184. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41426-018-0185z.
- Bullard, Brianna L., Brigette N. Corder, Jennifer DeBeauchamp, Adam Rubrum, Bette Korber, Richard
  J. Webby, and Eric A. Weaver. 2021a. "Epigraph Hemagglutinin Vaccine Induces Broad Cross-Reactive Immunity against Swine H3 Influenza Virus." *Nature Communications* 12 (1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-21508-6.
- Butler, Jeffrey, Cameron R. Stewart, Daniel S. Layton, Phouvong Phommachanh, Jennifer Harper, Jean Payne, Ryan M. Evans, et al. 2016. "Novel Reassortant H5N6 Influenza a Virus from the Lao People's Democratic Republic Is Highly Pathogenic in Chickens." *PLoS ONE* 11 (9): e0162375. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0162375.
- Byrne, Alana B., and Laura B. Talarico. 2021. "Role of the Complement System in Antibody-Dependent Enhancement of Flavivirus Infections." *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2020.12.039.
- Cador, Charlie, Séverine Hervé, Mathieu Andraud, Stéphane Gorin, Frédéric Paboeuf, Nicolas Barbier, Stéphane Quéguiner, Céline Deblanc, Gaëlle Simon, and Nicolas Rose. 2016a. "Maternally-

Derived Antibodies Do Not Prevent Transmission of Swine Influenza A Virus between Pigs." *Veterinary Research* 47: 86. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13567-016-0365-6.

- Cador, Charlie, Nicolas Rose, Lander Willem, and Mathieu Andraud. 2016. "Maternally Derived Immunity Extends Swine Influenza A Virus Persistence within Farrow-to-Finish Pig Farms: Insights from a Stochastic Event-Driven Metapopulation Model." *PLoS ONE* 11 (9): e0163672. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0163672.
- Canavan, Barbara C. 2019. "Opening Pandora's Box at the Roof of the World: Landscape, Climate and Avian Influenza (H5N1)." Acta Tropica 196: 93–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actatropica.2019.04.021.
- Cardenas-Garcia, Stivalis, Lucas Ferreri, Zhimin Wan, Silvia Carnaccini, Ginger Geiger, Adebimpe O. Obadan, Charles L. Hofacre, Daniela Rajao, and Daniel R. Perez. 2019. "Maternally-Derived Antibodies Protect against Challenge with Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus of the H7N3 Subtype." *Vaccines* 7 (4). https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines7040163.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2020. "CDC Takes Action to Prepare Against 'G4' Swine Flu Viruses in China with Pandemic Potential | CDC." *Centers for Disease Control and Prevention*.
- Cerda-Armijo, Claudia, Mario Bermúdez De León, Irene Ruvalcaba-Ortega, Juan Chablé-Santos, Ricardo Canales-Del-Castillo, Katia Peñuelas-Urquides, Lydia G. Rivera-Morales, et al. 2020. "High Prevalence of Avian Influenza Virus among Wild Waterbirds and Land Birds of Mexico." Avian Diseases 64 (2): 135–42. https://doi.org/10.1637/0005-2086-64.2.135.
- Chamba Pardo, Fabian O., Matthew W. Allerson, Marie R. Culhane, Robert B. Morrison, Peter R. Davies, Andres Perez, and Montserrat Torremorell. 2021a. "Effect of Influenza A Virus Sow Vaccination on Infection in Pigs at Weaning: A Prospective Longitudinal Study." *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 68 (1). https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.13688.
- Chamba Pardo, Fabian Orlando, Adam Schelkopf, Matthew Allerson, Robert Morrison, Marie Culhane,
   Andres Perez, and Montserrat Torremorell. 2018. "Breed-to-Wean Farm Factors Associated with
   Influenza A Virus Infection in Piglets at Weaning." *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* 161 (March):
   33–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2018.10.008.
- Chastagner, Amélie, Emilie Bonin, Christelle Fablet, Stéphane Quéguiner, Edouard Hirchaud, Pierrick Lucas, Stéphane Gorin, et al. 2019. "Virus Persistence in Pig Herds Led to Successive Reassortment Events between Swine and Human Influenza A Viruses, Resulting in the Emergence of a Novel Triple-Reassortant Swine Influenza Virus." *Veterinary Research* 50: 77. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13567-019-0699-y.
- Chastagner, Amélie, Vincent Enouf, David Peroz, Séverine Hervé, Pierrick Lucas, Stéphane Quéguiner,
   Stéphane Gorin, et al. 2019. "Bidirectional Human Swine Transmission of Seasonal Influenza
   A(H1N1)Pdm09 Virus in Pig Herd, France, 2018." Emerging Infectious Diseases 25 (10): 2018–21.
- Chaudhry, Mamoona, Hamad B. Rashid, Angélique Angot, Michael Thrusfield, Barend M.Dec
   Bronsvoort, Ilaria Capua, Giovanni Cattoli, Susan C. Welburn, and Mark C. Eisler. 2018. "Risk
   Factors for Avian Influenza H9 Infection of Chickens in Live Bird Retail Stalls of Lahore District,
   Pakistan 2009-2010." Scientific Reports 8: 5634. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-23895-1.
- Chaudhry, Mamoona, Richard Webby, David Swayne, Hamad Bin Rashid, Jennifer DeBeauchamp, Lindsay Killmaster, Miria Ferreira Criado, et al. 2020. "Avian Influenza at Animal-Human Interface: One-Health Challenge in Live Poultry Retail Stalls of Chakwal, Pakistan." *Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses* 14 (3): 257–65. https://doi.org/10.1111/irv.12718.
- Chen, Jidang, Jun Ma, Sarah K White, Zhenpeng Cao, Yun Zhen, Shuyi He, Wanjun Zhu, et al. 2015. "Live Poultry Market Workers Are Susceptible to Both Avian and Swine Influenza Viruses, Guangdong Province, China." *Veterinary Microbiology* 181: 230–35.
- Chen, Lin, Chengmin Wang, Jing Luo, Meng Li, Huimin Liu, Na Zhao, Jingjing Huang, et al. 2017. "Amino Acid Substitution K470R in the Nucleoprotein Increases the Virulence of H5N1 Influenza A Virus in Mammals." *Frontiers in Microbiology* 8 (July): 1308. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.01308.
- Chen, Lingling, Feier Ruan, Ying Sun, Haiying Chen, Mingbin Liu, Jianfang Zhou, and Kun Qin. 2019. "Establishment of Sandwich ELISA for Detecting the H7 Subtype Influenza A Virus." *Journal of Medical Virology* 91 (6). https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.25408.
- Chen, Pucheng, Leilei Ding, Yongping Jiang, Xianying Zeng, Guohua Deng, Jianzhong Shi, Yanbing Li, et al. 2019. "Protective Efficacy in Farmed Ducks of a Duck Enteritis Virus-Vectored Vaccine against H5N1, H5N6, and H5N8 Avian Influenza Viruses." Vaccine 37 (40). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.08.026.
- Chen, Sujuan, Keji Quan, Hui Wang, Shi Li, Jing Xue, Tao Qin, Dianfeng Chu, Gencheng Fan, Yuanzhao
   Du, and Daxin Peng. 2021. "A Live Attenuated H9N2 Avian Influenza Vaccine Prevents the Viral
   Reassortment by Exchanging the HA and NS1 Packaging Signals." *Frontiers in Microbiology* 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.613437.
- Chen, Sujuan, Yizhang Xie, Xiang Su, Jing Xue, Xiao Wang, Yinping Du, Tao Qin, Daxin Peng, and Xiufan
   Liu. 2020. "Substitutions in the PB2 Methionine 283 Residue Affect H5 Subtype Avian Influenza
   Virus Virulence." *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 67 (6): 2554–63.
   https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.13601.

- Chen, Ying, Nídia S. Trovão, Guojun Wang, Weifeng Zhao, Ping He, Huabo Zhou, Yanning Mo, et al.
  2018. "Emergence and Evolution of Novel Reassortant Influenza a Viruses in Canines in Southern China." *MBio* 9 (3): e00909-18. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.00909-18.
- Cheng, Jinghua, Chunling Zhang, Jie Tao, Benqiang Li, Ying Shi, and Huili Liu. 2018. "Effects of the S42 Residue of the H1N1 Swine Influenza Virus NS1 Protein on Interferon Responses and Virus Replication." *Virology Journal* 15 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12985-018-0971-1.
- Cheng, Yu Ling, Lih Chiann Wang, and Ching Ho Wang. 2015. "Immunochromatographic Strip Assay Development for Avian Influenza Antibody Detection." *Japanese Journal of Veterinary Research* 63 (4). https://doi.org/10.14943/jjvr.63.4.183.
- Cheng, Yuqiang, Yunxia Liu, Shuduan Shi, Qiaona Niu, Wenxian Zhu, Zhaofei Wang, Jingjiao Ma, Hengan Wang, Yaxian Yan, and Jianhe Sun. 2019. "Functional Characterization of Duck STING in IFN-β Induction and Anti-H9N2 Avian Influenza Viruses Infections." *Frontiers in Immunology* 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.02224.
- Cheng, Yuqiang, Yingjie Sun, Hengan Wang, Yaxian Yan, Chan Ding, and Jianhe Sun. 2015. "Chicken STING Mediates Activation of the IFN Gene Independently of the RIG-I Gene." *The Journal of Immunology* 195 (8). https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1500638.
- Chepkwony, Sharon, Anna Parys, Elien Vandoorn, Koen Chiers, and Kristien van Reeth. 2020. "Efficacy of Heterologous Prime-Boost Vaccination with H3N2 Influenza Viruses in Pre-Immune Individuals: Studies in the Pig Model." *Viruses* 12 (9). https://doi.org/10.3390/v12090968.
- Chin, Alex W.H., Nathaniel K.C. Leong, John M. Nicholls, and Leo L.M. Poon. 2017. "Characterization of Influenza A Viruses with Polymorphism in PB2 Residues 701 and 702." *Scientific Reports* 7: 11361. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-11625-y.
- Choi, Chang Yong, John Y. Takekawa, Yue Xiong, Ying Liu, Martin Wikelski, George Heine, Diann J.
   Prosser, et al. 2016. "Tracking Domestic Ducks: A Novel Approach for Documenting Poultry
   Market Chains in the Context of Avian Influenza Transmission." *Journal of Integrative Agriculture* 15 (7): 1584–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2095-3119(15)61292-8.
- Choi, Hoonsung, Sang In Lee, Shanmugam Sureshkumar, Mi Hyang Jeon, Jeom Sun Kim, Mi Ryung Park,
  Kyung Woon Kim, Ik Soo Jeon, Sukchan Lee, and Sung June Byun. 2019. "Avian Influenza Virus
  Transmission Is Suppressed in Chickens Fed Lactobacillus Paracasei Expressing the 3D8 SingleChain Variable Fragment Protein." Acta Veterinaria Hungarica 67 (4).
  https://doi.org/10.1556/004.2019.060.
- Choi, In Jeong, Aram Kang, Myun Hwan Ahn, Hyesun Jun, Seung Ki Baek, Jung Hwan Park, Woonsung Na, and Seong O. Choi. 2018. "Insertion-Responsive Microneedles for Rapid Intradermal Delivery

of Canine Influenza Vaccine." *Journal of Controlled Release* 286. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2018.08.017.

- Choi, In Jeong, Woonsung Na, Aram Kang, Myun Hwan Ahn, Minjoo Yeom, Hyung Ouk Kim, Jong Woo
   Lim, et al. 2020. "Patchless Administration of Canine Influenza Vaccine on Dog's Ear Using
   Insertion-Responsive Microneedles (IRMN) without Removal of Hair and Its in Vivo Efficacy
   Evaluation." *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics* 153.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2020.06.006.
- Chothe, Shubhada K., Gitanjali Bhushan, Ruth H. Nissly, Yin Ting Yeh, Justin Brown, Gregory Turner, Jenny Fisher, et al. 2017. "Avian and Human Influenza Virus Compatible Sialic Acid Receptors in Little Brown Bats." *Scientific Reports* 7 (1): 660. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-00793-6.
- Chothe, Shubhada K., Ruth H. Nissly, Levina Lim, Gitanjali Bhushan, Ian Bird, Jessica Radzio-Basu,
   Bhushan M. Jayarao, and Suresh V. Kuchipudi. 2020. "NLRC5 Serves as a Pro-Viral Factor During
   Influenza Virus Infection in Chicken Macrophages." *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology* 10 (May): 230. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2020.00230.
- Chung, David H., Dejelia R. Gomez, Julia M. Vargas, Belkis L. Amador, Mia K. Torchetti, Mary L. Killian,
  David E. Swayne, and Dong Hun Lee. 2020a. "Low Pathogenicity Avian Influenza (H5N2) Viruses,
  Dominican Republic." *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 26 (12): 3094–98.
  https://doi.org/10.3201/EID2612.200268.
- Collin, Emily A., Zizhang Sheng, Yuekun Lang, Wenjun Ma, Ben M. Hause, and Feng Li. 2015. "Cocirculation of Two Distinct Genetic and Antigenic Lineages of Proposed Influenza D Virus in Cattle." *Journal of Virology* 89 (2): 1036–42. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.02718-14.
- Correia-Gomes, Carla, and Nick Sparks. 2020. "Exploring the Attitudes of Backyard Poultry Keepers to Health and Biosecurity." *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* 174 (June 2019): 104812. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2019.104812.
- Corzo, C. A., M. Allerson, M. Gramer, R. B. Morrison, and M. Torremorell. 2014. "Detection of Airborne Influenza a Virus in Experimentally Infected Pigs with Maternally Derived Antibodies." *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 61 (1). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1865-1682.2012.01367.x.
- Couture MM-J, Dargis M, Lavoie P-O, Vezina L-P, and D'Aoust M-A. 2010. Couture MM-J, Dargis M, Lavoie P-O, Vezina L-P, D'Aoust M-A. Chimeric influenza virus-like particles comprising hemagglutinin. US 10,272,148, issued 2010.
- Cox, Manon M.J., and Jason R. Hollister. 2009. "FluBlok, a next Generation Influenza Vaccine Manufactured in Insect Cells." *Biologicals* 37 (3): 182–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biologicals.2009.02.014.

- Cox, Manon M.J., Peter A. Patriarca, and John Treanor. 2008. "FluBlok, a Recombinant Hemagglutinin Influenza Vaccine." *Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses*. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-2659.2008.00053.x.
- Criado, Miria Ferreira, Kateri Bertran, Dong Hun Lee, Lindsay Killmaster, Christopher B. Stephens, Erica Spackman, Mariana Sa e Silva, et al. 2019. "Efficacy of Novel Recombinant Fowlpox Vaccine against Recent Mexican H7N3 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus." *Vaccine* 37 (16). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.03.009.
- Criado, Miria Ferreira, Mariana Sá e Silva, Dong-Hun Lee, Carolina Alves de Lima Salge, Erica Spackman,
  Ruben Donis, Xiu-Feng Wan, and David E. Swayne. 2020. "Cross-Protection by Inactivated H5
  Prepandemic Vaccine Seed Strains against Diverse Goose/Guangdong Lineage H5N1 Highly
  Pathogenic Avian Influenza Viruses." Journal of Virology 94 (24).
  https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.00720-20.
- Cuan, Kaixuan, Tiemin Zhang, Junduan Huang, Cheng Fang, and Yun Guan. 2020. "Detection of Avian Influenza-Infected Chickens Based on a Chicken Sound Convolutional Neural Network." *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2020.105688.
- Cui, Bin, Linda Dong Ling Wang, Jun Ke, and Yi Tian. 2019. "Chinese Poultry Farmers' Decision-Making for Avian Influenza Prevention: A Qualitative Analysis." *Zoonoses and Public Health* 66 (6): 647–54. https://doi.org/10.1111/zph.12617.
- Cureton, David K., Maya Scott-Garrard, Dana S. Parker, Ashley House, Ernie Veal, Tiffany Aitcheson, and Yu Wei Chiang. 2016. "An Inactivated H3N2 Canine Influenza Virus (CIV) Vaccine Aids in the Prevention of Clinical Disease and Virus Shedding in Dogs Challenged with Virulent H3N2 CIV." International Journal of Applied Research in Veterinary Medicine 14 (2).
- Czyzewska-Dors, Ewelina, Arkadiusz Dors, Krzysztof Kwit, Ewelina Stasiak, and Malgorzata Pomorska-Mól. 2017. "Pig Lung Immune Cytokine Response to the Swine Influenza Virus and the Actinobacillus Pleuropneumoniae Infection." *Journal of Veterinary Research (Poland)* 61 (3). https://doi.org/10.1515/jvetres-2017-0036.
- Dai, Manman, Shibing Li, Keyi Shi, Hui Sun, Li Zhao, Deshui Yu, Jiayu Liao, Chenggang Xu, and Ming Liao. 2021. "Comparative Analysis of Key Immune Protection Factors in H9N2 Avian Influenza Viruses Infected and Immunized Specific Pathogen–Free Chicken." *Poultry Science* 100 (1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psj.2020.09.080.
- Dalby, Andrew R., and Munir Iqbal. 2015. "The European and Japanese Outbreaks of H5N8 Derive from a Single Source Population Providing Evidence for the Dispersal along the Long Distance Bird Migratory Flyways." *PeerJ* 3: e934. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.934.

- Daly, J. M., and P. R. Murcia. 2018. "Strategic Implementation of Vaccines for Control of Equine Influenza." *Equine Veterinary Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1111/evj.12794.
- Davis, E. G., N. M. Bello, A. J. Bryan, K. Hankins, and M. Wilkerson. 2015. "Characterisation of Immune Responses in Healthy Foals When a Multivalent Vaccine Protocol Was Initiated at Age 90 or 180
   Days." Equine Veterinary Journal 47 (6). https://doi.org/10.1111/evj.12350.
- Deblanc, Céline, Séverine Hervé, Stéphane Gorin, Charlie Cador, Mathieu Andraud, Stéphane Quéguiner, Nicolas Barbier, Frédéric Paboeuf, Nicolas Rose, and Gaëlle Simon. 2018.
   "Maternally-Derived Antibodies Do Not Inhibit Swine Influenza Virus Replication in Piglets but Decrease Excreted Virus Infectivity and Impair Post-Infectious Immune Responses." *Veterinary Microbiology* 216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2018.01.019.
- DeJesus, Eric, Mar Costa-Hurtado, Diane Smith, Dong Hun Lee, Erica Spackman, Darrell R. Kapczynski,
  Mia Kim Torchetti, et al. 2016. "Changes in Adaptation of H5N2 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza
  H5 Clade 2.3.4.4 Viruses in Chickens and Mallards." Virology 499: 52–64.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2016.08.036.
- Delabouglise, Alexis, Marc Choisy, Thang D. Phan, Nicolas Antoine-Moussiaux, Marisa Peyre, Ton D.
   Vu, Dirk U. Pfeiffer, and Guillaume Fournié. 2017. "Economic Factors Influencing Zoonotic
   Disease Dynamics: Demand for Poultry Meat and Seasonal Transmission of Avian Influenza in
   Vietnam." Scientific Reports 7: 5905. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-06244-6.
- Derksen, T., R. Lampron, R. Hauck, M. Pitesky, and R. A. Gallardo. 2018. "Biosecurity Assessment and Seroprevalence of Respiratory Diseases in Backyard Poultry Flocks Located Close to and Far from Commercial Premises." Avian Diseases 62 (1): 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1637/11672-050917-Reg.1.
- Dhakal, Santosh, Fangjia Lu, Shristi Ghimire, Sankar Renu, Yashavanth Shaan Lakshmanappa, Bradley
  T. Hogshead, Darryl Ragland, Harm HogenEsch, and Gourapura J. Renukaradhya. 2019. "CornDerived Alpha-D-Glucan Nanoparticles as Adjuvant for Intramuscular and Intranasal
  Immunization in Pigs." Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology, and Medicine 16.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2018.12.003.
- Dhingra, Madhur S., Jean Artois, Timothy P. Robinson, Catherine Linard, Celia Chaiban, Ioannis Xenarios, Robin Engler, et al. 2016. "Global Mapping of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza H5N1 and H5Nx Clade 2.3.4.4 Viruses with Spatial Cross-Validation." *ELife* 5: e19571. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.19571.
- Diallo, Alpha Amadou, Maman Moutari Souley, Abdoulkarim Issa Ibrahim, Abdou Alassane, Rahila Issa, Haladou Gagara, Bachir Yaou, et al. 2021. "Transboundary Spread of Equine Influenza Viruses (H3N8) in West and Central Africa: Molecular Characterization of Identified Viruses during

Outbreaks in Niger and Senegal, in 2019." *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 68 (3): 1253–62. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.13779.

- Dietze, Klaas, Annika Graaf, Timo Homeier-Bachmann, Christian Grund, Leonie Forth, Anne Pohlmann, Christa Jeske, et al. 2018. "From Low to High Pathogenicity—Characterization of H7N7 Avian Influenza Viruses in Two Epidemiologically Linked Outbreaks." *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 65 (6): 1576–87. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.12906.
- Dijk, Jacintha G.B. van, Josanne H. Verhagen, Arne Hegemann, Conny Tolf, Jenny Olofsson, Josef D. Järhult, and Jonas Waldenström. 2020. "A Comparative Study of the Innate Humoral Immune Response to Avian Influenza Virus in Wild and Domestic Mallards." *Frontiers in Microbiology* 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.608274.
- Dinev, Ivan, Ivan Zarkov, Gabriela V. Goujgoulova, Georgi M. Stoimenov, Georgi Georgiev, and Dian Kanakov. 2020. "Pathologic Evaluation of Influenza A H5N8 Infection Outbreaks in Mule Ducks in Bulgaria." *Avian Diseases* 64 (2): 203–9. https://doi.org/10.1637/0005-2086-64.2.203.
- Dolgin, Elie. 2021. "How COVID Unlocked the Power of RNA Vaccines." *Nature* 589 (7841). https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-021-00019-w.
- Dong, Jun, Junqing Fan, Yuanyuan Wang, Qinxue Zhang, Yingli Yang, Yunqiang Jia, Fan Ming, et al. 2019. "Development and Evaluation of a C-ELISA for Rapid Detection of Antibody to AIV- H7." *Analytical Biochemistry* 572. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ab.2019.02.024.
- Donovan, Tara S. 2005. "The Role of Influenza on Growing Pig Performance." Allen D. Leman Swine Conference.
- Drobik-Czwarno, W., A. Wolc, J. E. Fulton, J. Arango, T. Jankowski, N. P. O'Sullivan, and J. C.M. Dekkers.
  2018. "Identifying the Genetic Basis for Resistance to Avian Influenza in Commercial Egg Layer Chickens." Animal 12 (7): 1363–71. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1751731117002889.
- Drobik-Czwarno, Wioleta, Anna Wolc, Janet E. Fulton, Tomasz Jankowski, Jesus Arango, Neil P.
   O'Sullivan, and Jack C.M. Dekkers. 2018. "Genetic Basis of Resistance to Avian Influenza in
   Different Commercial Varieties of Layer Chickens." *Poultry Science* 97 (10).
   https://doi.org/10.3382/ps/pey233.
- Du, Wenjuan, Meiling Dai, Zeshi Li, Geert-Jan Boons, Ben Peeters, Frank J. M. van Kuppeveld, Erik de Vries, and Cornelis A. M. de Haan. 2018. "Substrate Binding by the Second Sialic Acid-Binding Site of Influenza A Virus N1 Neuraminidase Contributes to Enzymatic Activity." *Journal of Virology* 92 (20): e01243-18.
- Du, Wenjuan, Margreet A. Wolfert, Ben Peeters, Frank J.M. van Kuppeveld, Geert Jan Boons, Erik de Vries, and Cornelis A.M. de Haan. 2020. "Mutation of the Second Sialic Acid-Binding Site of

Influenza A Virus Neuraminidase Drives Compensatory Mutations in Hemagglutinin." *PLoS Pathogens* 16 (8): e1008816. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1008816.

- Dumard, Carlos Henrique, Shana P.C. Barroso, Ana Clara V. Santos, Nathalia S. Alves, José Nelson S.S.
  Couceiro, Andre M.O. Gomes, Patricia S. Santos, Jerson L. Silva, and Andréa C. Oliveira. 2017.
  "Stability of Different Influenza Subtypes: How Can High Hydrostatic Pressure Be a Useful Tool for Vaccine Development?" *Biophysical Chemistry* 231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpc.2017.04.002.
- Dwivedi, Varun, Cordelia Manickam, Santosh Dhakal, Basavaraj Binjawadagi, Kang Ouyang, Jagadish Hiremath, Mahesh Khatri, Jacquelyn Gervay Hague, Chang Won Lee, and Gourapura J. Renukaradhya. 2016. "Adjuvant Effects of Invariant NKT Cell Ligand Potentiates the Innate and Adaptive Immunity to an Inactivated H1N1 Swine Influenza Virus Vaccine in Pigs." *Veterinary Microbiology* 186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2016.02.028.
- EFSA. 2018. "Identification of Elements for Welfare Risk Assessment Related to On-farm Killing of Animals." *EFSA Supporting Publications* 15 (8): EN-1453. https://doi.org/10.2903/sp.efsa.2018.en-1453.
- Elaish, Mohamed, John M. Ngunjiri, Ahmed Ali, Ming Xia, Mahmoud Ibrahim, Hyesun Jang, Jagadish Hiremath, et al. 2017. "Supplementation of Inactivated Influenza Vaccine with Norovirus P Particle-M2e Chimeric Vaccine Enhances Protection against Heterologous Virus Challenge in Chickens." *PLoS ONE* 12 (2). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0171174.
- Ellakany, Hany F., Ahmed R. Gado, Ahmed R. Elbestawy, Hatem S. Abd El-Hamid, Hafez M. Hafez, Mohamed E. Abd El-Hack, Ayman A. Swelum, Abdullah Al-Owaimer, and Islam M. Saadeldin. 2018a. "Interaction between Avian Influenza Subtype H9N2 and Newcastle Disease Virus Vaccine Strain (LaSota) in Chickens." *BMC Veterinary Research* 14 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12917-018-1689-4.
- Endo, Akira, and Hiroshi Nishiura. 2018. "The Role of Migration in Maintaining the Transmission of Avian Influenza in Waterfowl: A Multisite Multispecies Transmission Model along East Asian-Australian Flyway." Canadian Journal of Infectious Diseases and Medical Microbiology 2018: 3420535. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/3420535.
- Eng, Christine L.P., Joo Chuan Tong, and Tin Wee Tan. 2017. "Predicting Zoonotic Risk of Influenza a Viruses from Host Tropism Protein Signature Using Random Forest." *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 18 (6): 1135. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18061135.
- Entenfellner, Johanna, Jacinta Gahan, Marie Garvey, Cathal Walsh, Monica Venner, and Ann Cullinane.
  2020a. "Response of Sport Horses to Different Formulations of Equine Influenza Vaccine." Vaccines 8 (3). https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines8030372.

- Entrican, Gary, Johannes Charlier, Luke Dalton, Stefano Messori, Sadhana Sharma, Robert Taylor, and Alex Morrow. 2021. "Construction of Generic Roadmaps for the Strategic Coordination of Global Research into Infectious Diseases of Animals and Zoonoses." *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 68 (3). https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.13821.
- Esaki, Motoyuki, Lauren Noland, Kristi M. Dorsey, and Atsushi Yasuda. 2015. "Serological Evaluation of Turkey Herpesvirus Vector Vaccines Expressing the Hemagglutinin Gene of Avian Influenza Virus H5 Subtype under Three Different Promoters." *Journal of Poultry Science* 52 (1). https://doi.org/10.2141/jpsa.0140096.
- European Food Safety Authority. 2015. "Workshop on Animal Influenza. EFSA Supporting Publication 2015."
- Fallah Mehrabadi, A. Ghalyanchi Langeroudi, A. Bahonar, M. H. Rabiee, F. Tehrani, S. Amirhajloo, K. Steneroden, and M. D. Salman. 2019. "Prevalence of Avian Influenza in Live Bird Markets, Bird Gardens, and Zoos in Iran in 2015: A Cross-Sectional Study." *Archives of Razi Institute* 74 (3): 243–50. https://doi.org/10.22092/ari.2019.125186.1299.
- Fan, Shuhua, Yongli Wang, Xian Wang, Li Huang, Yunxia Zhang, Xiaomeng Liu, and Wenshuai Zhu.
   2018. "Analysis of the Affinity of Influenza A Virus Protein Epitopes for Swine MHC I by a Modified in Vitro Refolding Method Indicated Cross-Reactivity between Swine and Human MHC I Specificities." *Immunogenetics* 70 (10). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00251-018-1070-6.
- Fereidouni, Sasan, Olga Munoz, Sophie Von Dobschuetz, and Marco De Nardi. 2016. "Influenza Virus Infection of Marine Mammals." *EcoHealth* 13 (1): 161–70. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10393-014-0968-1.
- Ferguson, Lucas, Alicia K. Olivier, Suzanne Genova, William B. Epperson, David R. Smith, Liesel Schneider, Kathleen Barton, Katlin McCuan, Richard J. Webby, and Xiu-Feng Wan. 2016.
  "Pathogenesis of Influenza D Virus in Cattle." *Journal of Virology* 90 (12): 5636–42. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.03122-15.
- Figueroa, Thomas, Pierre Bessière, Amelia Coggon, Kim M. Bouwman, Roosmarijn van der Woude, Maxence Delverdier, Monique H. Verheije, Robert P. de Vries, and Romain Volmer. 2020. "The Microbiota Contributes to the Control of Highly Pathogenic H5N9 Influenza Virus Replication in Ducks." Journal of Virology 94 (10). https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.00289-20.
- Fitzgerald, Rose Mary, Helen O'Shea, Edgar García Manzanilla, John Moriarty, Hugh McGlynn, and Julia Adriana Calderón Díaz. 2020. "Associations between Animal and Herd Management Factors, Serological Response to Three Respiratory Pathogens and Pluck Lesions in Finisher Pigs on a

Farrow-to-Finish Farm." *Porcine Health Management* 6: 34. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40813-020-00173-z.

- Fleming-Canepa, Ximena, Shawna M. Jensen, Christine M. Mesa, Laura Diaz-Satizabal, Alexa J. Roth, Julie A. Parks-Dely, Debra A. Moon, et al. 2016. "Extensive Allelic Diversity of MHC Class I in Wild Mallard Ducks." *The Journal of Immunology* 197 (3). https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1502450.
- Flint, Paul L., John M. Pearce, J. Christian Franson, and Dirk V. Derksen. 2015. "Wild Bird Surveillance for Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza H5 in North America." Virology Journal 12 (1): 151. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12985-015-0377-2.
- Fougerolle, Stéphanie, Loïc Legrand, Dion Garrett, Ilhan Birand, Marc Foursin, Xavier D'Ablon, Pierre Bayssat, Richard J. Newton, Stéphane Pronost, and Romain Paillot. 2016a. "Influential Factors Inducing Suboptimal Humoral Response to Vector-Based Influenza Immunisation in Thoroughbred Foals." Vaccine 34 (33). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.05.068.
- Fu, Bishi, Lingyan Wang, Hao Ding, Jens C. Schwamborn, Shitao Li, and Martin E. Dorf. 2015. "TRIM32
  Senses and Restricts Influenza A Virus by Ubiquitination of PB1 Polymerase." *PLoS Pathogens* 11
  (6). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1004960.
- Fusade-Boyer, Maxime, Pidemnéwé S. Pato, Mathias Komlan, Koffi Dogno, Komla Batawui, Emilie Go-Maro, Pamela McKenzie, et al. 2020. "Risk Mapping of Influenza D Virus Occurrence in Ruminants and Swine in Togo Using a Spatial Multicriteria Decision Analysis Approach." Viruses 12: 128. https://doi.org/10.3390/v12020128.
- Fusaro, Alice, Luca Tassoni, Adelaide Milani, Joseph Hughes, Annalisa Salviato, Pablo R Murcia, Paola Massi, et al. 2016. "Unexpected Interfarm Transmission Dynamics during a Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Epidemic." *Journal of Virology* 90 (14): 6401–11. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.00538-16.
- Fusaro, Alice, Bianca Zecchin, Bram Vrancken, Celia Abolnik, Rose Ademun, Abdou Alassane,
  Abdelsatar Arafa, et al. 2019. "Disentangling the Role of Africa in the Global Spread of H5 Highly
  Pathogenic Avian Influenza." Nature Communications 10: 5310.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-13287-y.
- Galani, Ioanna E., Vasiliki Triantafyllia, Evridiki Evangelia Eleminiadou, Ourania Koltsida, Athanasios Stavropoulos, Maria Manioudaki, Dimitris Thanos, et al. 2017. "Interferon-λ Mediates Non-Redundant Front-Line Antiviral Protection against Influenza Virus Infection without Compromising Host Fitness." *Immunity* 46 (5). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2017.04.025.
- Gale, P., S. Sechi, V. Horigan, R. Taylor, I. Brown, and L. Kelly. 2020. "Risk Assessment for Recrudescence of Avian Influenza in Caged Layer Houses Following Depopulation: The Effect of

Cleansing, Disinfection and Dismantling of Equipment." *Animal* 14 (7): 1536–45. https://doi.org/10.1017/S175173112000018X.

- Gan, Lin, Yu Tian, Yu Zhao, Xue qin Shan, Wei Zhou, Bing Bing Xia, Jason Chen, Ming Li Wang, and Jun Zhao. 2019. "Enhancing Immunogenicity and Protective Efficacy of Inactivated Avian Influenza H9N2vaccine with Recombinant Chicken IFN-α in Chicken." *Veterinary Microbiology* 234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2019.05.015.
- Gao, Ruyi, Min Gu, Kaituo Liu, Qunhui Li, Juan Li, Liwei Shi, Xiuli Li, et al. 2018. "T160A Mutation-Induced Deglycosylation at Site 158 in Hemagglutinin Is a Critical Determinant of the Dual Receptor Binding Properties of Clade 2.3.4.4 H5NX Subtype Avian Influenza Viruses." *Veterinary Microbiology* 217 (March): 158–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2018.03.018.
- Gao, Yifan, Xiaoling Wu, Zhongxing Wang, Pengjie Luo, Liguang Xu, Qiankun Zheng, and Hua Kuang.
   2019. "A Sensitive Lateral Flow Immunoassay for the Multiple Residues of Five Adamantanes."
   Food and Agricultural Immunology 30 (1). https://doi.org/10.1080/09540105.2019.1612331.
- Gardin, Yannick, Vilmos Palya, Kristi Moore Dorsey, John El-Attrache, Francesco Bonfante, Sjaak de Wit, Darrell Kapczynski, et al. 2016. "Experimental and Field Results Regarding Immunity Induced by a Recombinant Turkey Herpesvirus H5 Vector Vaccine against H5N1 and Other H5 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus Challenges." In *Avian Diseases*. Vol. 60. https://doi.org/10.1637/11144-050815-ResNote.
- Garrett, Dion, Fernando Montesso, Stéphanie Fougerolle, Maria R. Lopez-Alvarez, Ilhan Birand, Manuelle De Bock, Chengjin M. Huang, Loïc Legrand, Stéphane Pronost, and Romain Paillot. 2017. "Refinement of the Equine Influenza Model in the Natural Host: A Meta-Analysis to Determine the Benefits of Individual Nebulisation for Experimental Infection and Vaccine Evaluation in the Face of Decreased Strain Pathogenicity." *Veterinary Microbiology* 211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2017.10.010.
- Garrido-Mantilla, Jorge, Marie R. Culhane, and Montserrat Torremorell. 2020. "Transmission of Influenza A Virus and Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus Using a Novel Nurse Sow Model: A Proof of Concept." *Veterinary Research* 51: 42. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13567-020-00765-1.
- Genzow, Marika, Christa Goodell, Troy J. Kaiser, Wesley Johnson, and Marc Eichmeyer. 2018. "Live Attenuated Influenza Virus Vaccine Reduces Virus Shedding of Newborn Piglets in the Presence of Maternal Antibody." *Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses* 12 (3). https://doi.org/10.1111/irv.12531.
- Germeraad, Evelien, René Achterberg, Sandra Venema, Jacob Post, Olav de Leeuw, Guus Koch, Fimme Jan van der Wal, and Nancy Beerens. 2019. "The Development of a Multiplex Serological Assay

for Avian Influenza Based on Luminex Technology." *Methods* 158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymeth.2019.01.012.

- Ghorbani, Amir, Michael C. Abundo, Hana Ji, Kara J. M. Taylor, John M. Ngunjiri, and Chang-Won Lee.
  2020. "Viral Subpopulation Screening Guides in Designing a High Interferon-Inducing Live
  Attenuated Influenza Vaccine by Targeting Rare Mutations in NS1 and PB2 Proteins." *Journal of Virology* 95 (2). https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.01722-20.
- Ghorbani, Amir, John M. Ngunjiri, Ming Xia, Mohamed Elaish, Hyesun Jang, K. C. Mahesh, Michael C.
  Abundo, Xi Jiang, and Chang Won Lee. 2019a. "Heterosubtypic Protection against Avian Influenza
  Virus by Live Attenuated and Chimeric Norovirus P-Particle-M2e Vaccines in Chickens." *Vaccine* 37 (10). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.01.037.
- Gilbert, Marius, Diann J. Prosser, Geli Zhang, Jean Artois, Madhur S. Dhingra, Michael Tildesley, Scott
  H. Newman, et al. 2017. "Could Changes in the Agricultural Landscape of Northeastern China
  Have Influenced the Long-Distance Transmission of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza H5Nx
  Viruses?" Frontiers in Veterinary Science 4: 225. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2017.00225.
- Gildea, Sarah, Maria Jose Sanchez Higgins, Gillian Johnson, Cathal Walsh, and Ann Cullinane. 2016. "Concurrent Vaccination against Equine Influenza and Equine Herpesvirus – a Practical Approach." *Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses* 10 (5). https://doi.org/10.1111/irv.12396.
- Giotis, Efstathios S., Rebecca C. Robey, Natalie G. Skinner, Christopher D. Tomlinson, Stephen Goodbourn, and Michael A. Skinner. 2016. "Chicken Interferome: Avian Interferon-Stimulated Genes Identified by Microarray and RNA-Seq of Primary Chick Embryo Fibroblasts Treated with a Chicken Type i Interferon (IFN-α)." Veterinary Research 47 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13567-016-0363-8.
- Goecke, Nicole B., Jesper S. Krog, Charlotte K. Hjulsager, Kerstin Skovgaard, Timm C. Harder, Solvej
  Breum, and Lars E. Larsen. 2018. "Subtyping of Swine Influenza Viruses Using a High-Throughput
  Real-Time PCR Platform." Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology 8 (MAY).
  https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2018.00165.
- Gomaa, Mokhtar R., Ahmed Kandeil, Rabeh El-Shesheny, Mahmoud M. Shehata, Pamela P. McKenzie,
  Richard J. Webby, Mohamed A. Ali, and Ghazi Kayali. 2018. "Evidence of Infection with Avian,
  Human, and Swine Influenza Viruses in Pigs in Cairo, Egypt." *Archives of Virology* 163 (2): 359–64. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00705-017-3619-3.
- Govindaraj, G., R. Sridevi, S. N. Nandakumar, R. Vineet, P. Rajeev, M. K. Binu, V. Balamurugan, and H. Rahman. 2018. "Economic Impacts of Avian Influenza Outbreaks in Kerala, India." *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 65 (2). https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.12766.

- Graaf, Annika, Martin Beer, and Timm Harder. 2017. "Real-Time Reverse Transcription PCR-Based Sequencing-Independent Pathotyping of Eurasian Avian Influenza A Viruses of Subtype H7." *Virology Journal* 14 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12985-017-0808-3.
- Grgić, Helena, Jackie Gallant, and Zvonimir Poljak. 2017. "Virological Surveillance of Influenza a Subtypes Isolated in 2014 from Clinical Outbreaks in Canadian Swine." *Viruses* 9 (3). https://doi.org/10.3390/v9030055.
- Grodeland, Gunnveig, Even Fossum, and Bjarne Bogen. 2020. "Targeting of HA to Chemokine Receptors Induces Strong and Cross-Reactive T Cell Responses after DNA Vaccination in Pigs." *Vaccine* 38 (6). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.11.084.
- Grodeland, Gunnveig, Agnete Brunsvik Fredriksen, Geir Åge Løset, Elisabeth Vikse, Lars Fugger, and
  Bjarne Bogen. 2016. "Antigen Targeting to Human HLA Class II Molecules Increases Efficacy of
  DNA Vaccination." *The Journal of Immunology* 197 (9).
  https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1600893.
- Gu, Hallie, and Dominique Patton. 2021. "China Reports First Human Case of H10N3 Bird Flu." Reuters.
  2021. https://www.reuters.com/business/healthcare-pharmaceuticals/china-reports-human-case-h10n3-bird-flu-2021-06-01/.
- Gu, Min, Qunhui Li, Ruyi Gao, Dongchang He, Yunpeng Xu, Haixu Xu, Lijun Xu, et al. 2017. "The T160A Hemagglutinin Substitution Affects Not Only Receptor Binding Property but Also Transmissibility of H5N1 Clade 2.3.4 Avian Influenza Virus in Guinea Pigs." *Veterinary Research* 48 (1): 7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13567-017-0410-0.
- Gu, Pengfei, Adelijiang Wusiman, Yue Zhang, Gaofeng Cai, Shuwen Xu, Shaowu Zhu, Zhenguang Liu,
   Yuanliang Hu, Jiaguo Liu, and Deyun Wang. 2020. "Polyethylenimine-Coated PLGA Nanoparticles-Encapsulated Angelica Sinensis Polysaccharide as an Adjuvant for H9N2 Vaccine to Improve Immune Responses in Chickens Compared to Alum and Oil-Based Adjuvants." Veterinary Microbiology 251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2020.108894.
- Gu, Weihong, Darling Melany D. Madrid, Guan Yang, Bianca L. Artiaga, Julia C. Loeb, William L.
   Castleman, Jürgen A. Richt, John A. Lednicky, and John P. Driver. 2021. "Unaltered Influenza Disease Outcomes in Swine Prophylactically Treated with α-Galactosylceramide." *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2020.103843.
- Guan, J., M. Chan, and A. VanderZaag. 2017. "Inactivation of Avian Influenza Viruses on Porous and Non-Porous Surfaces Is Enhanced by Elevating Absolute Humidity." *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 64 (4): 1254–61. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.12499.

- Guan, Jiewen, Maria Chan, Brian W. Brooks, and Elizabeth Rohonczy. 2015. "Enhanced Inactivation of Avian Influenza Virus at -20°C by Disinfectants Supplemented with Calcium Chloride or Other Antifreeze Agents." *Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research* 79 (4): 347–50.
- Guan, Minhui, Jeffrey S. Hall, Xiaojian Zhang, Robert J. Dusek, Alicia K. Olivier, Liyuan Liu, Lei Li, et al.
  2019. "Aerosol Transmission of Gull-Origin Iceland Subtype H10N7 Influenza A Virus in Ferrets." Journal of Virology 93 (13): e00282-19. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.00282-19.
- Guinat, Claire, Arianna Comin, Gilles Kratzer, Benoit Durand, Lea Delesalle, Mattias Delpont, Jean Luc Guérin, and Mathilde C. Paul. 2020. "Biosecurity Risk Factors for Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza (H5N8) Virus Infection in Duck Farms, France." *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 67 (6): 2961–70. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.13672.
- Guo, Fucheng, Yiliang Li, Shu Yu, Lu Liu, Tingting Luo, Zhiqing Pu, Dan Xiang, et al. 2019. "Adaptive Evolution of Human-Isolated H5Nx Avian Influenza A Viruses." *Frontiers in Microbiology* 10 (JUN): 1328. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.01328.
- Guo, Fucheng, Xuejuan Shen, David M. Irwin, and Yongyi Shen. 2019. "Avian Influenza A Viruses H5Nx (N1, N2, N6 and N8) Show Different Adaptations of Their Codon Usage Patterns to Their Hosts." Journal of Infection 79 (2): 174–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinf.2019.04.013.
- Guo, Hongbo, Erik de Vries, Ryan McBride, Jojanneke Dekkers, Wenjie Peng, Kim M. Bouwman, Corwin Nycholat, et al. 2017. "Highly Pathogenic Influenza A(H5Nx) Viruses with Altered H5 Receptor-Binding Specificity." *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 23 (2): 220–30. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2302.161072.
- Gutiérrez, Andres H., Crystal Loving, Leonard Moise, Frances E. Terry, Susan L. Brockmeier, Holly R.
  Hughes, William D. Martin, and Anne S. De Groot. 2016. "In Vivo Validation of Predicted and Conserved T Cell Epitopes in a Swine Influenza Model." *PLoS ONE* 11 (7). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0159237.
- Gutiérrez, Andres H., William D. Martin, Chris Bailey-Kellogg, Frances Terry, Leonard Moise, and Anne
  S. De Groot. 2015. "Development and Validation of an Epitope Prediction Tool for Swine (PigMatrix) Based on the Pocket Profile Method." *BMC Bioinformatics* 16 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12859-015-0724-8.
- Gutiérrez, Andres H., Vicki J. Rapp-Gabrielson, Frances E. Terry, Crystal L. Loving, Leonard Moise,
  William D. Martin, and Anne S. De Groot. 2017. "T-Cell Epitope Content Comparison (EpiCC) of
  Swine H1 Influenza A Virus Hemagglutinin." *Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses* 11 (6).
  https://doi.org/10.1111/irv.12513.

- Hanson, Anthony, Masaki Imai, Masato Hatta, Ryan McBride, Hirotaka Imai, Andrew Taft, Gongxun Zhong, et al. 2016. "Identification of Stabilizing Mutations in an H5 Hemagglutinin Influenza Virus Protein." *Journal of Virology* 90 (6): 2981–92. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.02790-15.
- Hao, Xiaoli, Shuai Li, Lina Chen, Maoli Dong, Jiongjiong Wang, Jiao Hu, Min Gu, et al. 2020. "Establishing a Multicolor Flow Cytometry to Characterize Cellular Immune Response in Chickens Following H7N9 Avian Influenza Virus Infection." *Viruses* 12 (12). https://doi.org/10.3390/v12121396.
- Harlystiarini, Harlystiarini, R. Mutia, I. W. T. Wibawan, and D. A. Astuti. 2020. "Immune Responses and Egg Productions of Quails Fed Rations Supplemented with Larvae Meal of Black Soldier Fly (Hermetia Illucens)." *Tropical Animal Science Journal* 43 (1). https://doi.org/10.5398/tasj.2020.43.1.43.
- Hassan, Mohammad Mahmudul, Md Ahasanul Hoque, Nitish Chandra Debnath, Mat Yamage, and Marcel Klaassen. 2017. "Are Poultry or Wild Birds the Main Reservoirs for Avian Influenza in Bangladesh?" *EcoHealth* 14 (3): 490–500. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10393-017-1257-6.
- Hautefeuille, Claire, Billal Azzouguen, Simon Mouchel, Gwenaëlle Dauphin, and Marisa Peyre. 2020.
  "Evaluation of Vaccination Strategies to Control an Avian Influenza Outbreak in French Poultry Production Networks Using EVACS Tool." *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* 184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2020.105129.
- Hautefeuille, Claire, Gwenaëlle Dauphin, and Marisa Peyre. 2020. "Knowledge and Remaining Gaps on the Role of Animal and Human Movements in the Poultry Production and Trade Networks in the Global Spread of Avian Influenza Viruses - A Scoping Review." *PLoS ONE* 15 (3): e0230567. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0230567.
- He, Wanting, Gairu Li, Ruyi Wang, Weifeng Shi, Kemang Li, Shilei Wang, Alexander Lai, and Shuo Su.
  2019. "Host-Range Shift of H3N8 Canine Influenza Virus: A Phylodynamic Analysis of Its Origin and Adaptation from Equine to Canine Host." *Veterinary Research* 50 (1): 87. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13567-019-0707-2.
- He, Wanting, Gairu Li, Henan Zhu, Weifeng Shi, Ruyi Wang, Cheng Zhang, Yuhai Bi, Alexander Lai, George F. Gao, and Shuo Su. 2019. "Emergence and Adaptation of H3N2 Canine Influenza Virus from Avian Influenza Virus: An Overlooked Role of Dogs in Interspecies Transmission." *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 66 (2): 842–51. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.13093.
- Hedayati, Mahdi, and M. Manafi. 2018. "Evaluation of Anherbal Compound, a Commercial Probiotic, and an Antibiotic Growth Promoter on the Performance, Intestinal Bacterial Population, Antibody Titers, and Morphology of the Jejunum and Ileum of Broilers." *Revista Brasileira de Ciencia Avicola* 20 (2). https://doi.org/10.1590/1806-9061-2017-0639.

- Heinen, Paul P., Frans A. Rijsewijks, Els A. de Boer-Luitjtze, and André T.J. Bianchi. 2002. "Vaccination of Pigs with a DNA Construct Expressing an Influenza Virus M2-Nucleoprotein Fusion Protein Exacerbates Disease after Challenge with Influenza A Virus." *Journal of General Virology* 83 (8). https://doi.org/10.1099/0022-1317-83-8-1851.
- Henritzi, Dinah, Philipp Peter Petric, Nicola Sarah Lewis, Annika Graaf, Alberto Pessia, Elke Starick,
  Angele Breithaupt, et al. 2020. "Surveillance of European Domestic Pig Populations Identifies an
  Emerging Reservoir of Potentially Zoonotic Swine Influenza A Viruses." *Cell Host and Microbe* 28 (4): 614–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2020.07.006.
- Herfst, Sander, Jie Zhang, Mathilde Richard, Ryan McBride, Pascal Lexmond, Theo M. Bestebroer,
  Monique I.J. Spronken, et al. 2020. "Hemagglutinin Traits Determine Transmission of Avian
  A/H10N7 Influenza Virus between Mammals." *Cell Host and Microbe* 28 (4): 602–13.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2020.08.011.
- Hewitt, Joshua S., Anbu K. Karuppannan, Swan Tan, Phillip Gauger, Patrick G. Halbur, Priscilla F. Gerber, Anne S. De Groot, Leonard Moise, and Tanja Opriessnig. 2019. "A Prime-Boost Concept Using a T-Cell Epitope-Driven DNA Vaccine Followed by a Whole Virus Vaccine Effectively Protected Pigs in the Pandemic H1N1 Pig Challenge Model." Vaccine 37 (31). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.06.044.
- Hicks, Joseph T., Dong Hun Lee, Venkata R. Duvuuri, Mia Kim Torchetti, David E. Swayne, and Justin Bahl. 2020. "Agricultural and Geographic Factors Shaped the North American 2015 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza H5N2 Outbreak." *PLoS Pathogens* 16 (1): e1007857. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat1007857.
- Hideshima, Sho, Hiroki Hayashi, Hiroshi Hinou, Shunsuke Nambuya, Shigeki Kuroiwa, Takuya Nakanishi, Toshiyuki Momma, Shin Ichiro Nishimura, Yoshihiro Sakoda, and Tetsuya Osaka. 2019.
  "Glycan-Immobilized Dual-Channel Field Effect Transistor Biosensor for the Rapid Identification of Pandemic Influenza Viral Particles." *Scientific Reports* 9 (1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-48076-6.
- Hird, Sarah M., Holly Ganz, Jonathan A. Eisen, and Walter M. Boyce. 2018. "The Cloacal Microbiome of Five Wild Duck Species Varies by Species and Influenza A Virus Infection Status." *MSphere* 3 (5). https://doi.org/10.1128/msphere.00382-18.
- Hiremath, Jagadish, Kyung II Kang, Ming Xia, Mohamed Elaish, Basavaraj Binjawadagi, Kang Ouyang,
   Santosh Dhakal, et al. 2016. "Entrapment of H1N1 Influenza Virus Derived Conserved Peptides
   in PLGA Nanoparticles Enhances T Cell Response and Vaccine Efficacy in Pigs." *PLoS ONE* 11 (4).
   https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0151922.

- Hoang, Hang Thi Thu, Chi Hung Nguyen, Nam Trung Ngan Thi Thuy Nam Trung Ngan Thi Thuy Nguyen,
  An Dang Pham, Hang Thi Thu Nguyen, Thanh Hoa Le, Hanh Xuan Tran, Ha Hoang Chu, and Nam
  Trung Ngan Thi Thuy Nam Trung Ngan Thi Thuy Nguyen. 2020. "Immunization with the H5n1
  Recombinant Vaccine Candidate Induces High Protection in Chickens against Vietnamese Highly
  Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus Strains." Vaccines 8 (2).
  https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines8020159.
- Hoffmann, Bernd, Donata Hoffmann, Dinah Henritzi, Martin Beer, and Timm C. Harder. 2016. "Riems Influenza a Typing Array (RITA): An RT-QPCR-Based Low Density Array for Subtyping Avian and Mammalian Influenza a Viruses." *Scientific Reports* 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep27211.
- Hofmann, Tanja, and Sonja Schmucker. 2021. "Characterization of Chicken Leukocyte Subsets from Lymphatic Tissue by Flow Cytometry." *Cytometry Part A* 99 (3): 289–300. https://doi.org/10.1002/cyto.a.24214.
- Holbrook, Andrew J., Philippe Lemey, Guy Baele, Simon Dellicour, Dirk Brockmann, Andrew Rambaut, and Marc A. Suchard. 2021. "Massive Parallelization Boosts Big Bayesian Multidimensional Scaling." *Journal of Computational and Graphical Statistics* 30 (1). https://doi.org/10.1080/10618600.2020.1754226.
- Holzer, Barbara, Sophie B. Morgan, Yumi Matsuoka, Matthew Edmans, Francisco J. Salguero, Helen Everett, Sharon M. Brookes, et al. 2018. "Comparison of Heterosubtypic Protection in Ferrets and Pigs Induced by a Single-Cycle Influenza Vaccine." *The Journal of Immunology* 200 (12). https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1800142.
- Holzer, Barbara, Pramila Rijali, Adam McNee, Basudev Paudyal, Veronica Martinii, Becky Clark, Tanuja
  Manjegowda, et al. 2021. "Protective Porcine Influenza Virus-Specific Monoclonal Antibodies
  Recognize Similar Haemagglutinin Epitopes as Humans." *PLoS Pathogens* 17 (3).
  https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1009330.
- Horimoto, Taisuke, Takahiro Hiono, Hirohisa Mekata, Tomoha Odagiri, Zhihao Lei, Tomoya Kobayashi, Junzo Norimine, et al. 2016. "Nationwide Distribution of Bovine Influenza D Virus Infection in Japan." *PLoS ONE* 11 (9): e0163828. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0163828.
- Hsieh, Ming Shou, Yuan Chih Chang, Jie Long He, and Rong Huay Juang. 2019. "Positive Charge of Arg-201 on Hemagglutinin Is Required for the Binding of H6N1 Avian Influenza Virus to Its Target through a Two-Step Process." *Virus Research* 265 (February): 132–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virusres.2019.03.018.
- Hu, Jiao, Ming Kong, Zhu Cui, Zhao Gao, Chunxi Ma, Zenglei Hu, Xinan Jiao, and Xiufan Liu. 2020. "PA-X Protein of H5N1 Avian Influenza Virus Inhibits NF-KappaB Activity, a Potential Mechanism for

PA-X Counteracting the Host Innate Immune Responses." *Veterinary Microbiology* 250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2020.108838.

- Hu, Zenglei, Jiangyan Zhao, Yiheng Zhao, Xuelian Fan, Jiao Hu, Lei Shi, Xiaoquan Wang, et al. 2020.
   "Hemagglutinin-Specific Non-Neutralizing Antibody Is Essential for Protection Provided by Inactivated and Viral-Vectored H7N9 Avian Influenza Vaccines in Chickens." Frontiers in Veterinary Science 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2019.00482.
- Huang, Zeying, Jimin Wang, and Alec Zuo. 2017. "Chinese Farmers' Willingness to Accept Compensation to Practice Safe Disposal of HPAI Infected Chicken." *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* 139: 67–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2017.02.002.
- Hubbard, Laura E., Dana W. Kolpin, Chad L. Fields, Michelle L. Hladik, and Luke R. Iwanowicz. 2017.
  "Highlighting the Complexities of a Groundwater Pilot Study during an Avian Influenza Outbreak: Methods, Lessons Learned, and Select Contaminant Results." *Environmental Research* 158: 212–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2017.06.010.
- Humphreys, John M., Andrew M. Ramey, David C. Douglas, Jennifer M. Mullinax, Catherine Soos, Paul Link, Patrick Walther, and Diann J. Prosser. 2020. "Waterfowl Occurrence and Residence Time as Indicators of H5 and H7 Avian Influenza in North American Poultry." *Scientific Reports* 10: 2592. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-59077-1.
- Hundal, Jaspal Singh, Simrinder Singh Sodhi, Aparna Gupta, Jaswinder Singh, and Udeybir Singh Chahal. 2016. "Awareness, Knowledge, and Risks of Zoonotic Diseases among Livestock Farmers in Punjab." Veterinary World 9 (2): 186–91. https://doi.org/10.14202/vetworld.2015.186-191.
- Huo, Shanshan, Jianlou Zhang, Jinghui Fan, Xing Wang, Fengyang Wu, Yuzhu Zuo, and Fei Zhong.
  2019a. "Co-Expression of Chicken II-2 and II-7 Enhances the Immunogenicity and Protective Efficacy of a Vp2-Expressing Dna Vaccine against Ibdv in Chickens." Viruses 11 (5). https://doi.org/10.3390/v11050476.
- Huynh, Hoa Thi Thanh, Liem Tan Truong, Tongkorn Meeyam, Hien Thanh Le, and Veerasak Punyapornwithaya. 2019. "Individual and Flock Immunity Responses of Naïve Ducks on Smallholder Farms after Vaccination with H5N1 Avian Influenza Vaccine: A Study in a Province of the Mekong Delta, Vietnam." *PeerJ* 2019 (1). https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.6268.
- Ibrahim, Mahmoud, Ahmed Ali, Joshua B Daniels, and Chang-won Lee. 2016. "Post-Pandemic Seroprevalence of Human Influenza Viruses in Domestic Cats." *Journal of Veterinary Science* 17 (4): 515–21.
- Inui, Ken, Tung Nguyen, Hsin Jou Tseng, Chuan Fu Mark Tsai, Yun Long Tsai, Simon Chung, Pawin Padungtod, et al. 2019. "A Field-Deployable Insulated Isothermal RT-PCR Assay for Identification

of Influenza A (H7N9) Shows Good Performance in the Laboratory." *Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses* 13 (6). https://doi.org/10.1111/irv.12646.

- Ishida, Hiroho, Shin Murakami, Haruhiko Kamiki, Hiromichi Matsugo, Akiko Takenaka-uema, and Taisuke Horimoto. 2020. "Establishment of a Reverse Genetics System for Influenza D Virus." *Journal of Virology* 94 (10): e01767-19.
- Ismail, Zainab Mohamed, Ayman Hanea El-Deeb, Mounir Mohamed El-Safty, and Hussein Aly Hussein. 2018. "Enhanced Pathogenicity of Low-Pathogenic H9N2 Avian Influenza Virus after Vaccination with Infectious Bronchitis Live Attenuated Vaccine." Veterinary World 11 (7): 977–85. https://doi.org/10.14202/vetworld.2018.977-985.
- James, Joe, Wendy Howard, Munir Iqbal, Venugopal K. Nair, Wendy S. Barclay, and Holly Shelton. 2016. "Influenza a Virus PB1-F2 Protein Prolongs Viral Shedding in Chickens Lengthening the Transmission Window." *Journal of General Virology* 97 (10): 2516–27. https://doi.org/10.1099/jgv.0.000584.
- James, Joe, Nikki Smith, Craig Ross, Munir Iqbal, Steve Goodbourn, Paul Digard, Wendy S. Barclay, and Holly Shelton. 2019. "The Cellular Localization of Avian Influenza Virus PB1-F2 Protein Alters the Magnitude of IFN2 Promoter and NFκB-Dependent Promoter Antagonism in Chicken Cells." *Journal of General Virology* 100 (3): 414–30. https://doi.org/10.1099/jgv.0.001220.
- Jang, Hyesun, John M. Ngunjiri, and Chang Won Lee. 2016a. "Association between Interferon Response and Protective Efficacy of NS1-Truncated Mutants as Influenza Vaccine Candidates in Chickens." PLoS ONE 11 (6). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0156603.
- Jegede, Akinlolu, Qigao Fu, Yohannes Berhane, Min Lin, Ashok Kumar, and Jiewen Guan. 2018. "H9N2 Avian Influenza Virus Retained Low Pathogenicity after Serial Passage in Chickens." *Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research* 82 (2): 131–38.
- Jenner, Rod, Angela Scott, Margaret Sexton, Wayne Mossop, and Kevin Wilinson. 2020. "Mass Disposal Preparedness for the Poultry Industries." *AgriFutures Australia*, 20–048.
- Jeong, Sol, Dong-Hun Lee, Jung-Hoon Kwon, Yu-Jin Kim, Sun-Hak Lee, Andrew Y. Cho, Tae-Hyeon Kim, Jung-Eun Park, Song-I Lee, and Chang-Seon Song. 2020. "Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Clade 2.3.4.4b Subtype H5N8 Virus Isolated from Mandarin Duck in South Korea, 2020." Viruses 12: 1389. https://doi.org/10.3390/v12121389.
- Jiang, Jinhe, Yumei Sun, Rong Xiao, Kai Wai, Muhammad Jamil Ahmad, Faheem Ahmed Khan, Hongbo Zhou, et al. 2019. "Porcine Antiviral Activity Is Increased by CRISPRa-SAM System." *Bioscience Reports* 39 (8). https://doi.org/10.1042/BSR20191496.
- Jiang, Lixiang, Jing Luo, Wenjie Dong, Chengmin Wang, Wen Jin, Yuetong Xia, Haijing Wang, Hua Ding, Long Jiang, and Hongxuan He. 2015. "Development and Evaluation of a Polydiacetylene Based

Biosensor for the Detection of H5 Influenza Virus." *Journal of Virological Methods* 219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2015.03.013.

- Jiménez-Bluhm, Pedro, Erik A. Karlsson, Karl A. Ciuoderis, Valerie Cortez, Shauna A. Marvin, Christopher Hamilton-West, Stacey Schultz-Cherry, and Jorge E. Osorio. 2016. "Avian H11 Influenza Virus Isolated from Domestic Poultry in a Colombian Live Animal Market." *Emerging Microbes and Infections* 5 (12): e121. https://doi.org/10.1038/emi.2016.121.
- Jin, Haiyun, Wan Wang, Xueqin Yang, Hailong Su, Jiawen Fan, Rui Zhu, Shifeng Wang, Huoying Shi, and Xiufan Liu. 2018. "Evolution of H9N2 Avian Influenza Virus in Embryonated Chicken Eggs with or without Homologous Vaccine Antibodies." BMC Veterinary Research 14 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12917-018-1391-6.
- Joseph, Udayan, Yvonne C.F. Su, Dhanasekaran Vijaykrishna, and Gavin J.D. Smith. 2017. "The Ecology and Adaptive Evolution of Influenza A Interspecies Transmission." *Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses* 11 (1): 74–84. https://doi.org/10.1111/irv.12412.
- Jóźwiak, Michał, Krzysztof Wyrostek, Katarzyna Domańska-Blicharz, Monika Olszewska-Tomczyk, Krzysztof Śmietanka, and Zenon Minta. 2016. "Application of FTA® Cards for Detection and Storage of Avian Influenza Virus." *Journal of Veterinary Research (Poland)* 60 (1). https://doi.org/10.1515/jvetres-2016-0001.
- June Byun, Sung, Seong Su Yuk, Ye Jin Jang, Hoonsung Choi, Mi Hyang Jeon, To Erdene-Ochir, Jung Hoon Kwon, et al. 2017. "Transgenic Chickens Expressing the 3D8 Single Chain Variable Fragment Protein Suppress Avian Influenza Transmission." *Scientific Reports* 7 (1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-05270-8.
- Kaiser, Troy J., Rex A. Smiley, Brian Fergen, Marc Eichmeyer, and Marika Genzow. 2019. "Influenza A Virus Shedding Reduction Observed at 12 Weeks Post-Vaccination When Newborn Pigs Are Administered Live-Attenuated Influenza Virus Vaccine." *Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses* 13 (3). https://doi.org/10.1111/irv.12630.
- Kalhoro, D. H., M. S. Kalhoro, A. Kaka, N. Rapjut, M. Naeem, S. Kumbhar, G. M. Lochi, F. Parveen, and
  Y. J. Liu. 2019. "Emergence of Influenza a Virus in Dogs and Coinfection with Bacterial Species: A Review." *Journal of Animal and Plant Sciences* 29 (3): 629–44.
- Kandeil, Ahmed, Ahmed Mostafa, Rabeh El-Shesheny, Ahmed Nageh El-Taweel, Mokhtar Gomaa,
  Hussein Galal, Ghazi Kayali, and Mohamed A. Ali. 2017. "Avian Influenza H5N1 Vaccination
  Efficacy in Egyptian Backyard Poultry." Vaccine 35 (45).
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.09.040.
- Kang, Yong Myung, Hyun Kyu Cho, Hyun Mi Kim, Myoung Heon Lee, Thanh Long To, and Hyun Mi Kang. 2020. "Protective Efficacy of Vaccines of the Korea National Antigen Bank against the

Homologous H5Nx Clade 2.3.2.1 and Clade 2.3.4.4 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Viruses." *Vaccine* 38 (3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.10.044.

- Kapczynski, Darrell R., Terrence M. Tumpey, Rachmat Hidajat, Aniko Zsak, Klaudia Chrzastek, Irina Tretyakova, and Peter Pushko. 2016. "Vaccination with Virus-like Particles Containing H5 Antigens from Three H5N1 Clades Protects Chickens from H5N1 and H5N8 Influenza Viruses." Vaccine 34 (13). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.02.011.
- Kargarfard, Fatemeh, Ashkan Sami, Manijeh Mohammadi-Dehcheshmeh, and Esmaeil Ebrahimie. 2016. "Novel Approach for Identification of Influenza Virus Host Range and Zoonotic Transmissible Sequences by Determination of Host-Related Associative Positions in Viral Genome Segments." BMC Genomics 17 (1): 925. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-016-3250-9.
- Kasloff, Samantha B., and Hana M. Weingartl. 2016. "Swine Alveolar Macrophage Cell Model Allows Optimal Replication of Influenza A Viruses Regardless of Their Origin." *Virology* 490: 91–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2016.01.006.
- Khaliq, Zeeshan, Mikael Leijon, Sándor Belák, and Jan Komorowski. 2016. "Identification of Combinatorial Host-Specific Signatures with a Potential to Affect Host Adaptation in Influenza A H1N1 and H3N2 Subtypes." *BMC Genomics* 17 (1): 529. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-016-2919-4.
- Khan, Salah Uddin, Emily S. Gurley, Nancy Gerloff, Md Z. Rahman, Natosha Simpson, Mustafizur Rahman, Najmul Haider, et al. 2018. "Avian Influenza Surveillance in Domestic Waterfowl and Environment of Live Bird Markets in Bangladesh, 2007-2012." *Scientific Reports* 8 (1): 9396. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-27515-w.
- Khurana, Surender, Crystal L. Loving, Jody Manischewitz, Lisa R. King, Phillip C. Gauger, Jamie Henningson, Amy L. Vincent, and Hana Golding. 2013. "Vaccine-Induced Anti-HA2 Antibodies Promote Virus Fusion and Enhance Influenza Virus Respiratory Disease." *Science Translational Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3006366.
- Kikutani, Yuto, Masatoshi Okamatsu, Shoko Nishihara, Sayaka Takase-Yoden, Takahiro Hiono, Robert
  P. de Vries, Ryan McBride, Keita Matsuno, Hiroshi Kida, and Yoshihiro Sakoda. 2020. "E190V
  Substitution of H6 Hemagglutinin Is One of Key Factors for Binding to Sulfated Sialylated Glycan
  Receptor and Infection to Chickens." *Microbiology and Immunology* 64 (4): 304–12.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/1348-0421.12773.
- Kim, Ji Woon, Chung Young Lee, Thanh Trung Nguyen, Il Hwan Kim, Hyuk Joon Kwon, and Jae Hong Kim. 2019. "An Optimized Molecular Method for Detection of Influenza A Virus Using Improved Generic Primers and Concentration of the Viral Genomic RNA and Nucleoprotein Complex."

Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation 31 (2). https://doi.org/10.1177/1040638719830760.

- Kim, Shin Hee. 2018. "Challenge for One Health: Co-Circulation of Zoonotic H5n1 and H9n2 Avian Influenza Viruses in Egypt." *Viruses* 10 (3): 121. https://doi.org/10.3390/v10030121.
- Kim, Shin Hee, Anandan Paldurai, and Siba K. Samal. 2017. "A Novel Chimeric Newcastle Disease Virus Vectored Vaccine against Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus." Virology 503. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2017.01.006.
- Kim, Tae Hyun, Colin Kern, and Huaijun Zhou. 2020. "Knockout of IRF7 Highlights Its Modulator Function of Host Response against Avian Influenza Virus and the Involvement of MAPK and TOR Signaling Pathways in Chicken." *Genes* 11 (4). https://doi.org/10.3390/genes11040385.
- Kim, Yong Chan, Min Ju Jeong, and Byung Hoon Jeong. 2019. "Genetic Characteristics and Polymorphisms in the Chicken Interferon-Induced Transmembrane Protein (IFITM3) Gene." *Veterinary Research Communications* 43 (4). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11259-019-09762-y.
- Kimura, Kohei, Kazuhiro Nakano, Shintaroh Ohashi, Kenichi Takizawa, and Takayuki Nakano. 2015.
  "LED Measurement for Development of a Non-Destructive Detector of Unsuitable Chicken Eggs in Influenza Vaccine Production." *Biosystems Engineering* 134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2015.03.011.
- Kitikoon, Pravina, Dachrit Nilubol, Barbara J. Erickson, Bruce H. Janke, Thayer C. Hoover, Steve A. Sornsen, and Eileen L. Thacker. 2006. "The Immune Response and Maternal Antibody Interference to a Heterologous H1N1 Swine Influenza Virus Infection Following Vaccination." *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology* 112 (3–4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetimm.2006.02.008.
- Kitikoon, Pravina, Amy L. Vincent, Bruce H. Janke, B. Erickson, Erin L. Strait, Shan Yu, Marie R. Gramer, and Eileen L. Thacker. 2009. "Swine Influenza Matrix 2 (M2) Protein Contributes to Protection against Infection with Different H1 Swine Influenza Virus (SIV) Isolates." Vaccine 28 (2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.09.130.
- Kouam, Marc K., Honorine N. Tchouankui, and Arouna Njayou Ngapagna. 2019. "Epidemiological Features of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza in Cameroon." *Veterinary Medicine International* 2019: 3796369. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/3796369.
- Krimmling, Tanja, and Christel Schwegmann-Weßels. 2017. "Comparison of Mono- and Co-Infection by Swine Influenza A Viruses and Porcine Respiratory Coronavirus in Porcine Precision-Cut Lung Slices." *Research in Veterinary Science* 115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2017.07.016.
- Kuczera, Diogo, João Paulo Assolini, Fernanda Tomiotto-Pellissier, Wander Rogério Pavanelli, and Guilherme Ferreira Silveira. 2018. "Highlights for Dengue Immunopathogenesis: Antibody-

Dependent Enhancement, Cytokine Storm, and Beyond." *Journal of Interferon and Cytokine Research* 38 (2). https://doi.org/10.1089/jir.2017.0037.

- Kumar, A., P. Vijayakumar, P. N. Gandhale, P. B. Ranaware, H. Kumar, D. D. Kulkarni, A. A. Raut, and A. Mishra. 2017. "Genome-Wide Gene Expression Pattern Underlying Differential Host Response to High or Low Pathogenic H5N1 Avian Influenza Virus in Ducks." *Acta Virologica* 61 (1): 66–76. https://doi.org/10.4149/av\_2017\_01\_66.
- Kumar, Naveen, Bidhan Chandra Bera, Benjamin D. Greenbaum, Sandeep Bhatia, Richa Sood, Pavulraj
   Selvaraj, Taruna Anand, Bhupendra Nath Tripathi, and Nitin Virmani. 2016. "Revelation of
   Influencing Factors in Overall Codon Usage Bias of Equine Influenza Viruses." *PLoS ONE* 11 (4):
   e0154376. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0154376.
- Kurscheid, J., M. Stevenson, P. A. Durr, J. A.L.M.L. Toribio, S. Kurscheid, I. G.A.A. Ambarawati, M. Abdurrahman, and S. Fenwick. 2017. "Social Network Analysis of the Movement of Poultry to and from Live Bird Markets in Bali and Lombok, Indonesia." *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 64 (6): 2023–33. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.12613.
- Kurscheid, Johanna, Joanne Millar, Muktasam Abdurrahman, I. Gusti Agung Ayu Ambarawati, Wayan Suadnya, Ria Puspa Yusuf, Stanley Fenwick, and Jenny Ann L.M.L. Toribio. 2015. "Knowledge and Perceptions of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza (HPAI) among Poultry Traders in Live Bird Markets in Bali and Lombok, Indonesia." *PLoS ONE* 10 (10): e0139917. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0139917.
- Kwon, Hyeok II, Young II Kim, Su Jin Park, Eun Ha Kim, Semi Kim, Young Jae Si, Min Suk Song, et al.
  2019. "A Novel Neuraminidase-Dependent Hemagglutinin Cleavage Mechanism Enables the Systemic Spread of an H7N6 Avian Influenza Virus." *MBio* 10 (6): e02369-19. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.02369-19.
- Kwon, Jung Hoon, Justin Bahl, David E. Swayne, Yu Na Lee, Youn Jeong Lee, Chang Seon Song, and Dong Hun Lee. 2020. "Domestic Ducks Play a Major Role in the Maintenance and Spread of H5N8 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Viruses in South Korea." *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 67 (2): 844–51. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.13406.
- Laconi, Andrea, Andrea Fortin, Giulia Bedendo, Akihiro Shibata, Yoshihiro Sakoda, Joseph Adongo Awuni, Emilie Go-Maro, et al. 2020. "Detection of Avian Influenza Virus: A Comparative Study of the in Silico and in Vitro Performances of Current RT-QPCR Assays." *Scientific Reports* 10 (1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-64003-6.
- Ladman, Brian S., Jack Gelb, Lauren A. Sauble, Marcella V. Murphy, and Erica Spackman. 2019. "Protection Afforded by Avian Influenza Vaccination Programmes Consisting of a Novel RNA Particle and an Inactivated Avian Influenza Vaccine against a Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza

Virus Challenge in Layer Chickens up to 18 Weeks Post-Vaccination." Avian Pathology 48 (4). https://doi.org/10.1080/03079457.2019.1605148.

- Lahiri, Aritraa, Shayan Sharif, and Amirul Islam Mallick. 2019. "Intragastric Delivery of Recombinant Lactococcus Lactis Displaying Ectodomain of Influenza Matrix Protein 2 (M2e) and Neuraminidase (NA) Induced Focused Mucosal and Systemic Immune Responses in Chickens." *Molecular Immunology* 114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2019.08.015.
- Lai, Jimmy Chun Cheong, Herath M T K Karunarathna, Ho Him, Joseph S M Peiris, and John M. Nicholls.
  2019. "Neuraminidase Activity and Specificity of Influenza A Virus Are Influenced by Haemagglutinin-Receptor Binding." *Emerging Microbes and Infections* 8: 327–38.
- Lam, Tommy Tsan-Yuk, Boping Zhou, Jia Wang, Yujuan Chai, Yongyi Shen, Xinchun Chen, Chi Ma, et al.
   2015. "Dissemination, Divergence and Establishment of H7N9 Influenza Viruses in China." *Nature* 522: 102–5. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14348.
- Lambrou, Anastasia S., Himal Luitel, Rebanta K. Bhattarai, Hom B. Basnet, and Christopher D. Heaney.
   2020. "Informing Influenza Pandemic Preparedness Using Commercial Poultry Farmer Knowledge, Attitudes, and Practices (KAP) Surrounding Biosecurity and Self-Reported Avian Influenza Outbreaks in Nepal." One Health 11 (October): 100189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.onehlt.2020.100189.
- Lamont, Elise A., Erin Poulin, Srinand Sreevatsan, and Maxim C.J. Cheeran. 2018. "Major Histocompatibility Complex i of Swine Respiratory Cells Presents Conserved Regions of Influenza Proteins." *Journal of General Virology* 99 (3). https://doi.org/10.1099/jgv.0.001008.
- Latorre-Margalef, Neus, Alexis Avril, Conny Tolf, Björn Olsen, and Jonas Waldenström. 2016. "How Does Sampling Methodology Influence Molecular Detection and Isolation Success in Influenza a Virus Field Studies?" *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 82 (4). https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03283-15.
- Latorre-Margalef, Neus, Justin Brown, Alinde Fojtik, Rebecca Poulson, Deborah Carter, Monique Franca, and David Stallknecht. 2016a. "Competition between IAV Subtypes through Heterosubtypic Immunity Modulates Re-Infection and Antibody Dynamics in the Mallard Reservoir." *BioRxiv*. https://doi.org/10.1101/063933.
- ———. 2016b. "Competition between IAV Subtypes through Heterosubtypic Immunity Modulates Re-Infection and Antibody Dynamics in the Mallard Reservoir." *BioRxiv*. https://doi.org/10.1101/063933.
- Lau, Steven Yuk-Fai, Enfu Chen, Maggie Wang, Wei Cheng, Benny Chung-Ying Zee, Xiaoran Han, Zhao Yu, Riyang Sun, Ka Chun Chong, and Xiaoxiao Wang. 2019. "Association between Meteorological Factors, Spatiotemporal Effects, and Prevalence of Influenza A Subtype H7 in Environmental

Samples in Zhejiang Province, China." *Science of the Total Environment* 663: 793–803. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.01.403.

- Le, Tran Bac, Hye Kwon Kim, Woonsung Na, Van Phan Le, Min Suk Song, Daesub Song, Dae Gwin Jeong, and Sun Woo Yoon. 2020. "Development of a Multiplex RT-QPCR for the Detection of Different Clades of Avian Influenza in Poultry." *Viruses* 12 (1). https://doi.org/10.3390/v12010100.
- Lee, Chung Young, Se Hee An, Jun Gu Choi, Youn Jeong Lee, Jae Hong Kim, and Hyuk Joon Kwon. 2020. "Rank Orders of Mammalian Pathogenicity-Related PB2 Mutations of Avian Influenza A Viruses." *Scientific Reports* 10: 5359. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-62036-5.
- Lee, Dong-Hun, Mia K. Torchetti, Mary Lea Killian, Yohannes Berhane, and David E. Swayne. 2017. "Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza A(H7N9) Virus, Tennessee, USA, March 2017." *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 23 (11): 1860–63. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2311.171013.
- Lee, Dong-Hun, Mia Kim Torchetti, Kevin Winker, Hon S. Ip, Chang-Seon Song, and David E. Swayne. 2015. "Intercontinental Spread of Asian-Origin H5N8 to North America through Beringia by Migratory Birds." *Journal of Virology* 89 (12): 6521–24. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.00728-15.
- Lee, Ji Eun, Yoon Chul Kye, Sung Moo Park, Byoung Shik Shim, Sungsik Yoo, Eunmi Hwang, Hyungkuen Kim, et al. 2020. "Bacillus Subtilis Spores as Adjuvants against Avian Influenza H9N2 Induce Antigen-Specific Antibody and T Cell Responses in White Leghorn Chickens." *Veterinary Research* 51 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13567-020-00788-8.
- Lee, Jihye, Ji Hoon Park, and Ji Young Min. 2017. "A Naturally Truncated NS1 Protein of Influenza A Virus Impairs Its Interferon-Antagonizing Activity and Thereby Confers Attenuation in Vitro." *Archives of Virology* 162 (1): 13–21. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00705-016-2966-9.
- Lee, Jinhwa, Yonghai Li, Yuhao Li, A. Giselle Cino-Ozuna, Michael Duff, Yuekun Lang, Jingjiao Ma, Sunyoung Sunwoo, Juergen A. Richt, and Wenjun Ma. 2021. "Bat Influenza Vectored NS1-Truncated Live Vaccine Protects Pigs against Heterologous Virus Challenge." Vaccine 39 (14). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2021.02.077.
- Lee, Jonggul, Youngsuk Ko, and Eunok Jung. 2019. "Effective Control Measures Considering Spatial Heterogeneity to Mitigate the 2016-2017 Avian Influenza Epidemic in the Republic of Korea." *PLoS ONE* 14 (6): e0218202. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0218202.
- Lee, Kyunghyun, Eun-kyoung Lee, Hyunkyoung Lee, Gyeong-beom Heo, Yu-na Lee, Ji-youl Jung, Youchan Bae, Byungjae So, Youn-jeong Lee, and Eun-jin Choi. 2018. "Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza A (H5N6) in Domestic Cats, South Korea." *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 24 (12): 2343– 47.
- Lee, Megan Marie, Veerle L.B. Jaspers, Geir Wing Gabrielsen, Bjørn Munro Jenssen, Tomasz Maciej Ciesielski, Åse Karen Mortensen, Silje Strand Lundgren, and Courtney A. Waugh. 2020. "Evidence

of Avian Influenza Virus in Seabirds Breeding on a Norwegian High-Arctic Archipelago." BMC Veterinary Research 16: 48. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12917-020-2265-2.

- Lee, Su bin, Young Hyun Park, Kelly Chungu, Seung Je Woo, Soo Taek Han, Hee Jung Choi, Deivendran Rengaraj, and Jae Yong Han. 2020. "Targeted Knockout of MDA5 and TLR3 in the DF-1 Chicken Fibroblast Cell Line Impairs Innate Immune Response Against RNA Ligands." *Frontiers in Immunology* 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.00678.
- Lei, Han, Tong Gao, Qianhong Cen, and Xiaojue Peng. 2020a. "Haemagglutinin Displayed on the Surface of Lactococcus Lactis Confers Broad Cross-Clade Protection against Different H5N1 Viruses in Chickens." *Microbial Cell Factories* 19 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12934-020-01453-7.
- Lei, Han, Xiaojue Peng, Huifeng Jiao, Daxian Zhao, and Jiexiu Ouyang. 2015. "Broadly Protective Immunity against Divergent Influenza Viruses by Oral Co-Administration of Lactococcus Lactis Expressing Nucleoprotein Adjuvanted with Cholera Toxin B Subunit in Mice." *Microbial Cell Factories* 14 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12934-015-0287-4.
- Lei, Han, Xiaojue Peng, Jiexiu Ouyang, Daxian Zhao, Huifeng Jiao, Handing Shu, and Xinqi Ge. 2015.
   "Intranasal Immunization of Recombinant Lactococcus Lactis Induces Protection against H5N1
   Virus in Ferrets." Virus Research 196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virusres.2014.11.009.
- Lei, Xun, Shaohua Jing, Xin Zeng, Yiyi Lin, Xitong Li, Qingyun Xing, Xiaoni Zhong, and Truls Østbye. 2019.
   "Knowledge, Attitudes and Practices towards Avian Influenza among Live Poultry Market Workers in Chongqing, China." *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* 162: 151–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2018.12.004.
- Leibler, J. H., K. Dalton, A. Pekosz, G. C. Gray, and E. K. Silbergeld. 2017. "Epizootics in Industrial Livestock Production: Preventable Gaps in Biosecurity and Biocontainment." *Zoonoses and Public Health* 64 (2): 137–45. https://doi.org/10.1111/zph.12292.
- Lewis, N., S. Dorjee, C. Dubé, J. VanLeeuwen, and J. Sanchez. 2017. "Assessment of Effectiveness of Control Strategies Against Simulated Outbreaks of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza in Ontario, Canada." *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 64 (3): 938–50. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.12461.
- Lewis, Nicola S., Colin A. Russell, Pinky Langat, Tavis K. Anderson, Kathryn Berger, Filip Bielejec, David
  F. Burke, et al. 2016. "The Global Antigenic Diversity of Swine Influenza A Viruses." *ELife* 5 (APRIL2016): e12217. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.12217.
- Leyson, Christina, Sung-su Youk, Diane Smith, Kiril Dimitrov, Dong-hun Lee, Lars Erik, David Swayne, and Mary J Pantin-Jackwood. 2019. "Pathogenicity and Genomic Changes of a 2016 European

H5N8 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus (Clade 2.3.4.4) in Experimentally Infected Mallards and Chickens." *Virology* 537: 172–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2019.08.020.Pathogenicity.

- Li, Chong, Marie R. Culhane, Maxim Cheeran, Lucina Galina Pantoja, Micah L. Jansen, Deborah Amodie, Martha A. Mellencamp, and Montserrat Torremorell. 2020. "Exploring Heterologous Prime-Boost Vaccination Approaches to Enhance Influenza Control in Pigs." *Veterinary Research* 51 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13567-020-00810-z.
- Li, Juan, Min Gu, Kaituo Liu, Ruyi Gao, Wenqiang Sun, Dong Liu, Kaijun Jiang, et al. 2020. "Amino Acid Substitutions in Antigenic Region B of Hemagglutinin Play a Critical Role in the Antigenic Drift of Subclade 2.3.4.4 Highly Pathogenic H5NX Influenza Viruses." *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 67 (1): 263–75. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.13347.
- Li, Lei, Andrew S. Bowman, Thomas J. DeLiberto, Mary L. Killian, Scott Krauss, Jacqueline M. Nolting, Mia Kim Torchetti, et al. 2018. "Genetic Evidence Supports Sporadic and Independent Introductions of Subtype H5 Low-Pathogenic Avian Influenza A Viruses from Wild Birds to Domestic Poultry in North America." *Journal of Virology* 92 (19): e00913-18. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.00913-18.
- Li, Meng, Zhixun Xie, Zhiqin Xie, Jiabo Liu, Liji Xie, Xianwen Deng, Sisi Luo, et al. 2018. "Simultaneous Detection of Eight Avian Influenza A Virus Subtypes by Multiplex Reverse Transcription-PCR Using a GeXP Analyzer." *Scientific Reports* 8 (1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-24620-8.
- Li, Qiong Yan, Man Man Xu, Hang Dong, Jin Hui Zhao, Jun Hong Xing, Guan Wang, Jia Yun Yao, et al. 2020. "Lactobacillus Plantarum Surface-Displayed Influenza Antigens (NP-M2) with FliC Flagellin Stimulate Generally Protective Immune Responses against H9N2 Influenza Subtypes in Chickens." *Veterinary Microbiology* 249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2020.108834.
- Li, Tianxu, Xiaofang Hu, Tingting Zhang, Xingdong Song, Huihui Zhang, Ning Dai, Wei Sheng, Xiaolan Hou, and Liangmeng Wei. 2021. "Cloning, Analysis, and Anti–Duck Tembusu Virus Innate Immune Response of Cherry Valley Duck Tripartite Motif-Containing 32." *Poultry Science* 100 (5): 101048. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psj.2021.101048.
- Li, Xi, Yanci Chen, Xin Wang, Bo Peng, Weihua Wu, Hui Liu, Ying Sun, Xiujuan Tang, Qing Zheng, and Shisong Fang. 2019. "U13 → C13 Mutation in the Variable Region of the NA Gene 3'UTR of H9N2 Influenza Virus Influences the Replication and Transcription of NA and Enhances Virus Infectivity." Virus Genes 55 (4): 440–47. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11262-019-01654-2.
- Li, Xin, Houbin Ju, Jian Liu, Dequan Yang, Xinyong Qi, Xianchao Yang, Yafeng Qiu, Jie Zheng, Feifei Ge, and Jinping Zhou. 2017. "Influenza Virus-like Particles Harboring H9N2 HA and NA Proteins Induce a Protective Immune Response in Chicken." *Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses* 11 (6). https://doi.org/10.1111/irv.12472.

- Li, Xueying, Bing Xu, and Jeffrey Shaman. 2019. "Pathobiological Features Favouring the Intercontinental Dissemination of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus." *Royal Society Open Science* 6: 190276. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.190276.
- Li, Xuyong, Baotao Liu, Shujie Ma, Pengfei Cui, Wenqiang Liu, Yubao Li, Jing Guo, and Hualan Chen.
   2018. "High Frequency of Reassortment after Co-Infection of Chickens with the H4N6 and H9N2
   Influenza A Viruses and the Biological Characteristics of the Reassortants." *Veterinary Microbiology* 222 (December 2017): 11–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2018.06.011.
- Li, Yang, Ning Yang, Jianing Chen, Xin Huang, Na Zhang, Shanshan Yang, Guo Liu, and Guangliang Liu.
   2020. "Next-Generation Porcine Intestinal Organoids: An Apical-Out Organoid Model for Swine Enteric Virus Infection and Immune Response Investigations." *Journal of Virology* 94 (21). https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.01006-20.
- Li, Yongtao, Zhibin Wen, Hongbo Zhou, Shujuan Wu, Guangmin Jia, Wei Qian, and Meilin Jin. 2015. "Porcine Interferon-Induced Protein with Tetratricopeptide Repeats 3, PoIFIT3, Inhibits Swine Influenza Virus Replication and Potentiates IFN-β Production." *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 50 (1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2014.10.008.
- Li, Zhuo, Sarah A. Zaiser, Pengcheng Shang, Dustin L. Heiden, Heather Hajovsky, Pratik Katwal, Baylor DeVries, et al. 2020. "A Chimeric Influenza Hemagglutinin Delivered by Parainfluenza Virus 5 Vector Induces Broadly Protective Immunity against Genetically Divergent Influenza a H1 Viruses in Swine." *Veterinary Microbiology* 250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2020.108859.
- Liang, Libin, Li Jiang, Junping Li, Qingqing Zhao, Jinguang Wang, Xijun He, Shanyu Huang, et al. 2019.
  "Low Polymerase Activity Attributed to PA Drives the Acquisition of the PB2 E627K Mutation of H7N9 Avian Influenza Virus in Mammals." *MBio* 10 (3): e01162-19. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.01162-19.
- Liang, Wei Shan, Yu Chen He, Hong Dar Wu, Yao Tsun Li, Tai Hwa Shih, Gour Shenq Kao, Horng Yuh Guo, and Day Yu Chao. 2020. "Ecological Factors Associated with Persistent Circulation of Multiple Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Viruses among Poultry Farms in Taiwan during 2015-17." *PLoS ONE* 15 (8): e0236581. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0236581.
- Lin, Xiao, Dingmei Zhang, Xinwei Wang, Yun Huang, Zhicheng Du, Yaming Zou, Jiahai Lu, and Yuantao
   Hao. 2017. "Attitudes of Consumers and Live-Poultry Workers to Central Slaughtering in
   Controlling H7N9: A Cross-Sectional Study." *BMC Public Health* 17: 517. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-017-4374-9.
- Liu, J., L. Zhou, Z. Luo, Y. Zou, J. Lv, and T. Wang. 2020. "Genomic Characteristics and Phylogenetic Analysis of the First H12N2 Influenza A Virus Identified from Wild Birds, China." Acta Virologica 65: 104–10. https://doi.org/10.4149/av\_2020\_113.

- Liu, Sanhong, Shigui Ruan, and Xinan Zhang. 2017. "Nonlinear Dynamics of Avian Influenza Epidemic Models." *Mathematical Biosciences* 283: 118–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mbs.2016.11.014.
- Liu, Shuo, Qingye Zhuang, Suchun Wang, Wenming Jiang, Jihui Jin, Cheng Peng, Guangyu Hou, et al.
   2020. "Control of Avian Influenza in China: Strategies and Lessons." *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 67 (4): 1463–71. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.13515.
- Liu, Yongbo, Cheng Fu, Shaotang Ye, Yingxin Liang, Zhonghe Qi, Congwen Yao, Zhen Wang, et al. 2020.
   "Phosphoproteomics to Characterize Host Response During H3N2 Canine Influenza Virus Infection of Dog Lung." *Frontiers in Veterinary Science* 7 (December): 585071. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2020.585071.
- Lloren, Khristine Kaith S., Taehyung Lee, Jin Jung Kwon, and Min Suk Song. 2017. "Molecular Markers for Interspecies Transmission of Avian Influenza Viruses in Mammalian Hosts." *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 18: 2706. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18122706.
- Lone, Nazir Ahmed, Erica Spackman, and Darrell Kapczynski. 2017. "Immunologic Evaluation of 10 Different Adjuvants for Use in Vaccines for Chickens against Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus." *Vaccine* 35 (26). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.05.010.
- Long, Jason S., Camilla T. Benfield, and Wendy S. Barclay. 2015. "One-Way Trip: Influenza Virus' Adaptation to Gallinaceous Poultry May Limit Its Pandemic Potential." *BioEssays* 37 (2): 204–12. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.201400133.
- Lu, Chang, Yanling Xing, Han Cai, Yirong Shi, Jinhua Liu, and Yinhua Huang. 2019. "Identification and Analysis of Long Non-Coding RNAs in Response to H5N1 Influenza Viruses in Duck (Anas Platyrhynchos)." *BMC Genomics* 20 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-018-5422-2.
- Lu, Jihu, Peipei Wu, Xuehua Zhang, Lei Feng, Bin Dong, Xuan Chu, Xiufan Liu, et al. 2016.
   "Immunopotentiators Improve the Efficacy of Oil-Emulsion-Inactivated Avian Influenza Vaccine in Chickens, Ducks and Geese." *PLoS ONE* 11 (5). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0156573.
- Lu, L., L. Zhao, S. Y. Dong, X. D. Liao, X. Y. Dong, L. Y. Zhang, and X. G. Luo. 2019. "Dietary Supplementation of Organic or Inorganic Chromium Modulates the Immune Responses of Broilers Vaccinated with Avian Influenza Virus Vaccine." *Animal* 13 (5). https://doi.org/10.1017/S1751731118002379.
- Lu, Lu, Andrew J. Leigh Brown, and Samantha J. Lycett. 2017. "Quantifying Predictors for the Spatial Diffusion of Avian Influenza Virus in China." *BMC Evolutionary Biology* 17 (1): 16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12862-016-0845-3.
- Luo, Sisi, Xianwen Deng, Zhixun Xie, Jiaoling Huang, Minxiu Zhang, Meng Li, Liji Xie, et al. 2020. "Production and Identification of Monoclonal Antibodies and Development of a Sandwich ELISA

for Detection of the H3-Subtype Avian Influenza Virus Antigen." AMB Express 10 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13568-020-00988-7.

- Luo, Sisi, Zhixun Xie, Liji Xie, Jiabo Liu, Zhiqin Xie, Xianwen Deng, Li Huang, Jiaoling Huang, Tingting Zeng, and Mazhar I. Khan. 2015. "Reverse-Transcription, Loop-Mediated Isothermal Amplification Assay for the Sensitive and Rapid Detection of H10 Subtype Avian Influenza Viruses Influenza Viruses." Virology Journal 12 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12985-015-0378-1.
- Lycett, Samantha J., Florian Duchatel, and Paul Digard. 2019. "A Brief History of Bird Flu." *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 374 (1775): 20180257. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2018.0257.
- Lycett, Samantha J., Anne Pohlmann, Christoph Staubach, Valentina Caliendo, Mark Woolhouse, Martin Beer, Thijs Kuiken, and The Global Consortium for H5N8 and Related Influenza Viruses.
  2020. "Genesis and Spread of Multiple Reassortants during the 2016/2017 H5 Avian Influenza Epidemic in Eurasia." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 117 (34): 20814–25. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2001813117.
- Lyoo, Kwang Soo, Jeong Ki Kim, Bokyu Kang, Hyoungjoon Moon, Jongman Kim, Manki Song, Bongkyun Park, Sang Hyun Kim, Robert G. Webster, and Daesub Song. 2015. "Comparative Analysis of Virulence of a Novel, Avian-Origin H3N2 Canine Influenza Virus in Various Host Species." *Virus Research* 195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virusres.2014.08.020.
- Ma, Jingjiao, Jinhwa Lee, Haixia Liu, Ignacio Mena, A. Sally Davis, Sun Young Sunwoo, Yuekun Lang, et al. 2017. "Newcastle Disease Virus-Based H5 Influenza Vaccine Protects Chickens from Lethal Challenge with a Highly Pathogenic H5N2 Avian Influenza Virus." *Npj Vaccines* 2 (1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41541-017-0034-4.
- Ma, Junru, Nichao Yang, Hai Gu, Lan Bai, Jun Sun, Shuyan Gu, and Jinghong Gu. 2019. "Effect of Closure of Live Poultry Markets in China on Prevention and Control of Human Infection with H7N9 Avian Influenza: A Case Study of Four Cities in Jiangsu Province." *Journal of Public Health Policy* 40 (4): 436–47. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41271-019-00185-2.
- Ma, Shiwei, Xue Li, Bo Peng, Weihua Wu, Xin Wang, Hui Liu, Lihong Yuan, Shisong Fang, and Jiahai Lu.
  2018. "Rapid Detection of Avian Influenza A Virus (H7N9) by Lateral Flow Dipstick Recombinase
  Polymerase Amplification." *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin* 41 (12).
  https://doi.org/10.1248/bpb.b18-00468.
- Maas, Riks, Sigrid Rosema, Diana van Zoelen, and Sandra Venema. 2011. "Maternal Immunity against Avian Influenza H5N1 in Chickens: Limited Protection and Interference with Vaccine Efficacy." *Avian Pathology* 40 (1). https://doi.org/10.1080/03079457.2010.541226.

- Magiri, Royford Bundi, Ken John Lai, George Kiremu Mutwiri, and Heather Lynne Wilson. 2020. "Experimental PCEP-Adjuvanted Swine Influenza H1N1 Vaccine Induced Strong Immune Responses but Did Not Protect Piglets against Heterologous H3N2 Virus Challenge." *Vaccines* 8 (2). https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines8020235.
- Magiri, Royford, Ken Lai, Alyssa Chaffey, Yan Zhou, Hyun Mi Pyo, Volker Gerdts, Heather L. Wilson, and George Mutwiri. 2018. "Intradermal Immunization with Inactivated Swine Influenza Virus and Adjuvant Polydi(Sodium Carboxylatoethylphenoxy)Phosphazene (PCEP) Induced Humoral and Cell-Mediated Immunity and Reduced Lung Viral Titres in Pigs." *Vaccine* 36 (12). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.02.026.
- Magor, Katharine E., Domingo Miranzo Navarro, Megan R.W. Barber, Kristina Petkau, Ximena Fleming-Canepa, Graham A.D. Blyth, and Alysson H. Blaine. 2013. "Defense Genes Missing from the Flight Division." *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 41 (3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2013.04.010.
- Mahardika, Gusti Ngurah, Nyoman Suartha, Gusti Ayu Yuniati Kencana, Ida Bagus Kade Suardana, Wisnu Wira Mahardika, and Nyoman Sri Budayanti. 2019. "Biochemistry and Computer-Generated Graph Comparison of the Structural and Nonstructural Proteins of Spanish-1918 Influenza, Pandemic-2009, and Bird Flu Viruses." *Acta Biochimica Polonica* 66 (3): 329–36. https://doi.org/10.18388/abp.2019 2795.
- Mahfuz, S. U., M. Chen, J. S. Zhou, S. Wang, J. Wei, Z. Liu, and H. Song. 2018. "Evaluation of Golden Needle Mushroom (Flammulina Velutipes) Stem Waste on Pullet Performance and Immune Response." *South African Journal of Animal Sciences* 48 (3). https://doi.org/10.4314/sajas.v48i3.17.
- Manafi, M., M. Hedayati, and S. Mirzaie. 2018. "Probiotic Bacillus Species and Saccharomyces Boulardii Improve Performance, Gut Histology and Immunity in Broiler Chickens." *South African Journal of Animal Sciences* 48 (2). https://doi.org/10.4314/sajas.v48i2.19.
- Manafi, Milad. 2015. "Comparison Study of a Natural Non-Antibiotic Growth Promoter and a Commercial Probiotic on Growth Performance, Immune Response and Biochemical Parameters of Broiler Chicks." *Journal of Poultry Science* 52 (4). https://doi.org/10.2141/jpsa.0150027.
- Marché, Sylvie, Thierry van den Berg, and Bénédicte Lambrecht. 2018. "Domestic Canaries (Serinus Canaria Forma Domestica) Are Susceptible to Low Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus Infections\*." *Avian Pathology* 47 (6): 607–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/03079457.2018.1520966.
- Markowska-Daniel, Iwona, Małgorzata Pomorska-Mól, and Zygmunt Pejsak. 2011. "The Influence of Age and Maternal Antibodies on the Postvaccinal Response against Swine Influenza Viruses in

Pigs." Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology 142 (1–2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetimm.2011.03.019.

- Maroof, Asher, Yvonne M. Yorgensen, Yufeng Li, and Jay T. Evans. 2014. "Intranasal Vaccination Promotes Detrimental Th17-Mediated Immunity against Influenza Infection." *PLoS Pathogens* 10 (1). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1003875.
- Martin, Brigitte E., Andrew S. Bowman, Lei Li, Jacqueline M. Nolting, David R. Smith, Larry A. Hanson, and Xiu Feng Wan. 2017. "Detection of Antigenic Variants of Subtype H3 Swine Influenza A Viruses from Clinical Samples." *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 55 (4). https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.02049-16.
- Martinez-Sobrido, Luis, Pilar Blanco-Lobo, Laura Rodriguez, Theresa Fitzgerald, Hanyuan Zhang, Phuong Nguyen, Christopher S. Anderson, et al. 2020. *Characterizing Emerging Canine H3 Influenza Viruses*. *PLoS Pathogens*. Vol. 16. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1008409.
- Mateus-Anzola, Jessica, Anuwat Wiratsudakul, Oscar Rico-Chávez, and Rafael Ojeda-Flores. 2019. "Simulation Modeling of Influenza Transmission through Backyard Pig Trade Networks in a Wildlife/Livestock Interface Area." *Tropical Animal Health and Production* 51 (7): 2019–24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11250-019-01892-4.
- Maxwell, Melody J., Mary H.Freire De Carvalho, Armando E. Hoet, Marco A.N. Vigilato, Julio C. Pompei, Ottorino Cosivi, and Victor J. Del Rio Vilas. 2017. "Building the Road to a Regional Zoonoses Strategy: A Survey of Zoonoses Programmes in the Americas." *PLoS ONE* 12 (3): e0174175. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0174175.
- McCormick, Kara, Zhiyong Jiang, Longchao Zhu, Steven R. Lawson, Robert Langenhorst, Russell Ransburgh, Colin Brunick, et al. 2015. "Construction and Immunogenicity Evaluation of Recombinant Influenza A Viruses Containing Chimeric Hemagglutinin Genes Derived from Genetically Divergent Influenza A H1N1 Subtype Viruses." *PLoS ONE* 10 (6). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0127649.
- Mei, Kun, Yang Guo, Xuhui Zhu, Nannan Qu, Jianni Huang, Zuxian Chen, You Zhang, et al. 2019.
  "Different Pathogenicity and Transmissibility of Goose-Origin H5N6 Avian Influenza Viruses in Chickens." Viruses 11: 612. https://doi.org/10.3390/v11070612.
- Mena, Ignacio, Martha I. Nelson, Francisco Quezada-Monroy, Jayeeta Dutta, Refugio Cortes Fernández, J. Horacio Lara-Puente, Felipa Castro-Peralta, et al. 2016. "Origins of the 2009 H1N1
   Influenza Pandemic in Swine in Mexico." *ELife* 5: e16777. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.16777.
- Meseko, Clement, Anja Globig, Jeremiah Ijomanta, Tony Joannis, Chika Nwosuh, David Shamaki, Timm Harder, et al. 2018. "Evidence of Exposure of Domestic Pigs to Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza H5N1 in Nigeria." *Scientific Reports* 8 (1): 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-24371-6.

- Metwally, Ashraf, and Ausama Yousif. 2017. "Visualization of Alternative Functional Configurations of Influenza Virus Hemagglutinin Facilitates Rapid Selection of Complementing Vaccines in Emergency Situations." International Journal of Molecular Sciences 18 (4). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18040766.
- Meunier, Marine, Marianne Chemaly, and Daniel Dory. 2016. "DNA Vaccination of Poultry: The Current Status in 2015." *Vaccine*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.11.043.
- Milani, Adelaide, Alice Fusaro, Francesco Bonfante, Gianpiero Zamperin, Annalisa Salviato, Marzia
   Mancin, Eleonora Mastrorilli, et al. 2017. "Vaccine Immune Pressure Influences Viral Population
   Complexity of Avian Influenza Virus during Infection." Veterinary Microbiology 203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2017.02.016.
- Mine, Junki, Yuko Uchida, Kirill Sharshov, Ivan Sobolev, Alexander Shestopalov, and Takehiko Saito.
  2018. "Phylogeographic Evidence for the Inter- And Intracontinental Dissemination of Avian Influenza Viruses via Migration Flyways." *PLoS ONE* 14 (6): e0218506. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0218506.
- Ming, Fan, Yanqing Cheng, Chenwei Ren, Sizhu Suolang, and Hongbo Zhou. 2019. "Development of a DAS-ELISA for Detection of H9N2 Avian Influenza Virus." *Journal of Virological Methods* 263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2018.10.014.
- Mistilis, Matthew J., Andreas S. Bommarius, and Mark R. Prausnitz. 2015. "Development of a Thermostable Microneedle Patch for Influenza Vaccination." *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* 104 (2). https://doi.org/10.1002/jps.24283.
- Molini, Umberto, Gottlieb Aikukutu, Jean Paul Roux, Jessica Kemper, Charles Ntahonshikira, Giuseppe Marruchella, Siegfried Khaiseb, Giovanni Cattoli, and William G. Dundon. 2020. "Avian Influenza H5N8 Outbreak in African Penguins (Spheniscus Demersus), Namibia, 2019." *Journal of Wildlife Diseases* 56 (1): 214–18. https://doi.org/10.7589/2019-03-067.
- More, Simon, Dominique Bicout, Anette Bøtner, Andrew Butterworth, Paolo Calistri, Klaus Depner, Sandra Edwards, et al. 2017. "Avian Influenza." *EFSA Journal* 15 (10): e04991. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2017.4991.
- Morgan, Sophie B., Johanneke D. Hemmink, Emily Porter, Ross Harley, Holly Shelton, Mario Aramouni, Helen E. Everett, et al. 2016a. "Aerosol Delivery of a Candidate Universal Influenza Vaccine Reduces Viral Load in Pigs Challenged with Pandemic H1N1 Virus." *The Journal of Immunology* 196 (12). https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1502632.
- — . 2016b. "Aerosol Delivery of a Candidate Universal Influenza Vaccine Reduces Viral Load in Pigs Challenged with Pandemic H1N1 Virus." *The Journal of Immunology* 196 (12). https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1502632.

- Morin, Cory W., Benjamin Stoner-Duncan, Kevin Winker, Matthew Scotch, Jeremy J. Hess, John S. Meschke, Kristie L. Ebi, and Peter M. Rabinowitz. 2018. "Avian Influenza Virus Ecology and Evolution through a Climatic Lens." *Environment International* 119: 241–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.06.018.
- Mumford, Jennifer A., D. Hannant, and D. M. Jessett. 1990. "Experimental Infection of Ponies with Equine Influenza (H3N8) Viruses by Intranasal Inoculation or Exposure to Aerosols." *Equine Veterinary Journal* 22 (2). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2042-3306.1990.tb04217.x.
- Mummert, Anna, and Howard Weiss. 2017. "Controlling Viral Outbreaks: Quantitative Strategies." *Plos* One 12 (2): e0171199. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0171199.
- Muñoz-Aguayo, Jeannette, Cristian Flores-Figueroa, Evan VanBeusekom, Brian McComb, Ben
   Wileman, Janet Anderson, David A. Halvorson, et al. 2019. "Environmental Sampling for Influenza
   A Viruses in Turkey Barns." Avian Diseases 63 (1). https://doi.org/10.1637/11892-050418-Reg.1.
- Muñoz-Moreno, Raquel, Carles Martínez-Romero, Daniel Blanco-Melo, Christian V Forst, Raffael Nachbagauer, Asiel Arturo Benitez, Ignacio Mena, et al. 2019. "Viral Fitness Landscapes in Diverse Host Species Reveal Multiple Evolutionary Lines for the NS1 Gene of Influenza A Viruses." *Cell Reports* 29 (12): 3997–4009. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2019.11.070.Viral.
- Munyua, Peninah M., M. Kariuki Njenga, Eric M. Osoro, Clayton O. Onyango, Austine O. Bitek, Athman Mwatondo, Mathew K. Muturi, et al. 2019. "Successes and Challenges of the One Health Approach in Kenya over the Last Decade." *BMC Public Health* 19 (Suppl 3): 465. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-6772-7.
- Murr, Magdalena, Christian Grund, Angele Breithaupt, Thomas C. Mettenleiter, and Angela Römer-Oberdörfer. 2020. "Protection of Chickens with Maternal Immunity against Avian Influenza Virus (AIV) by Vaccination with a Novel Recombinant Newcastle Disease Virus Vector." Avian Diseases 64 (4). https://doi.org/10.1637/aviandiseases-D-20-00014.
- Murugappan, Senthil, Harshad P. Patil, Gaurav Kanojia, Wouter ter Veer, Tjarko Meijerhof, Henderik W. Frijlink, Anke Huckriede, and Wouter L.J. Hinrichs. 2013. "Physical and Immunogenic Stability of Spray Freeze-Dried Influenza Vaccine Powder for Pulmonary Delivery: Comparison of Inulin, Dextran, or a Mixture of Dextran and Trehalose as Protectants." *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics* 85 (3 PART A). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2013.07.018.
- Mwacalimba, Kennedy Kapala, and Judith Green. 2015. "One Health and Development Priorities in Resource-Constrained Countries: Policy Lessons from Avian and Pandemic Influenza Preparedness in Zambia." *Health Policy and Planning* 30 (2): 215–22. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czu001.

- Na, Woonsung, Xing Xie, Minjoo Yeom, Aram Kang, Hyun Ouk Kim, Jong Woo Lim, Geunseon Park, et al. 2020. "Morphological Features and Pathogenicity of Mutated Canine Influenza Viruses from China and South Korea." *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 67 (4): 1607–13. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.13494.
- Naguib, M. M., A. Graaf, A. Fortin, C. Luttermann, U. Wernery, N. Amarin, H. A. Hussein, et al. 2017.
  "Novel Real-Time PCR-Based Patho- and Phylotyping of Potentially Zoonotic Avian Influenza a Subtype H5 Viruses at Risk of Incursion into Europe in 2017." *Eurosurveillance* 22 (1). https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2017.22.1.30435.
- Nash, Tessa J., Katrina M. Morris, Neil A. Mabbott, and Lonneke Vervelde. 2021. "Inside-out Chicken Enteroids with Leukocyte Component as a Model to Study Host–Pathogen Interactions." *Communications Biology* 4 (1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-021-01901-z.
- Nassif, Samir, Farid Zaki, Ahlam Mourad, Esraa Fouad, Asem Saad, Ahmed Setta, Balázs Felföldi, Tamás Mató, Istvan Kiss, and Vilmos Palya. 2020. "Herpesvirus of Turkey Vectored Avian Influenza Vaccine Offers Cross-Protection against Antigenically Drifted H5Nx Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus Strains." Avian Pathology. https://doi.org/10.1080/03079457.2020.1790502.
- Nelson, Martha I., Amanda Perofsky, Dillon S. McBride, Benjamin L. Rambo-Martin, Malania M.
   Wilson, John R. Barnes, Harm van Bakel, et al. 2020. "A Heterogeneous Swine Show Circuit Drives
   Zoonotic Transmission of Influenza A Viruses in the United States." *Journal of Virology* 94 (24):
   e01453-20. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.01453-20.
- Nelson, Martha I., Jered Stratton, Mary Lea Killian, Alicia Janas-Martindale, and Amy L. Vincent. 2015.
  "Continual Reintroduction of Human Pandemic H1N1 Influenza A Viruses into Swine in the United States, 2009 to 2014." *Journal of Virology* 89 (12): 6218–26. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.00459-15.
- Nelson, Martha I., Cécile Viboud, Amy L. Vincent, Marie R. Culhane, Susan E. Detmer, David E. Wentworth, Andrew Rambaut, Marc A. Suchard, Edward C. Holmes, and Philippe Lemey. 2015.
  "Global Migration of Influenza A Viruses in Swine." *Nature Communications* 6: 6696. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms7696.
- Nerome, Kuniaki, Sayaka Matsuda, Kenichi Maegawa, Shigeo Sugita, Kazumichi Kuroda, Kazunori Kawasaki, and Reiko Nerome. 2017. "Quantitative Analysis of the Yield of Avian H7 Influenza Virus Haemagglutinin Protein Produced in Silkworm Pupae with the Use of the Codon-Optimized DNA: A Possible Oral Vaccine." Vaccine 35 (5). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.12.058.
- Nerome, Kuniaki, Shigeo Sugita, Kazumichi Kuroda, Toshiharu Hirose, Sayaka Matsuda, Kei Majima, Kazunori Kawasaki, et al. 2015. "The Large-Scale Production of an Artificial Influenza Virus-like

ParticleVaccineinSilkwormPupae."Vaccine33(1).https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.11.009.

- Newbury, Sandra, Jennifer Godhardt-Cooper, Keith P. Poulsen, Francine Cigel, Laura Balanoff, and Kathy Toohey-Kurth. 2016. "Prolonged Intermittent Virus Shedding during an Outbreak of Canine Influenza A H3N2 Virus Infection in Dogs in Three Chicago Area Shelters: 16 Cases (March to May 2015)." Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association 248 (9): 1022–26. https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.248.9.1022.
- Nikin-Beers, Ryan, and Stanca M. Ciupe. 2018. "Modelling Original Antigenic Sin in Dengue Viral Infection." *Mathematical Medicine and Biology* 35 (2). https://doi.org/10.1093/imammb/dqx002.
- Nishisaka-Nonaka, Risa, Kazuaki Mawatari, Tomomi Yamamoto, Mizuki Kojima, Takaaki Shimohata, Takashi Uebanso, Mutsumi Nakahashi, et al. 2018. "Irradiation by Ultraviolet Light-Emitting Diodes Inactivates Influenza a Viruses by Inhibiting Replication and Transcription of Viral RNA in Host Cells." *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology* 189 (June): 193–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphotobiol.2018.10.017.
- Niu, Yujuan, Qinqin Sun, Guihua Zhang, Wei Sun, Xingpo Liu, Yihong Xiao, Yingli Shang, and Sidang Liu.
   2017. "Pathogenicity and Immunosuppressive Potential of Fowl Adenovirus in Specific Pathogen
   Free Chickens." *Poultry Science* 96 (11): 3885–92. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps/pex206.
- Nofouzi, Katayoon, Sorayya Mirzazadeh, Monireh Khordadmehr, Mohammad Sadegh Madadi, Soheila Amininia, Masoumeh Firouzamandi, and Vahid Reza Ranjbar. 2021. "The Effects of Heat-Killed Tsukamurella Inchonensis on Intestinal Morphology and Humoral Immune Responses of Broiler Chickens." *Iranian Journal of Microbiology* 13 (1). https://doi.org/10.18502/ijm.v13i1.5496.
- Nogales, Aitor, Teresa Aydillo, Gines Ávila-Pérez, Alba Escalera, Kevin Chiem, Richard Cadagan, Marta
   L. DeDiego, Feng Li, Adolfo García-Sastre, and Luis Martínez-Sobrido. 2019. "Functional Characterization and Direct Comparison of Influenza A, B, C, and D NS1 Proteins in Vitro and in Vivo." *Frontiers in Microbiology* 10 (December): 2862. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.02862.
- Offeddu, Vittoria, Benjamin J. Cowling, and J. S.Malik Peiris. 2016. "Interventions in Live Poultry Markets for the Control of Avian Influenza: A Systematic Review." *One Health* 2: 55–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.onehlt.2016.03.002.
- OFFLU. 2014. "A CONSULTATION TO DEVELOP A GLOBAL ANIMAL INFLUENZA RESEARCH AGENDA."
- Ohta, Minoru, Hiroshi Bannai, Manabu Nemoto, Yoshinori Kambayashi, Norihisa Tamura, and Koji Tsujimura. 2020. "Antibody Responses Against Equine Influenza Virus Induced by Concurrent and by Consecutive Use of an Inactivated Equine Influenza Virus Vaccine and a Modified Live Equine

Herpesvirus Type 1 Vaccine in Thoroughbred Racehorses." *Journal of Equine Veterinary Science* 94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jevs.2020.103221.

OIE. 2019. "OIE Expert Surveillance Panel on Equine Influenza Vaccine Composition."

- Okumura, Miki, Akiko Takenaka-Uema, Shin Murakami, and Taisuke Horimoto. 2019. "A Multi-Hemagglutinin-Based Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay to Serologically Detect Influenza A Virus Infection in Animals." *Veterinary Sciences* 6 (3). https://doi.org/10.3390/vetsci6030064.
- Olguin-Perglione, C., M. A. Vissani, F. Alamos, M. S. Tordoya, and M. Barrandeguy. 2020. "Multifocal Outbreak of Equine Influenza in Vaccinated Horses in Argentina in 2018: Epidemiological Aspects and Molecular Characterisation of the Involved Virus Strains." *Equine Veterinary Journal* 52 (3): 420–27. https://doi.org/10.1111/evj.13176.
- Oliveira Cavalcanti, Marcia, Eric Vaughn, Ilaria Capua, Giovanni Cattoli, Calogero Terregino, Timm Harder, Christian Grund, et al. 2017. "A Genetically Engineered H5 Protein Expressed in Insect Cells Confers Protection against Different Clades of H5N1 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Viruses in Chickens." *Avian Pathology* 46 (2). https://doi.org/10.1080/03079457.2016.1250866.
- Olsen, Sonja J., Jane A. Rooney, Lenee Blanton, Melissa A. Rolfes, Deborah I. Nelson, Thomas M. Gomez, Steven A. Karli, Susan C. Trock, and Alicia M. Fry. 2019. "Estimating Risk to Responders Exposed to Avian Influenza a H5 and H7 Viruses in Poultry, United States, 2014–2017." *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 25 (5). https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2505.181253.
- Olson, Zahra F., Matthew R. Sandbulte, Carine Kunzler Souza, Daniel R. Perez, Amy L. Vincent, and Crystal L. Loving. 2017. "Factors Affecting Induction of Peripheral IFN-γ Recall Response to Influenza A Virus Vaccination in Pigs." *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology* 185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetimm.2017.01.009.
- Opasawatchai, Anunya, and Ponpan Matangkasombut. 2015. "INKT Cells and Their Potential Lipid Ligands during Viral Infection." *Frontiers in Immunology*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2015.00378.
- Pandey, Ramesh Prasad, Dae Hee Kim, Jinsuk Woo, Jaeyoung Song, Sang Ho Jang, Joon Bae Kim, Kwang Myun Cheong, Jin Sik Oh, and Jae Kyung Sohng. 2018. "Broad-Spectrum Neutralization of Avian Influenza Viruses by Sialylated Human Milk Oligosaccharides: In Vivo Assessment of 3'-Sialyllactose against H9N2 in Chickens." *Scientific Reports* 8 (1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-20955-4.
- Pantin-Jackwood, Mary J., Mar Costa-Hurtado, Eric Shepherd, Eric DeJesus, Diane Smith, Erica Spackman, Darrell R. Kapczynski, David L. Suarez, David E. Stallknecht, and David E. Swayne.
  2016. "Pathogenicity and Transmission of H5 and H7 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Viruses in Mallards." *Journal of Virology* 90 (21): 9967–82. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.01165-16.
- Pantin-Jackwood, Mary J., Christopher B. Stephens, Kateri Bertran, David E. Swayne, and Erica Spackman. 2017. "The Pathogenesis of H7N8 Low and Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Viruses from the United States 2016 Outbreak in Chickens, Turkeys and Mallards." *PLoS ONE* 12 (5): e0177265. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0177265.
- Pardo, Fabian Orlando Chamba, Spencer Wayne, Marie Rene Culhane, Andres Perez, Matthew Allerson, and Montserrat Torremorell. 2019. "Effect of Strain-Specific Maternally-Derived Antibodies on Influenza A Virus Infection Dynamics in Nursery Pigs." *PLoS ONE* 14 (1). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0210700.
- Park, Hong Su, Guanqun Liu, Qiang Liu, and Yan Zhou. 2018. "Swine Influenza Virus Induces RIPK1/DRP1-Mediated Interleukin-1 Beta Production." Viruses 10 (8). https://doi.org/10.3390/v10080419.
- Park, Hong-Su, GuanQun Liu, Sathya N. Thulasi Raman, Shelby L. Landreth, Qiang Liu, and Yan Zhou.
  2018. "NS1 Protein of 2009 Pandemic Influenza A Virus Inhibits Porcine NLRP3 Inflammasome-Mediated Interleukin-1 Beta Production by Suppressing ASC Ubiquitination." *Journal of Virology* 92 (8). https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.00022-18.
- Park, Hyomin, Myung Sun Chun, and Yunjeong Joo. 2020. "Traumatic Stress of Frontline Workers in Culling Livestock Animals in South Korea." *Animals* 10 (10): ani10101920. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani10101920.
- Park, Mee Sook, Jin II Kim, Joon-Yong Bae, and Man-Seong Park. 2020. "Animal Models for the Risk Assessment of Viral Pandemic Potential." *Laboratory Animal Research* 36 (1): 11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s42826-020-00040-6.
- Park, Su Jin, Eun Ha Kim, Hyeok II Kwon, Min Suk Song, Se Mi Kim, Young II Kim, Young Jae Si, et al. 2018. "Altered Virulence of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza (HPAI) H5N8 Reassortant Viruses in Mammalian Models." *Virulence* 9 (1): 133–48. https://doi.org/10.1080/21505594.2017.1366408.
- Parrish, Colin R., Pablo R. Murcia, and Edward C. Holmes. 2015. "Influenza Virus Reservoirs and Intermediate Hosts: Dogs, Horses, and New Possibilities for Influenza Virus Exposure of Humans." *Journal of Virology* 89 (6): 2990–94. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.03146-14.
- Patil, Yadnyavalkya, Ravi Gooneratne, and Xiang Hong Ju. 2020. "Interactions between Host and Gut
   Microbiota in Domestic Pigs: A Review." *Gut Microbes*. https://doi.org/10.1080/19490976.2019.1690363.
- Paul, Mathilde C., Flavie L. Goutard, Floriane Roulleau, Davun Holl, Weerapong Thanapongtharm, François L. Roger, and Annelise Tran. 2016. "Quantitative Assessment of a Spatial Multicriteria

Model for Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza H5N1 in Thailand, and Application in Cambodia." *Scientific Reports* 6 (August): 31096. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep31096.

- Peacock, Thomas P., Donald J. Benton, Jean Remy Sadeyen, Pengxiang Chang, Joshua E. Sealy, Juliet E.
   Bryant, Stephen R. Martin, et al. 2017. "Variability in H9N2 Haemagglutinin Receptor-Binding
   Preference and the PH of Fusion." *Emerging Microbes and Infections* 6 (3): e11.
   https://doi.org/10.1038/emi.2016.139.
- Peacock, Thomas P., Joe James, Joshua E. Sealy, and Munir Iqbal. 2019. "A Global Perspective on H9N2 Avian Influenza Virus." *Viruses* 11 (7): 620. https://doi.org/10.3390/v11070620.
- Peeters, Ben, Sylvia Reemers, Jos Dortmans, Erik de Vries, Mart de Jong, Saskia van de Zande, Peter
  J.M. Rottier, and Cornelis A.M. de Haan. 2017. "Genetic versus Antigenic Differences among
  Highly Pathogenic H5N1 Avian Influenza A Viruses: Consequences for Vaccine Strain Selection."
  Virology 503. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2017.01.012.
- Peeters, Ben, Wouter F. Tonnis, Senthil Murugappan, Peter Rottier, Guus Koch, Henderik W. Frijlink, Anke Huckriede, and Wouter L.J. Hinrichs. 2014. "Pulmonary Immunization of Chickens Using Non-Adjuvanted Spray-Freeze Dried Whole Inactivated Virus Vaccine Completely Protects against Highly Pathogenic H5N1 Avian Influenza Virus." Vaccine 32 (48). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.09.048.
- Peiris, J. S.Malik, Benjamin J. Cowling, Joseph T. Wu, Luzhao Feng, Yi Guan, Hongjie Yu, and Gabriel M.
  Leung. 2016. "Interventions to Reduce Zoonotic and Pandemic Risks from Avian Influenza in
  Asia." *The Lancet Infectious Diseases* 16 (2): 252–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(15)00502-2.
- Peng, Lianci, Wenjuan Du, Melanie D. Balhuizen, Henk P. Haagsman, Cornelis A.M. de Haan, and Edwin
   J.A. Veldhuizen. 2020. "Antiviral Activity of Chicken Cathelicidin B1 Against Influenza A Virus."
   Frontiers in Microbiology 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.00426.
- Peng, Wenjie, Kim M. Bouwman, Ryan McBride, Oliver C. Grant, Robert J. Woods, Monique H. Verheije, James C. Paulson, and Robert P. de Vries. 2018. "Enhanced Human-Type Receptor Binding by Ferret-Transmissible H5N1 with a K193T Mutation." *Journal of Virology* 92 (10): e02016-17. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.02016-17.
- Peng, Wenjie, Robert P. de Vries, Oliver C. Grant, Andrew J. Thompson, Ryan McBride, Buyankhishig Tsogtbaatar, Peter S. Lee, et al. 2017. "Recent H3N2 Viruses Have Evolved Specificity for Extended, Branched Human-Type Receptors, Conferring Potential for Increased Avidity." *Cell Host and Microbe* 21 (1): 23–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2016.11.004.
- Peng, Xiuming, Haibo Wu, Xiaorong Peng, Xiaoxin Wu, Linfang Cheng, Fumin Liu, Shujing Ji, and Nanping Wu. 2016. "Amino Acid Substitutions Occurring during Adaptation of an Emergent H5N6

Avian Influenza Virus to Mammals." *Archives of Virology* 161 (6): 1665–70. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00705-016-2826-7.

- Perglione, Cecilia Olguin, Sarah Gildea, Agustina Rimondi, Samuel Miño, Aldana Vissani, Mariano Carossino, Ann Cullinane, and Maria Barrandeguy. 2016. "Epidemiological and Virological Findings during Multiple Outbreaks of Equine Influenza in South America in 2012." *Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses* 10 (1): 37–46. https://doi.org/10.1111/irv.12349.
- Petiot, Emma, Anaïs Proust, Aurélien Traversier, Laurent Durous, Frédéric Dappozze, Marianne Gras,
   Chantal Guillard, Jean Marc Balloul, and Manuel Rosa-Calatrava. 2018. "Influenza Viruses
   Production: Evaluation of a Novel Avian Cell Line DuckCelt®-T17." Vaccine 36 (22).
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.03.102.
- Peyre, Marisa, Marc Choisy, Heba Sobhy, Walid H. Kilany, Marie Gély, Astrid Tripodi, Gwenaëlle Dauphin, et al. 2016. "Added Value of Avian Influenza (H5) Day-Old Chick Vaccination for Disease Control in Egypt." In Avian Diseases. Vol. 60. https://doi.org/10.1637/11131-050715-ResNote.
- Peyre, Marisa, Linda Hoinville, James Njoroge, Angus Cameron, Daniel Traon, Flavie Goutard, Clémentine Calba, et al. 2019. "The RISKSUR EVA Tool (Survtool): A Tool for the Integrated Evaluation of Animal Health Surveillance Systems." *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* 173 (September): 104777. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2019.104777.
- Poen, Marjolein J., Anne Pohlmann, Clara Amid, Theo M. Bestebroer, Sharon M. Brookes, Ian H. Brown, Helen Everett, et al. 2020. "Comparison of Sequencing Methods and Data Processing Pipelines for Whole Genome Sequencing and Minority Single Nucleotide Variant (MSNV) Analysis during an Influenza A/H5N8 Outbreak." *PLoS ONE* 15 (2): e0229326. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0229326.
- Poetri, Okti Nadia, Michiel van Boven, Guus Koch, Arjan Stegeman, Ivo Claassen, I. Wayan Wisaksana, and Annemarie Bouma. 2017. "Different Cross Protection Scopes of Two Avian Influenza H5N1
   Vaccines against Infection of Layer Chickens with a Heterologous Highly Pathogenic Virus." *Research in Veterinary Science* 114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2017.04.005.
- Pomorska-Mól, Małgorzata, Arkadiusz Dors, Krzysztof Kwit, Ewelina Czyzewska-Dors, and Zygmunt
   Pejsak. 2017. "Coinfection Modulates Inflammatory Responses, Clinical Outcome and Pathogen
   Load of H1N1 Swine Influenza Virus and Haemophilus Parasuis Infections in Pigs." BMC
   Veterinary Research 13: 376. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12917-017-1298-7.
- Pramuwidyatama, Muchammad Gumilang, Henk Hogeveen, and Helmut W. Saatkamp. 2019. "A Systematic Evaluation of Measures against Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza (HPAI) in Indonesia." *Frontiers in Veterinary Science* 6 (FEB): 33. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2019.00033.

- Pu, Juan, Honglei Sun, Yi Qu, Chenxi Wang, Weihua Gao, Junda Zhu, Yipeng Sun, et al. 2017. "M Gene Reassortment in H9N2 Influenza Virus Promotes Early Infection and Replication: Contribution to Rising Virus Prevalence in Chickens in China." *Journal of Virology* 91 (8): e02055-16. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.02055-16.
- Pulit-Penaloza, Joanna A., Natosha Simpson, Hua Yang, Hannah M. Creager, Joyce Jones, Paul Carney, Jessica A. Belser, et al. 2017. "Assessment of Molecular, Antigenic, and Pathological Features of Canine Influenza A(H3N2) Viruses That Emerged in the United States." Journal of Infectious Disease 216 (Suppl 4): S499–507.
- Pushko, Peter, Irina Tretyakova, Rachmat Hidajat, Aniko Zsak, Klaudia Chrzastek, Terrence M. Tumpey, and Darrell R. Kapczynski. 2017. "Virus-like Particles Displaying H5, H7, H9 Hemagglutinins and N1 Neuraminidase Elicit Protective Immunity to Heterologous Avian Influenza Viruses in Chickens." Virology 501. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2016.12.001.
- Pyo, Hyun Mi, Magda Hlasny, and Yan Zhou. 2015. "Influence of Maternally-Derived Antibodies on Live Attenuated Influenza Vaccine Efficacy in Pigs." Vaccine 33 (31). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.06.044.
- Qi, Wenbao, Weixin Jia, Di Liu, Jing Li, Yuhai Bi, Shumin Xie, Bo Li, et al. 2017. "Emergence and Adaptation of a Novel Highly Pathogenic H7N9 Influenza Virus in Birds and Humans from a 2013 Human-Infecting Low-Pathogenic Ancestor." *Journal of Virology* 92 (2): e00921-17. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.00921-17.
- Qiang, Xiaoli, Zheng Kou, Gang Fang, and Yanfeng Wang. 2018. "Scoring Amino Acid Mutations to Predict Avian-to-Human Transmission of Avian Influenza Viruses." *Molecules* 23 (7): 1584. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules23071584.
- Qin, Jianru, Yun Zhang, Xiaoting Shen, Lang Gong, Chunyi Xue, and Yongchang Cao. 2019. "Biological Characteristics and Immunological Properties in Muscovy Ducks of H5N6 Virus-like Particles Composed of HA-TM/HA-TM H3 and M1." *Avian Pathology* 48 (1). https://doi.org/10.1080/03079457.2018.1546375.
- Rajão, Daniela S., Hongjun Chen, Daniel R. Perez, Matthew R. Sandbulte, Phillip C. Gauger, Crystal L.
   Loving, G. Dennis Shanks, and Amy Vincent. 2016. "Vaccine-Associated Enhanced Respiratory
   Disease Is Influenced by Haemagglutinin and Neuraminidase in Whole Inactivated Influenza Virus
   Vaccines." Journal of General Virology 97 (7). https://doi.org/10.1099/jgv.0.000468.
- Rajão, Daniela S., Phillip C. Gauger, Tavis K. Anderson, Nicola S. Lewis, Eugenio J. Abente, Mary Lea Killian, Daniel R. Perez, Troy C. Sutton, Jianqiang Zhang, and Amy L. Vincent. 2015. "Novel Reassortant Human-Like H3N2 and H3N1 Influenza A Viruses Detected in Pigs Are Virulent and

Antigenically Distinct from Swine Viruses Endemic to the United States." *Journal of Virology* 89 (22): 11213–22. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.01675-15.

- Rajão, Daniela S., Crystal L. Loving, Phillip C. Gauger, Pravina Kitikoon, and Amy L. Vincent. 2014. "Influenza A Virus Hemagglutinin Protein Subunit Vaccine Elicits Vaccine-Associated Enhanced Respiratory Disease in Pigs." *Vaccine* 32 (40). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.07.059.
- Rajao, Daniela S., Matthew R. Sandbulte, Phillip C. Gauger, Pravina Kitikoon, Ratree Platt, James A.
  Roth, Daniel R. Perez, Crystal L. Loving, and Amy L. Vincent. 2016. "Heterologous Challenge in the Presence of Maternally-Derived Antibodies Results in Vaccine-Associated Enhanced Respiratory Disease in Weaned Piglets." Virology 491. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2016.01.015.
- Ramey, Andrew M., Andrew B. Reeves, Judith Z. Drexler, Joshua T. Ackerman, Susan De La Cruz, Andrew S. Lang, Christina Leyson, et al. 2020. "Influenza A Viruses Remain Infectious for More than Seven Months in Northern Wetlands of North America: IAVs in Wetlands." *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 287 (1934): 20201680. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2020.1680.
- Ramey, Andrew M., Brian D. Uher-Koch, Andrew B. Reeves, Joel A. Schmutz, Rebecca L. Poulson, and David E. Stallknecht. 2019. "Emperor Geese (Anser Canagicus) Are Exposed to a Diversity of Influenza A Viruses, Are Infected during the Non-Breeding Period and Contribute to Intercontinental Viral Dispersal." *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 66 (5): 1958–70. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.13226.
- Reeth, Kristien Van, José Carlos Mancera Gracia, Ivan Trus, Lieve Sys, Gerwin Claes, Han Versnaeyen,
   Eric Cox, Florian Krammer, and Yu Qiu. 2017. "Heterologous Prime-Boost Vaccination with H3N2
   Influenza Viruses of Swine Favors Cross-Clade Antibody Responses and Protection." *Npj Vaccines* 2 (1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41541-017-0012-x.
- Reeth, Kristien Van, Amy L. Vincent, and Kelly M. Lager. 2016. "Vaccines and Vaccination for Swine Influenza: Differing Situations in Europe and the USA." In Animal Influenza. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118924341.ch19.
- Reeves, Andrew B., Andrew M. Ramey, Joshua C. Koch, Rebecca L. Poulson, and David E. Stallknecht.
  2020. "Field-Based Method for Assessing Duration of Infectivity for Influenza A Viruses in the Environment." *Journal of Virological Methods* 277 (January): 113818. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2020.113818.
- Reid, Scott M., Jill Banks, Vanessa Ceeraz, Amanda Seekings, Wendy A. Howard, Anita Puranik, Susan Collins, Ruth Manvell, Richard M. Irvine, and Ian H. Brown. 2016. "The Detection of a Low

Pathogenicity Avian Influenza Virus Subtype H9 Infection in a Turkey Breeder Flock in the United Kingdom." Avian Diseases 60 (1s): 126–31. https://doi.org/10.1637/11356-122315-Case.1.

- Ren, Tian, Teresa V. Dormitorio, Mingyu Qiao, Tung Shi Huang, and Jean Weese. 2018. "N-Halamine Incorporated Antimicrobial Nonwoven Fabrics for Use against Avian Influenza Virus." *Veterinary Microbiology* 218 (March): 78–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2018.03.032.
- Renu, Sankar, Ninoshkaly Feliciano-Ruiz, Fangjia Lu, Shristi Ghimire, Yi Han, Jennifer Schrock, Santosh
   Dhakal, et al. 2020. "A Nanoparticle-Poly(I:C) Combination Adjuvant Enhances the Breadth of the
   Immune Response to Inactivated Influenza Virus Vaccine in Pigs." Vaccines 8 (2).
   https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines8020229.
- Ricklin, Meret E., Sylvie Python, Nathalie J. Vielle, Daniel Brechbühl, Beatrice Zumkehr, Horst Posthaus, Gert Zimmer, Nicolas Ruggli, and Artur Summerfield. 2017. "Virus Replicon Particle Vaccines Expressing Nucleoprotein of Influenza A Virus Mediate Enhanced Inflammatory Responses in Pigs." *Scientific Reports* 7 (1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-16419-w.
- Rodgers, Aoife Maria, Ana Sara Cordeiro, Adrien Kissenpfennig, and Ryan F. Donnelly. 2018. "Microneedle Arrays for Vaccine Delivery: The Possibilities, Challenges and Use of Nanoparticles as a Combinatorial Approach for Enhanced Vaccine Immunogenicity." *Expert Opinion on Drug Delivery*. https://doi.org/10.1080/17425247.2018.1505860.
- Rodriguez, Laura, Aitor Nogales, Pablo R. Murcia, Colin R. Parrish, and Luis Martínez-Sobrido. 2017. "A Bivalent Live-Attenuated Influenza Vaccine for the Control and Prevention of H3N8 and H3N2 Canine Influenza Viruses." *Vaccine* 35 (34). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.06.060.
- Rodriguez, Laura, Aitor Nogales, Emma C. Reilly, David J. Topham, Pablo R. Murcia, Colin R. Parrish, and Luis Martinez Sobrido. 2017. "A Live-Attenuated Influenza Vaccine for H3N2 Canine Influenza Virus." *Virology* 504. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2017.01.020.
- Rodriguez, Laura, Stephanie Reedy, Aitor Nogales, Pablo R. Murcia, Thomas M. Chambers, and Luis Martinez-Sobrido. 2018. "Development of a Novel Equine Influenza Virus Live-Attenuated Vaccine." *Virology* 516. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2018.01.005.
- Rohaim, Mohammed A., Diwakar Santhakumar, Rania F. el Naggar, Munir Iqbal, Hussein A. Hussein, and Muhammad Munir. 2018. "Chickens Expressing IFIT5 Ameliorate Clinical Outcome and Pathology of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza and Velogenic Newcastle Disease Viruses." *Frontiers in Immunology* 9 (SEP). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.02025.
- Rosanowski, S. M., N. Cogger, C. W. Rogers, and M. A. Stevenson. 2016a. "Evaluating the Effectiveness of Strategies for the Control of Equine Influenza Virus in the New Zealand Equine Population." *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 63 (3). https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.12277.

- Rosanowski, Sarah M., Tim E. Carpenter, David Adamson, Chris W. Rogers, Patricia Pearce, Martin Burns, and Naomi Cogger. 2019a. "An Economic Analysis of a Contingency Model Utilising Vaccination for the Control of Equine Influenza in a Non-Endemic Country." *PLoS ONE* 14 (1). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0210885.
- Ross, Ted M., Joshua DiNapoli, Maryann Giel-Moloney, Chalise E. Bloom, Kateri Bertran, Charles Balzli,
  Tod Strugnell, et al. 2019. "A Computationally Designed H5 Antigen Shows Immunological
  Breadth of Coverage and Protects against Drifting Avian Strains." *Vaccine* 37 (17).
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.03.018.
- Ruenphet, Sakchai, Darsaniya Punyadarsaniya, Tippawan Jantafong, and Kazuaki Takehara. 2019.
  "Stability and Virucidal Efficacies Using Powder and Liquid Forms of Fresh Charcoal Ash and Slaked Lime against Newcastle Disease Virus and Avian Influenza Virus." *Veterinary World* 12 (1): 1–6. https://doi.org/10.14202/vetworld.2019.1-6.
- Ruiz-Fons, F. 2015. "A Review of the Current Status of Relevant Zoonotic Pathogens in Wild Swine (Sus Scrofa) Populations: Changes Modulating the Risk of Transmission to Humans." *Transboundary* and Emerging Diseases 64 (1): 68–88. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.12369.
- Ruiz-Hernandez, Raul, William Mwangi, Marylene Peroval, Jean Remy Sadeyen, Stephanie Ascough, Devanand Balkissoon, Karen Staines, et al. 2016. "Host Genetics Determine Susceptibility to Avian Influenza Infection and Transmission Dynamics." *Scientific Reports* 6: 26787. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep26787.
- Ruiz-Hernandez, Raul, Marylene Peroval, Amy Boyd, Devanand Balkissoon, Karen Staines, Adrian Smith, and Colin Butter. 2015. "An Infected Chicken Kidney Cell Co-Culture ELISpot for Enhanced Detection of T Cell Responses to Avian Influenza and Vaccination." *Journal of Immunological Methods* 416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jim.2014.10.012.
- Russier, Marion, Guohua Yang, Atanaska Marinova-Petkova, Peter Vogel, Bryan S. Kaplan, Richard J.
  Webby, and Charles J. Russell. 2017. "H1N1 Influenza Viruses Varying Widely in Hemagglutinin Stability Transmit Efficiently from Swine to Swine and to Ferrets." *PLoS Pathogens* 13 (3): e1006276. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1006276.
- Russier, Marion, Guohua Yang, Jerold E. Rehg, Sook San Wong, Heba H. Mostafa, Thomas P. Fabrizio, Subrata Barman, et al. 2016. "Molecular Requirements for a Pandemic Influenza Virus: An Acid-Stable Hemagglutinin Protein." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 113 (6): 1636–41. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1524384113.
- Ryt-Hansen, Pia, Inge Larsen, Charlotte Sonne Kristensen, Jesper Schak Krog, and Lars Erik Larsen.
  2019. "Limited Impact of Influenza A Virus Vaccination of Piglets in an Enzootic Infected Sow Herd." *Research in Veterinary Science* 127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2019.10.015.

- Ryt-Hansen, Pia, Inge Larsen, Charlotte Sonne Kristensen, Jesper Schak Krog, Silke Wacheck, and Lars
  Erik Larsen. 2019. "Longitudinal Field Studies Reveal Early Infection and Persistence of Influenza
  A Virus in Piglets despite the Presence of Maternally Derived Antibodies." *Veterinary Research* 50 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13567-019-0655-x.
- Ryt-Hansen, Pia, Anders Gorm Pedersen, Inge Larsen, Charlotte Sonne Kristensen, Jesper Schak Krog, Silke Wacheck, and Lars Erik Larsen. 2020. "Substantial Antigenic Drift in the Hemagglutinin Protein of Swine Influenza A Viruses." *Viruses* 12 (2): 248. https://doi.org/10.3390/v12020248.
- Ryu, Sukhyun, Jun Sik Lim, Benjamin J. Cowling, and Byung Chul Chun. 2018a. "Low Risk of Avian Influenza A (H5N6) Transmission to Depopulation Workers in Korea." *Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses* 12 (3). https://doi.org/10.1111/irv.12530.
- Sack, A., A. Cullinane, U. Daramragchaa, M. Chuluunbaatar, B. Gonchigoo, and G. C. Gray. 2019.
  "Equine Influenza Virus a Neglected, Reemergent Disease Threat." *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 25 (6): 1185–91.
- Sączyńska, Violetta, Katarzyna Florys-Jankowska, Anna Porębska, and Violetta Cecuda-Adamczewska.
  2021. "A Novel Epitope-Blocking ELISA for Specific and Sensitive Detection of Antibodies against
  H5-Subtype Influenza Virus Hemagglutinin." Virology Journal 18 (1).
  https://doi.org/10.1186/s12985-021-01564-6.
- Saito, Shinji, Ikuyo Takayama, Mina Nakauchi, Shiho Nagata, Kunihiro Oba, Takato Odagiri, and Tsutomu Kageyama. 2019. "Development and Evaluation of a New Real-Time RT-PCR Assay for Detecting the Latest H9N2 Influenza Viruses Capable of Causing Human Infection." *Microbiology and Immunology* 63 (1). https://doi.org/10.1111/1348-0421.12666.
- Sakib, Sadman, Yang Yu, Anna Voigt, Mark Ungrin, and Ina Dobrinski. 2019. "Generation of Porcine Testicular Organoids with Testis Specific Architecture Using Microwell Culture." Journal of Visualized Experiments 2019 (152). https://doi.org/10.3791/60387.
- Sala, Luciano F. La, Julián M. Burgos, Daniel E. Blanco, Kim B. Stevens, Andrea R. Fernández, Guillermo Capobianco, Fernando Tohmé, and Andrés M. Pérez. 2019. "Spatial Modelling for Low Pathogenicity Avian Influenza Virus at the Interface of Wild Birds and Backyard Poultry." *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 66 (4): 1493–1505. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.13136.
- Salaheldin, Ahmed H., Elisa Kasbohm, Heba El-Naggar, Reiner Ulrich, David Scheibner, Marcel Gischke, Mohamed K. Hassan, et al. 2018. "Potential Biological and Climatic Factors That Influence the Incidence and Persistence of Highly Pathogenic H5N1 Avian Influenza Virus in Egypt." Frontiers in Microbiology 9: 528. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.00528.

- Salama, Selim S., Heba A. Abdelhady, and Lamiaa Atia. 2019. "Field Application for Experimental Inactivated Multivalent P. Multocida and Avian Influenza (H9N2) Vaccine in Poultry." *Slovenian Veterinary Research* 56. https://doi.org/10.26873/SVR-820-2019.
- Saleh, Ahmed A., Mohammed S. Eltantawy, Esraa M. Gawish, Hassan H. Younis, Khairy A. Amber, Abd El Moneim E. Abd El-Moneim, and Tarek A. Ebeid. 2020. "Impact of Dietary Organic Mineral Supplementation on Reproductive Performance, Egg Quality Characteristics, Lipid Oxidation, Ovarian Follicular Development, and Immune Response in Laying Hens Under High Ambient Temperature." *Biological Trace Element Research* 195 (2). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12011-019-01861-w.
- Salem, Elias, Sara Hägglund, Hervé Cassard, Tifenn Corre, Katarina Näslund, Charlotte Foret, David Gauthier, et al. 2019. "Pathogenesis, Host Innate Immune Response, and Aerosol Transmission of Influenza D Virus in Cattle." *Journal of Virology* 93 (7): e01853-18. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.01853-18.
- Salvador, Roderick, Neil Tanquilut, Rosemarie Macmac, Kannika Na Lampang, Warangkhana Chaisowwong, Dirk Pfeiffer, and Veerasak Punyapornwithaya. 2020. "Evaluation of Strategies Using Simulation Model to Control a Potential Outbreak of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza among Poultry Farms in Central Luzon, Philippines." *PLoS ONE* 15 (9): e0238815. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0238815.
- Sandbulte, Matthew R., Anna R. Spickler, Pamela K. Zaabel, and James A. Roth. 2015. "Optimal Use of Vaccines for Control of Influenza a Virus in Swine." *Vaccines*. https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines3010022.
- Santos, Jefferson J.S., Adebimpe O. Obadan, Stivalis Cardenas Garcia, Silvia Carnaccini, Darrell R.
   Kapczynski, Mary Pantin-Jackwood, David L. Suarez, and Daniel R. Perez. 2017. "Short- and Long-Term Protective Efficacy against Clade 2.3.4.4 H5N2 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus Following Prime-Boost Vaccination in Turkeys." Vaccine 35 (42). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.08.059.
- Schaduangrat, Nalini, Jiraphorn Phanich, Thanyada Rungrotmongkol, Hatairat Lerdsamran, Pilaipan Puthavathana, and Sukathida Ubol. 2016. "The Significance of Naturally Occurring Neuraminidase Quasispecies of H5N1 Avian Influenza Virus on Resistance to Oseltamivir: A Point of Concern." *Journal of General Virology* 97 (6): 1311–23. https://doi.org/10.1099/jgv.0.000444.
- Schar, Daniel, Pawin Padungtod, Nguyen Tung, Michael O'Leary, Wantanee Kalpravidh, and Filip Claes.
   2019. "New Frontiers in Applied Veterinary Point-of-Capture Diagnostics: Toward Early Detection and Control of Zoonotic Influenza." *Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses* 13 (6): 618–21. https://doi.org/10.1111/irv.12648.

- Schat, Karel A., and Michael A. Skinner. 2013. "Avian Immunosuppressive Diseases and Immunoevasion." In Avian Immunology: Second Edition. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-396965-1.00016-9.
- Schmiedeke, Julia K., Donata Hoffmann, Bernd Hoffmann, Martin Beer, and Ulrike Blohm. 2020. "Establishment of Adequate Functional Cellular Immune Response in Chicks Is Age Dependent." *Avian Diseases* 64 (1): 69–79. https://doi.org/10.1637/0005-2086-64.1.69.
- Schön, Jacob, Wei Ran, Marco Gorka, Martin Schwemmle, Martin Beer, and Donata Hoffmann. 2020.
  "A Modified Live Bat Influenza A Virus-Based Vaccine Prototype Provides Full Protection against HPAIV H5N1." Npj Vaccines 5 (1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41541-020-0185-6.
- Scoizec, Axelle, Eric Niqueux, Rodolphe Thomas, Patrick Daniel, Audrey Schmitz, and Sophie Le Bouquin. 2018. "Airborne Detection of H5N8 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus Genome in Poultry Farms, France." *Frontiers in Veterinary Science* 5 (FEB): 15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2018.00015.
- Scott, Angela Bullanday, Jenny Ann L.M.L. Toribio, Mini Singh, Peter Groves, Belinda Barnes, Kathryn Glass, Barbara Moloney, Amanda Black, and Marta Hernandez-Jover. 2018. "Low- and High-Pathogenic Avian Influenza H5 and H7 Spread Risk Assessment within and between Australian Commercial Chicken Farms." *Frontiers in Veterinary Science* 5: 63. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2018.00063.
- Sealy, Joshua E., Tahir Yaqub, Thomas P. Peacock, Pengxiang Chang, Burcu Ermetal, Anabel Clements, Jean Remy Sadeyen, et al. 2019. "Association of Increased Receptor-Binding Avidity of Influenza a(H9N2) Viruses with Escape from Antibody-Based Immunity and Enhanced Zoonotic Potential." *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 25 (1): 63–72. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2501.180616.
- Seekings, A. H., M. J. Slomka, C. Russell, W. A. Howard, B. Choudhury, A. Nuñéz, B. Z. Löndt, et al. 2018.
  "Direct Evidence of H7N7 Avian Influenza Virus Mutation from Low to High Virulence on a Single Poultry Premises during an Outbreak in Free Range Chickens in the UK, 2008." *Infection, Genetics* and Evolution 64: 13–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meegid.2018.06.005.
- Seibert, Brittany, Matthew Angel, C. Joaquin Caceres, Troy Sutton, Ayush Kumar, Lucas Ferreri, Stivalis Cardenas-Garcia, Ginger Geiger, Daniela Rajao, and Daniel R. Perez. 2021. "Development of a Swine RNA Polymerase I Driven Influenza Reverse Genetics System for the Rescue of Type A and B Influenza Viruses." *Journal of Virological Methods* 288: 114011. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2020.114011.
- Sha, Zhou, Hongqi Shang, Yongqiang Miao, Jin Huang, Xiangyun Niu, Ruichang Chen, Liping Hu, He Huang, Kai Wei, and Ruiliang Zhu. 2020. "Recombinant Lactococcus Lactis Expressing M1-HA2

Fusion Protein Provides Protective Mucosal Immunity Against H9N2 Avian Influenza Virus in Chickens." *Frontiers in Veterinary Science* 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2020.00153.

- Shahzad, Rehman, Saba Irshad, Anum Javaid, and Tooba Yaqoob. 2020. "Mutational Analysis of Neuraminidase of Avian Influenza Virus H9N2 Indicating the Cause of Hyper Pathogenicity in Poultry." *Pakistan Veterinary Journal* 40 (2): 195–201. https://doi.org/10.29261/pakvetj/2020.017.
- Shang, Hongqi, Zhou Sha, Huan Wang, Yongqiang Miao, Xiangyun Niu, Ruichang Chen, Jin Huang, He
  Huang, Kai Wei, and Ruiliang Zhu. 2020. "Taishan Pinus Massoniana Pollen Polysaccharide
  Inhibits H9N2 Subtype Influenza Virus Infection Both in Vitro and in Vivo." Veterinary
  Microbiology 248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2020.108803.
- Shao, Qiang, Qiang Guo, Wen Ping Xu, Zandong Li, and Tong Tong Zhao. 2015. "Specific Inhibitory Effect of κ-Carrageenan Polysaccharide on Swine Pandemic 2009 H1N1 Influenza Virus." *PLoS ONE* 10 (5). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0126577.
- Sharma, Aditi, Michael A. Zeller, Ganwu Li, Karen M. Harmon, Jianqiang Zhang, Hai Hoang, Tavis K. Anderson, Amy L. Vincent, and Phillip C. Gauger. 2020. "Detection of Live Attenuated Influenza Vaccine Virus and Evidence of Reassortment in the U.S. Swine Population." *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation* 32 (2). https://doi.org/10.1177/1040638720907918.
- Shehata, Awad A., Shereen Basiouni, Ahmed Ali, Mohamed Fawzy, Hafez M. Hafez, Sebastian Ulbert, and Thomas Vahlenkamp. 2020a. "Immunization of Turkeys with a DNA Vaccine Expressing the Haemagglutinin Gene of Low Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus Subtype H9N2." Journal of Virological Methods 284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2020.113938.
- SHI, Lin, Xue wu YU, Wei YAO, Ben liang YU, Li kun HE, Yuan GAO, Yun xian ZHANG, Guo bin TIAN, Ji hui PING, and Xiu rong WANG. 2019. "Development of a Reverse-Transcription Loop-Mediated Isothermal Amplification Assay to Detect Avian Influenza Viruses in Clinical Specimens." *Journal* of Integrative Agriculture 18 (7). https://doi.org/10.1016/S2095-3119(19)62700-0.
- Shibata, A., T. Hiono, H. Fukuhara, R. Sumiyoshi, A. Ohkawara, K. Matsuno, M. Okamatsu, H. Osaka, and Y. Sakoda. 2018. "Isolation and Characterization of Avian Influenza Viruses from Raw Poultry Products Illegally Imported to Japan by International Flight Passengers." *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 65 (2): 465–75. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.12726.
- Shirvani, Edris, Berin P. Varghese, Anandan Paldurai, and Siba K. Samal. 2020. "A Recombinant Avian Paramyxovirus Serotype 3 Expressing the Hemagglutinin Protein Protects Chickens against H5N1 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus Challenge." *Scientific Reports* 10 (1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-59124-x.

- Shojadoost, Bahram, Raveendra R. Kulkarni, Alexander Yitbarek, Adrianna Laursen, Khaled Taha-Abdelaziz, Tamiru Negash Alkie, Neda Barjesteh, Wanderly M. Quinteiro-Filho, Trevor K. Smith, and Shayan Sharif. 2019. "Dietary Selenium Supplementation Enhances Antiviral Immunity in Chickens Challenged with Low Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus Subtype H9N2." *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology* 207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetimm.2018.12.002.
- Shojadoost, Bahram, Khaled Taha-Abdelaziz, Tamiru Negash Alkie, Alexander Bekele-Yitbarek, Neda Barjesteh, Adrianna Laursen, Trevor K. Smith, Janan Shojadoost, and Shayan Sharif. 2020.
  "Supplemental Dietary Selenium Enhances Immune Responses Conferred by a Vaccine against Low Pathogenicity Avian Influenza Virus." *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology* 227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetimm.2020.110089.
- Sisteré-Oró, Marta, Sergi López-Serrano, Veljko Veljkovic, Sonia Pina-Pedrero, Júlia Vergara-Alert, Lorena Córdoba, Mónica Pérez-Maillo, et al. 2019a. "DNA Vaccine Based on Conserved HA-Peptides Induces Strong Immune Response and Rapidly Clears Influenza Virus Infection from Vaccinated Pigs." *PLoS ONE* 14 (9). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0222201.
- Sitaras, Ioannis, Xanthoula Rousou, Donata Kalthoff, Martin Beer, Ben Peeters, and Mart C.M. De Jong. 2016. "Role of Vaccination-Induced Immunity and Antigenic Distance in the Transmission Dynamics of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza H5N1." *Journal of the Royal Society Interface* 13 (114). https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2015.0976.
- Smith, Jacqueline, Nikki Smith, Le Yu, Ian R. Paton, Maria Weronika Gutowska, Heather L. Forrest,
  Angela F. Danner, et al. 2015a. "A Comparative Analysis of Host Responses to Avian Influenza
  Infection in Ducks and Chickens Highlights a Role for the Interferon-Induced Transmembrane
  Proteins in Viral Resistance." *BMC Genomics* 16 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-015-17788.
- Sobhi, Basant Mohsen, Esam Yousef Ismael, Ebtihal Elleithy, Mabrouk Elsabagh, and Khaled Nasr El-Din Fahmy. 2020. "Influence of Combined Yeast-Derived Zinc, Selenium and Chromium on Performance, Carcass Traits, Immune Response and Histomorphological Changes in Broiler Chickens." *Journal of Advanced Veterinary Research* 10 (4).
- Soda, Kosuke, Masakazu Sakita, Tatsufumi Usui, Hiroshi Ito, and Toshihiro Ito. 2019. "H5N8 Avian Influenza Virus Acquires Enhanced Pathogenicity after a Single Passage in Chicken." *Veterinary Microbiology* 237 (May): 108381. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2019.08.004.
- Soilemetzidou, Eirini S., Erwin de Bruin, Gábor Á. Czirják, Bayarbaatar Buuveibaatar, Petra Kaczensky, Marion Koopmans, Chris Walzer, and Alex D. Greenwood. 2020. "Bearing the Brunt: Mongolian Khulan (Equus Hemionus Hemionus) Are Exposed to Multiple Influenza A Strains." *Veterinary Microbiology* 242: 108605.

- Solórzano, Alicia, Richard J. Webby, Kelly M. Lager, Bruce H. Janke, Adolfo García-Sastre, and Jürgen A. Richt. 2005. "Mutations in the NS1 Protein of Swine Influenza Virus Impair Anti-Interferon Activity and Confer Attenuation in Pigs." *Journal of Virology* 79 (12). https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.79.12.7535-7543.2005.
- Song, Byung Min, Hyun Mi Kang, Eun Kyoung Lee, Suk Chan Jung, Min Chul Kim, Youn Jeong Yu Na Lee,
   Sang Moo Kang, and Youn Jeong Yu Na Lee. 2016. "Supplemented Vaccination with Tandem
   Repeat M2e Virus-like Particles Enhances Protection against Homologous and Heterologous HPAI
   H5 Viruses in Chickens." Vaccine 34 (5). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.11.074.
- Song, Jingwei, Chenxi Wang, Weihua Gao, Haoran Sun, Zhimin Jiang, Kaijing Wang, Xiaolei Ren, et al.
   2020. "A D200N Hemagglutinin Substitution Contributes to Antigenic Changes and Increased Replication of Avian H9N2 Influenza Virus." *Veterinary Microbiology* 245 (2): 108669. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2020.108669.
- Song, Yafen, Yong Zhang, Ling Chen, Bing Zhang, Min Zhang, Jingwen Wang, Ying Jiang, Chenghuai Yang, and Taozhen Jiang. 2019. "Genetic Characteristics and Pathogenicity Analysis in Chickens and Mice of Three H9N2 Avian Influenza Viruses." *Viruses* 11 (12): 1127. https://doi.org/10.3390/v11121127.
- Souza, Carine K., Daniela S. Rajão, Crystal L. Loving, Phillip C. Gauger, Daniel R. Pérez, and Amy L. Vincent. 2016. "Age at Vaccination and Timing of Infection Do Not Alter Vaccine-Associated Enhanced Respiratory Disease in Influenza a Virus-Infected Pigs." *Clinical and Vaccine Immunology* 23 (6). https://doi.org/10.1128/CVI.00563-15.
- Souza, Carine K., Daniela S. Rajão, Matthew R. Sandbulte, Sara Lopes, Nicola S. Lewis, Crystal L. Loving,
  Phillip C. Gauger, and Amy L. Vincent. 2018. "The Type of Adjuvant in Whole Inactivated Influenza
  a Virus Vaccines Impacts Vaccine-Associated Enhanced Respiratory Disease." *Vaccine* 36 (41).
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.08.072.
- Spackman, Erica, Christopher B. Stephens, and Mary J. Pantin-Jackwood. 2018a. "The Effect of Infectious Bursal Disease Virus-Induced Immunosuppression on Vaccination Against Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus." Avian Diseases 62 (1). https://doi.org/10.1637/11769-110717-Reg.1.
- ———. 2018b. "The Effect of Infectious Bursal Disease Virus-Induced Immunosuppression on Vaccination Against Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus." Avian Diseases 62 (1). https://doi.org/10.1637/11769-110717-Reg.1.
- Spence, Kelsey L., Terri L. O'Sullivan, Zvonimir Poljak, and Amy L. Greer. 2017. "Descriptive and Network Analyses of the Equine Contact Network at an Equestrian Show in Ontario, Canada and

Implications for Disease Spread." *BMC Veterinary Research* 13: 191. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12917-017-1103-7.

- Sreenivasan, Chithra, Milton Thomas, Zizhang Sheng, Ben M. Hause, Emily A. Collin, David E. B. Knudsen, Angela Pillatzki, et al. 2015. "Replication and Transmission of the Novel Bovine Influenza D Virus in a Guinea Pig Model." *Journal of Virology* 89 (23): 11990–1. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.01630-15.
- Stachyra, Anna, Patrycja Redkiewicz, Piotr Kosson, Anna Protasiuk, Anna Góra-Sochacka, Grzegorz Kudla, and Agnieszka Sirko. 2016. "Codon Optimization of Antigen Coding Sequences Improves the Immune Potential of DNA Vaccines against Avian Influenza Virus H5N1 in Mice and Chickens." Virology Journal 13 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12985-016-0599-y.
- Stech, Olga, Jutta Veits, El Sayed M. Abdelwhab, Ute Wessels, Thomas C. Mettenleiter, and Jürgen
  Stech. 2015. "The Neuraminidase Stalk Deletion Serves as Major Virulence Determinant of H5N1
  Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Viruses in Chicken." *Scientific Reports* 5 (February): 13493.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/srep13493.
- Steed, Ashley L., George P. Christophi, Gerard E. Kaiko, Lulu Sun, Victoria M. Goodwin, Umang Jain,
  Ekaterina Esaulova, et al. 2017. "The Microbial Metabolite Desaminotyrosine Protects from
  Influenza through Type I Interferon." Science 357 (6350).
  https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aam5336.
- Stephens, Christopher B., and Erica Spackman. 2017. "Thermal Inactivation of Avian Influenza Virus in Poultry Litter as a Method to Decontaminate Poultry Houses." *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* 145: 73–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2017.06.012.
- Stoimenov, Georgi M., Gabriela V. Goujgoulova, Branimir Nikolov, Kalin Hristov, and Atanaska Teneva.
  2019. "Pathological Changes in Natural Infection of Pheasants with Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza A (H5N8) in Bulgaria." *Journal of Veterinary Research (Poland)* 63 (4): 497–502. https://doi.org/10.2478/jvetres-2019-0073.
- Su, Diqing, Kai Wu, Venkatramana D. Krishna, Todd Klein, Jinming Liu, Yinglong Feng, Andres M. Perez, Maxim C.J. Cheeran, and Jian Ping Wang. 2019. "Detection of Influenza A Virus in Swine Nasal Swab Samples with a Wash-Free Magnetic Bioassay and a Handheld Giant Magnetoresistance Sensing System." *Frontiers in Microbiology* 10 (MAY). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.01077.
- Su, Shuo, Yuhai Bi, Gary Wong, Gregory C. Gray, George F. Gao, and Shoujun Li. 2015. "Epidemiology, Evolution, and Recent Outbreaks of Avian Influenza Virus in China." *Journal of Virology* 89 (17): 8671–76. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.01034-15.

- Su, Shuo, Min Gu, Di Liu, Jie Cui, George F. Gao, Jiyong Zhou, and Xiufan Liu. 2017. "Epidemiology, Evolution, and Pathogenesis of H7N9 Influenza Viruses in Five Epidemic Waves since 2013 in China." *Trends in Microbiology* 25 (9): 713–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2017.06.008.
- Sun, Honglei Haoran, Yihong Xiao, Jiyu Jinhua Liu, Dayan Wang, Fangtao Li, Chenxi Wang, Chong Li, et al. 2020. "Prevalent Eurasian Avian-like H1N1 Swine Influenza Virus with 2009 Pandemic Viral Genes Facilitating Human Infection." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2020. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1921186117.
- Sun, Honglei, Yihong Xiao, Jiyu Liu, Dayan Wang, Fangtao Li, Chenxi Wang, Chong Li, et al. 2020. "Prevalent Eurasian Avian-like H1N1 Swine Influenza Virus with 2009 Pandemic Viral Genes Facilitating Human Infection." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2020. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1921186117.
- Sun, Liqian, Michael P. Ward, Rui Li, Congcong Xia, Henry Lynn, Yi Hu, Chenglong Xiong, and Zhijie Zhang. 2018. "Global Spatial Risk Pattern of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza H5N1 Virus in Wild Birds: A Knowledge-Fusion Based Approach." *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* 152: 32–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2018.02.008.
- Sun, Ying, Chenghuai Yang, Junping Li, Ling Li, Minghui Cao, Qihong Li, and Huijiao Li. 2017.
   "Construction of a Recombinant Duck Enteritis Virus Vaccine Expressing Hemagglutinin of H9N2 Avian Influenza Virus and Evaluation of Its Efficacy in Ducks." *Archives of Virology* 162 (1). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00705-016-3077-3.
- Sun, Zhihao, Tao Qin, Feifei Meng, Sujuan Chen, Daxin Peng, and Xiufan Liu. 2017. "Development of a Multiplex Probe Combination-Based One-Step Real-Time Reverse Transcription-PCR for NA
   Subtype Typing of Avian Influenza Virus." Scientific Reports 7 (1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-13768-4.
- Susanti, R, Nur Rahayu Utami, Nur Rahayu Utami, Margareta Rahayuningsih, Fidia Fibriana, Margareta Rahayuningsih, and Fidia Fibriana. 2017. "Identification of Avian Influenza Genetic Resistance Gene Marker in Chickens." *Makara Journal of Science* 21 (4). https://doi.org/10.7454/mss.v21i4.7428.
- Sutton, Troy C. 2018. "The Pandemic Threat of Emerging H5 and H7 Avian Influenza Viruses." *Viruses* 10: 461. https://doi.org/10.3390/v10090461.
- Swayne, David E., David L. Suarez, Erica Spackman, Samadhan Jadhao, Gwenaelle Dauphin, Mia Kim-Torchetti, James McGrane, et al. 2015. "Antibody Titer Has Positive Predictive Value for Vaccine Protection against Challenge with Natural Antigenic-Drift Variants of H5N1 High-Pathogenicity Avian Influenza Viruses from Indonesia." *Journal of Virology* 89 (7). https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.00025-15.

- Talat, Shaimaa, Reham R. Abouelmaatti, Rafa Almeer, Mohamed M. Abdel-Daim, and Wael K. Elfeil.
  2020. "Comparison of the Effectiveness of Two Different Vaccination Regimes for Avian Influenza H9N2 in Broiler Chicken." Animals 10 (10). https://doi.org/10.3390/ani10101875.
- Talker, Stephanie C., Hanna C. Koinig, Maria Stadler, Robert Graage, Eva Klingler, Andrea Ladinig, Kerstin H. Mair, et al. 2015. "Magnitude and Kinetics of Multifunctional CD4+ and CD8β+ T Cells in Pigs Infected with Swine Influenza A Virus." *Veterinary Research* 46 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13567-015-0182-3.
- Talker, Stephanie C., Maria Stadler, Hanna C. Koinig, Kerstin H. Mair, Irene M. Rodríguez-Gómez, Robert Graage, Roland Zell, et al. 2016. "Influenza A Virus Infection in Pigs Attracts Multifunctional and Cross-Reactive T Cells to the Lung." *Journal of Virology* 90 (20). https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.01211-16.
- Tallmadge, Rebecca L., Steven C. Miller, Stephen A. Parry, and Maria Julia B. Felippe. 2017. "Antigen-Specific Immunoglobulin Variable Region Sequencing Measures Humoral Immune Response to Vaccination in the Equine Neonate." PLOS ONE 12 (5). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0177831.
- Tang, Neos, Shi Wei Lin, Ting Hsuan Chen, Jia Tsrong Jan, Hung Yi Wu, and Suh Chin Wu. 2019. "Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza H5 Hemagglutinin Fused with the a Subunit of Type Iib Escherichia Coli Heat Labile Enterotoxin Elicited Protective Immunity and Neutralization by Intranasal Immunization in Mouse and Chicken Models." Vaccines 7 (4). https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines7040193.
- Tanikawa, Taichiro, Yuko Uchida, Nobuhiro Takemae, Ryota Tsunekuni, Junki Mine, Ming Tsan Liu, Ji
  Rong Yang, et al. 2019. "Pathogenicity of Two Novel Human-Origin H7N9 Highly Pathogenic Avian
  Influenza Viruses in Chickens and Ducks." *Archives of Virology* 164 (2): 535–45.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/s00705-018-4102-5.
- Tarigan, Simson, Michael Haryadi Wibowo, Risa Indriani, Sumarningsih Sumarningsih, Sidna Artanto,
  Syafrison Idris, Peter A. Durr, et al. 2018. "Field Effectiveness of Highly Pathogenic Avian
  Influenza H5N1 Vaccination in Commercial Layers in Indonesia." *PLoS ONE* 13 (1).
  https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0190947.
- Tatár-Kis, Tímea, Ádám Dán, Balázs Felföldi, Ádám Bálint, Zsuzsanna Rónai, Gwenaelle Dauphin, Zoltán Pénzes, John El-Attrache, Yannick Gardin, and Vilmos Palya. 2019. "Virus-like Particle Based Vaccine Provides High Level of Protection against Homologous H5N8 HPAIV Challenge in Mule and Pekin Duck, Including Prevention of Transmission." In *Avian Diseases*. Vol. 63. https://doi.org/10.1637/11882-042718-Reg.1.

- Teng, Qiaoyang, Weixia Shen, Dawei Yan, Liping Yan, Xuesong Li, Guoxin Li, Jianmei Yang, and Zejun Li. 2015. "Development of a TaqMan MGB RT-PCR for the Rapid Detection of H3 Subtype Avian Influenza Virus Circulating in China." *Journal of Virological Methods* 217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2015.02.025.
- Teng, Qiaoyang, Dawei Xu, Weixia Shen, Qinfang Liu, Guangyu Rong, Xuesong Li, Liping Yan, et al.
   2016. "A Single Mutation at Position 190 in Hemagglutinin Enhances Binding Affinity for Human
   Type Sialic Acid Receptor and Replication of H9N2 Avian Influenza Virus in Mice." Journal of
   Virology 90 (21): 9806–25. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.01141-16.
- Tepper, Viktoria, Marie Nykvist, Anna Gillman, Erik Skog, Michelle Wille, Hanna Söderström Lindström, Chaojun Tang, Richard H. Lindberg, Åke Lundkvist, and Josef D. Järhult. 2020. "Influenza A/H4N2 Mallard Infection Experiments Further Indicate Zanamivir as Less Prone to Induce Environmental Resistance Development than Oseltamivir." *Journal of General Virology* 101 (8). https://doi.org/10.1099/jgv.0.001369.
- Thammakarn, Chanathip, Misato Tsujimura, Keisuke Satoh, Tomomi Hasegawa, Miho Tamura, Akinobu Kawamura, Yuki Ishida, et al. 2015. "Efficacy of Scallop Shell Powders and Slaked Lime for Inactivating Avian Influenza Virus under Harsh Conditions." Archives of Virology 160 (10): 2577–81. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00705-015-2517-9.
- The Global Consortium for H5N8 and Related Influenza Viruses. 2016. "Role for Migratory Wild Birds in the Global Spread of Avian Influenza H5N8." *Science* 354 (6309): 213–18.
- Theiler, James, and Bette Korber. 2018. "Graph-Based Optimization of Epitope Coverage for Vaccine Antigen Design." In *Statistics in Medicine*. Vol. 37. https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.7203.
- Thomas, Milton, Max Pierson, Tirth Uprety, Laihua Zhu, Zhiguang Ran, Chithra C. Sreenivasan, Dan Wang, et al. 2018. "Comparison of Porcine Airway and Intestinal Epithelial Cell Lines for the Susceptibility and Expression of Pattern Recognition Receptors upon Influenza Virus Infection." *Viruses* 10 (6). https://doi.org/10.3390/v10060312.
- Thulasi Raman, Sathya N., and Yan Zhou. 2016. "Networks of Host Factors That Interact with NS1 Protein of Influenza a Virus." *Frontiers in Microbiology* 7 (MAY): 654. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00654.
- Tomar, Jasmine, Carin Biel, Cornelis A.M. de Haan, Peter J.M. Rottier, Nikolai Petrovsky, Henderik W.
   Frijlink, Anke Huckriede, Wouter L.J. Hinrichs, and Ben Peeters. 2018. "Passive Inhalation of Dry Powder Influenza Vaccine Formulations Completely Protects Chickens against H5N1 Lethal Viral Challenge." *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics* 133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2018.10.008.

- Torremorell, Montserrat, Carmen Alonso, Peter R. Davies, Peter C. Raynor, Devi Patnayak, Mia Torchetti, and Brian McCluskey. 2016. "Investigation into the Airborne Dissemination of H5N2 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus during the 2015 Spring Outbreaks in the Midwestern United States." Avian Diseases 60 (3): 637–43. https://doi.org/10.1637/11395-021816-Reg.1.
- Traxler, Selina, Ann Christin Bischoff, Radost Saß, Phillip Trefz, Peter Gierschner, Beate Brock, Theresa Schwaiger, et al. 2018. "VOC Breath Profile in Spontaneously Breathing Awake Swine during Influenza A Infection." *Scientific Reports* 8 (1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-33061-2.
- Tsai, Shou Kuan, Chen Chih Chen, Han Jia Lin, Han You Lin, Ting Tzu Chen, and Lih Chiann Wang. 2020.
   "Combination of Multiplex Reverse Transcription Recombinase Polymerase Amplification Assay and Capillary Electrophoresis Provides High Sensitive and High-Throughput Simultaneous Detection of Avian Influenza Virus Subtypes." *Journal of Veterinary Science* 21 (2). https://doi.org/10.4142/JVS.2020.21.E24.
- Tungatt, Katie, Garry Dolton, Sophie B. Morgan, Meriem Attaf, Anna Fuller, Thomas Whalley, Johanneke D. Hemmink, et al. 2018. "Induction of Influenza-Specific Local CD8 T-Cells in the Respiratory Tract after Aerosol Delivery of Vaccine Antigen or Virus in the Babraham Inbred Pig." *PLoS Pathogens* 14 (5). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1007017.
- Turlewicz-Podbielska, Hanna, Ewelina Czyżewska-Dors, and Małgorzata Pomorska-Mól. 2021. "Respiratory Viral Infections Drive Different Lung Cytokine Profiles in Pigs." BMC Veterinary Research 17 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12917-020-02722-8.
- Turner, Jasmine C.M., Mohammed M. Feeroz, M. Kamrul Hasan, Sharmin Akhtar, David Walker, Patrick Seiler, Subrata Barman, et al. 2017. "Insight into Live Bird Markets of Bangladesh: An Overview of the Dynamics of Transmission of H5N1 and H9N2 Avian Influenza Viruses." *Emerging Microbes* and Infections 6: e12. https://doi.org/10.1038/emi.2016.142.
- Twabela, Augustin, Masatoshi Okamatsu, Keita Matsuno, Norikazu Isoda, and Yoshihiro Sakoda. 2020.
   "Evaluation of Baloxavir Marboxil and Peramivir for the Treatment of High Pathogenicity Avian Influenza in Chickens." Viruses 12 (12). https://doi.org/10.3390/v12121407.
- Tyler, Andrea D., Laura Mataseje, Chantel J. Urfano, Lisa Schmidt, Kym S. Antonation, Michael R. Mulvey, and Cindi R. Corbett. 2018. "Evaluation of Oxford Nanopore's MinION Sequencing Device for Microbial Whole Genome Sequencing Applications." *Scientific Reports* 8 (1): 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-29334-5.
- Tzarum, Netanel, Robert P De Vries, Xueyong Zhu, Wenli Yu, Ryan Mcbride, James C Paulson, and Ian A Wilson. 2015. "Structure and Receptor Binding of the Hemagglutinin from a Human H6N1 Influenza Virus." *Cell Host Microbe March* 11 (173): 369–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2015.02.005.Structure.

- Uchida, Yuko, Junki Mine, Nobuhiro Takemae, Taichiro Tanikawa, Ryota Tsunekuni, and Takehiko Saito. 2019. "Comparative Pathogenicity of H5N6 Subtype Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Viruses in Chicken, Pekin Duck and Muscovy Duck." *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 66 (3): 1227–51. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.13141.
- United States Department of Agriculture. 2006. "ENSURING THE PROTECTION OF EMPLOYEES INVOLVED IN HIGHLY PATHOGENIC AVIAN INFLUENZA CONTROL AND ERADICATION ACTIVITIES." ------. 2014. "Animal Influenza Viruses: Gap Analysis Workshop Report."

USDA. 2017. "Swine 2012 Part III: Changes in the U.S. Swine Industry, 1995-2012."

- Veerapandian, Murugan, Robert Hunter, and Suresh Neethirajan. 2016. "Dual Immunosensor Based on Methylene Blue-Electroadsorbed Graphene Oxide for Rapid Detection of the Influenza A Virus Antigen." *Talanta* 155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2016.04.047.
- Velineni, Sridhar, Nicole Hainer, Douglas Conlee, and Kendra Hutchinson. 2020. "Vaccination with an Inactivated Canine Influenza H3N2 Virus Vaccine Is Safe and Elicits an Immune Response in Cats." Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery 22 (2). https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X19833261.
- Veljkovic, Veljko, Nevena Veljkovic, Slobodan Paessler, Marco Goeijenbier, Vladimir Perovic, Sanja Glisic, and Claude P. Muller. 2016. "Predicted Enhanced Human Propensity of Current Avian-like H1N1 Swine Influenza Virus from China." *PLoS ONE* 11 (11): e0165451. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0165451.
- Venkat, Heather, Hayley D. Yaglom, and Laura Adams. 2019. "Knowledges, Attitudes, and Practices Relevant to Zoonotic Disease Reporting and Infection Prevention Practices among Veterinarians
  Arizona, 2015." *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* 169: 104711. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2019.104711.Knowledge.
- Venkatesh, Divya, Carlo Bianco, Alejandro Núñez, Rachael Collins, Darryl Thorpe, Scott M Reid, Sharon M Brookes, et al. 2020. "Detection of H3N8 Influenza A Virus with Multiple Mammalian-Adaptive Mutations in a Rescued Grey Seal (Halichoerus Grypus) Pup." Virus Evolution 6 (1): veaa016. https://doi.org/10.1093/ve/veaa016.
- Verhagen, Josanne H., Ron A. M. Fouchier, and Nicola Lewis. 2021. "Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Viruses at the Wild–Domestic Bird Interface in Europe: Future Directions for Research and Surveillance." *Viruses* 13: 212. https://doi.org/10.3390/v13020212.
- Vermeulen, Maxime, Federico Del Vento, Marc Kanbar, Sébastien Pyr Dit Ruys, Didier Vertommen, Jonathan Poels, and Christine Wyns. 2019. "Generation of Organized Porcine Testicular Organoids in Solubilized Hydrogels from Decellularized Extracellular Matrix." International Journal of Molecular Sciences 20 (21). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20215476.

- Vigeveno, René M., Marjolein J. Poen, Edyth Parker, Melle Holwerda, Karen de Haan, Thijs van Montfort, Nicola S. Lewis, et al. 2020. "Outbreak Severity of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza A(H5N8) Viruses Is Inversely Correlated to Polymerase Complex Activity and Interferon Induction." *Journal of Virology* 94 (11): e00375-20.
- Vincent, Amy L., Daniel R. Perez, Daniela Rajao, Tavis K. Anderson, Eugenio J. Abente, Rasna R. Walia, and Nicola S. Lewis. 2017. "Influenza A Virus Vaccines for Swine." *Veterinary Microbiology* 206: 35–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2016.11.026.
- Vogel, Annette B., Laura Lambert, Ekaterina Kinnear, David Busse, Stephanie Erbar, Kerstin C. Reuter, Lena Wicke, et al. 2018. "Self-Amplifying RNA Vaccines Give Equivalent Protection against Influenza to MRNA Vaccines but at Much Lower Doses." *Molecular Therapy* 26 (2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymthe.2017.11.017.
- Voorhees, Ian E.H., Amy L. Glaser, Kathy Toohey-Kurth, Sandra Newbury, Benjamin D. Dalziel, Edward
   J. Dubovi, Keith Poulsen, et al. 2017. "Spread of Canine Influenza a(H3N2) Virus, United States."
   *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 23 (12). https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2312.170246.
- Vries, Robert P. de, Wenjie Peng, Oliver C. Grant, Andrew J. Thompson, Xueyong Zhu, Kim M. Bouwman, Alba T.Torrents de la Pena, et al. 2017. "Three Mutations Switch H7N9 Influenza to Human-Type Receptor Specificity." *PLoS Pathogens* 13 (6): e1006390. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1006390.
- Vriese, J. de, M. Steensels, V. Palya, Y. Tardin, K. Moore Dorsey, B. Lambrecht, S. van Borm, and T. van den Berg. 2010. "Passive Protection Afforded by Maternally-Derived Antibodies in Chickens and the Antibodies' Interference with the Protection Elicited by Avian Influenza–Inactivated Vaccines in Progeny." Avian Diseases Digest 5 (s1). https://doi.org/10.1637/9184-890809-digest.1.
- Wang, Chenxi, Qian Wang, Junyi Hu, Honglei Sun, Juan Pu, Jinhua Liu, and Yipeng Sun. 2017. "A Multiplex RT-PCR Assay for Detection and Differentiation of Avian-Origin Canine H3N2, Equine-Origin H3N8, Human-Origin H3N2, and H1N1/2009 Canine Influenza Viruses." *PLoS ONE* 12 (1). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0170374.
- Wang, Dayan, Lei Yang, Wenfei Zhu, Ye Zhang, Shumei Zou, Hong Bo, Rongbao Gao, et al. 2016. "Two Outbreak Sources of Influenza A (H7N9) Viruses Have Been Established in China." *J. Virol* 90 (12): 5561–73. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.03173-15.
- Wang, Lifang, Xinliang Fu, Yun Zheng, Pei Zhou, Bo Fang, San Huang, Xin Zhang, et al. 2017. "The NS1 Protein of H5N6 Feline Influenza Virus Inhibits Feline Beta Interferon Response by Preventing NF-KB and IRF3 Activation." *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 74: 60–68.
- Wang, Lih Chiann, Dean Huang, and Hui Wen Chen. 2016. "Simultaneous Subtyping and Pathotyping of Avian Influenza Viruses in Chickens in Taiwan Using Reverse Transcription Loop-Mediated

Isothermal Amplification and Microarray." *Journal of Veterinary Medical Science* 78 (8). https://doi.org/10.1292/jvms.15-0602.

- Wang, Wen Chien, Chih Ying Kuan, Yu Jing Tseng, Chia Hsuan Chang, Yee Chen Liu, Yu Chih Chang, Yu
  Chen Hsu, Ming Kun Hsieh, Shan Chia Ou, and Wei Li Hsu. 2020. "The Impacts of Reassortant
  Avian Influenza H5N2 Virus NS1 Proteins on Viral Compatibility and Regulation of Immune
  Responses." *Frontiers in Microbiology* 11 (March): 280.
  https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.00280.
- Wang, Zeng, Pan Pan Yang, Yu Han Zhang, Kai Yue Tian, Chuan Zhou Bian, and Jun Zhao. 2019.
   "Development of a Reverse Transcription Recombinase Polymerase Amplification Combined with Lateral-Flow Dipstick Assay for Avian Influenza H9N2 HA Gene Detection." *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 66 (1). https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.13063.
- Wang, Zhao, Jieshi Yu, Milton Thomas, Chithra C. Sreenivasan, Ben M. Hause, Dan Wang, David H.
  Francis, Radhey S. Kaushik, and Feng Li. 2019. "Pre-Exposure with Influenza A Virus A/WSN/1933(H1N1) Resulted in Viral Shedding Reduction from Pigs Challenged with Either Swine H1N1 or H3N2 Virus." Veterinary Microbiology 228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2018.11.008.
- Watanabe, Yohei, Tetsuo Ito, Madiha S. Ibrahim, Yasuha Arai, Kozue Hotta, Hoang Vu Mai Phuong, Nguyen Le Khanh Hang, et al. 2015. "A Novel Immunochromatographic System for Easy-to-Use Detection of Group 1 Avian Influenza Viruses with Acquired Human-Type Receptor Binding Specificity." *Biosensors and Bioelectronics* 65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2014.10.036.
- Watson, C. E., C. Bell, and K. Toohey-Kurth. 2017. "H3N2 Canine Influenza Virus Infection in a Dog." *Veterinary Pathology* 54 (3). https://doi.org/10.1177/0300985816681411.
- Wei, Jianjian, Jie Zhou, Yakun Liu, Jie Wu, Tao Jin, Yuguo Li, and Hui Ling Yen. 2019. "A Novel Partial Lid for Mechanical Defeatherers Reduced Aerosol Dispersion during Processing of Avian Influenza Virus Infected Poultry." *PLoS ONE* 14 (5): e0216478. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0216478.
- Wen, Xiaowei, Sangluo Sun, Lin Li, Qinying He, and Fu Sheng Tsai. 2019. "Avian Influenza—Factors Affecting Consumers' Purchase Intentions toward Poultry Products." International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 16 (21). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16214139.
- White, Sarah K., Wenjun Ma, Clinton J. McDaniel, Gregory C. Gray, and John A. Lednicky. 2016.
  "Serologic Evidence of Exposure to Influenza D Virus among Persons with Occupational Contact with Cattle." *Journal of Clinical Virology* 81: 31–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcv.2016.05.017.

- Wille, M., N. Latorre-Margalef, C. Tolf, D. E. Stallknecht, and J. Waldenström. 2017a. "No Evidence for Homosubtypic Immunity of Influenza H3 in Mallards Following Vaccination in a Natural Experimental System." *Molecular Ecology* 26 (5). https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.13967.
- ———. 2017b. "No Evidence for Homosubtypic Immunity of Influenza H3 in Mallards Following Vaccination in a Natural Experimental System." *Molecular Ecology* 26 (5). https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.13967.
- Willis, Elinor, Kaela Parkhouse, Florian Krammer, and Scott E. Hensley. 2016. "Canine H3N8 Influenza Vaccines Partially Protect Mice against the Canine H3N2 Strain Currently Circulating in the United States." *Vaccine* 34 (46). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.09.017.
- Wong, Frank Y K, Celeste Donato, Yi-mo Deng, Don Teng, Naomi Komadina, Chantal Baas, Joyanta Modak, et al. 2018. "Divergent Human-Origin Influenza Viruses Detected in Australian Swine Populations." *Journal of Virology* 92 (16): e00316-18.
- Wu, Haibo, Fumin Liu, Fan Yang, Yixin Xiao, Hangping Yao, and Nanping Wu. 2020. "Amino Acid Substitutions Involved in the Adaptation of a Novel H7N7 Avian Influenza Virus in Mice." *Research in Veterinary Science* 130 (December 2019): 203–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2020.03.017.
- Wu, Jie, Changwen Ke, Eric H.Y. Lau, Yingchao Song, Kit Ling Cheng, Lirong Zou, Min Kang, Tie Song, Malik Peiris, and Hui Ling Yen. 2019a. "Influenza H5/H7 Virus Vaccination in Poultry and Reduction of Zoonotic Infections, Guangdong Province, China, 2017–18." *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 25 (1). https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2501.181259.
- ———. 2019b. "Influenza H5/H7 Virus Vaccination in Poultry and Reduction of Zoonotic Infections, Guangdong Province, China, 2017–18." *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 25 (1). https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2501.181259.
- Wu, Nai Huei, Wei Yang, Andreas Beineke, Ronald Dijkman, Mikhail Matrosovich, Wolfgang Baumgärtner, Volker Thiel, Peter Valentin-Weigand, Fandan Meng, and Georg Herrler. 2016.
  "The Differentiated Airway Epithelium Infected by Influenza Viruses Maintains the Barrier Function despite a Dramatic Loss of Ciliated Cells." *Scientific Reports* 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep39668.
- Wu, Nicholas C., C. Anders Olson, Yushen Du, Shuai Le, Kevin Tran, Roland Remenyi, Danyang Gong, et al. 2015. "Functional Constraint Profiling of a Viral Protein Reveals Discordance of Evolutionary Conservation and Functionality." *PLoS Genetics* 11 (7): e1005310. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1005310.

- Wu, Siyu, Junsheng Zhang, Qian Xue, Jing Liu, Bingzhong Huang, Zhuoliang He, Jianni Huang, et al.
   2020. "Duck TRIM32 Functions in IFN-β Signaling Against the Infection of H5N6 Highly Pathogenic
   Avian Influenza Virus." Frontiers in Immunology 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.00377.
- Wu, Yifan, Jingkai Hu, Xuanjiang Jin, Xiao Li, Jinfeng Wang, Mengmeng Zhang, Jianglin Chen, et al.
   2021a. "Accelerated Evolution of H7N9 Subtype Influenza Virus under Vaccination Pressure."
   Virologica Sinica, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12250-021-00383-x.
- — . 2021b. "Accelerated Evolution of H7N9 Subtype Influenza Virus under Vaccination Pressure."
   Virologica Sinica, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12250-021-00383-x.
- Xiao, Meng, Liping Huang, Xiaohui Dong, Kaixin Xie, Haicong Shen, Caihong Huang, Wei Xiao, Meilin Jin, and Yong Tang. 2019. "Integration of a 3D-Printed Read-out Platform with a Quantum Dot-Based Immunoassay for Detection of the Avian Influenza A (H7N9) Virus." *Analyst* 144 (8). https://doi.org/10.1039/c8an02336k.
- Xiao, Qian, Liping Yan, Lu Yao, Jing Lei, Zhenwei Bi, Jianhua Hu, Yuqing Chen, et al. 2019. "Development of Oligonucleotide Microarray for Accurate and Simultaneous Detection of Avian Respiratory Viral Diseases." *BMC Veterinary Research* 15 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12917-019-1985-7.
- Xiao, Yanna, Matthew B. Reeves, Adam F. Caulfield, Danyel Evseev, and Katharine E. Magor. 2018. "The Core Promoter Controls Basal and Inducible Expression of Duck Retinoic Acid Inducible Gene-I (RIG-I)." *Molecular Immunology* 103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2018.09.002.
- Xiao, Yongli, Jacqueline M. Nolting, Zong Mei Sheng, Tyler Bristol, Li Qi, Andrew S. Bowman, and Jeffery
   K. Taubenberger. 2018. "Design and Validation of a Universal Influenza Virus Enrichment Probe
   Set and Its Utility in Deep Sequence Analysis of Primary Cloacal Swab Surveillance Samples of
   Wild Birds." Virology 524. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2018.08.021.
- Xu, Lulai, Zhenqiao Qin, Lei Qiao, Jie Wen, Huabin Shao, Guoyuan Wen, and Zishu Pan. 2020. "Characterization of Thermostable Newcastle Disease Virus Recombinants Expressing the Hemagglutinin of H5N1 Avian Influenza Virus as Bivalent Vaccine Candidates." Vaccine 38 (7). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.12.054.
- Xu, Xiaohong, Jing Qian, Lingsong Qin, Jindou Li, Cong Xue, Jiaxin Ding, Weiqi Wang, et al. 2020.
   "Chimeric Newcastle Disease Virus-like Particles Containing DC-Binding Peptide-Fused Haemagglutinin Protect Chickens from Virulent Newcastle Disease Virus and H9N2 Avian Influenza Virus Challenge." *Virologica Sinica* 35 (4). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12250-020-00199-1.
- Xuan, Y., L. N. Wang, W. Li, H. R. Zi, Y. Guo, W. J. Yan, X. B. Chen, and P. M. Wei. 2015. "IFITM3 Rs12252
   T>C Polymorphism Is Associated with the Risk of Severe Influenza: A Meta-Analysis."
   Epidemiology and Infection 143 (14). https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268815000278.

- Yamaji, Reina, Shinya Yamada, Mai Q. Le, Mutsumi Ito, Yuko Sakai-Tagawa, and Yoshihiro Kawaoka.
  2015. "Mammalian Adaptive Mutations of the PA Protein of Highly Pathogenic Avian H5N1 Influenza Virus." *Journal of Virology* 89 (8): 4117–25. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.03532-14.
- Yamanaka, Takashi, Manabu Nemoto, Hiroshi Bannai, Koji Tsujimura, Takashi Kondo, Tomio Matsumura, Tao Qi Huang Fu, Charlene Judith Fernandez, Sarah Gildea, and Ann Cullinane. 2017. "Rapid Diagnosis of Equine Influenza by Highly Sensitive Silver Amplification Immunochromatography System." Journal of Veterinary Medical Science. https://doi.org/10.1292/jvms.17-0105.
- Yan, Ziqing, Ruyi Wang, Letian Zhang, Binger Shen, Ningning Wang, Qiuhua Xu, Wei He, Wanting He, Gairu Li, and Shuo Su. 2019. "Evolutionary Changes of the Novel Influenza D Virus Hemagglutinin-Esterase Fusion Gene Revealed by the Codon Usage Pattern." *Virulence* 10 (1): 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1080/21505594.2018.1551708.
- Yang, Ji Rong, Chih Yuan Chen, Chuan Yi Kuo, Chieh Yu Cheng, Min Shiuh Lee, Ming Chu Cheng, Yu Chih
  Yang, et al. 2016. "A Novel H6N1 Virus-like Particle Vaccine Induces Long-Lasting Cross-Clade
  Antibody Immunity against Human and Avian H6N1 Viruses." Antiviral Research 126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.antiviral.2015.10.019.
- Yang, Wei, Ruth L.O. Lambertz, Darsaniya Punyadarsaniya, Sarah R. Leist, Jürgen Stech, Klaus Schughart, Georg Herrler, Nai Huei Wu, and Fandan Meng. 2017. "Increased Virulence of a PB2/HA Mutant of an Avian H9N2 Influenza Strain after Three Passages in Porcine Differentiated Airway Epithelial Cells." *Veterinary Microbiology* 211 (October): 129–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2017.10.015.
- Yang, Wen Tao, Gui Lian Yang, Shao Hua Shi, Yu Ying Liu, Hai bin Huang, Yan Long Jiang, Jian Zhong Wang, Chun Wei Shi, Yu Bei Jing, and Chun Feng Wang. 2017. "Protection of Chickens against H9N2 Avian Influenza Virus Challenge with Recombinant Lactobacillus Plantarum Expressing Conserved Antigens." *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 101 (11). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-017-8230-8.
- Yen, Hung Hsun, and Helen M.S. Davies. 2016. "Techniques for Thoracic Duct Cannulation without Thoracotomy in Piglets." BMC Veterinary Research 12 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12917-016-0808-3.
- Yeo, Seon Ju, Duong Tuan Bao, Ga Eun Seo, Cuc Thi Bui, Do Thi Hoang Kim, Nguyen Thi Viet Anh, Trinh Thi Thuy Tien, et al. 2017. "Improvement of a Rapid Diagnostic Application of Monoclonal Antibodies against Avian Influenza H7 Subtype Virus Using Europium Nanoparticles." *Scientific Reports* 7 (1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-08328-9.

- Yeo, Seon Ju, Bui Thi Cuc, Haan Woo Sung, and Hyun Park. 2016. "Evaluation of a Smartphone-Based Rapid Fluorescent Diagnostic System for H9N2 Virus in Specific-Pathogen-Free Chickens." *Archives of Virology* 161 (8). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00705-016-2922-8.
- Yin, Shenglai, David Kleijn, Gerard J.D.M. Müskens, Ron A.M. Fouchier, Josanne H. Verhagen, Petr M. Glazov, Yali Si, Herbert H.T. Prins, and Willem Frederik De Boer. 2017. "No Evidence That Migratory Geese Disperse Avian Influenza Viruses from Breeding to Wintering Ground." *PLoS ONE* 12 (5): e0177790. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0177790.
- Yin, Yuncong, Shengqing Yu, Yingjie Sun, Tao Qin, Sujuan Chen, Chan Ding, Daxin Peng, and Xiufan Liu.
   2020. "Glycosylation Deletion of Hemagglutinin Head in the H5 Subtype Avian Influenza Virus Enhances Its Virulence in Mammals by Inducing Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress." *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 67 (4): 1492–1506. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.13481.
- Yitbarek, A., T. Alkie, K. Taha-Abdelaziz, J. Astill, J. C. Rodriguez-Lecompte, J. Parkinson, Nagy, and S. Sharif. 2018. "Gut Microbiota Modulates Type I Interferon and Antibody-Mediated Immune Responses in Chickens Infected with Influenza Virus Subtype H9N2." *Beneficial Microbes* 9 (3). https://doi.org/10.3920/BM2017.0088.
- Yitbarek, Alexander, Jake Astill, Douglas C. Hodgins, John Parkinson, Éva Nagy, and Shayan Sharif. 2019. "Commensal Gut Microbiota Can Modulate Adaptive Immune Responses in Chickens Vaccinated with Whole Inactivated Avian Influenza Virus Subtype H9N2." Vaccine 37 (44). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.09.046.
- Yitbarek, Alexander, Khaled Taha-Abdelaziz, Douglas C. Hodgins, Leah Read, Éva Nagy, J. Scott Weese, Jeff L. Caswell, John Parkinson, and Shayan Sharif. 2018. "Gut Microbiota-Mediated Protection against Influenza Virus Subtype H9N2 in Chickens Is Associated with Modulation of the Innate Responses." *Scientific Reports* 8 (1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-31613-0.
- Yitbarek, Alexander, J. Scott Weese, Tamiru Negash Alkie, John Parkinson, and Shayan Sharif. 2018. "Influenza A Virus Subtype H9N2 Infection Disrupts the Composition of Intestinal Microbiota of Chickens." FEMS Microbiology Ecology 94 (1). https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fix165.
- Yoon, Jin Gu, Ji Yun Noh, Won Suk Choi, Jacob Lee, Jin Soo Lee, Seong Heon Wie, Young Keun Kim, et al. 2021. "A Comparison of Epidemiology and Clinical Outcomes between Influenza A H1N1pdm09 and H3N2 Based on Multicenter Surveillance from 2014 to 2018 in South Korea." *Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses* 15: 99–109. https://doi.org/10.1111/irv.12795.
- Yoon, Jung Hwan, Young Nam Kim, Dong Chun Shin, Kwon Rae Kim, and Kye Hoon Kim. 2017.
  "Management of Animal Carcass Disposal Sites Using a Biochar Permeable Reactive Barrier and Fast Growth Tree (Populus Euramericana): A Field Study in Korea." *Sustainability (Switzerland)* 9 (3): 457. https://doi.org/10.3390/su9030457.

- Youk, Sungsu, Dong Hun Lee, Helena L. Ferreira, Claudio L. Afonso, Angel E. Absalon, David E. Swayne,
  David L. Suarez, and Mary J. Pantin-Jackwood. 2019. "Rapid Evolution of Mexican H7N3 Highly
  Pathogenic Avian Influenza Viruses in Poultry." *PLoS ONE* 14 (9): e0222457.
  https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0222457.
- Youk, Sung-su, Dong-Hun Lee, Jei-Hyun Jeong, Mary J. Pantin-Jackwood, Chang-seon Song, and David
  E. Swayne. 2020. "Live Bird Markets as Evolutionary Epicentres of H9N2 Low Pathogenicity Avian
  Influenza Viruses in Korea." *Emerging Microbes and Infections* 9 (1): 616–27. https://doi.org/10.1080/22221751.2020.1738903.
- Youk, Sung-Su, Dong-Hun Lee, Christina M. Leyson, Diane Smith, Miria Ferreira Criado, Eric DeJesus,
   David E. Swayne, and Mary J. Pantin-Jackwood. 2019. "Loss of Fitness of Mexican H7N3 Highly
   Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus in Mallards after Circulating in Chickens." *Journal of Virology* 93 (14): e00543-19. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.00543-19.
- Youk, Sung-Su, Christina M. Leyson, Brittany A. Seibert, Samadhan Jadhao, Daniel R. Perez, David L. Suarez, and Mary J. Pantin-Jackwood. 2021. "Mutations in PB1, NP, HA, and NA Contribute to Increased Virus Fitness of H5N2 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus Clade 2.3.4.4 in Chickens." Journal of Virology 95 (5): e01675-20. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.01675-20.
- Young, Sean G., Margaret Carrel, Andrew Kitchen, George P. Malanson, James Tamerius, Mohamad Ali, and Ghazi Kayali. 2017. "How's the Flu Getting Through? Landscape Genetics Suggests Both Humans and Birds Spread H5N1 in Egypt." *Infection, Genetics and Evolution* 49: 293–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meegid.2017.02.005.
- Young, Sean G., Andrew Kitchen, Ghazi Kayali, and Margaret Carrel. 2018. "Unlocking Pandemic Potential: Prevalence and Spatial Patterns of Key Substitutions in Avian Influenza H5N1 in Egyptian Isolates." *BMC Infectious Diseases* 18: 314. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-018-3222-6.
- Yu, J., F. S. Shi, and S. Hu. 2015. "Improved Immune Responses to a Bivalent Vaccine of Newcastle Disease and Avian Influenza in Chickens by Ginseng Stem-Leaf Saponins." *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology* 167 (3–4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetimm.2015.07.017.
- Yu, Shiman, Haiying Mao, Meilin Jin, and Xian Lin. 2020. "Transcriptomic Analysis of the Chicken MDA5 Response Genes." *Genes* 11 (3). https://doi.org/10.3390/genes11030308.
- Yu, Zhijun, Zhiguang Ren, Yongkun Zhao, Kaihui Cheng, Weiyang Sun, Xinghai Zhang, Jiaqiang Wu, Hongbin He, Xianzhu Xia, and Yuwei Gao. 2019. "PB2 and Hemagglutinin Mutations Confer a Virulent Phenotype on an H1N2 Avian Influenza Virus in Mice." *Archives of Virology* 164 (8): 2023–29. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00705-019-04283-0.

- Yuan, Lijuan, Casey Hensley, Hassan M. Mahsoub, Ashwin K. Ramesh, and Peng Zhou. 2020.
   "Microbiota in Viral Infection and Disease in Humans and Farm Animals." In *Progress in Molecular Biology and Translational Science*. Vol. 171. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.pmbts.2020.04.005.
- Zakaria, Hana A.H., and Murad R. Ata. 2020. "Efficacy of Soya Protein Concentrates on the Performance and Immunity of Broiler Chickens." *Frontiers in Veterinary Science* 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2020.00539.
- Zancanaro, Gabriele, Sotiria Eleni Antoniou, Marta Bedriova, Frank Boelaert, José Gonzales Rojas, Mario Monguidi, Helen Roberts, Sören Saxmose Nielsen, and Hans-Herman Thulke. 2019. "SIGMA Animal Disease Data Model." *EFSA Journal* 17 (1): 5556. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2019.5556.
- Zanella, Ricardo, Danielle Gava, Jane de Oliveira Peixoto, Rejane Schaefer, Janice Reis Ciacci-Zanella, Natalha Biondo, Marcos Vinicius Gualberto Barbosa da Silva, Maurício Egídio Cantão, and Mônica Corrêa Ledur. 2015a. "Unravelling the Genetic Components Involved in the Immune Response of Pigs Vaccinated against Influenza Virus." Virus Research 210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virusres.2015.09.003.
- ———. 2015b. "Unravelling the Genetic Components Involved in the Immune Response of Pigs Vaccinated against Influenza Virus." Virus Research 210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virusres.2015.09.003.
- Zens, Kyra, Jun Kui Chen, and Donna Farber. 2016. "Vaccine-Generated Lung Tissue–Resident Memory
   T Cells Provide Heterosubtypic Protection to Influenza Infection." JCI Insight 1 (10). https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.85832DS1.
- Zhang, Aiguo, Hanzhang Lai, Jiahua Xu, Wenke Huang, Yufu Liu, Dawei Zhao, and Ruiai Chen. 2017.
   "Evaluation of the Protective Efficacy of Poly I:C as an Adjuvant for H9N2 Subtype Avian Influenza Inactivated Vaccine and Its Mechanism of Action in Ducks." *PLoS ONE* 12 (1). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0170681.
- Zhang, Jiahao, Xudong Li, Xiaomin Wang, Hejia Ye, Bo Li, Yiqun Chen, Junhong Chen, et al. 2021. "Genomic Evolution, Transmission Dynamics, and Pathogenicity of Avian Influenza A (H5N8) Viruses Emerging in China, 2020." *Virus Evolution* 7 (1). https://doi.org/10.1093/ve/veab046.
- Zhang, Jinfeng, Rong Su, Xiaoyun Jian, Hongliang An, Ronbing Jiang, and Chris Ka Pun Mok. 2018. "The D253N Mutation in the Polymerase Basic 2 Gene in Avian Influenza (H9N2) Virus Contributes to the Pathogenesis of the Virus in Mammalian Hosts." *Virologica Sinica* 33 (6): 531–37. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12250-018-0072-8.

- Zhang, Jinqiu, Jinfeng Miao, Jibo Hou, and Chengping Lu. 2015. "The Effects of H3N2 Swine Influenza
   Virus Infection on TLRs and RLRs Signaling Pathways in Porcine Alveolar Macrophages." Virology
   Journal 12 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12985-015-0284-6.
- Zhang, Rusheng, Zhao Lei, Chan Liu, Yuanzhao Zhu, Jingfang Chen, Dong Yao, Xinhua Ou, et al. 2021.
  "Live Poultry Feeding and Trading Network and the Transmission of Avian Influenza A(H5N6)
  Virus in a Large City in China, 2014–2015." *International Journal of Infectious Diseases* 108: 72–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2021.05.022.
- Zhang, Tian, Huayao Zhao, Jianhua Wang, and Guan Zhu Han. 2019. "Wild Birds Do Not Harbor Higher
   Diversity of Influenza Virus Internal Genes than Poultry." Virology 530 (February): 59–64.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2019.02.003.
- Zhang, Weidong, Martin van Eijk, Hongbo Guo, Albert van Dijk, Onno B. Bleijerveld, M. Hélène Verheije, Guanbo Wang, Henk P. Haagsman, and Edwin J.A. Veldhuizen. 2017. "Expression and Characterization of Recombinant Chicken Mannose Binding Lectin." *Immunobiology* 222 (3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imbio.2016.10.019.
- Zhang, Weijun, Qinghua Huang, Mei Lu, Fengzhu Zhu, Yan yan Huang, Shao hua Yang, Zhengjie Kong,
  Xiu mei Zhang, and Chuan tian Xu. 2016. "Exploration of the BF2\*15 Major Histocompatibility
  Complex Class I Binding Motif and Identification of Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte Epitopes from the
  H5N1 Influenza Virus Nucleoprotein in Chickens." Archives of Virology 161 (11).
  https://doi.org/10.1007/s00705-016-3013-6.
- Zhang, Xiaojian, Sujuan Chen, Yi Jiang, Kai Huang, Jun Huang, Da Yang, Jingjing Zhu, et al. 2015.
  "Hemagglutinin Glycosylation Modulates the Pathogenicity and Antigenicity of the H5N1 Avian Influenza Virus." *Veterinary Microbiology* 175 (2–4): 244–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2014.12.011.
- Zhang, Xiaojian, Fred L. Cunningham, Lei Li, Katie Hanson-Dorr, Liyuan Liu, Kaitlyn Waters, Minhui Guan, et al. 2020. "Tissue Tropisms of Avian Influenza A Viruses Affect Their Spillovers from Wild Birds to Pigs." *Journal of Virology* 94 (24): e00847-20. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.00847-20.
- Zhang, Yuxiang, Mengyan Zhu, Gairu Li, Jie Liu, Xiaofeng Zhai, Ruyi Wang, Junyan Zhang, et al. 2017. "Identification and Function Analysis of Canine Stimulator of Interferon Gene (STING)." *Microbial Pathogenesis* 113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2017.10.047.
- Zhao, Chunyuan, and Wei Zhao. 2020. "NLRP3 Inflammasome—A Key Player in Antiviral Responses." *Frontiers in Immunology*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.00211.
- Zhao, Jun, Hai Yang Yu, Yu Zhao, Feng Hua Li, Wei Zhou, Bin bin Xia, Zhi Yuan He, Jason Chen, Guo Tuo Jiang, and Ming Li Wang. 2019. "Soluble Expression, Rapid Purification, Biological Identification of Chicken Interferon-Alpha Using a Thioredoxin Fusion System in E. Coli and Its Antiviral Effects

to H9N2 Avian Influenza Virus." *Preparative Biochemistry and Biotechnology* 49 (2). https://doi.org/10.1080/10826068.2019.1566150.

- Zhao, Ping, Lingsha Sun, Jiasheng Xiong, Chuan Wang, Liang Chen, Pengfei Yang, Hao Yu, et al. 2019. "Semiaquatic Mammals Might Be Intermediate Hosts to Spread Avian Influenza Viruses from Avian to Human." *Scientific Reports* 9: 11641. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-48255-5.
- Zhao, Xihong, Yu Chia Tsao, Fu Jung Lee, Woo Hu Tsai, Ching Ho Wang, Tsung Liang Chuang, Mu Shiang
   Wu, and Chii Wann Lin. 2016. "Optical Fiber Sensor Based on Surface Plasmon Resonance for
   Rapid Detection of Avian Influenza Virus Subtype H6: Initial Studies." *Journal of Virological Methods* 233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2016.03.007.
- Zheng, Yun, Xinliang Fu, Lifang Wang, Wenyan Zhang, Pei Zhou, Xin Zhang, Weijie Zeng, et al. 2018.
  "Comparative Analysis of MicroRNA Expression in Dog Lungs Infected with the H3N2 and H5N1
  Canine Influenza Viruses." *Microbial Pathogenesis* 121.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2018.05.015.
- Zheng, Zhe, Yi Lu, Kirsty R. Short, and Jiahai Lu. 2019. "One Health Insights to Prevent the next HxNy Viral Outbreak: Learning from the Epidemiology of H7N9." *BMC Infectious Diseases* 19 (1): 138. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-019-3752-6.
- Zhou, Jie, Cun Li, Norman Sachs, Man Chun Chiu, Bosco Ho Yin Wong, Hin Chu, Vincent Kwok Man Poon, et al. 2018. "Differentiated Human Airway Organoids to Assess Infectivity of Emerging Influenza Virus." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 115 (26). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1806308115.
- Zhou, Pei, Aijian Luo, Xiangyu Xiao, Xue Hu, Dan Shen, Jiarong Li, Xushun Wu, et al. 2019. "Serological Evidence of H3N2 Canine Influenza Virus Infection among Horses with Dog Exposure."
   Transboundary and Emerging Diseases 66 (2): 915–20. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.13104.
- Zhu, Wan Zhen, Yi Chi Wen, Shu Yi Lin, Ting Chih Chen, and Hui Wen Chen. 2020. "Anti-Influenza Protective Efficacy of a H6 Virus-like Particle in Chickens." Vaccines 8 (3). https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines8030465.
- Zost, Seth J., Kaela Parkhouse, Megan E. Gumina, Kangchon Kim, Sebastian Diaz Perez, Patrick C.
   Wilson, John J. Treanor, Andrea J. Sant, Sarah Cobey, and Scott E. Hensley. 2017. "Contemporary H3N2 Influenza Viruses Have a Glycosylation Site That Alters Binding of Antibodies Elicited by Egg-Adapted Vaccine Strains." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 114 (47): 12578–83. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1712377114.
- Zou, Shumei, Ye Zhang, Xiyan Li, Hong Bo, Hejiang Wei, Libo Dong, Lei Yang, et al. 2019. "Molecular Characterization and Receptor Binding Specificity of H9N2 Avian Influenza Viruses Based on

Poultry-Related Environmental Surveillance in China between 2013 and 2016." *Virology* 529 (December 2018): 135–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2019.01.002.

- Zou, Zhong, Kun Huang, Yanmin Wei, Huanchun Chen, Ziduo Liu, and Meilin Jin. 2017. "Construction of a Highly Efficient CRISPR/Cas9-Mediated Duck Enteritis Virus-Based Vaccine against H5N1 Avian Influenza Virus and Duck Tembusu Virus Infection." *Scientific Reports* 7 (1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-01554-1.
- Zu, Shaopo, Qian Xue, Zhuoliang He, Chenxi Shi, Junsheng Zhang, Wenbo Wu, Weiqiang Li, et al. 2020.
   "Duck PIAS2 Promotes H5N1 Avian Influenza Virus Replication Through Its SUMO E3 Ligase Activity." *Frontiers in Microbiology* 11 (June): 1246. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.01246.

# Appendices

## Abbreviations

AGID	Agarose-Gel Immunodiffusion
AGP	Antibiotic Growth Promoter
AHAW	Animal Health and Welfare panel (of the European Union)
AI	Avian Influenza
AICWG	Animal Influenza Countermeasures Working Group
AIV	Avian Influenza Virus
ANSES	The French Agency for Food, Environmental and Occupational Health & Safety
APC	Antigen-Presenting Cell
APHIS	Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service, USDA, USA
ARS	Agricultural Research Service, USDA, USA
BLP	Bacteria-Like Particles
BPL	Beta-Propriolactone
BSL	Bio-Safety Level
CAAS	Chinese Academy of Agricultural Sciences
CD	Cluster of Differentiation
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, US Department for Health and Human
	Services
cDNA	Complementary Deoxyribonucleic Acid
CEIRS	Centers of Excellence for Influenza Research and Surveillance
CIV	Canine Influenza Virus
COX-2	Cyclo-Oxygenase 2
CRISPR	Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeat
C <sub>T</sub>	Threshold Cycle
CTL	Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte
CTLA4	Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte associated Antigen 4
DC	Dendritic Cell
DEV	Duck Enteritis Virus
DIVA	Differentiation of/Differentiating Infected from Vaccinated Animals
DHS	Department of Homeland Security, USA
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
EID <sub>50</sub>	50% Egg-Infectivity Dose

EIV	Equine Influenza Virus
ELISA	Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay
EU	European Union
FDA	Food and Drug Administration, USA
FLI	Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut, Germany
GFP	Green Fluorescent Protein
GISRS	Global Influenza Surveillance and Response System
GMP	Good Manufacturing Practice
НА	Haemagglutinin
HAU	Haemagglutination Unit
HHS	Health and Human Services, USA
H1N1pdm09	2009 pandemic H1N1 Influenza A virus
ні	Haemagglutination Inhibition
HPAI	Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza
HSPD-9	Homeland Security Presidential Directive Nine
IAV	Influenza A Virus
IBDV	Infectious Bursal Disease Virus
ICS	Immunochromatographic Strip
IDV	Influenza D Virus
IFITM	Interferon-Induced Transmembrane Protein
IFN	Interferon
lg	Immunoglobulin
IKK	IkB Kinase
IL	Interleukin
iNKT	invariant Natural Killer T (cells)
IVPI	Intravenous Pathogenicity Index
LAIV	Live Attenuated Influenza Vaccine
LED	Light-Emitting Diode
LPAI	Low Pathogenicity Avian Influenza
LPBE	Liquid Phase Blocking ELISA
LPM	Live-Poultry Market
iiRT-PCR	insulated isothermal RT-PCR
IRES	Internal Ribosome Entry Site
IRF	Interferon Response Factor

М	Matrix
mAb	monoclonal Antibody
MBCS	Multibasic Cleavage Site
MDA	Maternally-Derived Antibodies
MDCK	Madin-Darby Canine Kidney
NA	Neuraminidase
NADC	National Animal Disease Center, USDA-ARS, USA
NAHLN	National Animal Health Laboratory Network, USDA, USA
NAI	Neuraminidase Inhibitor
NAPAPI	North American Plan for Animal and Pandemic Influenza
NDV	Newcastle Disease Virus
NF-κB	Nuclear Factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
NGS	Next-Generation Sequencing
NI	Neuraminidase Inhibition
NP	Nucleocapsid
NVS	National Veterinary Stockpile
NVSL	National Veterinary Services Laboratories, USDA-APHIS
ODN	Oligodeoxynucleotides
OIE	Office International des Epizooties (World Organisation for Animal Health)
OFFLU	OIE FAO network on animal influenza
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PFU	Plaque-Forming Unit
PGE2	Prostaglandin E2
p.i.	post-infection
PLA	Proximity Ligation Assay
PPE	Personal Protective Equipment
RAD	Rapid Antigen Detection
RIG-I	Retinoic acid-Induced Gene I
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
RPA	Recombinase Polymerase Amplification
RT-LAMP	Reverse-Transcription Loop-Mediated Isothermal Amplification
RT-PCR	Reverse-Transcription Polymerase Chain Reaction
rRT-PCR	Real-time Reverse-Transcription Polymerase Chain Reaction
SA	Sialic Acid

scFv	single-chain variable Fragment
SEPRL	Southeast Poultry Research Laboratory, USDA-ARS
SIV	Swine Influenza Virus
SLA	Swine Leucocyte Antigen
SNP	Single-Nucleotide Polymorphism
SP	Structural Protein
SPF	Specific-Pathogen-Free
SRH	Single Radial Haemolysis
TCID <sub>50</sub>	50% Tissue-Culture Infectious Dose
TLR	Toll-Like Receptor
TRIM32	TRIpartite Motif 32
USD	United States Dollars
USDA	United States Department of Agriculture
VI	Virus Isolation
VLP	Virus-Like Particle
VNT	Virus-Neutralization Test
WHO	World Health Organization of the United Nations
WIV	Whole Inactivated Virus (vaccines)

#### **Contributors**

Authors:

Lucy Robinson, Daniel Ackerman & Robert Phillips

**Commissioning team:** Alex Morrow, Robert Taylor & Madeline Newman of the STAR-IDAZ IRC secretariat.

We also wish to thank and acknowledge the contributions of the following researchers for reviewing the content of the report (arranged in alphabetical order): Martin Beer (Fredrich-Loeffler-Institut, Germany), Johannes Charlier (Kreavet & the Norwegian Veterinary Institute, Norway), Marie Culhane (University of Minnesota, USA), Janet Daly (University of Nottingham, UK), Ron Fouchier (Erasmus MC Viroscience, Netherlands), Timm Harder (Fredrich-Loeffler-Institut, Germany), Clement Meseko (National Veterinary Research Institute, Nigeria), Mary Pantin-Jackwood (US National Poultry Research Center, USA), Gaelle Simon (French Agency for Food, Environmental and Occupational Health and Safety, France) and Erica Spackman (US National Poultry Research Center, USA).

We wish to thank and acknowledge the contributions of the following researchers for providing current/future research updates & personal views on priority research gaps from the groups of Ashley Banyard (Animal and Plant Health Agency, UK), Maria (arranged in alphabetical order): Edith Barrandeguy (National Institute of Agriculture Technology, Argentina), Martin Beer (Fredrich-Loeffler-Institut, Germany), Michael Bublot (Boehringer Ingelheim Animal Health, France), Johannes Charlier (Norwegian Veterinary Institute, Norway), Marie Culhane (University of Minnesota, USA), Janet Daly (University of Nottingham, UK), Ron Fouchier (Erasmus MC Viroscience, Netherlands), Timm Harder (Fredrich-Loeffler-Institut, Germany), Denis Kolbasov (Federal Research Center for Virology and Microbiology, Russia), Nicola Lewis (Royal Veterinary College, UK), John McCauley (The Francis Crick Institute, Clement Meseko (National Veterinary Research Institute, Nigeria), Mary Pantin-Jackwood (US National Poultry Research Center, USA), Ariel Pereda (National Institute of Agriculture Technology, Argentina), Takehiko Saito (National Institute of Animal Health, Japan), Gaelle Simon (French Agency for Food, Environmental and Occupational Health and Safety, France), Erica Spackman (US National Poultry Research Center, USA), David Suarez (US National Poultry Research Center, USA), Monserrat Torremorell (University of Minnesota, USA), UK) and Kristien Van Reeth (Ghent University, Belgium).

## **Financial Support**

This report was produced with funding from the secretariat to STAR-IDAZ IRC.

### **Conflict of Interest Statement**

The authors declare no conflict of interest.
## **Additional Resources**

Please see the following websites for additional information and/or resources around the content and aims of this report:

https://www.discontools.eu

https://www.offlu.org/

https://immunologicaltoolbox.co.uk